
 

  

 

    
   

 

  

 

    
   

 

  

 

    
   

Governor 
Edmund G. Brown Jr. 

NOTICE OF MEETING 

Landscape Architects Technical Committee 

LATC MEMBERS Action may be 
December 6-7, 2018Patricia Trauth, Chair taken on any 

Marq Truscott, Vice Chair item listed on 
Andy Bowden the agenda. 
Susan M. Landry 

David Allen (DJ) Taylor, Jr. 

2420 Del Paso Road 

Sequoia Conference Room, Suite 109 

Sacramento, CA 95834 

(916) 575-7230 (LATC) 

The Landscape Architects Technical Committee (LATC) will hold a meeting, as noted above. 

Agenda 

December 6, 2018 

11:00 a.m. – 3:30 p.m. 

(or until completion of business) 

A. Call to Order – Roll Call – Establishment of a Quorum 

B. Chair’s Procedural Remarks and LATC Member Introductory Comments 

C. Public Comment on Items Not on the Agenda 

The Committee may not discuss or take action on any item raised during this public comment 

section, except to decide whether to refer the item to the Committee’s next Strategic Planning 

session and/or place the matter on the agenda of a future meeting (Government Code sections 

11125 and 11125.7(a)). 

D. Review and Possible Action on July 20, 2018 LATC Meeting Minutes 

E. Program Manager’s Report - Update on LATC’s Administrative/Management, Examination, 

Licensing, and Enforcement Programs 

F. Discuss and Possible Action on Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance (MWELO) 

G. Update on 2018 Council of Landscape Architectural Registration Boards (CLARB) Annual 

Meeting 

H. Update on Amendments to the LATC’s Member Administrative Procedure Manual 

(Continued) 

2420 Del Paso Road, Suite 105 • Sacramento, CA 95834 • P (916) 575-7230 • F (916) 575-7283 

latc@dca.ca.gov • www.latc.ca.gov 

www.latc.ca.gov
mailto:latc@dca.ca.gov


     

   

 
    

  

 

  

  
 

    
 

     
 

  

 

 

  

    

  

 

 

 

 

 
 

      

 

  

 

  
 
 

 

  

 

   

  

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

    
   

 

  

    
   

 

  

    
   

I. Update on 2017-2018 Strategic Plan Objective to Follow the Board’s Determination 

Regarding the Necessity for a Licensure Fingerprint Requirement and the Alternatives for 

Implementation as a Means of Protecting Consumers 

J. Review and Discuss California Code of Regulations (CCR), Title 16, Division 26, Article 1, 

Section 2620.5 (Requirements for an Approved Extension Certificate Program) 

K. Election of 2019 LATC Officers 

L. Review Tentative Schedule and Discuss Future LATC Meeting Dates 

M. Recess 

Agenda 

December 7, 2018 

8:30 a.m. – 2:30 p.m. 

(or until completion of business) 

2420 Del Paso Road 

Sequoia Conference Room, Suite 109 

Sacramento, CA  95834 

N. Call to Order – Roll Call – Establishment of a Quorum 

O. Strategic Planning Session 

P. Adjournment 

Action may be taken on any item on the agenda.  The time and order of agenda items are subject 

to change at the discretion of the Committee Chair and may be taken out of order.  The meeting 

will be adjourned upon completion of the agenda, which may be at a time earlier or later than 

posted in this notice.  In accordance with the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act, all meetings of 

the Committee are open to the public.  The LATC plans to webcast the December 6, 2018 

meeting on its website at latc.ca.gov. Webcast availability cannot be guaranteed due to 

limitations on resources or technical difficulties.  The meeting will not be cancelled if webcast is 

not available.  If you wish to participate or to have a guaranteed opportunity to observe, please 

plan to attend the physical location.  

(Continued) 

2420 Del Paso Road, Suite 105 • Sacramento, CA 95834 • P (916) 575-7230 • F (916) 575-7283 

latc@dca.ca.gov • www.latc.ca.gov 

www.latc.ca.gov
mailto:latc@dca.ca.gov
https://latc.ca.gov


     

   

 

  

  

 

  

 

   

 

 

 

       

       

     

   

 

  

  
 

 

 

    
   

    
   

    
   

Government Code section 11125.7 provides the opportunity for the public to address each agenda 

item during discussion or consideration by the Committee prior to the Committee taking any 

action on said item.  Members of the public will be provided appropriate opportunities to 

comment on any issue before the Committee, but the Committee Chair may, at his or her 

discretion, apportion available time among those who wish to speak.  Individuals may appear 

before the Committee to discuss items not on the agenda; however, the Committee can neither 

discuss nor take official action on these items at the time of the same meeting (Government Code 

sections 11125 and 11125.7(a)). The meeting is accessible to the physically disabled.  A person 

who needs a disability-related accommodation or modification to participate in the meeting may 

make a request by contacting: 

Person: Blake Clark Mailing Address: 

Telephone: (916) 575-7236 Landscape Architects Technical Committee 

Email: Blake.clark@dca.ca.gov 2420 Del Paso Road, Suite 105 

Telecommunication Relay Service: Dial 711 Sacramento, CA 95834 

Providing your request at least five (5) business days before the meeting will help to ensure 

availability of the requested accommodation. 

Protection of the public shall be the highest priority for the LATC in exercising its licensing, 

regulatory, and disciplinary functions.  Whenever the protection of the public is inconsistent 

with other interests sought to be promoted, the protection of the public shall be paramount 

(Business and Professions Code section 5620.1). 

2420 Del Paso Road, Suite 105 • Sacramento, CA 95834 • P (916) 575-7230 • F (916) 575-7283 

latc@dca.ca.gov • www.latc.ca.gov 

mailto:tremaine.palmer@dca.ca.gov
www.latc.ca.gov
mailto:latc@dca.ca.gov


 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item A 

CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL - ESTABLISHMENT OF A QUORUM 

Roll is called by the Landscape Architects Technical Committee (LATC) Vice Chair or, in his/her 
absence, by an LATC member designated by the Chair. 

LATC MEMBER ROSTER 

Patricia Trauth, Chair 

Marq Truscott, Vice Chair 

Andrew Bowden 

Susan M. Landry 

David Allan Taylor, Jr. 

LATC Meeting December 6-7, 2018 Sacramento, CA 



 

 
 
 

 

 
 

Agenda Item B 

CHAIR’S PROCEDURAL REMARKS AND LATC MEMBER INTRODUCTORY 
COMMENTS 

LATC Chair Patricia Trauth or, in her absence, the Vice Chair will review the scheduled LATC 
actions and make appropriate announcements. 

LATC Meeting December 6-7, 2018 Sacramento, CA 



 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item C 

PUBLIC COMMENT ON ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA 

Members of the public may address the Committee at this time.  The Committee Chair may allow 
public participation during other agenda items at their discretion. 

The Committee may not discuss or take action on any item raised during this public comment 
section, except to decide whether to refer the item to the Committee’s next Strategic Planning 
session and/or place the matter on the agenda of a future meeting (Government Code sections 
11125 and 11125.7(a)). 

LATC Meeting December 6-7, 2018 Sacramento, CA 



 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 

Agenda Item D 

REVIEW AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON JULY 20, 2018 LATC MEETING MINUTES 

The Landscape Architects Technical Committee (LATC) is asked to review and take possible 
action on the attached July 20, 2018 LATC Meeting Minutes. 

Attachment: 
July 20, 2018 LATC Meeting Minutes (Draft) 

LATC Meeting December 6-7, 2018 Sacramento, CA 



  
 
  

  
 

   
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Minutes 

CALIFORNIA ARCHITECTS BOARD 
Landscape Architects Technical Committee Meeting 

July 20, 2018 
San Diego, California 

Landscape Architects Technical Committee (LATC) Members Present 
Patricia Trauth, Chair  
Marq Truscott, Vice Chair 
Andrew Bowden 
Susan M. Landry 
David Allan Taylor, Jr. 

Staff Present 
Vickie Mayer, Interim Executive Officer 
Brianna Miller, Program Manager 
Trish Rodriguez, Special Projects Manager 
Tara Welch, Attorney III, Department of Consumer Affairs (DCA or Department) 
Kourtney Nation, Examination Coordinator 
Stacy Townsend, Enforcement Analyst 

Guests Present 
Amelia B. Lima, Association of Professional Landscape Designers 
Tracy Morgan Hollingworth, California Council of American Society of Landscape Architects 

(CCASLA) 
Rich Risner, CCASLA 
Michael Watts, Michael Watts and Associates 

A. Call to Order – Roll Call – Establishment of a Quorum 

LATC Chair Patricia Trauth called the meeting to order at 10:04 a.m., and Vice Chair Marq 
Truscott called roll. Five members of LATC were present, thus a quorum was established.   

2420 Del Paso Road, Suite 105 • Sacramento, CA 95834 • P (916) 575-7230 • F (916) 575-7283 
latc@dca.ca.gov • www.latc.ca.gov 

www.latc.ca.gov
mailto:latc@dca.ca.gov


 

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

   

B. Chair’s Procedural Remarks and LATC Member Introductory Comments 

Ms. Trauth thanked Woodbury University for hosting the LATC meeting and announced that the 
meeting would be webcast.  Ms. Trauth also announced her reappointment to the Committee by 
the Governor on June 8, 2018 and noted that Senior Environmental Scientist of the California 
Department of Water Resources (DWR), Julie Saare Edmonds, would provide a presentation on 
the Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance (MWELO).  Lastly, Ms. Trauth advised that all 
motions and seconds would be repeated, and that votes would be taken with roll call. 

C. Public Comment on Items Not on the Agenda 

There were no comments from the public. 

D. Review and Possible Action on May 4, 2018 LATC Meeting Minutes 

Ms. Trauth asked for a motion to approve the May 4, 2018 LATC Meeting Minutes.  

 Susan Landry moved to approve the May 4, 2018 LATC Meeting Minutes. 

Andrew Bowden seconded the motion. 

Members Bowden, Landry, Truscott, and Chair Trauth voted in favor of the motion. 
Member Taylor abstained.  The motion passed 4-0-1. 

E. Program Manager’s Report – Update on LATC’s Administrative/Management, 
Examination, Licensing, and Enforcement Programs 

In reference to Attachment E.1 (Monthly Report [June 2018]), Brianna Miller reported that the 
California Architects Board (Board) selected a candidate to fill the Executive Officer (EO) 
position at its meeting on June 13, 2018 and that the new EO would begin employment on 
August 1, 2018. 

Ms. Miller reported that, as part of LATC’s 2017-2018 Strategic Plan, the Committee has an 
objective to “Explore and adopt DCA’s best practices for using social media with a goal of 
developing a social media strategy to increase awareness to the public.”  She informed the 
Committee that she and staff met with DCA’s Office of Public Affairs (OPA) on June 22, 2018 to 
discuss execution of this objective.  Ms. Miller relayed that OPA recommended creating an LATC 
Facebook and Instagram account and requested access to LATC’s Twitter handle to verify the 
account and research enhancing account activity. Ms. Miller further conveyed OPA’s 
recommendation that creation of new social media accounts should wait until the new EO is on 
board to align the objective with his/her vision.   

Ms. Miller reported that, as part of LATC’s 2017-2018 Strategic Plan, the Committee has an 
objective to “Consult with DCA’s Public Affairs Office to optimize the LATC website on search 
engines for individuals searching for a landscape architect to enhance LATC’s ability to reach 

- 2 -



 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

more consumers interested in using a landscape architect.”  She stated that, in the same meeting 
held with OPA on June 22, 2018, staff discussed this objective and, ultimately, determined that the 
implementation of the developmental website would be the first step before beginning the process 
of optimizing search engine results for LATC. 

As the third Strategic Plan update, Ms. Miller reported that, the 2017-2018 Strategic Plan contains 
an objective to “Revamp the website (using the Board’s website as a possible template) to be more 
user-friendly for consumers.”  She advised that, following the Committee’s approval of the 
developmental website during their meeting on May 4, 2018, staff engaged with DCA’s Office of 
Information Services (OIS) to carry out the Committee’s requested revisions and launch the 

Ms. Saare Edmonds gave a presentation in which she provided proposed updates to MWELO.  
She stated that, due to the drought in 2015, the Governor declared an emergency and the water 
budget was reduced. She continued that Assembly Bill 2515 was enacted, which requires an 
update to MWELO every three years with the goals of improving water efficiency and 
administration. 

Ms. Saare Edmonds advised that a Landscape Stakeholder Advisory Group was created to assist in 
finding solutions. She explained that, in February 2018, members in each workgroup organized 

website. She advised that the website is anticipated to be launched at the end of August and that 
the LATC will notify its e-subscribers of the launch date upon its determination.    

In reference to LATC’s Occupational Analysis (OA), Ms. Landry expressed concern regarding 
possible outdated reference materials being used to develop examination questions and noted that 
these reference materials are listed in the study guide for the California Supplemental Examination 
(CSE). Ms. Miller stated that the OA is current; however, potential revisions could occur in 2019.  
Ms. Miller further stated that the Office of Professional Examination Services has offered to 
perform a reference material review.  Vickie Mayer advised that resource materials may appear 
outdated; however, they still have current and relevant information that is applicable to the 
practice of landscape architecture.  She continued that the Committee could discuss re-examining 
the materials during strategic planning and ultimately decide if it necessitates becoming an 
objective to research further. 

In reference to Attachment E.2 (California Architects Board June 13, 2018 Meeting Notice), 
Ms. Miller reported that she provided a summary to the Board of the May 4, 2018 LATC meeting 
and that the Board approved LATC’s Disciplinary Guidelines during their meeting and advised 
that staff would begin work on a regulatory change proposal for California Code of Regulations 
(CCR) section 2680 (Disciplinary Guidelines) to incorporate the updated Disciplinary Guidelines. 
She also advised the Committee that, in addition to a verbal public comment being received at the 
Board meeting, a written public comment was received from John Pride expressing his desire for 
the Board to move forward and approve the Committee’s proposed regulatory language for CCR 
sections 2615 (Form of Examinations) and 2620 (Education and Training Credits), which was 
provided as a handout. 

F. Presentation Regarding the Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance (MWELO) by 
Julie Saare Edmonds, Senior Environmental Scientist of the California Department of 
Water Resources 

- 3 -



 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

conference calls, submitted issues for discussion, and forwarded their recommendations to DWR.  
Ms. Saare Edmonds advised that the proposed MWELO updates would be released for public 
comment by October 2018. 

A member of the public, Amelia B. Lima, asked when the public would be able to provide 
comment on the proposed MWELO changes.  Ms. Saare Edmonds responded that the Notice 
should be published by October 2018 and, thereafter, the public comment period would commence 
for 45 days. Mr. Truscott asked if the MWELO update would be included in the California 
Building Standards Code. Ms. Saare Edmonds responded, “yes.” 

participation through a video conference. Ms. Mayer advised that Ms. Miller’s request to CLARB 
to provide a video conference was denied; however, due to other states being unable to participate, 
a second request should be provided.  A member of the public, Tracy Morgan Hollingworth, 
commented that the Committee should request an amendment to the Bylaws to allow for written 
comments. 

Ms. Landry asked if MWELO references Senate Bill 1383, which creates a waste stream and 
reduces organic waste in landfills. Ms. Saare Edmonds responded that DWR could reference the 
Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery’s program in their Guidebook.  Mr. Truscott 
suggested a review of the proposed MWELO provisions as they relate to the Landscape Architects 
Practice Act to determine who can sign the documents contained in the ordinance.  Ms. Trauth 
recommended that the review be placed on a future agenda. 

I.* Council of Landscape Architectural Registration Boards (CLARB) 

I.1. Review CLARB September 27-29, 2018 Annual Meeting Agenda 

Ms. Miller reported that the Council of Landscape Architectural Registration Boards (CLARB) 
Annual Meeting will be held on September 27-29, 2018 in Toronto, Ontario.  She stated that the 
meeting would include a vote on the resolution to update CLARB’s Bylaws and governance 
structure; in addition, the meeting would include updates on Landscape Architect Registration 
Examination (LARE) performance, results of CLARB’s Friction Analysis, the current legislative 
and regulatory environment, and a discussion on technology’s impact to the profession.   

Ms. Miller reported that the LATC was advised by DCA that its request to attend the Annual 
Meeting was denied and that the LATC is pursuing approval.  Ms. Mayer advised that California 
requires out-of-state travel to be mission critical and subject to approval by the Governor’s Office.  
In reference to Attachment I.2.3 (CLARB 2018 Election Ballot), Ms. Miller stated that election 
candidates could receive votes by mail-in ballot; however, a delegated representative must be 
present to vote on the Bylaws.  She added that the newly elected officials would be announced at 
the Annual Meeting. 

With regard to attending CLARB’s Annual Meeting, Mr. Truscott asked if LATC pays dues to 
CLARB and Ms. Mayer responded “yes.” Andrew Bowden inquired about CLARB offering 

- 4 -



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

   

Ms. Welch advised the Committee on the persons to contact regarding the Bylaws listed in 

I.3. Review and Possible Action on Resolution to Approve Proposed Amendments to 
CLARB Bylaws 

Ms. Miller referenced Attachment I.3.1 (Summary of Changes by Article to CLARB Bylaws 
[March 2018]) and Attachment I.3.2 (Proposed Changes to Bylaws with Explanatory Comments), 
which denote the substantive proposed changes to the Bylaws.  She asked the Committee to 
review the information and take possible action to recommend to the Board approval of the 
proposed amendments to CLARB’s Bylaws. 

Ms. Trauth expressed concern that regional representation is being removed and that there are 
more appointments than candidates.  

Voting by written ballot is permitted only for the election of officers of the Board of Directors and 
for members of the Leadership Advisory Council” and suggested proposing an amendment to 
CLARB’s Bylaws to allow for technology-based participation for voting on the Bylaws.  
Mr. Bowden suggested contacting the President of CLARB, Christine Anderson, to address the 
Committee’s concerns.  Ms. Trauth agreed with Mr. Bowden.   

Ms. Landry read from the proposed Bylaws which stated that amendments to resolutions can only 
be provided at CLARB meetings and re-asserted that a request be made to CLARB to provide web 
conferenced meeting participation.  Tara Welch advised that CLARB’s Bylaws do not have a 
provision prohibiting video conference participation, only a provision prohibiting a vote by proxy; 
therefore, if the delegated representative is present through a video conference, CLARB should 
allow the delegated representative to vote.  Ms. Welch suggested reaching out to other states who 
might be interested in attending the Annual Meeting through a video conference.      

Ms. Landry suggested that LATC send a written comment to CLARB regarding the Bylaws.  

She also noted that CLARB has selected individuals other 
than landscape architects to be eligible for office.  Refencing Attachment I.3.5 (Evolving CLARB 
Leadership FAQs for Members), David Allan Taylor, Jr. responded to Ms. Trauth’s concern by 
quoting the document as saying, “A hybrid board mean[s] that some members of the Board would 
be elected by the membership, and some members of the Board would be appointed by the Board 
as recommended by the Leadership Advisory Council.”   

Ms. Landry expressed concern about the possibility of being unable to attend CLARB’s Annual 
Meeting. She read from Attachment I.3.2 which states that, “There shall be no voting by proxy.  

Attachment I.3.5.  Mr. Bowden reminded the Committee that they have seen the proposed edits of 
the Bylaws from previous CLARB correspondences and that today’s iteration is a culmination of 
all the comments received by CLARB.  

 Susan Landry moved for the Committee Chair or delegated representative to draft a 
written comment and/or attend the Annual Meeting with the authorization to make 
decisions on the Committee’s behalf. 

Andrew Bowden seconded the motion. 

Ms. Morgan Hollingworth asked for clarification of the motion.  Ms. Landry responded that 
regardless of whether a Committee member attends the Annual Meeting, the LATC would send a 
written comment.     

- 5 -



 

 

 

 
  

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Members Bowden, Landry, Taylor, Truscott, and Chair Trauth voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion passed 5-0. 

 Susan Landry moved to provide amendments to Sections 5 and 7 of the Bylaws to allow 
digital representation. 

David Allan Taylor, Jr. seconded the motion. 

Susan Landry moved to amend the motion to allow the delegated representative to 

Ms. Miller advised that the next Board meeting would be held on September 12, 2018.  Ms. Landry 
volunteered to attend this meeting to represent the LATC.  In the event Ms. Landry was unavailable 
to attend the Board meeting, Messrs. Bowden and Taylor agreed to serve as alternates. 

Due to scheduling conflict for Legal Counsel, Ms. Mayer suggested rescheduling the LATC 
meeting and Strategic Planning session designated to take place on November 15-16, 2018.  The 
Committee agreed to reschedule the meeting to take place November 8-9, 2018 in Sacramento.  
Ms. Morgan Hollingworth requested the Committee conduct strategic planning on 

address Sections 5 and 7 of the Bylaws regarding digital representation in the written 
comment to be distributed to the individuals listed in Attachment I.3.5 and member 
boards and/or attend the Annual Meeting with the authorization to make decisions on 
the Committee’s behalf. 

David Allan Taylor, Jr. seconded the amended motion. 

Members Bowden, Landry, Taylor, Truscott, and Chair Trauth voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion passed 5-0. 

I.2. Review and Possible Action on 2018 CLARB Board of Directors and Committee on 
Nominations Elections Ballot 

Ms. Miller referenced Attachment I.2.2 (CLARB 2018 Credentials Letter) and advised that 
CLARB has requested for the Credentials Letter to be submitted by September 21, 2018, which 
would enable a delegated representative to vote on the Committee’s behalf.   

 Andrew Bowden moved to support Stan Williams for CLARB President-Elect; 
Karen Kiest for CLARB Vice President; Bob Gunderson for CLARB Secretary; and 
Edward Kinney for CLARB Committee on Nominations. 

Susan Landry seconded the motion. 

Members Bowden, Landry, Taylor, Truscott, and Chair Trauth voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion passed 5-0. 

L.* Review of Future LATC Meeting Dates 

- 6 -



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

November 8, 2018 and the business meeting on November 9, 2018.  The Committee responded 
that they would consider her request. 

G.* Discuss and Possible Action on LATC’s Certification of Experience Form to Incorporate 
Proposed Amendments to California Code of Regulations (CCR), Title 16, Division 26, 
Article 1, Section 2620 (Education and Training Credits) 

Ms. Miller reported that, at the May 4, 2018 LATC meeting, the Committee reviewed and 
approved proposed language to CCR sections 2615 and 2620.  She continued that, at this meeting, 

the enforcement records (of licensees).  She referenced the examination findings in the chart on 
the coversheet noting that the data is for referential purposes to show the pass rates of these groups 
of candidates. She went on to report that staff’s research yielded the most common types of 
experience gained from this group were preliminary drawings/drafts/designs, construction 
documents, planting, irrigation, and project management.  Finally, Ms. Miller advised that staff 
reviewed licensee enforcement records and determined that there were no enforcement actions 
taken against the licensees who qualified for licensure with one year of education credit and five 
years of experience. She asked the Committee to consider the data along with the proposed 
Certification of Experience form and the previously approved amendments to CCR section 2620 

the Committee directed staff to review the experience verification forms of selected states 

experience areas, the endeavor became difficult to justify and the Board determined that the 
experience areas denoted on their form would provide a candidate a guide for experience 
obtainment.  

Ms. Miller reported that staff reviewed the records of active candidates and individuals licensed 
after the transition from the Board of Landscape Architects (BLA) to LATC who qualify/qualified 
for licensure with five years of work experience and one year of education credit.  She explained 
that staff reviewed these candidates’ and licensees’ examination scores, experience reported, and 

(Washington and New York) with experience-only pathways to determine the states’ regulatory 
authority to assess the detailed experience criteria on their verification forms as well as ascertain 
their review procedures.  Due to the additional research needed, Ms. Miller advised that 
amendments to CCR sections 2615 and 2620 were approved and put on hold for staff to conduct 
additional research regarding experience verification information.  She continued that a 
questionnaire was sent to 10 states that have experience-only pathways and verification of 
experience forms to ascertain their authority and procedures for evaluating applications.   

Ms. Miller referenced Attachment G.2 (Questionnaire Responses From Other States Regarding 
Their Experience Verification Forms Including Each State’s Verification Form for Reference 
[New York, North Carolina, Oregon, Virginia, Washington]) and stated that, in summary, staff 
determined that none of the 10 states researched have statutory or regulatory authority requiring 
diversity in experience gained and do not specify their procedures for evaluating experience 
verification forms in their laws or regulations.  She continued that New York is a minor exception 
which does have regulatory language that allows the Board to deny an application if a supervisor 
rates the candidate as unsatisfactory on the experience verification form.  Ms. Miller further 
reported that the Oregon State Landscape Architects Board collaborated with CLARB to identify 
experience areas which correspond to the LARE. She continued that while the Oregon State 
Landscape Architect Board attempted to expand its regulations to include these identified 

- 7 -



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

   

and take possible action to determine whether amendments are needed to section 2620 and/or the 
Certification of Experience form. 

Ms. Trauth expressed her desire to advocate that CLARB implement a landscape architecture 
internship program; Mr. Truscott agreed.  Ms. Trauth also suggested modeling LATC’s 
Certification of Experience form after New York’s Verification of Professional Experience form 
and to have the supervisory certification section on a separate form.  Mr. Truscott suggested 
including supervisory ratings on the form for the purpose of gathering data to identify trends.  Mr. 
Bowden expressed his concern about the lack of specific training criteria listed on the form.  He 
opined that, under the BLA, the experience-only pathway produced poor pass rates, which may 
have contributed to the BLA being sunset.   

Mr. Bowden asked if any provisions exist that would disallow amendments to the Certification of 
Experience form.  Ms. Welch responded that the form must reflect current regulations and that 
data would be required to justify any changes to the regulations.  She suggested implementing the 
proposed changes in CCR sections 2615 and 2620 and, thereafter, collect data to review the 
success of candidates entering licensure via these new pathways.  She added that, in three to four 
years, enough data may be collected that could be used to justify the necessity of possible 
amendments to CCR section 2620 and/or the form.   

Ms. Trauth inquired about incorporating New York’s experience verification criteria into LATC’s 
Certification of Experience form.  Ms. Welch responded that the LATC must have the authority to 
request ratings information contained in New York’s Verification of Professional Experience 
form.  Ms. Trauth asked if LATC could utilize the Board’s experience verification form.  
Ms. Welch responded that the Board has an internship program through the National Council of 
Architectural Registration Boards; therefore, the Board’s Experience Verification Form is not 
applicable to the LATC.  

Mr. Taylor asked whether information could be listed on the Certification of Experience form with 
an asterisk citing examples of desired experience.  Ms. Welch cautioned that an asterisk could 
appear as a list of requirements and suggested including an informational page listing desired 
experience. She advised that the form should reference examination content areas delineated in 
the OA’s for the CSE and LARE. Mr. Bowden suggested approving the Certification of 
Experience form and reviewing it after data is collected on the success of candidates entering 
licensure via the new pathways in three to four years. 

 Andrew Bowden moved to approve the proposed amendments to the Certification of 
Experience form. 

Marq Truscott seconded the motion. 

Andrew Bowden moved to amend the motion to approve the proposed language of CCR 
sections 2615 and 2620 along with the proposed amendments to the Certification of 
Experience form. 

Marq Truscott seconded the amended motion. 

- 8 -



 

 

 

 

 

   
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Ms. Morgan Hollingworth commented that the LATC should reference CLARB’s Employment 
Verification Form and inquired about LATC’s use of CLARB’s Council Records.  
Kourtney Nation responded that when LATC receives a candidate’s Council Record, staff 
compare the information against LATC’s records for verification.   

With regard to Mr. Taylor inquiring about listing examples of desired experience on the 
Certification of Experience form, Ms. Welch asked whether the Committee would like to direct 
staff to amend the Certification of Experience form to include a separate information page.  The 
Committee agreed for staff to create an information page to be associated with the form. 

Members Bowden, Landry, Taylor, Truscott, and Chair Trauth voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion passed 5-0. 

H.* Discuss and Possible Action on CCR, Title 16, Division 26, Article 1, Section 2620.5 
(Requirements of an Approved Extension Certificate Program) 

Ms. Miller introduced this Agenda item with a brief reporting of its history of review by the 
LATC. Ms. Miller began that in 2009, the Landscape Architectural Accreditation Board (LAAB) 
implemented changes to its accreditation standards which the Committee used as a basis for 
proposed amendments to CCR section 2620.5 (Requirements for an Approved Extension 
Certificate Program) which were approved at the December 15, 2010 Board meeting.  She also 
reported that, in June 2012, with the assistance of the University of California (UC) Extension 
Certificate Program Task Force, the rulemaking file to amend section 2620.5 was submitted to 
OAL and, thereafter, in July 2013, OAL issued a “Decision of Disapproval of Regulatory Action,” 
citing deficiencies in the rulemaking file relating to the necessity standard and lack of justification 
of Government Code section 11349.1. She continue that, thereafter, at the August 20, 2013 LATC 
meeting, the Committee voted to: 1) not pursue a resubmission of the rulemaking file for 
CCR section 2620.5 to OAL; 2) have staff analyze the proposed modification to CCR section 
2620.5 and attempt to provide sufficient justification for each proposed change that would meet 
OAL standards; and 3) submit a new rulemaking file to OAL once sufficient justification for the 
proposed changes have been developed. 

Ms. Miller reported that, subsequent to the August 2013 LATC meeting, staff consulted with DCA 
Legal Counsel and Chair of the UC Extension Certificate Program Task Force to identify the best 
approach to resubmit the rulemaking file, which revealed the need for regualtions that address: 1) 
the application process; 2) annual reporting requirements; 3) denial, suspension, and withdrawal of 
approval; and 4) appealing denial, suspension, and withdrawal of approval actions.  She continued 
that staff developed additional proposed language, CCR sections 2620.2, 2620.3, and 2620.4, to 
address the application and approval processes and new proposed amendments were made to CCR 
section 2620.5.  Ms. Miller advised that the new proposed language was submitted to the 
Committee in February 2015, which resulted in a new working group to review the language; 
however, in March 2016, LAAB released updated accreditation standards, making significant, 
expansive changes to curriculum requirements. 

At the January 17, 2017 LATC meeting, Ms. Miller reported that proposed language was 
presented to the Committee that reflected the updated accreditation standards and, thereafter, a 
subcommittee was formed at the April 18, 2017 LATC meeting.  She continued that, due to 

- 9 -



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

competing priorities at that time, staff focus was redirected due to other Strategic Plan priorities 
and a subcommittee was not formed in 2017.  Ms. Miller advised that, since the halt of the 
subcommittee, LATC learned that UC Berkley’s Extension Certificate Program is anticipated to 
close in Fall 2019 and is currently no longer accepting new students.  Ms. Miller asked the 
Committee to consider the information provided in Attachment H.1 (Proposed Language to 
Amend CCR Section 2620.5 Disapproved by OAL in July 2013), Attachment H.3 (Proposed 
Language to Add CCR Sections 2620.2, 2620.3, and 2620.4 Provided to LATC on February 10, 
2015), and Attachment H.5 (Amendments to CCR Section 2620.5 that Incorporate the 2016 
LAAB Standards Provided to LATC on January 17, 2017 and April 18, 2017) and determine how 
to proceed. She added that public comment was received and has been provided as a handout. 

Mr. Bowden expressed a possible conflict of interest due to his membership as the Chair on the 

created to address the new pathways proposed in CCR section 2620; therefore, a new 
subcommittee would be formed to address possible revisions to CCR section 2620.5.  Mr. Truscott 
opined that LATC should not certify programs and suggested advocating for LAAB to certify the 
programs.   

Ms. Trauth read from Attachment H.6 (UCLA Extension Program Directors’ March 15, 2017 
Letter) provided by Program Director of UCLA’s Landscape Architecture Extension Program, 
Stephanie Landregan, which states that, “At present, California is the only state providing this 
alternative educational path, addressing adult learners, and providing an evening alternative to 
working adults,” and expressed her own support of the program. 

Due to the urgency to review the Extension Certificate Program, Mr. Truscott asked if the  
Program is in legal jeopardy.  Ms. Welch responded, “no.”  Mr. Watts opined that the ability of a 
program to self-certify makes the program more viable and noted that the Extension Certificate 
Program receives more education credit than an associate degree in landscape architecture.   

UC Los Angeles Landscape Architecture Guidance Committee and recused himself from the 
discussion. 

Due to the change in number of Extension Certificate Programs, Ms. Welch suggested gathering 
information from the public and proposing amendments to the current version of the regulation.  A 
member of the public, Michael Watts, asked if the Education/Experience Subcommittee 
(Subcommittee) would review the information.  Ms. Trauth responded that the Subcommittee was 

Ms. Welch stated that the discussion should consist of the benefits of the Program against the 
benefits of other LAAB accredited programs, and whether the Program could be accredited by a 
private entity through a contract with the Board.  Ms. Lima asked about the cause for reviewing 
the Extension Certificate Programs.  Ms. Trauth responded that a review is required every six 
years and that the LATC is attempting to follow LAAB’s accreditation standards.  Ms. Trauth 
expressed her desire for the Extension Certificate Programs and community college programs to 
self-certify. Mr. Truscott recommended that LATC request LAAB to consider certifying the 
Extension Certificate Programs, four-year programs, and community college programs, and for 
LATC staff to research appropriate private entities to conduct certification of the Extension 
Certificate Programs.   

- 10 -



 

  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

   

Mr. Watts asked if Mr. Truscott’s recommendation included private colleges and state colleges.  
Mr. Truscott respond, “yes.”  Ms. Morgan Hollingworth commented that most schools will not 
provide financial aid without state certification.   

Mr. Truscott amended his prior recommendation to research and correspond with LAAB to certify 
the Extension Certificate Programs, four-year programs, and community college programs before 
submitting a formal request.  Mr. Taylor agreed.  

J.* Discuss and Possible Action on 2017-2018 Strategic Plan Objectives to: 

however, the statistics are portrayed in the new format per the Strategic Plan objective. 

J.1. Revisit Development of the Annual Enforcement Report Using the Board as a Model to 
Assess the Effectiveness of Consumer Protection Efforts 

Stacy Townsend reported that, as part of its 2017-2018 Strategic Plan, the LATC has an objective 
to “Revisit development of the annual enforcement report using the Board as a model to assess the 
effectiveness of consumer protection.”  She continued that, in past years, staff presented the 
annual enforcement statistics to the Committee via a table displaying data from the past five fiscal 
years (FY) as well as graphics that displayed data related to the source of complaints, complaint 
aging comparisons, and comparisons of pending complaints.  She stated that, in order to fulfill the 
Strategic Plan objective, staff is proposing to transition its statistical reporting of annual 
enforcement statistics to match the Board’s formatting.  She advised that the new  format is 
attached to the Enforcement Program Report in the meeting packet and includes tables and graphs 
with the following information: 1) types of complaints received by the LATC during the current 
FY; 2) comparison of complaints received, closed, and pending by FY; 3) comparison of the age 
of pending complaints by FY; 4) summary of closed complaints by FY; 5) summary of 
disciplinary and enforcement actions by FY; and 6) most common violations of the Act and LATC 
regulations that resulted in enforcement action during the current and previous two FYs.    

Ms. Townsend stated that, at today’s meeting, the Committee is asked to review the proposed 
Enforcement Program Report and take possible action in determining whether the information 
provided fulfills this Strategic Plan objective.  Ms. Trauth asked if the presented format of 
statistical data is the same used by the Board.  Ms. Townsend responded, “yes.” Ms. Miller 
clarified that the information provided is an update on the enforcement program statistics; 

Mr. Bowden inquired about the large increase in complaints.  Ms. Townsend responded that the 
increase is due to opening cases when candidates disclose that they had a conviction.  Ms. Mayer 
stated that, although cases have always been reviewed when a conviction is disclosed, this review 
is now tracked by the opening of cases. In reference to the Closure of Complaints by FY chart, 
Ms. Landry inquired about the 19 complaints for the “No Violation” category.  Ms. Townsend 
responded that those cases were not substantially related to the scope of licensure for landscape 
architecture and/or not in violation of the Practice Act.   

 Susan Landry moved to approve the new format of the Enforcement Program Report to 
meet the Strategic Plan objective. 

David Allan Taylor, Jr. seconded the motion. 

- 11 -



 

  

 

   
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 
 

 
 

three categories based on the type of complaint: 1) complaints against licensees, 2) settlements 
against licensees, and, 3) complaints alleging unlicensed activity.  She asked the Committee to 
discuss the information provided and take possible action. 

Regarding the 43 complaints against unlicensed individuals that have been fully investigated, 
Ms. Trauth inquired about the follow-up action taken by the LATC.  Ms. Townsend responded 
that, upon research, 16 individuals were found to be licensed landscape contractors.  With regard 
to follow-up, she continued that LATC works with the subject of a complaint to gain compliance 
with the law and, upon demonstration of corrective action, an additional letter is sent 
acknowledging the corrective action and the case is closed.   

Ms. Landry opined that a landscape architect’s license number should be required to be displayed 
on advertisements.  Ms. Mayer advised that requiring the display of a landscape architect’s license 
number on advertisements would require the adoption of a regulation.  Ms. Landry stated that most 
social media websites incorrectly allow their users to use the term “landscape architect.”  As an 

Members Bowden, Landry, Taylor, Truscott, and Chair Trauth voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion passed 5-0. 

J.2. Review Data Respective to Unlicensed Activity and Licensee Violations to Identify if 
Trends Exist in Order to Shape Consumer Education and Enhance Enforcement Efforts 

Ms. Townsend reported that, as part of its 2017-2018 Strategic Plan, the LATC has an objective to 
“Collect and review data respective to unlicensed activity and licensee violations to identify if 
trends exist (in such areas as how unlicensed activity was identified, who reported the allegation, 
and the matters which lead to an investigation) in order to shape consumer education and enhance 
enforcement efforts.”  She continued that, in an effort to address this Strategic Plan objective, 
LATC enforcement staff collected and analyzed enforcement data for the previous four FYs, 
FY 14/15 through FY 17/18. She advised that, during that time, LATC received 76 
practice-related complaints and, of these complaints, 50 were for unlicensed individuals, and 26 
complaints were against licensees, which included 10 settlement reports. 

In reference to the attachment, Ms. Townsend reported that data was collected and divided into 

example, Ms. Mayer stated that Linked In does not have a landscape designer category whereby 
its users, by default, select landscape architect as their profession.  She suggested contacting 
websites to advocate for the inclusion of professions and verifying licenses before allowing their 
users to select protected professions. 

As an aside, Ms. Morgan Hollingworth inquired about the Consumer’s Guide.  Ms. Mayer 
responded that the Guide has been approved; however, due to transitioning to the new website, 
address links need to be updated to reflect the new website. 

(See additional discussion and motion continued after Agenda Item J.3.) 

J.3. Research the Possibility of Enhancing the Statutory Written Contract Requirement to 
Include a Consumer Notification to Enhance Consumer Education 

- 12 -



 

  

 

 
 

 

 

 

   
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ms. Miller reported that the Strategic Plan contains an objective to “Research the possibility of 
enhancing the statutory written contract requirement to include a consumer notification to enhance 
consumer education” in which proposed language to amend Business and Professions Code (BPC) 
section 5536.22 was approved by the Board at its December 15, 2016 meeting.  She continued that 
the proposed language was submitted to the Senate Business, Professions and Economic 
Development (BP&ED) Committee on October 27, 2017, for inclusion in the Committee’s 2018 
Omnibus bill; however, BP&ED suggested that the proposed language be presented to the 
Legislature for consideration via the “New Issues” section of the Sunset Review Report.  Ms. 
Miller stated that LATC staff reviewed the Board’s amendments and attempted to incorporate 
amendments pertinent to LATC’s written contract requirements delineated in BPC section 5616 
(Landscape Architecture Contract – Contents, Notice Requirements) and that the proposed 

advised that LATC would have to demonstrate the necessity for Ms. Landry’s proposed language 
by establishing the existence of a problem and justification.  Ms. Welch reminded the Committee 
that, as a consumer protection agency, provisions must be developed to protect the consumer and 
the areas suggested were more of a license/profession issue.   

 Andrew Bowden moved to approve the proposed language to amend BPC section 5616. 

Susan Landry seconded the motion. 

Mr. Watts inquired about the availability of a sample contract with the new language.  
Mr. Bowden responded that LATC does not provide sample contracts and that the American 
Society of Landscape Architects may be able to accommodate his request. 

Members Bowden, Landry, Taylor, Truscott, and Chair Trauth voted in favor of the 

amendments are shown in Attachment J.3.1 (Proposed Language to Amend Business and 
Professions Code Section 5616), which will be included for the Legislature’s consideration via the 
“New Issues” section of the Sunset Review Report.  She asked the Committee to review and 
discuss the proposed amendments to BPC section 5616 and take possible action.  

Ms. Landry commented that the section does not specify who owns the land nor who has the legal 
right to improve the property.  Messrs. Bowden, Taylor, and Truscott concurred that the written 
contract language should not be expanded to address these proposed provisions.  Ms. Mayer 

motion. The motion passed 5-0. 

J.2. Review Data Respective to Unlicensed Activity and Licensee Violations to Identify if 
Trends Exist in Order to Shape Consumer Education and Enhance Enforcement Efforts 
(Continued) 

Due to the amount of complaints regarding website advertising, Ms. Mayer suggested that the 
Committee direct staff to research whether LinkedIn can add a landscape designer option as a 
professional vocation. Ms. Welch advised that the LATC could send a request.   

 Marq Truscott moved to request social media platforms to add a landscape designer 
option as a professional vocation. 

David Allan Taylor, Jr. seconded the motion. 

- 13 -



 

  

 

   
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

   
 

 

 

 

   
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Members Bowden, Landry, Taylor, Truscott, and Chair Trauth voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion passed 5-0. 

K.* Discuss and Possible Action on LATC’s 2018 Sunset Review Report and Member 
Administrative Procedure Manual 

Ms. Miller reported that the Sunset Review Report is due to the Legislature on December 1, 2018.  
She continued that, using the 2017 Report template, a draft of LATC’s Report was reviewed by 
the LATC during its meeting on May 4, 2018 and, thereafter, was presented to the Board’s 
Executive Committee during its meeting on May 16, 2018.  She added that, subsequently, the draft 
Report was presented to the Board at its meeting on June 13, 2018.   

Ms. Miller reported that the 2018 Sunset Review Report template was released on June 29, 2018 
and, accordingly, staff has transposed the draft responses made to the 2017 Report to the 2018 
Report template.  She continued that the 2018 template included three new questions (all in 
Section 4) not previously presented to the LATC and that the LATC is asked to review the draft 
Report and take possible action to recommend to the Board approval of LATC’s Report.  Ms. Miller 
added that the LATC is asked to appoint a two-person working group for review of the updated 
Member Administrative Procedure Manual to be included in Section 12 of the report, which was last 
updated in 2001. 

Mr. Bowden asked whether all of the tables in the Report are complete.  Ms. Miller responded that, 
due to the DCA Budget Office finalizing fiscal year-end figures, some budget information is not 
included. Ms. Mayer commented that final figures were received on July 19, 2018 and are under 
review. 

 Marq Truscott moved to approve the draft Sunset Review Report and delegate 
authority to the working group and EO to make minor technical or non-substantive 
changes to the Report, if needed. 

David Allan Taylor, Jr. seconded the motion. 

Members Bowden, Landry, Taylor, Truscott, and Chair Trauth voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion passed 5-0. 

 Marq Truscott moved to direct staff to prepare the update to the Member 
Administrative Procedure Manual using the Board’s manual as a model, and delegated 
authority to staff and the EO to make minor technical or non-substantive changes to the 
language, if needed. 

David Allan Taylor, Jr. seconded the motion. 

Members Bowden, Landry, Taylor, Truscott, and Chair Trauth voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion passed 5-0. 

- 14 -



 

  

 
 

 
 

M.* Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 3:37 p.m. 

*Agenda items for this meeting were taken out of order to allow ample time to discuss Agenda 
Item I. The order of business conducted herein follows the transaction of business. 

- 15 -



       

 

 

 

  
 

   

 

 

  

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

Agenda Item E 

PROGRAM MANAGER’S REPORT – UPDATE ON LATC’S ADMINISTRATIVE/ 
MANAGEMENT, EXAMINATION, LICENSING, AND ENFORCEMENT PROGRAMS 

The California Architects Board and Landscape Architects Technical Committee’s (LATC) 

October 2018 Monthly Report provides a synopsis of current activities and is attached for the 

LATC’s review. 

LATC Meeting December 6-7, 2018 Sacramento, CA 



 

 

     

     

 

    

   

  

  

 

         

    

       

    

  

      

    

    

 

  

   

  

      

 

     

    

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE: November 13, 2018 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

The following information is provided as an overview of Board activities and 

projects as of October 31, 2018. 

ADMINISTRATIVE/MANAGEMENT 

Board The Board’s next meeting is scheduled for December 13-14, 2018, in 

Sacramento. This meeting will include a Strategic Planning session. 

Business Modernization In late December, the Board, in collaboration with the 

Department of Consumer Affairs (DCA), finalized its Business Modernization 

Plan (Plan) to effectively facilitate the analysis, approval, and potential 

transition to a new licensing and enforcement platform. The Plan is an 

academic look at the purpose, guiding principles, objectives, and activities 

needed to achieve the Board’s goals of business modernization. The Plan has 

an accompanying document, the Business Modernization Report (Report), 

which is an artifact specific to the Board that documents the business 

modernization activities that will be conducted. The Report includes proposed 

timelines, milestone documentation, business planning artifacts, project 

approval documents, among other items. Together, these documents outline a 

specific framework, and the Board’s progress within such framework. 

The primary objective of the Plan is to ensure that business modernization 

efforts for the Board follow a structured approach based on best practices and 

lessons learned, with more accurately planned, managed, and implemented 

technology solutions. The thorough planning, business analysis, and program-

specific nature of this effort will ensure success for the Board and DCA.  

Board and Landscape Architects Technical Committee (LATC) 

Members 

Laura Zuniga, Executive Officer 

OCTOBER 2018 MONTHLY REPORT 

alknati
Typewritten Text

alknati
Typewritten Text
Attachment E.1



 

 

     

  

     

      

   

    

    

   

   

         

            

       

    

 

    

     

        

  

   

      

       

      

    

   

       

       

         

    

         

        

     

       

      

 

      

   

     

    

    

    

          

         

        

       

          

      

  

  

  

  

  

  

An initial meeting was held on July 11, 2017, with the Board and DCA’s Office of Change 
Management (OCM) to discuss the Business Modernization Plan and approach. On 

August 17, 2017, staff met with OCM staff to discuss the initial inventory of the Board’s existing 
administrative, enforcement, and licensing business processes. This inventory will inform the 

proposed timeline for the effort, currently under development. At the request of the DCA, on 

October 11, 2017, staff provided suggested edits to the business processes. Staff completed the 

Project Charter for the business activities phase of the modernization effort. The Charter specifies 

our role and responsibilities as key project stakeholders. It also describes the project decision-

making authority for our business area, and the commitment DCA needs from the Board to conduct 

a successful project. Staff and management met with SOLID on November 7, 2017, to review the 

draft Project Charter and discuss combining the Board and LATC charters into one document. The 

consolidated Charter was submitted to OCM in January 2018, after approval from the Board 

President and LATC Chair. 

Key elements of Business Modernization specific to the needs of the Board and LATC include: 

1) Business Activities, 2) Project Approval Lifecycle, and 3) System Implementation. 

Jason Piccione, DCA Chief Information Officer, updated the Executive Committee and the Board 

on the Business Modernization project; he stressed that the progression of activities to implement 

the Business Modernization project will be based on the overall organizational readiness of both 

programs and ability to support an aggressive (or less aggressive) timeframe regarding staff 

resources. Furthermore, he reported that Business Activities are scheduled from October 2018 

through October 2019, the Project Approval Lifecycle from July 2019 through November 2020, 

and System Implementation from November 2020 through November 2022. The proposed 

schedule employs a minimum viable product strategy, which could reduce the total proposed time 

of implementation to November 2021. The Board business process inventory has since been 

finalized and provided to OCM on May 21, 2018. OCM advised they would reach out to the Board 

near the fourth quarter to begin preparation for the mapping process in October 2018. Executive 

managers met with OCM on October 23, 2018, to discuss the business modernization activities. 

Next, the project charter will be reviewed by staff to determine if any updates are necessary, and 

subject matter experts (SME) will be assigned. Meetings will be scheduled to discuss system 

impacts and conduct SME introductory workshops and process mapping workshops. The process 

mapping phase will include developing various process maps, and a functional requirements 

document. A meeting was held on October 30, 2018, to discuss the process inventory and 

scheduling of activities. 

Because this planned approach will take time and to address the delayed implementation of a new 

platform, the Board and LATC are pursuing a stop gap measure to accept credit card payment for 

license renewal applications, our highest volume transaction. Staff met with DCA Office of 

Information Services (OIS) on May 14, 2018 along with Release 3 boards and bureaus interested 

in the Interim Credit Card Acceptance Portal initiative. Staff worked with DCA Budget and Legal 

staff to assess the projected credit card costs. Based on the assessment, the estimated 3% vendor 

convenience fee cannot be readily absorbed by the Board at this time. However, the Board will 

continue to monitor and assess the feasibility of absorbing the convenience fee in the future. The 

Board and LATC will be in the first group along with California State Board of Pharmacy and 

California Board of Accountancy. OIS identified the Board as the primary organization in the first 

group and has initiated the data analysis for credit card renewal payments. Staff met with OIS to 

determine initial screening questions for credit card eligibility and assess whether additional 

2 



 

 

      

     

   

      

 

        

       

      

        

   

   

    

       

 

      

      

 

    

           

          

       

   

   

      

   

        

  

         

          

   

     

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

features could be implemented. Features such as online address changes could be implemented in 

the future. Further research and testing is underway for a planned launch date of 

December 17, 2018. 

Communications Committee The next Communications Committee meeting has not been 

scheduled at this time. 

Executive Committee The next Executive Committee meeting has not been scheduled at this time. 

Legislation Assembly Bill (AB) 2138 [Chapter 995, Statutes of 2018] limits the current discretion 

provided to regulatory entities within DCA to apply criminal history background, as it relates to 

denial of an application for licensure. This bill was signed by the Governor on 

September 30, 2018, and becomes effective on January 1, 2019. 

Senate Bill (SB) 721 [Chapter 445, Statutes of 2018] establishes minimum inspection requirements 

for the exterior elevated elements, including balconies and decks, of buildings with three or more 

multifamily dwelling units. This bill was signed by the Governor on September 17, 2018, and 

becomes effective on January 1, 2019. 

SB 826 [Chapter 954, Statutes of 2018] requires each publicly held corporation whose principal 

executive offices are located in California to have a minimum number of females on its board of 

directors.  The bill was signed by the Governor on September 30, 2018, and becomes effective on 

January 1, 2019. 

SB 1137 [Chapter 414, Statutes of 2018] requires the Department of Veterans Affairs and the 

DCA, in consultation with each other, to take appropriate steps to increase awareness regarding 

professional licensing benefits available to veterans and their spouses. A letter conveying the 

Board’s support was sent to Senator Vidak on August 16, 2018. SB 1137 was signed by the 

Governor on September 14, 2018, and becomes effective on January 1, 2019. 

SB 1480 [Chapter 571, Statutes of 2018] reduces the requirement that boards within DCA meet 

three times per year to two times per year. This bill was signed by the Governor on 

September 19, 2018, and becomes effective on January 1, 2019. 

Newsletter The next issue of the California Architects newsletter is planned for publication in 

November 2018. 

Sunset Review The Board’s and LATC’s 2018 Sunset Review Reports are due for submission to 

the Legislature on December 1, 2018. The draft reports were approved by the Board at its 

September 12, 2018 meeting. 

Personnel Reynaldo Castro was selected to fill the Enforcement Office Technician position and 

his first day was October 31, 2018. An appointment to the vacant Enforcement Analyst position 

is expected in November. 

3 



 

 

   

 

 
 

 

 

  
 

 

 
   

 

 
   

 

 
   

 

    

   

  

  

  

   

        

        

        

 

 

 

         

       

     

        

    

        

      

   

        

   

 

 

Social Media The Board has expanded its social media presence to include three platforms, 

which are shown in the following table: 

Platform 
Current 

Followers 

Followers 

1 Year Prior 
Difference 

Twitter 

(launched in 2014) 
1,204 1,116 8% 

Instagram 

(launched in 2016) 
433 202 214% 

Facebook 

(launched in 2017) 
73 N/A 

Training The following employee(s) have been scheduled to participate in upcoming training: 

11/7/18 Excel 2016 Charts (Ryan and Amir) 

11/13/18 Completed Staff Work (Katie) 

11/14/18 Business and Email Etiquette (Katie) 

11/27/18 Interviewing Techniques for Investigators and Inspectors (Idris) 

12/19/18 Microsoft Word 2016 Track Changes and Collaborative Editing Tools (Katie) 

Website In October, staff posted the notice for the October 25, 2018 Professional Qualifications 

Committee meeting. Staff also developed a Requirements for Eligibility page which allows 

individuals to view how much credit they may receive for their education or experience through 

the use of a dropdown menu. 

EXAMINATION AND LICENSING PROGRAMS 

Architect Registration Examination (ARE) Effective July 1, 2018, NCARB retired ARE 4.0. 

Candidates who did not complete the entirety of ARE 4.0 were transitioned to ARE 5.0. 

Transitioned candidates with partial ARE 4.0 credit were granted ARE 5.0 credit based upon the 

rules set by NCARB ARE 5.0 Credit Model. Following the transition, Examination and Licensing 

staff manually reviewed candidate records for accuracy and granted individual testing 

authorizations for each ARE 5.0 division to nearly 8,000 actively testing candidates. The result of 

which was a smooth transition process for candidate and the avoidance of unnecessary delays in 

the scheduling of ARE 5.0 examinations. 

The pass rates for ARE divisions taken by California candidates between September 1–30, 2018, 

are shown in the following tables: 

4 



 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

      

      

       

 

 
     

      

       

 

 

     

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

      

      

       

 

 
     

      

       

 

 

September 2018 ARE 5.0 

DIVISION 

NUMBER 

OF 

DIVISIONS 

TOTAL 

PASSED 

No. of 

Divisions Passed 

TOTAL 

FAILED 

No. of 

Divisions Failed 

Construction & Evaluation 49 32 65% 17 35% 

Practice Management 102 47 46% 55 54% 

Programming & Analysis 82 32 39% 50 61% 

Project Development & 

Documentation 
115 46 40% 69 60% 

Project Management 68 37 54% 31 46% 

Project Planning & Design 111 52 47% 59 53% 

Pass rates for ARE divisions taken by California candidates during the first three quarters of this 

calendar year (January 1, 2018 to September 30, 2018) are shown in the following tables: 

2018 ARE 5.0 (1st thru 3rd Quarters Combined) 

DIVISION 

NUMBER 

OF 

DIVISIONS 

TOTAL 

PASSED 

No. of 

Divisions Passed 

TOTAL 

FAILED 

No. of 

Divisions Failed 

Construction & Evaluation 335 215 64% 120 36% 

Practice Management 682 329 48% 353 52% 

Programming & Analysis 502 223 44% 279 56% 

Project Development & 

Documentation 
627 300 48% 327 52% 

Project Management 466 268 58% 198 42% 

Project Planning & Design 808 337 42% 471 58% 

5 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 
     

      

 

 
     

 

 
     

      

      

      

 

     

  

 

  

 

   

     

     

      

 

 
    

     

       

 

2018 ARE 4.0 (Quarters 1 and 2 Combined) 

DIVISION 

NUMBER 

OF 

DIVISIONS 

TOTAL 

PASSED 

No. of 

Divisions Passed 

TOTAL 

FAILED 

No. of 

Divisions Failed 

Building Design & 

Construction Systems 
114 85 75% 29 25% 

Building Systems 118 58 49% 60 51% 

Construction Documents & 

Services 
601 246 41% 355 59% 

Programming, Planning, & 

Practice 
755 298 39% 457 61% 

Schematic Design 65 45 69% 20 31% 

Site Planning & Design 438 223 51% 215 49% 

Structural Systems 168 82 49% 86 51% 

National pass rates for 2017 ARE 5.0 and ARE 4.0 are shown in the following tables: 

2017 ARE 5.0 

DIVISION 

CALIFORNIA 

Total Passed 

NATIONAL 

Passed 

DIFFERENCE 

Construction & Evaluation 238 54% 61% -7% 

Practice Management 488 42% 50% -8% 

Programming & Analysis 296 43% 53% -10% 

Project Development & 

Documentation 
602 47% 56% -9% 

Project Management 292 58% 59% -1% 

Project Planning & Design 774 42% 50% -8% 

6 



 

 

  

 

  

 

   

 
    

     

     

     

     

     

     

    

      

      

      

       

        

    

       

        

 

      

     

        

   

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

     

2017 ARE 4.0 

DIVISION 

CALIFORNIA 

Total Passed 

NATIONAL 

Passed 

DIFFERENCE 

Building Design & Construction 

Systems 
607 56% 62% -6% 

Building Systems 636 56% 59% -3% 

Construction Documents & Services 1,607 46% 52% -6% 

Programming, Planning, & Practice 1,507 48% 52% -4% 

Schematic Design 317 80% 81% -1% 

Site Planning & Design 1,087 59% 64% -5% 

Structural Systems 585 59% 59% 0% 

California Supplemental Examination (CSE) Staff, at the direction of the Board, researched with 

the Office of Professional Examination Services (OPES) the feasibility of reducing the mandatory 

180 day wait time after a candidate fails the CSE while maintaining examination security and 

defensibility. The Board was provided an update on the research at its December 7, 2017 meeting, 

and directed staff to proceed with a regulatory proposal to reduce the wait time from 180 to 90 

days. At its March 1, 2018 meeting, the Board received a presentation from OPES detailing how 

the reduction in the wait time will be implemented in March 2019, and approved proposed 

regulatory language to commence the rulemaking process. Staff is working with DCA to develop 

a regulatory proposal for submittal to the Office of Administrative Law (OAL) and notice to the 

public. 

The current Intra-Departmental Contract (IAC) with the OPES for examination development for 

fiscal year (FY) 2018/19 expires on June 30, 2019. 

The pass rates for the CSE taken by candidates between October 1–31, 2018, and prior FY are 

displayed in the following tables: 

October 2018 CSE 

EXAMINATIONS 

ADMINISTERED 

CANDIDATES 

PASSED 

Total Percent 

CANDIDATES 

FAILED 

Total Percent 

112 72 64% 40 36% 

7 



 

 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

     

        

          

      

       

       

  

           

    

    

 

         

   

      

      

   

      

       

    

       

 

       

        

    

          

 

  

 

  

 

  

FY 2018/19 CSE 

(as of October 31, 2018) 

EXAMINATIONS 

ADMINISTERED 

CANDIDATES 

PASSED 

Total Percent 

CANDIDATES 

FAILED 

Total Percent 

407 248 61% 159 39% 

FY 2017/18 CSE 

EXAMINATIONS 

ADMINISTERED 

CANDIDATES 

PASSED 

Total Percent 

CANDIDATES 

FAILED 

Total Percent 

1,144 645 56% 499 44% 

NCARB Integrated Path to Architectural Licensure (IPAL) Board staff contacted NCARB to 

provide any updated information regarding the program. NCARB indicated there were more than 

400 students enrolled across 17 IPAL programs. Presently, over 60 students have taken one or 

more ARE divisions, and five students graduated from IPAL programs receiving their license. 

NCARB anticipates being able to provide more robust data in three to five years when more 

students have progressed through the program. 

Professional Qualifications Committee (PQC) The PQC met on October 25, 2018, in Sacramento. 

At the meeting the PQC reviewed a draft of the new Licensure Handbook, which replaces the 

Candidate’s Handbook, and provided its feedback to staff. The Committee also reviewed 

historical examination statistics for the ARE and CSE. 

Regulatory Proposals California Code of Regulations (CCR) Sections 124 (California 

Supplemental Examination) and 124.5 (Review of California Supplemental Examination) – At its 

June 15, 2017 meeting, the Board directed staff to collaborate with OPES and research the 

feasibility of reducing the CSE retake waiting period. Based upon the results of its research, OPES 

determined and advised staff the waiting period could be reduced from 180 to 90 days with no 

compromise of examination integrity. Staff presented OPES’ findings to the Board at its 

December 7, 2017, meeting and advised members it could bring a regulatory proposal to amend 

CCR section 124 for approval at the next Board meeting in March 2018. Board members 

subsequently voted in support of reducing the waiting period to 90 days and directed staff to 

commence the rulemaking process. 

Staff developed proposed regulatory language to amend CCR section 124 and reduce the CSE 

waiting period. Staff also proposed language to amend CCR section 124.5 as it pertains to the 

CSE review process and release of examination results. The Board approved the proposed 

regulatory language to amend CCR sections 124 and 124.5 at its March 1, 2018, meeting and 

8 



 

 

      

    

 

      

    

 

      

    

 

    

     

       

    

    

 

      

    

     

       

        

  

         

      

   

      

    

       

     

  

   

      

     

     

     

    

    

  

  

   

   

     

   

 

     

     

     

   

 

     

     

     

   

 

     

     

delegated authority to the EO to adopt the regulations, provided no adverse comments are received 

during the public comment period, and, if needed, to make minor technical or non-substantive 

changes. 

Following is a chronology, to date, of the processing of the Board’s regulatory proposal for 

CCR sections 124 and 124.5: 

March 1, 2018 Proposed regulatory language approved by the Board 

June 12, 2018 Proposed regulation submitted to DCA Legal for prereview. 

July 2, 2018 DCA Legal concluded prereview and returned regulation to staff 

July 5, 2018 Proposed regulation submitted to DCA Legal for Initial Analysis 

ENFORCEMENT PROGRAM 

Architect Consultants Building Official Contact Program: Architect consultants are available on-

call to Building Officials to discuss the Board’s policies and interpretations of the Architects 

Practice Act (Act), stamp and signature requirements, and scope of architectural practice. 

Education/Information Program: Architect consultants are the primary source for responses to 

technical and/or practice-related questions from the public and licensees. In October, there were 

83 telephone and/or email contacts requesting information, advice, and/or direction. Licensees 

accounted for 35 of the contacts and included inquiries regarding written contract requirements, 

out-of-state licensees seeking to do business in California, scope of practice relative to engineering 

disciplines, and questions about stamp and signature requirements. 

Collection Agency Contract The Board’s 2015-2016 Strategic Plan contains an objective assigned 

to the Regulatory and Enforcement Committee (REC) to pursue methods to obtain multiple 

collection mechanisms to secure unpaid citation penalties. At its November 5, 2015 meeting, the 

REC reviewed and discussed this objective, and voted to recommend to the Board that it should 

encourage staff to continue pursuing all avenues for collecting unpaid administrative fines, and 

specifically, start utilizing a collection agency for unpaid accounts aged beyond 90 days, or at the 

discretion of the EO. The Board approved the REC’s recommendation at its December 10, 2015 

meeting. Following the meeting, staff identified outstanding accounts that could be referred to a 

collection agency and obtained quotes for full-service debt collection services, including “skip-

tracing,” credit reporting, and filing legal actions as appropriate. Staff is in the process of securing 
a contract with a collection agency through the informal solicitation method (Government Code 

(Gov.) section 14838.5) to allow the Board to refer unpaid accounts aged beyond 90 days to a 

collection agency. The collection agency contract is planned to be presented to the Board for 

review and possible action at a future meeting. 

Enforcement Actions 

Scott J. Glass (Brooklyn, New York) The Board issued a one-count citation that included a $500 

administrative fine to Glass, architect license number C-31542, for an alleged violation of Business 

and Professions Code (BPC) section 5600.05(a)(1) (License Renewal Process; Audit; False or 

Misleading Information on Coursework on Disability Access Requirements). The action alleged 

that Glass certified false or misleading information on his 2018 License Renewal Application.  

Glass paid the fine, satisfying the citation.  The citation became final on September 14, 2018. 

9 



 

 

    

        

     

    

    

    

    

 

     

      
 

 

         

     

        

     

         

 

     

       

        

     

 

       

       

     

 

     

     

       

 

     

     

       
         

      

      

           

   

  

       

       

 

 

     
      

 

     
      

 

     
      

Kirk Edward Van Cleave (Rancho Mission Viejo) The Board issued a one-count citation that 

included a $500 administrative fine to Van Cleave, architect license number C-25012, for an 

alleged violation of BPC section 5600.05(b) (License Renewal Process; Audit; False or Misleading 

Information on Coursework on Disability Access Requirements). The action alleged that 

Van Cleave failed to maintain records of completion of the required coursework for two years 

from the date of license renewal and failed to make those records available to the Board for 

auditing upon request.  The citation became final on September 5, 2018. 

Enforcement Statistics Current Month 

October 2018 

Complaints 

Received/Opened (Reopened): 20 (0) 

Closed: 34 

Average Days to Close: 251 days 

Pending: 158 

Average Age of Pending: 231 days 

Citations 

Issued: 6 

Pending: 15 

Pending AG: † 2 

Final: 5 

Disciplinary Actions 

Pending AG: 4 

Pending DA: 1 

Final: 0 

Continuing Education (§5600.05)** 

Received/Opened: 1 

Closed: 1 

Pending: 1 

Settlement Reports (§5588)** 

Received/Opened: 6 

Closed: 4 

Pending: 17 
* Calculated as a monthly average of pending cases. 

** Also included within “Complaints” information. 
† Also included within “Pending Citations.” 

Prior Month FYTD 5-FY Avg 

September 2018 2018/19 2013/14-

2017/18 

17 (0) 80 (1) 331 (2) 

8 80 316 

190 days 198 days 124 days 

172 168* 121 

232 days 220 days* 148 days 

1 18 48 

14 13* 11 

2 2* 4 

2 15 43 

4 4* 5 

1 1* 1 

0 1 3 

0 3 66 

1 12 64 

1 3* 19 

4 15 27 

3 12 28 

15 16* 8 

Most Common Violations The majority of complaints received are filed by consumers for 

allegations such as unlicensed practice, professional misconduct, negligence, and contract 

violations, or initiated by the Board upon the failure of a coursework audit. 

During FY 2018/19 (as of October 31, 2018), 15 citations with administrative fines became final 

with 18 violations of the provisions of the Act and/or Board regulations. Below are the most 

common violations that have resulted in enforcement action during the current FY: 

10 



 

 

    

          

 

     

 

         

       

      

 

      

       

   

     

       

        

         

       

       

    

   

        

    

       

    

      

        

     

 

     

        

  

    

     

   

          

    

    

      

      

      

        

  

 

 
 

 

  

 
     

 

   

     

 
 

 

  

 
     

 

   

     

 
 

 

  

 
     

 

   

     

• BPC section 5536(a) - Practice Without License or Holding Self Out as Architect [5.5%] 

• BPC section 5600.05(a)(1) or (b) - License Renewal Process; Audit; False or Misleading 

Information on Coursework on Disability Access Requirements [77.8%] 

• CCR section 160(b)(2) - Rules of Professional Conduct (Willful Misconduct) [16.7%] 

Planning Department Outreach On October 10, 2018, staff distributed a letter to planning 

departments throughout the state educating them on the Act and requesting that they verify 

licensure when plans for non-exempt projects are submitted for their review to prevent unlicensed 

activity. 

Regulatory Proposals CCR section 152.5 (Contest of Citations, Informal Conference) - Staff 

developed proposed regulatory language to amend CCR section 152.5 to allow the EO to delegate 

to a designee, such as the Assistant Executive Officer or the Enforcement Program Manager, the 

authority to hold an informal conference with a cited person and make a decision to affirm, modify, 

or dismiss a citation. The proposed regulatory language also contains additional revisions to 

CCR section 152.5, including: changing the deadline for requesting an informal conference for 

consistency with the deadline for requesting a formal administrative hearing; authorizing the EO 

or a designee to extend the 60-day period for holding the informal conference for good cause; and 

clarifying that the decision to affirm, modify, or dismiss a citation is made following (rather than 

at the conclusion of) an informal conference, and a copy of the decision will be transmitted to the 

cited person within 30 days after the conference. The REC reviewed and discussed staff’s draft 
proposed regulation to amend CCR section 152.5 at its November 8, 2016 meeting, and voted to 

recommend to the Board that it approve the regulation and authorize staff to proceed with the 

regulatory change. At its December 15, 2016 meeting, the Board approved the proposed 

regulation to amend CCR section 152.5, authorized staff to proceed with the required regulatory 

change to amend CCR section 152.5, and delegated authority to the EO to adopt the regulation, 

provided no adverse comments are received during the public comment period, and make minor 

technical or non-substantive changes to the language, if needed. Staff is preparing the proposed 

regulatory package for submission to DCA for review, prior to publicly noticing with the OAL. 

CCR section 154 (Disciplinary Guidelines) - The Board’s 2013 and 2014 Strategic Plans included 
an objective to review and update the Board’s Disciplinary Guidelines. The REC reviewed 

recommended updates to the Board’s Disciplinary Guidelines in 2013 and 2014.  Additionally, at 

the request of the REC, staff consulted with a representative of AIACC to address a proposed 

modification to the “Obey All Laws” condition of probation. The representative concurred with 

the revision and indicated that there was no issue with the proposal.  Staff then consulted with the 

REC Chair who agreed to provide the Disciplinary Guidelines with recommended revisions to the 

Board for consideration at its December 2014 meeting due to the target date established for the 

Strategic Plan objective. At its December 2014 meeting, the Board approved the proposed 

revisions to the Disciplinary Guidelines and authorized staff to proceed with a regulatory proposal 

to amend CCR section 154 in order to incorporate the revised Disciplinary Guidelines by 

reference. Staff prepared the required regulatory documents for the Board’s review and approval 

at its June 10, 2015 meeting. The Board approved the proposed regulatory language to amend 

CCR section 154 at its June 10, 2015 meeting and delegated the authority to the EO to adopt the 

regulation, provided no adverse comments are received during the public comment period, and to 

make minor technical or non-substantive changes, if needed. 

11 



 

 

    

     

       

    

     

    

      

    

     

 

    

    

     

    

   

       

  

      

          

      

   

    

     

       

  

    

  

     

      

           

    

 

    

         

  

    

     

       

      

     

      

    

   

     

  

  

   

    

 

      

 

 

   

  

  

  

   

    

 

      

 

 

   

  

  

  

   

    

 

      

 

 

   

  

At its August 6, 2015 meeting, the LATC reviewed recommended updates to LATC’s Disciplinary 

Guidelines based on the revisions made to the Board’s Guidelines. Following the meeting, Legal 

Counsel advised LATC staff that additional research may be necessary regarding Optional 

Conditions 9 (CSE) and 10 (Written Examination) in LATC’s Guidelines. LATC staff 

subsequently discussed the matter with Legal Counsel on September 30, 2015. Board staff 

reviewed Legal Counsel’s comments as they relate to the Board’s Disciplinary Guidelines, and 

determined the Board’s Guidelines would also need to be amended. On October 21, 2015, Board 

and LATC staff sent proposed edits to these conditions to Legal Counsel for review. Legal 

Counsel notified Board and LATC staff on November 12, 2015, that the proposed edits were 

acceptable, but substantive, and would require re-approval by the Board. 

On November 25, 2015, Legal Counsel further advised staff to include the current version of the 

Board’s Quarterly Report of Compliance form (1/11) as “Attachment A” in the Board’s 

Disciplinary Guidelines, as this method was previously approved by OAL for the 2000 edition of 

the Guidelines. At its December 10, 2015 meeting, the Board reviewed and approved the 

additional recommended revisions to the Board’s Disciplinary Guidelines and the proposed 

regulation to amend CCR section 154, and delegated the authority to the EO to adopt the 

regulation, provided no adverse comments are received during the public comment period, and to 

make minor technical or non-substantive changes to the language, if needed. Staff prepared the 

proposed regulatory package for Legal Counsel’s review and approval on March 15, 2016. On 

April 8, 2016, Legal Counsel advised staff that further substantive changes were necessary prior 

to submission to OAL. Staff developed recommended revisions to the Guidelines in response to 

Legal Counsel’s concerns, and presented those revisions to the REC for review and consideration 

at its November 8, 2016, meeting. At the meeting, the REC voted to recommend to the Board that 

it approve the additional revisions to the Disciplinary Guidelines and authorize staff to proceed 

with the regulatory change to amend CCR section 154. The additional revisions to the Guidelines 

and the proposed regulatory language to amend CCR section 154 were presented to the Board for 

consideration at its December 15, 2016 meeting. At the meeting, the Board approved the 

additional revisions to the Disciplinary Guidelines and the proposed regulation to amend 

CCR section 154, authorized staff to proceed with the required regulatory change to amend 

CCR section 154 in order to incorporate the revised Guidelines by reference, and delegated 

authority to the EO to adopt the regulation, provided no adverse comments are received during the 

public comment period, and make minor technical or non-substantive changes to the language, if 

needed.  

Following the December 15, 2016 Board meeting, LATC staff updated LATC’s Disciplinary 

Guidelines to include the approved revisions that are appropriate for LATC. On July 13, 2017, 

LATC approved the revised Guidelines and recommended that they be presented to the Board for 

approval. On September 5, 2017, Legal Counsel advised LATC staff that additional substantive 

changes to LATC’s Guidelines and the proposed language to amend CCR section 2680 were 

necessary prior to Board approval and submission of the regulatory package. The Board approved 

the revisions to LATC’s Guidelines and the proposed language to amend CCR section 2680, 

including the necessary changes identified by Legal Counsel, at its September 7, 2017 meeting.  

Following the meeting, Board staff reviewed Legal Counsel’s recommendations as they relate to 

the Board’s Disciplinary Guidelines and determined that they would also need to be amended.  

Staff prepared additional, recommended revisions to the Board’s Guidelines and the proposed 

language to amend CCR section 154 in response to Legal Counsel’s recommendations, and 

12 



 

 

         

  

 

        

 

     

       

       

  

      

   

    

       

     

     

   

      

       

       

      

    

      

     

      

 

         

     

       

   

     

   

        

   

       

     

       

      

   

    

      

      

    

          

    

     

   

   

 

  

    

    
 

     

   

   

 

  

    

    
 

     

   

   

 

  

    

    
 

presented those revisions to the Board for review and approval at its December 7, 2017 meeting. 

At the meeting, the Board accepted the additional revisions to the Guidelines, and directed Legal 

Counsel and staff to conduct further research to determine if the Board has the statutory authority 

to impose fines through the disciplinary process and whether it should be referenced in the 

Guidelines. 

Legal Counsel subsequently researched the Board’s statutory authority to assess an administrative 
penalty or fine through discipline and found that BPC section 5565(d) authorizes the Board to 

assess a fine for any of the causes of action specified in BPC section 5577 (Conviction of a Crime 

Substantially Related to the Qualifications, Duties, or Functions of an Architect), and 

BPC section 5588(e) authorizes the Board to impose a civil penalty against a licensee who fails to 

report a civil action judgment, settlement, or arbitration award of $5,000 or greater against the 

licensee to the Board within 30 days. Based on Legal Counsel’s research, staff revised the Board’s 
Disciplinary Guidelines to: 1) include the fine and civil penalty provisions authorized by 

BPC sections 5565(d) and 5588(e); 2) provide information regarding the Board’s citation authority 
in the General Considerations section; and 3) update the descriptions of BPC sections 140, 5536.5, 

5577, 5579, 5582.1, 5583, 5584, 5585, and 5586, to more accurately reflect the nature of the 

violations. At its March 1, 2018 meeting, the Board reviewed and approved the proposed 

regulatory changes to the Disciplinary Guidelines and CCR section 154 as modified, directed the 

EO to make any technical or non-substantive changes to the rulemaking package, notice the 

proposed text for a 45-day comment period, and, if no adverse comments are received during the 

45-day comment period and no hearing is requested, adopt the proposed regulatory changes, as 

modified. As a result of guidance from DCA, staff will need to make additional changes to the 

Disciplinary Guidelines due to the passage of AB 2138. 

Regulatory and Enforcement Committee (REC) The next REC meeting has not been scheduled at 

this time. 

Written Contract (BPC section 5536.22) A proposal was previously submitted by the Board to the 

Senate Business, Professions and Economic Development Committee (BP&ED) for possible 

inclusion in an omnibus bill. The amendment to BPC section 5536.22 sought to clarify that the 

following elements are needed in architects’ written contracts with clients for professional 

services: 1) a description of the project; 2) the project address; and 3) a description of the procedure 

to accommodate contract changes. BP&ED staff determined that the proposal was substantive 

and, as such, would need to be included in another bill. At its April 28, 2016 meeting, the REC 

accepted staff’s recommendation to also include a: 1) statement identifying the ownership and/or 

reuse of instruments of service prepared by the architect; and 2) notification to the client that the 

architect is licensed by the Board, in the amendment to BPC section 5536.22. Staff developed 

proposed language for BPC section 5536.22 to include these two additional elements, and 

presented it to the REC for consideration at its November 8, 2016 meeting. At the meeting, the 

REC supported adding the two additional provisions to the written contract requirement, but 

expressed concerns that the use of the word “complaints” in the proposed language for subsection 

(a)(9) could result in frivolous complaints to the Board against architects. The REC ultimately 

voted to recommend to the Board that it approve the proposed language to amend BPC section 

5536.22 with the words “concerns about” instead of “complaints concerning” in the proposed 

subsection (a)(9). The Board considered the REC’s recommendation at its December 15, 2016 

meeting, and approved the proposed language to amend BPC section 5536.22 with the exception 

13 



 

 

     

       

        

     

      

    

    

 

    

 

      

   

      

     

    

    

       

     

       

    

  

 

   

 

 

           

      

       

  

   

           

  

     

     

  

   

  

       

 

     

  

 
   

    

  

  
 

  

 

 

  
 

  
 

     

  

  

 
   

    

  

  
 

  

 

 

  
 

  
 

     

  

  

 
   

    

  

  
 

  

 

 

  
 

  
 

     

  

of proposed subsection (a)(9); the Board returned subsection (a)(9) to the REC for further study 

and consideration of alternative methods of disclosure. The language was submitted to the 

BP&ED Committee on October 27, 2017, for consideration to be included in the 2018 Omnibus 

Committee bill. BP&ED staff determined that the proposal would not be included in the omnibus 

bill because it was deemed substantive, and instead, suggested that the Board present it to the 

Legislature for consideration via the “New Issues” section of the Sunset Review Report. 

At its August 23, 2018 meeting, the REC reviewed and discussed the prior issues regarding the 

phrase “Any questions or concerns about an architect may be referred to the California Architects 
Board” in the proposed subsection (a)(9) and noted the potential challenges with including 

subsection (a)(9) in a written contract with a public agency.  The REC voted to recommend to the 

Board that it approve revised wording of subsection (a)(9) and consider exempting public agency 

contracts from the requirement(s) in subsection (a)(9) or all of subdivision (a) of BPC section 

5536.22. Following the REC meeting, staff reviewed the written contract requirements for 

landscape architects and professional engineers, which include an exemption for professional 

services rendered to a public agency, and recommended that the Board consider including a similar 

provision, subsection (b)(5), in the proposed language to amend BPC section 5536.22. Staff also 

recommended changing the minimum type size from 10-point to 12-point for consistency with 

current accessibility requirements. The Board approved the REC’s and staff’s recommendations 
and the proposed language to amend BPC section 5536.22 at its September 12, 2018 meeting. The 

Board’s proposal to amend BPC section 5536.22 will be presented to the Legislature for 

consideration via the “New Issues” section of the Sunset Review Report. 

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS TECHNICAL COMMITTEE (LATC) 

LATC ADMINISTRATIVE/MANAGEMENT 

Personnel Program Manager, Brianna Miller’s last day with the LATC will be November 2, 2018. 

Trish Rodriguez resumed the Program Manager’s position on November 5, 2018. Additionally, 

Special Projects Analyst, Tremaine Palmer’s last day with the LATC was November 9, 2018. The 

LATC will begin recruitment efforts to fill the analyst position. 

Business Modernization Refer to section under Board’s Administrative/Management. 

Committee The next LATC’s next meeting is scheduled for December 6-7, 2018, in Sacramento. 

This meeting will include a Strategic Planning session. 

Committee member mandatory trainings must be completed as follows: 

• Ethics Orientation – completed within the first six months of appointment and repeat every 

two years throughout a member’s term 
• Sexual Harassment Prevention – completed within the first six months of appointment and 

every two years throughout a member’s term 
• Board Member Orientation – completed within one year of a member’s appointment and 

reappointment 

• Defensive Driver – once every four years 

14 



 

 

          

        

   

         

   

      

     

 

   

     

    

      

            

 

          

             

        

      

        

 

 

    

     

  

          

        

    

    

  

 

    

        

     

          

 

         

    

 

   

 
  

 
 

 
    

 

  

   

 
  

 
 

 
    

 

  

   

 
  

 
 

 
    

 

  

Social Media The LATC maintains a Twitter account that currently has 147 followers. This 

account largely permits the LATC to have active social media participation with the public and 

professionals. 

Website In October, staff , published the updated “Licensee Search” lists to the website. On 

October 23, 2018, the LATC transitioned to its new website design format, which is largely 

modeled after the Board’s. The new website also includes the electronic version of the new 

Consumer’s Guide to Hiring a Landscape Architect. The new web design fulfills the LATC’s 
2017-2018 Strategic Plan objective. 

On October 30, LATC staff met with DCA’s Office of Information Services to discuss the LATC’s 

transition to the DCA’s updated and modernized Web License Look Up in 2018. This is the first 

step of LATC’s License Look Up conversion which is slated to launch by December 2018. 

Presently, the LATC’s License Look Up feature is a PDF that is updated and re-posted on the 

website on a monthly basis. The modernized license search feature will be compatible for smart 

phones and provide consumers with enhanced licensee information.  Specifically, this new search 

tool will enable the LATC to display current information on an ongoing basis as well as enable 

consumers to view all license related data for a licensee (i.e., display all licenses that a person may 

hold from DCA’s boards and bureaus as well as enforcement actions). It will also make searches 

easier by enabling search filters to distill search results. At the onset of conversion, LATC staff 

will engage with DCA’s OIS to participate in user-testing before rollout of the Web License Look 

Up. 

LATC EXAMINATION PROGRAM 

California Supplemental Examination (CSE) LATC’s Intra-Departmental Contract with OPES for 

examination development will expire on June 30, 2019. 

OPES provides the LATC with Occupational Analysis (OA) and examination development 

services. BPC section 139 requires that an OA be conducted every five to seven years. An OA 

was completed by OPES for the LATC in 2014. The Test Plan developed from the 2014 OA is 

being used during content development of the CSE. The CSE development is based on an ongoing 

analysis of current CSE performance and evaluation of examination development needs. Staff 

recruits subject matter experts to participate in examination development workshops to focus on 

item writing and examination construction.  

During the exam development workshops held on August 24-25, 2018 and September 14-15, 2018, 

OPES facilitated a review of the reference materials used for the CSE. Based on SME findings in 

these workshops, OPES recommended changes to the reference list that will be incorporated in the 

CSE Candidate Guide and reflected on the LATC website. OPES will inform the LATC when the 

updated list should be distributed. 

CSE Results The pass rates for the CSE taken by candidates during FY 2018/19 (as of October 

31, 2018) and prior FYs are shown in the following tables: 

15 



 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

     

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

     

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

     

      

        

      

        

      

 

FY 2018/19 CSE 

(as of October 31, 2018) 

EXAMINATIONS 

ADMINISTERED 

CANDIDATES 

PASSED 

Total Percent 

CANDIDATES 

FAILED 

Total Percent 

85 64 75% 21 25% 

FY 2017/18 CSE 

EXAMINATIONS 

ADMINISTERED 

CANDIDATES 

PASSED 

Total Percent 

CANDIDATES 

FAILED 

Total Percent 

181 107 55% 89 45% 

FY 2016/17 CSE 

EXAMINATIONS 

ADMINISTERED 

CANDIDATES 

PASSED 

Total Percent 

CANDIDATES 

FAILED 

Total Percent 

153 80 52% 73 48% 

FY 2015/16 CSE 

EXAMINATIONS 

ADMINISTERED 

CANDIDATES 

PASSED 

Total Percent 

CANDIDATES 

FAILED 

Total Percent 

132 94 71% 38 29% 

Landscape Architect Registration Examination (LARE) The LARE was administered from 

August 6-18, 2018. The candidate application deadline was June 22, 2018. The next LARE 

administration will be held December 10-22, 2018, and the candidate application deadline was 

October 26, 2018. Examination results for all LARE administrations are released by the Council 

of Landscape Architectural Registration Boards (CLARB) within six weeks of the last day of 

administration. 

16 



 

 

   

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 
     

      

      

 
     

 

     

 

 

  

 

    

 
     

      

      

 

 
     

 

  

 

  

 

    

 
     

      

The pass rates for LARE sections taken by California candidates during the August 6-18, 2018, 

administration are shown below: 

SECTION 

NUMBER 

OF 

SECTIONS 

TOTAL 

PASSED 

No. of 

Sections Passed 

TOTAL 

FAILED 

No. of 

Sections Failed 

Project and Construction 

Management 
67 41 61% 26 39% 

Inventory and Analysis 71 42 59% 29 41% 

Design 46 23 50% 23 50% 

Grading, Drainage and 

Construction 
59 43 73% 16 27% 

National pass rates for LARE sections taken during the August 6-18, 2018, administration are 

shown below: 

SECTION 

CALIFORNIA 

Total Passed 

NATIONAL 

Total Passed 

DIFFERENCE 

Project and Construction 

Management 
67 61% 312 69% -8% 

Inventory and Analysis 71 59% 363 71% -12% 

Design 46 50% 331 64% -14% 

Grading, Drainage and 

Construction Documentation 
59 73% 335 70% 3% 

National pass rates for LARE sections taken in 2017 are shown below:  

SECTION 

CALIFORNIA 

Total Passed 

NATIONAL 

Total Passed 

DIFFERENCE 

Project and Construction 

Management 
235 66% 1,192 72% -6% 

Inventory and Analysis 225 66% 1,108 73% -7% 

17 



 

 

 

  

 

    

      

 

 
     

 

      

      

      

         

      

     

      

     

     

 

        

  

    

       

   

      

       

       

    

   

       

      

      

      

 

         

      

     

      

    

   

    

 

  

 

    

  
   

  

  

 

    

  
   

  

  

 

    

  
   

  

SECTION 

CALIFORNIA 

Total Passed 

NATIONAL 

Total Passed 

DIFFERENCE 

Design 223 66% 1,094 70% -4% 

Grading, Drainage and 

Construction Documentation 
224 66% 1,136 68% -2% 

Regulatory Proposals CCR sections 2615 (Form of Examinations) and 2620 (Education and 

Training Credits)- At its meeting on February 10, 2015, LATC directed staff to draft proposed 

regulatory language to specifically state that California allows reciprocity to individuals who are 

licensed in another jurisdiction, have 10 years of practice experience, and have passed the CSE.  

At the LATC meeting on November 17, 2015, the Committee approved proposed amendments to 

CCR section 2615(c)(1), and recommended that the Board authorize LATC to proceed with a 

regulatory change. At its December 10, 2015 meeting, the Board approved the regulatory changes 

and delegated authority to the EO to adopt the corresponding regulations to amend CCR section 

2615 provided no adverse comments are received during the public comment period and make 

minor technical or non-substantive changes to the language, if needed. 

The LATC received extensive input during the public comment period expressing concern about 

the proposed length of post-licensure experience (at least 10 years, within the past 15 years) to be 

required of reciprocity candidates who do not meet California’s educational requirements 
(specifically, a degree in landscape architecture). At its November 4, 2016 meeting, LATC 

reviewed and discussed the public comments, heard from several members of the audience, and 

directed staff to provide additional research and possible options for its next meeting in 

January 2017. At its January 17, 2017 meeting, the Committee directed staff to draft proposed 

regulatory language allowing reciprocity licensure to applicants licensed to practice landscape 

architecture by any US jurisdiction, Canadian province, or Puerto Rico, upon passing the CSE.  

Staff consulted with legal counsel to draft new, proposed regulatory language in accordance with 

the Committee’s direction. Staff was also advised that it would be more timely to begin a new 

regulatory proposal for this new language in lieu of continuing with the existing proposal. Pursuant 

to Government Code (GC) section 11346.4, the one-year deadline to finalize the existing 

regulatory proposal was August 12, 2017, which did not allow sufficient time to complete the 

required review/approval process through the control agencies. 

At its April 18, 2017 meeting, the Committee approved the new proposed regulatory language to 

amend CCR section 2615(c)(1) and recommended that the Board authorize LATC to proceed with 

the regulatory change. The LATC’s recommendation was considered by the Board at its 

June 15, 2017, meeting. Following discussion, the Board voted to reject the proposed regulatory 

language. The Board directed staff to prepare a proposal that addresses both the LATC’s initial 

and reciprocal licensure requirements, and that closely aligns with the Board’s current licensure 
requirements. The Board requested that the LATC’s proposal should be presented to the Board at 

its next meeting. 

18 



 

 

       

   

       

      

       

     

     

    

       

        

 

     

       

         

    

   

    

       

     

     

      

       

      

      

           

    

       

     

      

   

      

      

     

    

       

      

     

       

            

 

    

   

    

   

   

 

   
  

  

    

   

   

 

   
  

  

    

   

   

 

   
  

  

    

At the July 13, 2017 meeting, the LATC reviewed proposed language to amend CCR section 2620 

(Education and Training Credits) composed by staff and DCA Legal. This proposed language 

reflects the Board’s licensing provisions by granting credit for related and non-related degrees 

while also adding an experience-only pathway. The Committee voted to establish an Education 

and Experience Subcommittee (Subcommittee) to determine the execution for these proposed 

pathways to licensure. Specifically, the Committee directed the Subcommittee to determine the 

appropriate amount of credit to grant for these new pathways, and define related versus unrelated 

degrees and the execution of an ‘experience-only’ pathway. The Subcommittee met on 
October 3, 2017, and issued recommendations in accordance with its charge. These 

recommendations were provided to the LATC at its meeting on November 2, 2017. The LATC 

made minor revisions to the Subcommittee’s recommendations and voted to recommend to the 

Board the approval of amendments to CCR section 2620. Upon the Board’s review of amendments 

for CCR section 2620 during its meeting on December 7, 2017, the Board voted to approve the 

language. As initial licensing provisions and reciprocity provisions are closely tied, the LATC 

voted on July 13, 2017, to recommend to the Board that reciprocity requirements align with the 

final, amended provisions to CCR section 2620. 

Further, per LATC and Board directive to align reciprocity and initial license requirements, staff 

evaluated CCR section 2615 to determine if updates are necessary to bring reciprocity 

requirements in congruence with the newly proposed initial licensure requirements. Staff 

determined that updates related to reciprocity are not needed as the existing language defers to 

CCR section 2620 to determine licensure eligibility. However, it was found that minor changes 

are necessary for consistency with the proposed amendments to CCR section 2620. Specifically, 

these changes will replace the term “Board approved degree” with “degree from an accredited 
program” and update a reference to CCR section 2620(a)(7). This new language was presented to 

the LATC for review and possible approval at their meeting on May 4, 2018. During this meeting, 

the Committee expressed concern that the Certification of Experience form may not adequately 

structure the experience a candidate gains, especially as it would pertain to the proposed 

experience-only pathway. Following discussion, the Committee directed staff to conduct further 

research regarding experience credit allocation of other licensing jurisdictions and present findings 

at the next Committee meeting. 

Subsequent to the Committee meeting on May 4, 2018, staff gathered research from other licensing 

jurisdictions who have detailed experience criteria on their experience verification forms as well 

as gathered data for California licensees and active candidates who qualify for licensure with one-

year of education credit and five years of experience inclusive of examination pass rates, the types 

of experience gained, and whether enforcement actions were taken. The findings of staff research 

were presented to the LATC during its meeting on July 20, 2018; at which time the Committee 

granted approval to staff to move forward with the combined rulemaking file for 

CCR sections 2615 and 2620. The Board approved the LATC’s proposed regulatory language at 

its meeting on September 12, 2018. Staff is preparing the proposed regulatory package for 

submission to DCA for review, prior to publicly noticing with the OAL. 

Following is a chronology, to date, of the processing of LATC’s regulatory proposal for 
CCR section 2615: 

November 17, 2015 Proposed regulatory language approved by the LATC 

19 



 

 

    

    

    

      

       

 

      

     

 

     

      

      

 

     

     

     

 

    

 

  

 

   

   

       

      

      

 

   

  

   

   

 

    

  

     

      

     

  

         

    

      

     

        

   

   

   

 

 
  

  

 

 

 
  

  

 

 

 
  

  

 

December 10, 2015 Proposed regulatory language approved by the Board 

August 2, 2016 Notice of Proposed Changes in the Regulations submitted to OAL 

August 12, 2016 Notice of Proposed Changes in the Regulations published by OAL 

September 27, 2016 Public hearing, public comments received during 45-day period 

April 18, 2017 LATC voted to withdraw regulatory proposal and approved new 

proposed regulatory language 

June 15, 2017 Board requested LATC prepare an alternate proposal that refines both 

initial and reciprocal licensure requirements to be more closely related to 

those of the Board’s 
July 13, 2017 LATC voted to recommend to the Board that reciprocity requirements 

align with initial licensure requirements once they are determined by the 

Education/Experience Subcommittee and approved by the LATC and the 

Board at subsequent meetings 

October 3, 2017 The Education/Experience Subcommittee met and recommended 

expanded initial licensure pathways (and their respective education/ 

experience credit allocations) as amendments to CCR section 2620 for 

the LATC’s consideration 
November 2, 2017 LATC met to review the Education/Experience Subcommittee’s 

recommendations and voted to recommend that the Board approve 

proposed amendments to CCR section 2620 to expand initial licensure 

pathways 

December 7, 2017 Board reviewed and approved the LATC’s proposed amendments to 
CCR section 2620 

May 4, 2018 LATC reviewed revised proposed regulatory language, to amend 

CCR 2615 and 2620, and directed staff to conduct further research 

regarding experience credit allocation of other licensing jurisdictions and 

present findings at a future Committee meeting 

July 20, 2018 LATC voted to recommend to the Board to proceed with the combined 

rulemaking file for CCR sections 2615 and 2620 

September 12, 2018 Proposed regulatory language approved by Board 

Pending Staff preparing regulatory package for DCA legal prereview 

CCR section 2620.5 (Requirements for an Approved Extension Certificate Program) – LATC 

established the original requirements for an approved extension certificate program based on 

university accreditation standards from the Landscape Architectural Accreditation Board (LAAB). 

These requirements are outlined in CCR section 2620.5. In 2009, LAAB implemented changes to 

their university accreditation standards. Prompted by the changes made by LAAB, LATC drafted 

updated requirements for an approved extension certificate program and recommended that the 

Board authorize LATC to proceed with a regulatory change. At the December 15–16, 2010 Board 

meeting, the Board approved the regulatory change and delegated authority to the EO to adopt the 

regulations to amend CCR section 2620.5 provided no adverse comments are received during the 

public comment period and make minor technical or non-substantive changes to the language, if 

needed. The regulatory proposal to amend CCR section 2620.5 was published by the OAL on 

June 22, 2012. 

In 2012, the LATC appointed the University of California Extension Certificate Program Task 

Force, which was charged with developing procedures for the review of the extension certificate 

20 



 

 

 

           

       

     

   

     

       

      

        

   

       

   

        

      

     

         

 

       

    

  

      

      

     

     

     

  

 

       

    

    

     

   

         

       

          

       

  

    

   

    

 

     

 

      
   

 

    

  

 

      
   

 

    

  

 

      
   

 

    

  

programs, and conducting reviews of the programs utilizing the new procedures.  The Task Force 

held meetings on June 27, 2012, October 8, 2012, and November 2, 2012. As a result of these 

meetings, the Task Force recommended additional modifications to CCR section 2620.5 to further 

update the regulatory language with LAAB guidelines and LATC goals. At the 

November 14, 2012 LATC meeting, LATC approved the Task Force’s recommended 

modifications to CCR section 2620.5, with an additional edit.  At the January 24–25, 2013 LATC 

meeting, LATC reviewed public comments regarding the proposed changes to CCR section 2620.5 

and agreed to remove a few proposed modifications to the language to address the public 

comments. The Board approved adoption of the modified language for CCR section 2620.5 at 

their March 7, 2013 meeting. 

On July 17, 2013, a Decision of Disapproval of Regulatory Action was issued by OAL. The 

disapproval was based on OAL’s determination that the regulatory package did not meet the 

necessity standard of the GC section 11349.1, subdivision (a)(1). GC section 11349(a) defines 

“necessity” as demonstrating the need for the regulatory change through evidence not limited to 

facts, studies, and expert opinion. Based on OAL’s disapproval, staff worked with DCA Legal 
Counsel and the Task Force Chair to refine the proposed language and identify appropriate 

justification that would meet OAL’s requirements. 

In May 2014, the LATC Special Projects Analyst prepared draft language for CCR section 2620.5 

incorporating Legal Counsel’s recommendation that regulatory language be added to address the 

application, approval, denial, and annual review processes. On December 8, 2014, staff was 

advised by LAAB that the accreditation standards are scheduled to be reviewed and updated 

beginning with draft proposals in the spring of 2015. LAAB anticipated adopting new standards 

in early 2016. On December 30, 2014, staff met with the Task Force Chair to discuss proposed 

changes to CCR section 2620.5 and the probability that new LAAB accreditation standards will 

be implemented in 2016. Staff also met with Legal Counsel on January 14, 2015, to discuss 

justifications to proposed changes and again on January 28, 2015, to further review edits and 

justifications. 

Proposed regulatory language was presented to the LATC at its February 10–11, 2015 meeting.  

At this meeting, the Committee approved the appointment of a new working group to assist staff 

in substantiating recommended standards and procedures in order to obtain OAL approval.  

Linda Gates and Christine Anderson, former LATC members and University of California 

extension program reviewers, were appointed to the working group. 

On June 5, 2015, LAAB confirmed that they are in the process of updating their Standards and 

Procedures for the Accreditation of Landscape Architecture Programs. The process included a 

public call for input and commentary that took place in the fall of 2014. LAAB met in the summer 

of 2015 to draft revisions to the Standards. In the fall of 2015, additional public input and 

comments were received. 

On October 8, 2015, LATC received a copy of LAAB’s proposed revisions which included several 

suggested changes to curriculum requirements. LAAB implemented its new Accreditation 

Standards and Procedures in March 2016, making significant changes to the curriculum 

requirements beginning in 2017. Staff recommended that LATC review the LAAB Accreditation 

Standards and Procedures at its January 2017 meeting, and determine how to proceed. Prior to the 

21 



 

 

     

    

  

        

   

    

     

    

     

    

      

       

       

  

     

 

   

     

     

       

 

    

        

    

      

 

   

  

     

      

     

    

      

 

      

 

      

    

 

   

        

 

    

  

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

meeting, Stephanie V. Landregan, Director of the University of California Los Angeles Extension 

Certificate program, requested that discussion be postponed until the April 18, 2017 LATC 

meeting.  Her request was granted, and this topic was tabled, accordingly. 

At the April 18, 2017 LATC meeting, the Committee heard comments from Mses. Landregan and 

Anderson, president-elect of the Council of Landscape Architectural Registration Boards, that 

offered insight on how LATC could incorporate LAAB accreditation standards and continue to 

approve University of California Extension Certificate programs. In addition, the LATC was 

presented with several written public comments addressing the University of California Extension 

Certificate programs. After discussion, the Committee directed staff to form a subcommittee to 

recommend regulatory changes for LATC’s consideration at a later meeting date. 

At the July 20, 2018 LATC meeting, the Committee reviewed the proposed language to amend 

CCR section 2620.5 that was rejected by OAL on July 17, 2013. Following discussion, the 

Committee directed staff to explore options to engage LAAB as well as research private entities 

regarding the accreditation of extension certificate programs. The Committee requested that staff 

present their research findings for consideration at the next meetings on December 6-7, 2018. 

Following is a chronology, to date, of the processing of LATC’s regulatory proposal for 
CCR section 2620.5: 

November 22, 2010 Proposed regulatory language approved by LATC 

December 15, 2010 Proposed regulatory language approved by Board 

June 22, 2012 Notice of Proposed Changes in the Regulations published by OAL 

(Notice re-published to allow time to notify interested parties) 

August 6, 2012 Public hearing, no public comments received 

November 30, 2012 40-Day Notice of Availability of Modified Language posted on website 

January 9, 2013 Written comment (one) received during 40-day period 

January 24, 2013 Modified language to accommodate public comment approved by 

LATC 

February 15, 2013 Final rulemaking file submitted to DCA’s Legal Office and Division of 

Legislative and Policy Review 

March 7, 2013 Final approval of modified language by Board 

May 31, 2013 Final rulemaking file submitted to OAL for approval 

July 17, 2013 Decision of Disapproval of Regulatory Action issued by OAL 

August 20, 2013 LATC voted not to pursue a resubmission of rulemaking file to OAL 

February 21, 2014 Staff worked with Task Force Chair to draft justifications for proposed 

changes 

December 8, 2014 LAAB reported that accreditation standards are scheduled to be 

reviewed and updated in 2015 

February 10, 2015 LATC approved the appointment of a new working group to assist staff 

October 8, 2015 LATC received LAAB’s suggested revisions to curriculum 

requirements 

March 2016 LAAB implemented its new Accreditation Standards and Procedures 

April 18, 2017 LATC directed the formation of a subcommittee to recommend 

regulatory changes for LATC’s consideration 
March 2018 LATC staff consulted with legal counsel regarding previously proposed 

amendments to CCR 2620.5 

22 



 

 

 
    

 

   

        

           

        

     

         

  

        

     

       

         

         

       

 

     

 

   

    

    

     

     

      

    

           

       

   

      

 

 

     

     

    

          

        

    

    

        

      

      

    

 

 

 
  

 
  

    
  

 
 

 

    

 

 
  

 
  

    
  

 
 

 

    

 

 
  

 
  

    
  

 
 

 

    

LATC directed staff to explore options to engage LAAB and private 
July 20, 2018 

entities in the approval process of extension certificate programs 

December 6, 2018 LATC to review staff’s findings 

CCR sections 2624 (Expired License – Three Years After Expiration) and 2624.1 (Expired License 

– Five Years After Expiration) – SB 800 amended BPC section 5680.2 to authorize a license to be 

renewed within five years of its expiration. The bill also prohibits a license that is expired for 

more than five years from being renewed, restored, reissued, or reinstated, but would authorize the 

holder of the expired license to apply for a new license, as specified. SB 800 was approved by the 

Governor on October 7, 2017, and took effect on January 1, 2018.  

With the passage of SB 800, CCR sections 2624 and 2624.1 are obsolete as they delineate 

application processes for re-licensure requirements that are no longer specified in statute. 

Accordingly, LATC staff have begun work on submitting a request to OAL to repeal 

CCR sections 2624 and 2624.1. Staff is pursuing this regulatory change in accordance with 

CCR section 100, which allows for a more expeditious regulatory change process because the 

proposed amendments are the deletion of regulatory provisions for which the statutory authority 

was repealed. 

2017–2018 Strategic Plan Below is a summary of progress made toward the Strategic Plan 

objectives: 

Explore and Adopt DCA’s best practices for using social media: Staff met with DCA’s Office of 

Public Affairs (OPA) on June 22, 2018 to discuss the Department’s tools and recommendations 

for how to achieve this Strategic Plan objective. During this meeting, OPA staff suggested the 

development of enhanced LATC social media including creation of Facebook and Instagram 

accounts; however, OPA cautioned that development of these sites should await the start of the 

Board’s new Executive Officer to ensure congruency with his/her vision. In the meantime, OPA 

requested access to LATC’s Twitter account to research posting ideas aimed at increasing LATC’s 

social media activity as well as verifying LATC’s Twitter account to ensure its credibility. On 

September 20, 2018, LATC staff, along with Executive Officer, Laura Zuniga, met with OPA to 

discuss social media options for the LATC. It was suggested that staff track interest (i.e., “likes”, 
comments, and re-posts) in successive social media posts/articles to determine LATC’s intended 

audience. 

Consult with DCA Public Affairs to optimize the LATC website on search engines: On 

June 22, 2018, LATC staff met with OPA to discuss means by which the LATC can optimize its 

website in search engines such that an individual searching for landscape architectural services 

would be more likely to see the LATC website in their results. During the meeting, OPA staff 

informed LATC that they will be able to provide assistance in this matter; however, it would be 

best to wait until implementation of the LATC’s developmental website because the site’s up-to-

date web coding better facilitates optimization. OPA staff further cautioned that optimization can 

be a lengthy process given that it should involve the LATC optimizing such web content as 

publications, which are often posted as PDF documents and, therefore, may require re-formatting 

of content. The LATC’s website transitioned to its new, updated format on October 23, 2018. 

Accordingly, LATC staff have reached out to OPA to continue efforts toward website 

optimization. 

23 



 

 

 

      

       

    

  

    

       

   

       

   

 

         

      

    

    

 

 

       

     

       

 

 

    

   

     

      

     

         

        

        

    

 

     

   

 

    

        

         

        

    

        

   

   

     

  

    
  

 

    

    

     

  

    
  

 

    

    

     

  

    
  

 

    

    

Revamp the Website (Using the Board’s website as a possible template) to be More User-Friendly 

for Consumers - In pursuit of fulfilling this Strategic Plan objective, a developmental website has 

been developed using the California Department of Technology’s (CDT) template for state 
government websites.  The purpose for this template is to provide all state government websites a 

standardized look and feel as well as implement a consistent display of information across state 

agencies. Staff utilized v5 of the California State Template and the Board’s website as a model. 
The developmental website contains the same information as the LATC’s existing website; 

however, the information on the developmental website is displayed in a manner consistent with 

CDT standards as well as the Board’s own layout. 

The proposed developmental website was presented to the LATC at its May 4, 2018 meeting. The 

Committee approved the developmental website with additional revisions. Following this 

meeting, staff provided the website content to DCA’s Office of Information Services, including 
the revisions determined during the LATC meeting discussion, for finalization and 

implementation. 

On June 28, 2018, LATC staff met with OIS to discuss revisions to the developmental website. 

During this meeting, OIS recommended several revisions to the coding of the website to better 

facilitate maintenance. On October 23, 2018, OIS transitioned the LATC to the new website 

format.  Accordingly, this Strategic Plan objective is fulfilled. 

Continue to Explore and make a determination with regard to licensure for individuals who have 

related degrees to expand pathways to licensure -- At its January 17, 2017 meeting, the LATC 

considered options of granting education credit for related, as well as unrelated, degrees in 

landscape architecture or architecture. After discussion and receiving public comments, the 

Committee directed staff to conduct a public forum to receive additional input from the public by 

the next scheduled meeting, on April 18, 2017. The first public forum was facilitated by DCA 

SOLID on March 17, 2017, in Sacramento; the second public forum was held on April 18, 2017, 

in Pomona during the LATC meeting. Feedback collected during the forums addressed support 

and opposition to the expansion of education requirements. LATC staff also collected all 

submitted written comments and presented them to the Committee for consideration.  

At the June 15, 2017 Board meeting, the Board directed the LATC to develop a proposal to align 

its initial and reciprocal licensure requirements with one another, and where possible, mirror those 

of the Board.  

At the July 13, 2017 LATC meeting, the Committee reviewed proposed language to amend 

CCR section 2620 (Education and Training Credits) composed by staff and DCA Legal Counsel. 

This proposed language reflects the Board’s licensing provisions by granting credit for related and 

non-related degrees while also adding an experience-only pathway. The Committee voted to 

establish an Education/Experience Subcommittee (Subcommittee) to determine the execution for 

these proposed pathways to licensure. Specifically, the Subcommittee was charged to define 

related and non-related degrees (baccalaureate and associate) and experience-only pathways and 

prescribe allowable credit for initial licensure. 

24 



 

 

       

         

       

    

      

 

   

 

   

     

     

       

         

         

      

 

      

        

       

    

     

      

  

 

      

       

    

 

 

   

   

          

    

         

   

   

    

     

       

 

       

  
  

  

  

      

     

 

  
  

  

  

      

     

 

  
  

  

  

      

     

 

The Subcommittee met on October 3, 2017, in Sacramento. The meeting discussion was facilitated 

by DCA SOLID and resulted in recommended credit for each of the five initial licensure pathways 

under its charge and identified degrees to be defined as “related degrees.” At the 

November 2, 2017 LATC meeting, the Committee reviewed the Subcommittee’s 

recommendations which included prescribed education and experience credit for the following 

proposed pathways: Related Degrees (Accredited), Related Degrees (Unaccredited), Any 

Bachelor’s Degree, and Experience-Only. The LATC accepted the Subcommittee’s recommended 
pathways as presented with a modification to degrees accepted under the proposed “Related 

Degrees (Unaccredited)” category to be accepted under “Any Bachelor’s Degree”.  

The LATC voted to recommend to the Board the approval of amended language to 

CCR section 2620 that expands the approved pathways for initial licensure. This proposed 

language was approved by the Board during its December 7, 2017, meeting. 

Following the Board meeting in December 2017, it was found that two additional minor changes 

are necessary for CCR section 2620 for consistency with the previously approved amendments. 

Specifically, these changes will replace the term “Board approved degree” with “degree from an 
accredited program” and update a reference to CCR section 2620(a)(7).  

At the May 4, 2018 meeting, the Committee approved the proposed language to CCR 2620 with 

revisions to CCR 2620(a)(10) and CCR 2620(a)(11). The revisions would correct references to 

the definition of partial completion of a landscape architecture degree or extension certificate 

program, in 2620(b)(1). 

The Board approved the LATC’s proposed regulatory language at its meeting on 

September 12, 2018. Staff is preparing the proposed regulatory package for submission to DCA 

for review, prior to publicly noticing with the OAL. 

LATC ENFORCEMENT PROGRAM 

Disciplinary Guidelines As part of the Strategic Plan established by LATC at the January 2013 

meeting, LATC set an objective of collaborating with the Board in order to review and update 

LATC’s Disciplinary Guidelines. At its December 2014 meeting, the Board approved the 

proposed updates to their Disciplinary Guidelines and authorized staff to proceed with the required 

regulatory change in order to incorporate the revised Disciplinary Guidelines by reference.  At its 

February 10, 2015 meeting, LATC approved proposed revisions to its Disciplinary Guidelines 

based on the recent Board approval for their Guidelines. Staff provided the revised Disciplinary 

Guidelines to the new Deputy Attorney General Liaison for review. He suggested several 

amendments, which staff added to the Guidelines. The amended Disciplinary Guidelines and 

proposed regulatory package were approved by LATC at its August 6, 2015 meeting and by the 

Board at their September 10, 2015 meeting. 

On October 21, 2015, staff sent DCA Legal Counsel suggested edits to the Optional Conditions 

section in the Disciplinary Guidelines for review. Legal Counsel notified staff on 

November 12, 2015, that the edited portions were sufficient and substantive, and would require re-

approval by the Board. On November 25, 2015, Legal Counsel further advised staff to include the 

current version of the Board’s Quarterly Report of Compliance form (1/11) as “Attachment A” in 
the Disciplinary Guidelines. At its December 10, 2015, meeting, the Board approved the revised 

25 



 

 

    

          

   

      

      

      

  

   

    

     

       

           

  

      

  

     

        

     

     

        

      

        

            

   

    

         

    

   

      

     

        

    

      

     

       

       

    

      

  

 

  

     

 

 
   

  
 

 
  

     

 

 
   

  
 

 
  

     

 

 
   

  
 

 
  

Disciplinary Guidelines and the proposed regulation to amend CCR § 2680, and delegated the 

authority to the EO to adopt the regulation, provided no adverse comments are received during the 

public comment period, and to make minor technical or non-substantive changes to the language, 

if needed. Staff prepared the proposed regulatory package for Legal Counsel’s review and 
approval on March 15, 2016. On April 8, 2016, Legal Counsel advised staff that further 

substantive changes were necessary prior to submission to OAL. Board staff developed 

recommended revisions to the Guidelines in response to Legal Counsel’s concerns, and presented 
those revisions to the REC for review and consideration at its November 8, 2016 meeting.  At the 

meeting, the REC voted to recommend to the Board that it approve the additional revisions to the 

Disciplinary Guidelines and authorize staff to proceed with the regulatory change to amend 

CCR section 154 in order to incorporate the revised Guidelines by reference. The additional 

revisions to the Guidelines and the proposed regulatory language to amend CCR section 154 were 

approved by the Board at its December 15, 2016 meeting.  Staff updated its Guidelines to include 

the approved revisions that are appropriate to the LATC. On July 13, 2017, the Committee 

approved the revised Guidelines and recommended they be presented to the Board for approval.  

On September 5, 2017, Legal Counsel advised LATC staff that additional substantive changes to 

LATC’s Guidelines and the proposed language to amend CCR section 2680 were necessary. These 

changes were communicated by Legal Counsel during the Board’s September 7, 2017 meeting.  

The Board approved the revisions to LATC’s Guidelines, including the necessary changes 

identified by Legal Counsel, as well as proposed language to amend CCR section 2680. Following 

the meeting, Board staff prepared additional, recommended revisions to the Board’s Guidelines and 

the proposed language to amend CCR section 154 in response to Legal Counsel’s concerns, and 

presented those revisions to the Board for review and approval at its December 7, 2017 meeting. At 

the meeting, the Board accepted the additional revisions to the Board’s Guidelines, and directed 

Legal Counsel and staff to conduct further research to determine if the Board has the statutory 

authority to impose fines through the disciplinary process and whether it should be referenced in the 

Guidelines. At its March 1, 2018 meeting, the Board was presented with and approved the 

additional edits to its Disciplinary Guidelines with no changes and authorized staff to proceed with 

a regulatory amendment. Following the Board’s approval of its Guidelines, LATC staff 

incorporated the changes made to the Board’s Guidelines that were relevant to the LATC’s 

Guidelines. On May 4, 2018, the Committee reviewed and approved the revised Guidelines and 

recommended they be presented to the Board for approval. 

At its June 13, 2018 meeting, the Board reviewed and approved the proposed regulatory changes 

to the LATC’s Disciplinary Guidelines and CCR section 2680 as modified, directed the EO to 

make any technical or non-substantive changes to the rulemaking package, notice the proposed 

text for a 45-day comment period, and, if no adverse comments are received during the 45-day 

comment period and no hearing is requested, adopt the proposed regulatory changes, as modified.  

As a result of guidance from DCA, staff will need to make additional changes to the Disciplinary 

Guidelines due to the passage of AB 2138. 

26 



 

 

         
      

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
 

 

  

  

 

  

 

 

 

  
 

          

     

         

      

            

 

     

     

      

     

 

       

       

     

 

     

     

       

 

     
      

 

     
      

 

     
      

Enforcement Statistics Current Month Prior Month FYTD 5-FY Avg 

October 2018 September 2018 2018/19 2013/14-

2017/18 
Complaints 

Received/Opened (Reopened): 7 (0) 0 (0) 13 (0) 28 (0) 

Closed: 3 2 16 31 

Average Days to Close: 178 days 90 days 145 days 247 days 

Pending: 13 9 11* 16 

Average Age (Pending): 107 days 170 days 151 days* 252 days 

Citations 

Issued: 1 0 1* 3 

Pending: 2 1 1* 3 

Pending AG: † 0 0 0* 1 

Final: 0 0 0 3 

Disciplinary Actions 

Pending AG: 1 1 1* 1 

Pending DA: 0 0 0* 0 

Final: 0 0 1 1 

Settlement Reports (§5678)** 

Received/Opened: 1 0 1 2 

Closed: 0 0 1 2 

Pending: 1 0 0* 2 
* Calculated as a monthly average of pending cases. 
** Also included within “Complaints” information. 
† Also included within “Pending Citations.” 

27 



 

 

 

   

    

    

   

   

    

   

 

       

    

 

CALENDAR OF EVENTS 

November 

12 

22-23 

Veterans Day Observed 

Thanksgiving Holiday 

Office Closed 

Office Closed 

December 

6-7 

13-14 

25 

Landscape Architects Technical Committee Meeting 

& Strategic Planning Session 

Board Meeting & Strategic Planning Session 

Christmas Day 

Sacramento 

Sacramento 

Office Closed 

28 



 

 

   

 

  

  

  

  

 

 
  

  

      

  

  

 

 

 

   

    

  

   

 

  

  

  

   

  

  

   

   

 

 

  

    

  

  

   

  

 

  

  

 

 

  

 

  

 

  

NOTICE OF BOARD MEETING 

Board Members Action may be taken 

Sylvia Kwan, President on any item listed on 
September 12, 2018Tian Feng, Vice President the agenda. 

Pasqual V. Gutierrez 

Ebony Lewis Elihu M. Harris State Office Building 
Matthew McGuinness 1515 Clay Street, Room 11 (2nd Floor) 
Robert C. Pearman, Jr. Oakland, CA 94612 
Nilza Serrano (916) 574-7220 (Board Office) 
Barry Williams 

The California Architects Board will hold its quarterly meeting as noted above. 

Agenda 
10:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 

(or until completion of business) 

A. Call to Order / Roll Call / Establishment of a Quorum 

B. President’s Procedural Remarks and Board Member Introductory Comments 

C. Public Comment on Items Not on the Agenda 

The Board may not discuss or take action on any item raised during this public 

comment section, except to decide whether to refer the item to the Board’s next 

Strategic Planning session and/or place the matter on the agenda of a future 

meeting (Government Code sections 11125 and 11125.7(a)). 

D. Presentation by the National Council of Architectural Registration Boards 

(NCARB) Chief Executive Officer, Mike Armstrong, on the following items: 

1. Recap of the June 2018 Annual Business Meeting 

2. October 12-13, 2018 Member Board Chairs / Member Board Executives 

Leadership Summit 

3. Commitment to Diversity 

4. Modernization of Model Law and Model Regulations 

5. Legislative Trends 

6. Integrated Path to Architectural Licensure (IPAL) 

7. Architect Registration Examination (ARE) 5.0 

8. Architectural Experience Program (AXP) 

E. Review and Possible Action on June 13, 2018 Board Meeting Minutes 

F. Executive Officer’s Report – Update on Board’s Administration / Management, 

Examination, Licensing, and Enforcement Programs 

(Continued) 

http://www.cab.ca.gov/about_us/board_members.shtml#gutierrez
http://www.cab.ca.gov/about_us/board_members.shtml#lewis
http://www.cab.ca.gov/about_us/board_members.shtml#pearman
http://www.cab.ca.gov/about_us/board_members.shtml#serrano
http://www.cab.ca.gov/about_us/board_members.shtml#williams
alknati
Typewritten Text
Attachment E.2



 

   

  

     

 

 
 

    

   

   

   

   

   

  

 

  

  

    

 

     

 

  

 

 

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

  

  

 

    

  

  

  

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

G. Update and Possible Action on Proposed Legislation: 

1. Assembly Bill (AB) 2138 (Chiu and Low, 2018) Licensing Boards: Denial of Application: 

Revocation or Suspension of Licensure: Criminal Conviction 

2. AB 2483 (Voepel, 2018) Indemnification of Public Officers and Employees: Antitrust 

Awards 

3. Senate Bill (SB) 721 (Hill, 2018) Building Standards: Decks and Balconies: Inspection 

4. SB 984 (Skinner, 2018) State Boards and Commissions: Representation: Appointments 

5. SB 1137 (Vidak, 2018) Veterans: Professional Licensing Benefits 

6. SB 1480 (Hill, 2018) Professions and Vocations 

H. Regulatory and Enforcement Committee (REC) Report 

1. Update on August 23, 2018 REC Meeting 

2. Discuss and Possible Action on REC’s Recommendations to the Board Regarding 
2017-2018 Strategic Plan Objectives to: 

a. Measure the Effectiveness of the Board’s Citation Collection Methods as a Means of 

Protecting Future Consumers 

b. Develop Educational Materials for Newly Licensed Architects to Provide More 

Information About the Requirements in Order to Avoid Future Violations 

c. Determine the Necessity and Implementation Alternatives of a Licensure Fingerprint 

Requirement as a Means of Protecting Consumers 

3. Discuss and Possible Action on REC’s Recommendation to the Board Regarding 
Proposed Language to Amend Business and Professions Code (BPC) Section 5536.22 

(Written Contract) 

I. Landscape Architects Technical Committee (LATC) Report 

1. Update on July 20, 2018 LATC Meeting 

2. Review and Possible Action on LATC’s Recommendation to the Board Regarding 
Proposed Amendments to California Code of Regulations (CCR), Title 16, Division 26, 

Article 1, Sections 2615 (Form of Examinations) and 2620 (Education and Training 

Credits) 

3. Discuss and Possible Action on Proposed Language to Amend BPC Section 5616 

(Written Contract) 

4. Review and Possible Action on LATC’s Recommendation to the Board Regarding 2017-

2018 Strategic Plan Objective to Follow the Board’s Determination Regarding the 

Necessity for a Licensure Fingerprint Requirement and the Alternatives for 

Implementation as a Means of Protecting Consumers 

J. Discuss and Possible Action on 2017-2018 Strategic Plan Objective to Conduct an Analysis 

to Determine the Effectiveness of the Continuing Education (CE) Requirement and Prepare a 

Report (Letter) for the Legislature 

K. Review and Possible Action to Approve Proposed Amendments to the Board and LATC 

Member Administrative Procedure Manuals 

L. Review and Possible Action to Approve the Board’s and LATC’s 2018 Sunset Review 
Reports to be Submitted to the Legislature 

M. Review of Future Board Meeting Dates 

Page 2 of 3 



   

   

  

 

   

   

  

  

  

 

 

  

 

  

  

   

  

   

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

   

   

    

   

   

  

  

  

   

 

   

N. Election of Board Secretary for Remainder of 2018 Term 

O. Closed Session – Pursuant to Government Code Sections 11126(c)(3), 11126(f)(4), and 

11126.1, the Board Will Meet in Closed Session to: 

1. Review and Possible Action on June 13, 2018 Closed Session Minutes 

2. Deliberate and Vote on Disciplinary Matters 

3. Adjourn Closed Session 

P. Reconvene Open Session 

Q. Adjournment 

Action may be taken on any item on the agenda.  The time and order of agenda items are subject to 

change at the discretion of the Board President and may be taken out of order.  The meeting will be 

adjourned upon completion of the agenda, which may be at a time earlier or later than posted in 

this notice.  In accordance with the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act, all meetings of the Board are 

open to the public.  The Board may webcast this meeting on its website at www.cab.ca.gov. 

Webcast availability cannot be guaranteed due to limitations on resources or technical difficulties. 

The meeting will not be cancelled if webcast is not available.  If you wish to participate or to have 

a guaranteed opportunity to observe, please plan to attend the physical location.  Adjournment, if it 

is the only item that occurs after a closed session, may not be webcast. 

Government Code section 11125.7 provides the opportunity for the public to address each agenda 

item during discussion or consideration by the Board prior to the Board taking any action on said 

item.  Members of the public will be provided appropriate opportunities to comment on any issue 

before the Board, but the Board President may, at his or her discretion, apportion available time 

among those who wish to speak.  Individuals may appear before the Board to discuss items not on 

the agenda; however, the Board can neither discuss nor take official action on these items at the 

time of the same meeting (Government Code sections 11125 and 11125.7(a)). 

The meeting is accessible to the physically disabled. A person who needs a disability-related 

accommodation or modification to participate in the meeting may make a request by contacting: 

Person: Mel Knox Mailing Address: 

Telephone: (916) 575-7221 California Architects Board 

Email: mel.knox@dca.ca.gov 2420 Del Paso Road, Suite 105 

Telecommunications Relay Service: Dial 711 Sacramento, CA 95834 

Providing your request at least five (5) business days before the meeting will help to ensure 

availability of the requested accommodation. 

Protection of the public shall be the highest priority for the Board in exercising its licensing, 

regulatory, and disciplinary functions.  Whenever the protection of the public is inconsistent with other 

interests sought to be promoted, the protection of the public shall be paramount. (Business and 

Professions Code section 5510.15.) 

Page 3 of 3 

http://www.cab.ca.gov/
mailto:mel.knox@dca.ca.gov


 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

      

45 

Attachment E.3 

ENFORCEMENT PROGRAM REPORT 

Types of Complaints Received FYTD 2018/19* 

Advertising 
31.0% 

38.0% Convictions 

Professional Misconduct 

Unlicensed Practice 

Settlement Reports 15.0% 
8.0% 

8.0% 

Complaints Received, Closed, and Pending by FY 

40 

13 

16 

13 

37 

16 

24 

19 

13 

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

30 

35 

40 

Received Closed Pending 

FYTD 2018/19* FY 2017/18 FY 2016/17 

*FYTD reflects data as of October 31, 2018. 

1 



 
 

 

 
         

 

 

     

    

    

    

    

     

    

    

     

    

     

 

 

Comparison of Age of Pending Complaints by FY 

10 

8 

p
la

in
ts

 

6 

N
u
m

b
er

 o
f 

C
o
m

4 

2 

0 
0 - 90 91 - 180 

Days 

181 - 270 271 - 364 1 - 2 2 - 3 3 - 4 4+ 

Days Days Days Years Years Years Years 

FYTD 2018/19* 10 1 

9 

0 1 1 0 0 0 

FY 2017/18 1 2 2 2 0 0 0 

FY 2016/17 6 4 3 0 0 0 0 0 

*FYTD reflects data as of October 31, 2018. 

Closure of Complaints by FY 

Type of Closure FYTD 2018/19* FY 2017/18 FY 2016/17 

Cease/Desist Compliance 0 5 3 

Citation Issued 2 0 4 

Complaint Withdrawn 0 2 0 

Insufficient Evidence 0 0 1 

Letter of Advisement 3 8 4 

No Jurisdiction 1 1 1 

No Violation 10 19 4 

Referred for Disciplinary Action 0 1 1 

Other (i.e., Deceased, Error, etc.) 0 1 1 

* FYTD reflects data as of October 31, 2018. 

2 



 
 

 

     

    

    

   

    

    

    

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 

   
      

  

  
     

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

Disciplinary and Enforcement Actions by FY 

Action FYTD 2018/19* FY 2017/18 FY 2016/17 

Disciplinary Cases Initiated 0 1 1 

Pending Disciplinary Cases 1 1 1 

Final Disciplinary Orders 0 1 2 

Final Citations 0 0 5 

Administrative Fines Assessed 0 0 $20,250 

*FYTD reflects data as of October 31, 2018. 

Most Common Violations by FY 

The most common violations that resulted in enforcement action during the last three fiscal years 

are listed below. 

Business and Professions Code (BPC) 

Section 

FYTD 

2018/19* 
FY 2017/18 FY 2016/17 

BPC § 5640 – Unlicensed Person Engaging in 

Practice - Sanctions 
2 (100%) 0 (0%) 4 (80%) 

BPC § 5675 – Felony Conviction -

Disciplinary Action 
0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (20%) 

*FYTD reflects data as of October 31, 2018. 

3 



       

 

 

 

  
 

  

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item F 

DISCUSS AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON MODEL WATER EFFICIENT LANDSCAPE 

ORDINANCE (MWELO) 

At the Landscape Architects Technical Committee (LATC) meeting on July 20, 2018, the 

Committee suggested a review of the proposed Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance 

(MWELO) revisions.  Staff followed up with the Department of Water Resources (DWR) which 

has no proposed amendments at this time. 

Until amendments are proposed by DWR, the LATC would like to continue the review and 

discussion of the current ordinance in anticipation of any proposed revision to the MWELO and 

preparation for any public comment during the rulemaking process. 

Attachment: 

Title 23 Chapter 2.7 Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance 

LATC Meeting December 6-7, 2018 Sacramento, CA 



Title 23 Department of\V:iter Rcsourcrs § 490 

entering into the loan contract. For investor-owned utilities, meetings or 
hearings held by the Public Utilities Commission may serve as Project 
Feasibility Meetings. 

(b) Before a Project Feasibility Meeting. the supplier shall: 
( I)Make available information describing the project in a fonn and lo

cation that will enable the water users to review it and to make appropri
ate comments. The information must be made available for a period of 
at least fiOeen days before the Project Feasibility Meeting. 

(2) Establish a date for the meeting agreeable to the Department and 
Department o f Health Services. 

(3) Notify the Department, the Department of Health Services and ap
propriate county heallh agencies in writing nl least twenty cakndar days 
before the meeting, and notify all water users and l11e local news media 
in writing at least fifleen calendar days before the meeting. The notice 
shall state: the date, time, location, and purpose of the meeting and the 
location ofinformation describing the project for review by the water us
ers. Sample notice forms will be provided by the Department. 

(4) Obtain a meeting place ofsufficient size and at a convenient loca
tion 10 accommodate the anticipated attendance. 

(c) The agenda ofthe meeting shall include the following maucrs: ( I) 
A discussion ofapplicable public health and water works standards, ex• 
ist ingand potential health hazards associated with the water system. how 
the proposed project will bring the system to minimum health standards, 
and ahemativc solutions 10 l11e problem. (2) The supplier shall describe 
the proposed project in detai l, using mops, charts, and other illustrmive 
devices, ifappropriate. The discussion shall include the costs, sources of 
funds, the amount of the loan-grant commitment, and changes in woter 
costs resulting from the project. 

(3) A represcnwtive ofthe State moy describe ilie Act, the State's role 
in its administration rutd the Department's recommendation regarding 
the supplier's loan application. Persons present at the meeting shall be 
pennitted to ask questions regarding all subjects discussed at Ilic meet
ing. 

(d) lf no representative ofthe Department is present at the meeting, the 
supplier shall submit an official written report to the Department describ
ing the meeting and its outcome including the results ofany vote taken. 
NOTE: Authority cited: Scc1ion 13834, Wn1cr Code. Reference: Section 13834, 
Water Code. 

§ 489.1. Plans and Specifications. 
Before commencing construction. each Supplier shall provide de

tailed plans and sp<--cifications to the Depanment of Health Services for 
review and approval by a registered Civil Engineer employed by the De
p:ir1ment of Health Services. Unless otherwise authorized in writing by 
the Department ofHcnhl1 Services, the supplier shall not commence con
struction without writtennotification from the Depa.rtment ofHeahh Ser
vices that the plans and specifications have been approved. 
NOTE: Authority cited: SN:rion 13834. W3tcr Code. Reference: Section 13837. 
Water-Code. 

§ 489.2. Certification of Completion. 
Department ofl lea Ith Services shall inspect the completed project and 

if satisfied that the project has been completed in accordance with ap
proved plans and specifications, shall provide the supplier and the De
partment with wri11en certification to that effect. 
Non,, Authority cited: Section 13834, \Voter Code. Reference: Scctioo 13834, 
Water Code. 

Chapter 2.6. Weather Resources 
Management [Repealed] 

NOTE: Au1hori1y c ited: Sections 161, 40 I. 403 und 6078, Water Code. Reference: 
Sections ~01, 402 and 403, Water Code :md Sections 21000 e l seq .• Puhlic Re
sources Code. 

HISTORY 
I. New Subc:llllpter2.6 (Articles 1-5. Sections 490-495.03, not consecutive) tiled 

9-28-79; dT'~-c,ive thirtieth day therc:ificr (Register 79. No. 39). 
2. Repealer ofSubchnp1cr 2.6 (Anicles 1- 5. Sections 490-495.03. not cons~u

tivc, not previously repealed by OAL Order ofRepeal) tiled 6-5-86; c1T'ec11ve 

thirtieth day thcn:aller(Registcr 86, No. 23). For prior history, sec Register 85. 
No. 26; 81, Nos. 40 nnd 38; and 80, No. 7. 

Chapter 2.7. Model Water Efficient 
Landscape Ordinance 

§ 490. Purpose. 
(a) The State Legislature has found: 
(I) that the waters ofthe state arc oflimited supply and arc subject 10 

ever increasing demands; 
(2) that the continuation ofCalifornia's economic prosperity is depen

dent on the availabi lity ofadequate supplies ofwater for future uses; 
(3) that it is the policy ofthe State to promote the conservation and effi

cient use ofwater and 10 prevent the waste ofthis valuable resource; 
(4) that landscapes are essentfal to the quality of life in California by 

providing areas for active and passive recreation and as an enhancement 
10 the environment by cleaning air and waler, preventing erosion, offer
ing fire protection, and replacing ecosystems lost to development; 

(5) that landscape design, instollotion, maintenance and management 
can and should be water efficient: 

(6) that Section 2 ofArticle X ofIlic: California Constitution specifies 
that the right 10 use water is limited 10 the amount reasonably required for 
the beneficial use to be served and the right docs not and shall not extend 
10 was le or unreasonable method of use. 

(b) Consistent with the legislative findings, the purpose ofthis model 
ordinance is to: 

( l) promote the values and benefits of landscaping practices that inte
grate and go beyond the conservation and efficient use ofwater; 

(2) establish a strncture for planning, designing. installing, maintain
ing and managing water efficient landscapes in new construction and re
habilitated projects by encouraging the use ofa watershed approach that 
requires cross-sector collaboration of industry, government and proper
ty owners 10 achieve the many benefits possible; 

(3) establish provisions for water management practices and water 
waste prevention for existing landscapes; 

(4) use water efficiently without waste by setting a Maximum Applied 
Water Allowance as an upper limit for water use and reduce water use to 
the lowest practical amount; 

(5) promote the benefilS of consistent landscape ordinances with 
neighboring local and regional agencies; 

(6) encourage local agencies and walerpurveyors to use economic in
centives that promote the efficient use ofwater, such 11S implementing a 
tiered- rate structure; and 

(7) encourage local agencies 10 designate the necessary authority that 
implements and enforces the pro,,i.sions of the Model Water Efficient 
Landscape Ordinance or its local landscape ordinance. 

(c) Landscapes that are planned, designed, installed, managed and 
maintained with the watershed based approach can improve California· s 
environmental conditions and provide benefits and realize sustainability 
goals. Such landscapes will make the urban environment resi lient in the 
face of climatic extremes. Consistent with the legislative findings and 
purpose of the Ordinance, conditions in the urban selling will be im
proved by: 

( I) Creating the conditions to suppon life in the soil by reducing com
paction, incorporating organic matter that increases water retention, and 
promoting productive plant gro,,1h that leads 10 more carbon storage. ox
ygen production. shade, habitat and cs1hetic benefits_ 

(2) Minimizing energy use by reducing irrigation water requirements. 
reducing reliance on petroleum based fertilizers and pesticides. and 
planting climate appropriate shade trees in urban areas. 

(3) Conserving water by capturing and reusing rainwater and gmywa
ter wherever possible and selecting climate nppropria1e plants that need 
minimal supplemental water aner ..-stllblishment. 

(4) Protecting air and water quality by reducing power equipment use 
and landfill disposal trips, selecting recycled and locally sourced materi-

Page 37 Rcgi111:r 2015, No, 33. 9-18-:1ill5 

https://490-495.03
https://490-495.03


§ 490.1 BARCLAYS CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS Title 23 

als, and using compost, mulch and efficient irrigation equipment 10 pre
vent erosion. 

(5) Protecting existing habitat and creating new habitat by choosing 
local native plants, climate adapted non- natives and avoiding invasive 
plants. Utilizing integrated pest management with least toxic methods as 
the first course ofaction. 
NOTE: Authori1yci1ed:Section 65593,Government Code; and sections 11 and 30, 
Governor·s Exec. OrderNo. 8-29-15 ( April I, 20I5). Ref erenee:Sections6559I, 
65593 and 65596,Govcmmenl Code; andsection 11 , Governor's Exec. Order No. 
B-29- 15 {April I , 20 15). 

IIISTORY 
I. KC\\ chnplcr 2.7 (scc1ions490-495) lilcd 7- 31- 92;open11ivc 7- 31 -92 (Regis• 

1er 92. No. 32). 
2. Amcndmcnl ofsec1ion and NOTE filed 9- 10- 2009; operative 9-10-2009 pur

suonl 10 Government Code section 11343.4 (Regis1cr 2009, No. 37). 
3. Amendment of subsccliuns (a){4) ond (b){l}-(2). new subscc1ions (c}-{c)(S) 

and amendmenl of NOTEfiled 9-15-201 S; operative 9- 15-2015. Exempt from 
OAL rc,•iew and submitted to OAL for prin1ing only pursuant to Governor·s 
~ecutivc Order No. B-29-15 (4-l-2015)(Register 2015, No. 38). 

§ 490.1 . Applicability. 
(a) Afier December I , 2015, and consistent wi th Executive Order No. 

B-29- 15, this ordinance shall apply 10 all of the following landscape 
projecls: 

(I) new construction projects with an aggregate landscape area equal 
to or greater than 500 square feet requiring a building or landscape pcr
miL plan check or design review; 

(2) rehabilitated landscape projects with an aggregate landscape area 
equal 10 or greater than 2,500 square feet requiring a building or land
scape permit, plan check, or design review; 

(3) existing landscapes limited to Sections 493,493.1 and 493.2; and 
(4) cemeteries. Recognizing the special landscape management needs 

of cemeteries, new and rehabilitated cemeteries arc limited to Sections 
492.4, 492. 11, and 492. 12; and existing ceme1cric:s arc limited to Sec
tions 493,493.1, and 493.2. 

(b) For local land use agencies working together to develop II regional 
waler efficient l:uulscapc ordinance, the reporting requirements of this 
ordinance shall become effective December I, 2015 and the remainder 
of1his ordinance shall be effective no later thnn February I, 2016. 

(c) Any project wilh an aggregate landscape urea of2,500 square fee1 
or less may comply with the pcrfonnance requirements ofthis ordinance 
or conform 10 the prescriptive measures contained in Appendix D. 

(d) For projects using 1rca1ed or un1rea1cd graywatcr or rainwater cap
tured on site, any 101 or parcel within the project that has less than 2500 
sq. n. oflandscapc and meets 1he lot or parccrs landscape water require
ment (Estimated Total Water Use) entirely with treated oruntrcotcd gray
water or through stored rainwater captured on site is subject only 10 Ap
pendix D section (5). 

(e) This ordinance does not apply to: 
( I ) rcgist.ered loc:11, state or federal historical si tes; 
(2) ecological rcs1ora1ion projects that do not require a pennam:nl ir

rigation system; 
(3) mined- land rcclama1ion projects that do not require a permanent 

irrigation system; or 
(4) existing plant collections, as part of botanical gardens and arbore

tums open 10 the public. 
NOTE; Aulhorily ci1ed: Scc1ion65595,Gov~mmcntCode; and sec1ions.11 and 30, 
Governor's face. Order No. B--29-15 (Apnl I , 2015). Reference: Scc11on 65596, 
Government Cock: and section 11, Governor's face. Order No. B- 29- 15 {Apnl 
I . 2015) 

lhSTORY 
I. New section filed 9- 10-2009; operative 9- 10-2009 pursuanl 10 Government 

Code scclion 11 343.4 (Register 2009, No. 37). 
2. Amendment ofsection and NOTE filed 9-15-2015; upem1ivc 9-15-2015. fa. 

cmpl from OAL review and submiued 10 OAL for printint: only rursu:m1 to 
Governor's faecuLivcOrderNo. B--29- 15(4-1- 201 S)(Rcg1s1er20 5. No. 38). 

§ 491 . Definitions. 
ll1c terms used in this ordinance have the meaning set forth below: 

(a) "applied water·· means the portion ofwater supplied by the irriga
tion system to the landscape. 

(b) "automatic irrigation controller" means a timing device used 10 re
motely control valves 1ha1 operoh.: an irrigation system. Aulomulic irriga
tion controllers arc able to self- adjust and schedule irrigation events us
ing ei1her evapotranspiration (weather-based) or soil moistllfe data. 

(c) "backflow prevention device" means a safety device used 10 pre
vent pollution or conwmination of the water supply due 10 the reverse 
flow of waler from the irrigation system. 

(d) "Certificate of Completion" means thc document required under 
Sec1ion 492.9. 

(c) "certified irrigation designer"' means a person certified 10 design 
irrigation systems by an accredited academic ins1itu1ion. a professional 
trade organization or 01}1cr program such as the US Environmental 
Protection Agcncy's WaterSensc irrigation designer certification pro
gram and Irrigation A.~sociation 's Certified Irrigation Designer program. 

(f) "certified landscape irrigation nuditor" means a person certified to 
perfonn landscape irrigation audits by an accredited academic instilu-
1ion, a professional trade organization or other program such as the US 
Environmental Protection Agency's WaterSense irrigation auditorcerti
fico1ion program and Irrigation Association·s Certified Lnndscape Ir
rigation Auditor program. 

(g) ''check valve" or "anti-drain valve" menns a \'alve located under 
a sprinkler head, or other location in the irrigation system, to hold waler 
in the system to prevent drainage from sprinkler heads when the sprinkler 
is olT. 

(h) "common interest developments" means community apartment 
projects, condominium projects, planned developments, and stock coop
eratives per Civil Code Section 1351. 

(i) "compost"' means the safe and s1ablc product ofcontrolled biologic 
dt.-composi1ion oforganic materials that is beneficial to plant growth. 

(j) "conversion factor (0.62)" means the number that converts acre
inches per acre per yenr to gollons per square foot per year. 

(k) "distribution uniformity"' means the measure ofthe uniformity of 
irrigation water over a defined area. 

(f) "drip irrigation" mean.s any non-spray low \·olumc irrigation sys
tem utilizing emission devices with a flow rate measured in gallons per 
hour. Low volume irrigation systems are specifically designed to apply 
smal I volumes ofwo1cr slowly at or near the root zone ofplams. 

(m) "ecological restoration project'" means a project where the site is 
intentionally altered to establish a defined. indigenous, historic ecosys
tem. 

(n) ••efTeclive precipitation" or"usable rainfall" (Eppt) means the por
tion of total prccipi1a1ion which becomes available for plan t growth. 

(o) "emincr" means a drip irrigation emission device that delivers wa
ter slowly from the system 10 the soil. 

(p) "established landscape·· means the point al which plants in the 
landscape have developed significant root growth into the soil. Typical
ly, most plants arc established aner one or two years ofgrowth. 

(q) "establishmcnl period of the plants" means the first year after 
installing the plant in the landscape or the first two years if irrigation will 
be tennina1ed afier establishment. Typically. most plant.~ are established 
afieroneortwo years of growth. Native habitat mitiga1ion areas nnd trees 
may need three 10 five years for establishment. 

(r) "Estimated Total Water Use" (E.TWU) means the total water used 
for the landscape as described in Section 492.4. 

(s) "ET adjustment factor" (ETAF) means o fnctor of0.55 for residen
tial ureas and 0.45 for non- residential areas, 1ha1, when applied lo refer
ence evapotranspir.11ion, adjusts for plant factors and irrigation efficien
cy, two major inf1uences upon the amount of water thol needs lo be 
applied to the landscape. The ETAF for new and existing (non- rchabili-
1ated) Special Landscape Areas shall not excel-d 1.0. The ETAF for ex.aisl
ing non- rehabil irn1cd landscapes is 0.8. 

Pagc38 Rct,tner 2015, No. 38; ') - 18-2015 

https://sec1ions.11


Title 23 Depa rtmcnl or Wa ler Resources § 49 1 

(1) "evapotranspiration rate" means the quantity ofwater evaporated 
from adjacent soil and other surfaces and transpired by plants during a 
specified time. 

(u) "flow rate" means the rate al which water flows through pipes. 
valves and emission devices, meas ured in gallons per minute, gallons per 
hour, or cubic feet per second. 

(v) "flow sensor" means an inlinc device installed at the supply point 
ofthe irrigation system that produces a repeatable signal propon ional 10 

now rote. Flow sensors must be connected to anautomatic irrigation con
troller, o r flow monitor capable ofreceiving now signals and operating 
master valves. This combination flow sensor/controller may also func
tion as a landscape water meter or submeter. 

(w) " friable" means a soil condition that is easily crumbled or loosely 
compacted down to a minimum depth per planting material require
ments, whereby the root structure of newly planted material will be al
lowed to spread unimpeded. 

(x) "Fuel Modification Plan Guideline" means guidelines from a local 
fire authority to assist residents and businesses that are developing land 
or building structures in a fire hazard severity zone. 

(y) "gmywater" means untreated wostewater that has not been con
taminated by any toilet discharge, has not been affected by infectious. 
contaminated, or unhealthy bodily wastes, and does not present a threat 
from contamination by unhealthful processing, manufocturing, or oper
ating wastes. "Graywater" includes. but is not limited to, wastewater 
from bathtubs, showers, bathroom washbasins, clothes washing ma
chines, and laundry tubs, but does not include wastewater from kitchen 
sinks or dishwasher... Health and Safety Code Section 17922.12. 

(z) "hardscapes" means any durable material (pervious and non-pcr
vious). 

(aa) " hydrozone" means a portion ofthe landscapedarea having plants 
with s imilar water needs and rooting depth. A hydrozone may be irri
gated or non- irrigated. 

(bb) •'infiltration rate•· means the rate ofwater entry into the soil e;<
pressed as a depth ofwater per unit of time ( e.g.. inches per hour). 

(cc) ••invasive plant species" means species ofplants not his torically 
found in California that spread outside cultivated areas and can damage 
environmental oreconomic resources. Invasivespecies may beregulated 
by county agricultural agencies ns noxious species. Lists of invasive 
plants are maintained at the Califomia lnva.~ive Plant Inventory und 
USDA invasive and noxious weeds database. 

(dd) ••irrigation audit'· means an in-<leptb evaluation of the perfor
mance ofan irrigation system conducted by a Certified Landscape lrrign
tion Auditor. An irrigation nudit includes, but is not limited to: inspec
tion, system tune-up, system test wit.h distribution unifom1i1y or 
emission uniformity, reporting ovcrspray or runoff that causes overland 
flow, and prcparntion ofan irrigation schedule. The audit must be con
ducted in a manner consistent with the Irrigation Association ·s Lnnd
scape Irrigation Auditor Certification program or other U.S. Envi ron
mental Protection Agency "Waterscnse" labeled auditing program. 

(cc) •'irrigation efficiency..(IE) means the measurement of the amount 
ofwater beneficially used divided by the amount ofwater applied. Irriga
tion efficiency is derived from mensurcments and estimates ofirrigation 
system characteristics and management pr..ictices. The irrigation effi
ciency for purposesofthis ordinance arc 0.75 for overhead spraydevices 
and 0.81 for drip systems. 

(ff) " irrigation survey•· means an evaluation of an irrigation system 
that is less detailed than an irrigation audit. An irrigation survey includes, 
but is not limited to: inspection, system test, and written recommenda
tions to improve perfonnancc of the irrigation system. 

(gg) •'irrigation water use analysis .. means an analysis of water use 
data based on meter readings and billing data. 

(hh) "landscape architect" means n person who holds a license to prac
tice landscape architecture in the s tate ofCalifornia Business and Profes
sions Code, Section 56 15. 

(ii) ·'landscape area•· means all the plnnting areas, turfareas, and water 
features in a landscape design plan subject to the Maximum Applied \Va-

tcr Allowance calculation. TI1e landscape area does not include foot
prints of buildings or s tructures, sidewalks, driveways, parking lots, 
decks, patios, gravel or s tone walks, o ther pervious or non-pcrvious 
hardseapes. and other non- irrigated areas designated for non-develop
ment (e.g., open spaces and existing native vegetation). 

(jj) "landscape contrnclor" mt:ans a person licensed by the slate of 
California to construct, maintain, repair, insta ll , orsubcontract the devel
opment of landscape systems. 

(kk) '·Landscape Documenu11ion Package" means the documents re
quired under Section 492.J. 

(//) " landscape project" means total area of landscape in a project as 
defined in "landscape area" for the purposes ofthis ordinance, meeting 
requirements under Section 490. 1. 

(mm) " landscape water meter· means an inline device installed at the 
irrigation supply point that measures the flow ofwater into the irrigation 
system and is connected to a totalizer to record water use. 

(on) ''lateral line" means the warerdelivery pipeline that supplies wa
ter to the emitters or sprinklers from the valve. 

(oo) "local agency" means o city or county, including a cbar1er city or 
charter county, that is responsible for adopting and implementing the or
dinance. The local agency is also responsible for the enforcement oft bis 
ordinance, including but not limited to, approval of a permit and plan 
check or design review ofa project. 

(pp) ··tocal water purveyor· means any entity, including a public 
agency, city, county, or privme water company that provides re10il water 
service. 

(qq) "low volume irrigation" means the application ofirrigation water 
a t low pressure through a system oftubing or lateral lines and low- vol
ume emitters such as drip, drip lines, and bubblers. Low volume irriga
tion systems are specilicolly designed to apply small volumes of water 
s lowly at or near the root zone ofplants. 

(rr) "main line" means the pressurized pipeline that delivers waler 
from the water source to the valve or outlet. 

(ss) "master shu1--0fT valve" is an automatic valve installed ot the ir
rigation supply point which controls water flow into the irrigation sys
tem. When this valve is closed water will not besupplied to the irrigation 
system. A master valve will greatly reduce any water loss due to a leaky 
s tation valve. 

(tt) .. Maximum Applied Water Allowance" {MAWA) means the up
per limit ofannual applied water for the establ ished landscaped area as 
specified in Section 492.4. It is based upon the area's reference evopo
tra.nspiration, the ET Adjusunent Factor, and the size of the landscape 
a.rea. The Estimated Total Water Use shall not exceed the Maximum Ap
plied Water Allowance. Special Landscape Areas, including recrelltion 
areas, areas permanently and solely dedicated to edible plants such as or
chards and vegetable gardens, and areas irrigated with recycled waternre 
subject to the MA\VA with an ETAF 110110 exceed 1.0. MAWA = (ETo) 
(0.62) [(ETAF x LA) +((1- ETAF) x SLA)] 

(uu) "median" is an area between opposing lanes oftraffic that may be 
unplanted or planted with trees, shrubs, perennials, and ornamental 
grasses. 

(vv) •'microclimate'' means the climate ofa small , specific area that 
may contrast with the climate ofthe overall landscape area due to factors 
such as wind, sun exposure, plant density, or proximity to re flective sur
faces. 

(ww) "mined- land reclamation projects" means any sur face mining 
operation with a reclamation plan a1>proved in accordance with the Sur
face Mining and Reclamation Act of 1975. 

(xx) "mulch" means any organic material such as leaves, bork, straw, 
compost, or inorganic mineral materials such as rocks, grovel, o r decom
posed granite left loose and applied to the soil surface for the beneficial 
purposes of reducing evaporation, suppressing weeds, moderating soil 
temperature, and preventing soi l erosion. 

(yy) "new constniction'· means, for the purposes of this ordinance, a 
new building with a landscape or o ther new landscape, such as a park, 
playground, or greenbelt without an associated building. 

Page 38.l Regi-"<:rWIS, No. 38; 9-18- 2015 

https://17922.12


§492 BARCLAYS CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS Title 23 

(zz) ''non-residential landscape" means landscapes in commercial, 
institutional, industrial and public settings that may have areas desig
nated for recreation or public assembly. It a lso includes portions ofcom
mon areas ofcommon interest developments with designated recreation
al areas. 

(aaa) "operating pressure" means the pressure at which the parts ofan 
irrigation system are designed by the manufacturer to operate. 

(bbb) "overhead sprinkler irrigation systems" o r "overhead spray ir
rigation systems" means systems that deliver water through the air (e.g., 
spray heads and rotors). 

(ccc) "overspray" means the irrigation water which is delivered be
yond the target area. 

(ddd) ''parkway'' means the area between o sidewalk and the curb or 
traffic lane. It may be planted or unplanted, and with or without pedes
trian egress. 

(cee) ''permit" means an authorizing document issued by local agen
cies for new construction or rehabilirnted lnndscnpes. 

(ffi) "pervious" meons any sUJface or material that a llows the passage 
of water through the mnterial and into the underlying soil. 

(ggg) "plant factor'' or "plant water use factor" is a factor, when multi
plied by ETo, estimates the amount ofwater needed by plants. For pur
poses of this ordinance. the plant factor range for very low water use 
plants is Oto 0. 1. the plant factor range for low wateruse plants is 0 .1 to 
0.3, the plant factor range for moderate water use plants is 0.4 to 0.6, and 
the plant factor range for high water use plants is 0.7 to 1.0. Plant factors 
cited in 1.his ordinance are derived from the publication "Water Use Clns
sification of Landscape Species". Plant factors may a lso be obtained 
from horticultural researchers from academic institutions orprofessional 
associations as approved by the California Department of Water Re
sources (DWR). 

(hhh) "project applic~ni·• means the individual o r entity submitting a 
Landscape Documentation Package required under Section 492.3. to re
quest a pem1it, plan check, or design review from the local agency. A 
project applicant muy be the property owner or his or her designee. 

(iii) "rain sensor" or "rain sensing shurofT device" means a component 
which automatically suspends an irrigation event when it rains. 

(ill) "record drawing" or"as-builts'' meansa set ofreproducible draw
ings which show significant changes in the work made during construc
tion and which are usually based on drawings mnrked up in the field and 
other data furnished by the contractor. 

(kkk) "recreational area" meansareas,excluding private single family 
residential a reas, designated for active play, recreation or public assem
bly in parks, sports fields, picnic grounds, amphitheaters or golfcourse 
tees, fairways, roughs, surrounds and greens. 

(///) "recycled water," ''reclaimed water," or " treated sewage cffiuent 
water" means t1eatcd or recycled waste water of a quality suitable for 
nonpotable uses such as landscape irrigation and water features. This wa
ter is not intended for human consumption. 

(mmm) "reference cvapotranspiration" or "ETo" means a standartl 
measurement ofenvironmental parameters which afTect the \\'Iller use of 
planis. ETo is e.xpressed in inches per day, month, or yearas represented 
in Appendix A, and is an estimate of the evapotmnspira tion of a large 
field of foUJ- to seven-inch tall, cool-season gross that is well watered. 
Reference evapotranspiration is used as the basis of determining the 
Maximum Applied \Voter Allowances so that regional difTereoces in cli
mate can be accommodated. 

(nnn) uRegional Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance" means a local 
Ordinance adopted by two or more local agencies, water suppliers and 
o ther stakeholders for implementing a consistent set oflandscape provi
sions throughout a geographical region. Regional ordinances are strong
ly encouraged to provide a consistent framework for the landscape indus
try and applicants to adhere to. 

(ooo) "rehabilitated landscape" means any relandscapiog project that 
requires a permit, plan check, or design review, meets the requirements 
ofSection 490.1, and the modified landscape area is equal to or greater 
than 2,500 square feet. 

(ppp) "residential landscape .. means landscapes surrounding single or 
multifamily homes. 

(qqq) "run off' menns water which is not absorbed by the soi l or land
scape to which it is applied and flows from the landscapea.rea. For exam• 
pie, mn ofTmay result from water that is applied at too great a rote(appli
cation rate exceeds infiltration rate) or when there is a slope. 

(m} ·'soil moisture sensing device'' or "soil moisture sensor" means 
a device that measures the amount ofwater in the soil. The device moy 
also suspend or initiate an irrigation event. 

(sss)"soil texture" means the classification ofsoil basedon its percent
age ofsand, silt, and c lay. 

(m) "Special Lundscape Arca" (SLA) means an area ofthe landscape 
dedicated solely to edible plants, recreational ureas, areas irrigated with 
recycled water, or water features using recycled water. 

(uuu) "sprinkler head" or ''spray head" means a device wllich delivers 
water th.rough a nozzle. 

(vvv) "static water pressure" means the pipeline or municipal water 
supply pressure when water is not flowing. 

(www) "station" means an a rea served by one valve or by a set of 
valves that operate simultaneously. 

(xxx} "swing joint" means an irrigation component that provides a 
flexible, leak- free connection between the emission device nnd lateral 
pipeline to allow movement in any direction and to prevent equipment 
damage. 

(yyy) "submctcr'' means a metering device to measure water applied 
to the landscape 0101 is installed after the primary utility water meter. 

(zzz) "tur r · means a ground cover surface of mowed grass. Annual 
bluegrass, Kentucky bluegrass, Perennial rycgrass, Red fescuc, and Tall 
fescue are cool-season grasses. Bermudograss, Kikuyugrnss, Seashore 
Paspalum, SL Augustinegrass, Zoysiagrnss, and Buffalograssarc warm
season grasses. 

(aaaa) "vah•e" means a device used to control the flow ofwater in the 
irrigation system. 

{bbbb) "war.er conserving plnnt species" means a plant species identi
fied as having a very low or low plant factor. 

(cccc) "water feature" means a design element where open water per
fom1s an aesthetic or recreational function. Water features include ponds, 
lakes, waterfalls, fountains, artificial streams, spas, and swimmingpools 
(where water is artificially supplied). TI1c surface area ofwater features 
is included in the high water use hydrozone of the landscape area. 
Constructed werlonds used for on-site wastewater treatment o r stonnwa
ter best management practices that arc not irrigated and used solely for 
water treatment ors tormwater re tention ore not water features and, tl1ere
fore, are no t subject to the water budget calculation. 

(dddd) "watering window" means the time ofday irrigation is allowed. 
(ecee) ''WUCOLS" means the Water Use Classification ofLandscape 

Species published by the University ofCalifornia Cooperative Extension 
and the Department of Water Resources 2014. 
Non::Authority cited: Section 65595, Government Code: nnd sections 11 and 30, 
Governor's Exec.Order No. B-29--15 (April I , 2015). Reference: Sections 65592 
and 65596. Government Code: and section 11, Governor's Exec. Order No. 
B- 29- 15 (April I . 2015). 

HISTORY 
I. New section lilcd 7- 31- 92; operative 7- 31- 92 (Register 92, No. 32). 
2. Amendment ofscc1ion nnd NOTE liled 9- 10-2009: op,m1rive 9-10-2009 pur

suant 10 Government Code scc1io11 11343.4 (Register 2009, No. 37). 
3. Amendmcn1 ofsection and NOTE filed 9-15- 2015; operative 9- 15-2015. Ex• 

empt from OAL review :ind submilled 10 OAL for printing only pursunnl 10 
Governor's Eicccu1ivcOrderNo. B-29--15(4-1- 2015)(Rcgister2015. No.38). 

§ 492. Provisions for New Construction or Rehabilitated 
Landscapes. 

(a) A local agency may designote by mutual agreement, another 
agency, such as a waterpurveyor, to implement someorall ofthe require
ments contained in this ordinance. Local agencies may coUabomte with 
water purveyors to define each entity's specific responsibilities relating 
to this ordinance. 
NOTE: Authority cited: Section 65595, Government Code; and sections t I and 30, 
Governor's Exec.Order No. B-29--15 (April I. 2015). Reference: Scc1im1 65596, 

Page 38.2 Rcgi,icr 2015, No. 38; 9- 18-21115 



Title 23 Dcpa11rncnt of Water Resources § 492.5 

Government Code: ond section 11, Governor"s Exec. Order No. B--29-15 (April 
I, 2015). 

H lSTORY 
I. New section filed 7- 31- 92: operative 7- 31-92 {Register 92, No. 32). 

2. Arncndmcni ofsection hcadini ~erand new section and amcndm. ml of 
NOTE filed 9-10--2009; opcrnuvc 9-10--2009 pursuant to Govemmenr Code 
section 11343.-1 (Rc1,1istcr2009. No. 37). 

3. Amendment ofs..-ction and NOTE filed 9-15- 2015; operative 9-15-2015. Ex
empt from OAL review and submillc:d 10 OAL for printing only pursuant to 
Governor's ExccutivcOn:lerNo. B-29-15(4-1-2015) (Register20l5. No.38). 

§ 492.1. Compliance with Landscape Documentation 
Package. 

(a) Prior to construction, the local agency shall: 
( I)provide the project applicant with the ordinance and procedures for 

penni1s, plan checks or design reviews; 
(2) review the Landscape Documen1a1ion Package submitted by the 

project applicun1; 
(3) approve or deny the Landscape Documentation Package; 
(4) issue ll penni1 or approve the plan check or design review for the 

project applicant; and 
(5) upon approval ofthe Landscape Documentation Package, submit 

11 copy of the Water Efficient Landscape Worksheet to the local water 
purveyor. 

(b) Prior 10 construction, the project applicant shall: 
(1) submit a Landscape Documentation Package to the local agency. 
(c) Upon approval ofthe Landscape Documentation Package by the 

local agency, the project applicant shell: 
( I) receive a pennir or approval ofthe plan check ordesign review and 

record the date of1he pennit in the Certificate ofCompletion; 
(2) submit a copy oftheapproved Landscape Documentation Package 

along with the record drawings, and nny otherinformation to the property 
owner or his/her designee; and 

(3) submit a copy of the Water Efficien1 Landscape Worksheet to the 
local water puiveyor. 
NOTE: Authority cited: Section 6559.S. Government Code. Reference: Section 
6.S.S96, Government Code. 

HISTORY 
I. New section filed 9- 10--2009; operative 9- 10- 2009 pursuant 10 Government 

Code section 11343.4 (Register 2009, No. 37). 

§ 492.2. Penalties. 
(a) A local agency may establish and administer penalties to the proj

ect applican1 for non-compliance with the ordinance to the extent per• 
milted by law. 
NOT!!: Authority cited: Section 65595, Government Code. Reference: Secrion 
65596, Government Code. 

HISTORY 
I. New section filed 9- 10-2009; operative 9- 10-2009 pursuant 10 Government 

Code section 11343.4 (Register 2009, No. 37). 

§ 492.3. Elements of the Landscape Documentation 
Package. 

(a) The Landscape Documentarion Package shall include the follow-
ing six (6) clements: 

( I) project information; 
(A) dale 
(13) project applicant 
(C) project address (ifavailnble, parcel ancVor lot numbcr(s)) 
(D) total landscape a.res (square feet) 
(E) projecl type (e.g., new, rehabilitated, public, private. cemetery, 

homeowner- installed) 
(F) watersupply type(e.g., potable, recycled, well) and identify the lo

cal retail water purveyor if the applicant is not served by a private well 
(G) checklist of rill documents in Landscape Documentation Package 
(H) project contacts to include contact information for the project ap

plicant and property owner 
(I) 11pplica111 signature nnddatewith statement, "I agree to comply with 

the requirements of the water efficient landscape ordinance and submit 
a complete Landscape Documentation Package". 

(2) Water Efficient Landscape Worksheet; 
(A) hydrozonc infonnation table 
(B) water budget calculations 
I. Maximum Applied Water Allowance (MAWA) 
2. Estimated Total Water Use (EnVU) 
(3) soil management report ; 
(4) landscape design plan; 
(5) irriga1ion design plan; and 
(6) grading design plan. 

NOTE: Authority cited: Section 65595. Government Code. Reference: Section 
65596. Government Code. 

H ISTORY 

I. New sccrion med 9-10- 2009: operarivc 9- 10--2009 pun,-uant to Government 
Code section 11343.4 (Rc1,1ister2009, No. J7). 

§ 492.4. Water Efficient Landscape Worksheet. 
(a) A projcet applicant shall complete the Water Efficient Landscape 

Worksheet in Appendix 8 which contains infomiation on the plant fac
tor, irrigation method, irrigation efficiency, and area associated with 
each hydrozonc. Calculations are then made to show that the cvapotron
spimtion adjustment fuctor(ET AF) forthe landsC8pe project docs notex
ceed a factor of 0.55 for residential areas and 0.45 for non-residential 
areas, exclusive ofSpecial Landscape Areas. The ETAF for a landscape 
projec1 is based on the plant factors and irrigation methods selected. The 
Maximum Applied Water Allowance is calculated based on the maxi
mum ETAFallowed (0.55 for residential areas and 0.45 for non-residen
tial areas) and expressed as annual gallons required. The Estimated Total 
Water Use (ETWU) is calculated based on the plants used and irrigation 
method selected for the landscape design. ETWU must be below the 
MAWA. 

(I) In colculnting the Ma.,:imum Applied Water Allowance and Esti
mated Total Water Use, a project applicant shall use the ETo values from 
the Reference Evapotranspimtion Table in Appendix A. For geographic 
areas not covered in Appendix A, use data from other cities located 
nearby in the same reference evapotranspir.irion zone, as found in the 
CIMIS Reference Evapotranspiration Zones Map, Department ofWater 
Resources, 1999. 

{b) Water budget calculations shall adhere to the following require
ments: 

( I) TI1c plant factor used shall be from WUCOLS or from horticultural 
researchers with academic institutions orprofessional associations asap• 
proved by the California Department of Water Resources (DWR). The 
planl factor ranges from Oto 0. I for very low water using plants, 0.1 10 
0.3 for low water useplants, from 0.4 to 0.6 for moderate wateruse plants, 
ond from 0. 7 to 1.0 for high water use plants. 

(2) All water features shall be included in tl1e high water use hydrozonc 
and temporarily irrigated nreas shall be included in the low water use hy• 
dmwnc. 

(3) All Special Landscape Areas shall be identi lied and their wateruse 
calculated as shown in Appendix B. 

(4) ETAF for new andexisting (non-rehabilitated) Special Landscape 
Areas shall not exceed 1.0. 
NOTE: Authority cited: Section 65595, GovernmentCode;andsections 11 and 30, 
Govc.-rnor's Exec. Order No. B-29-15{April I,2015). Reference: Section 65596. 
Gon,mmcnt Code: and section 11, Governor's E.'lec. Order No. 8-29- 1.S (April 
I , 2015). 

HISTORY 
l. New section filed 9-10-2009: opcnufre 9-10--2009 pur.ruant to Government 

Code section l lJH.4 (Regisier 2009. No. 37). 
2. Amendment ofsection and Nora filed 9-15-2015: operative 9-15-2015. Ex• 

empt from OAL review nnd submiucd to OAL for _printing only run.uant 10 
Governor's Executive Order No. B--29- 15(4-1- 2015) (Register 20 5. No. 38). 

§ 492.5. Soll Management Report. 
(a) In order to reduce runolT ond encourage healthy plant growth, a soil 

management report shall be completed by the project applicant. orhis/her 
dcsignec, as follows: 

(I) Submit soil sum pies to a laboratory for analysis and recommenda
tions. 

Page 38.3 Rcgi."'" 2015, No. 38; 9- 18- 2015 



§ 492.6 BARCLAYS CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS Titll' 23 

(A) Soil sampling shall be conducted in accordance wilh labora1ory 
pro1ocol, including prolocols regarding adequa1e sampling depth for the 
intended plants. 

(B) The soil analysis shall include: 
I. soil lexture; 
2. infiltration rate determined by laboratory test orsoil texture infiltra• 

tion ra1e table; 
3.pli; 
4. to tal soluble salts; 
5. sodium; 
6. percent o rganic mnllcr; and 
7. rceommenda1ions. 
(C) In project~ with multiple landscape installations (i.e. production 

home developments) a soil sampling rate of I in 7 101s or approximately 
15% will satisfy this requirement. Large landscape projects shall sample 
al n rale equivalent to I in 7 lots. 

(2) The project applicant, or his/her designee, shall comply with one 
of the following: 

(A) If significant muss grading is not planned, the soil analysis report 
shall be submitted 10 the local agency as part ofthe Landscape Documen
tation Package; or 

(B) Ifs ignificant mass grading is planned, the soil analysis report shall 
be submiited to the local agency as part ofthe Certificate ofCompletion. 

(3)The soil analysis report shall bemadeavailable, in a timely manner, 
to the professionals preparing the landscape design plans and irrigation 
design plans to make any necessary adjustmcnt.s 10 the design plans. 

(4)T he project applicant, or his/her designee, shall submit documcntn-
1ion verifying implcmcnta1ion of soil analysis report recommendations 
to the local agency with Certific,ate ofCompletion. 
NOTE: Authority cited: Section 65595, Government Code; and sections l t nnd30. 
Governors Exec. Ordi:r No. 8-29-15 (April t. 2015). Reference: Scc1ion 65596. 
Government Code: o.nd section 11, Go,·cmor·s Exec. OnlcrNo. B-29- t5 (April 
I. 20 15). 

H tl>'TORY 
I. New section filed 9- t0-2009; opcrn1ivc 9- 10-2009 pursuant lo Govcnuncnl 

Code section 11343.4 (Rcgis1cr 2009. No. 37). 
2. Amendment ofsubscc1ion (n)(l){B). new subs~-ction (uXl)(C) and umc11dmen1 

ofNOTE filed 9-15- 20 I 5; operative 9- 15--20I5. Exempt from OAL review nnd 
sobmincd toOALfor printing only pursuanl toGovernor'sExecutive Order No. 
8-29-15 (4-1- 20l5)(Rcgistcr2015. No. 38). 

§ 492.6. Landscape Design Plan. 
{n) For the efficient use of water, a landscape shall be carefulJy de

signed and planned for 1l1e intended function ofthe project. A landscape 
design plan meeting the following design criteria shall be submith:d as 
part of 1he Landscape Documentation Package. 

( I) Plant Material 
(A) Any plant may be selected for the landscape, providing the Esti

mated Total Water Use in the landscape area does not exceed the Ma.,i• 
mum Applied Water Allowance. Methods to achieve water efficiency 
shall include one or more of the following: 

I. protection and preservation ofnativespeciesandnatural vegetation; 
2. selection ofwater-conservingplant, tree and turfspe<:ies, especially 

local native plants; 
3. selection of plants based on local c limate suitability. disease and 

pest resistance; 
4. selection oftrees based on applicable local tree o rdinances or tree 

shading guidelines, and size at maturity as appropriate for the planting 

area; and 
5. selection ofplants from local and regional landscape program plant 

lists. 
6. selection of plants from local Fuel Modification Plan Guidelines. 
(B) Each hydrozone shall have plant materials with s imi.lar water use, 

with 1he exception ofhydrozones with plants ofmixed water use, as spe
cified in Section 492.7(0)(2)(0). 

(C) Plants shall be selected and planted appropriately based upon their 
adaptability to theclimatic, geologic, and topographical conditionsof1hc 

project site. Methods to achieve water efficiency shall include one or 
more of the following: 

I. use the Sunset Western C limate Zone System which tokes into ac
count temperature, humidity, elevation, terrain, latitude, and varying de
grees ofcontinental and marine innuence on local climate; 

2. recognize the horticultural a ltributes of plants (i.e., ma1urc plant 
size, invasive surface roots) to minimize damage to property or infra
structure [e.g., buildings. sidewalks, powerlines]; allow foradcqua1e soil 
volume for healthy root 1,,rowth; and 

3. consider the solarorienta1ion for plant placemen! to maximize sum
mer shade and winter sola r gain. 

(D)Turfis not allowedon slopes greater than 25% where the toeofthe 
slope is adjacent 10 an impenneable hardscape and where 25% means I 
fool ofvertical elevation change for every 4 feel ofhorizontal length (rise 
divided by run x 100 =slope percen1). 

(E) High water use plants, characterized by a plant factorof0.7 to 1.0, 
arc prohibited in streel medians. 

(F) A landscape design plan for projects in fire-prone areas shall ad
dress fire safety and prevention. A defensible space or zone a round a 
building or s tructu re is required per Public Resources Code Section 
429l(a) and (b). Avoid fire-prone plant materials and highly nammable 
mulches. Refer to the local Fuel Modification Plan guidelines. 

(G) The use of invasive plant species. such as those listed by the 
California Invasive Plant Council, is Strongly discouraged. 

(H) The architectural guidelines of a common interest developmen1, 
which include community apartment projects, condominiums, planned 
developments, and stock cooperatives, shall not prohibit or include 
conditions that have the e lTect of prohibiting the use of low- water use 
plants as a group. 

(2) Water Features 
(A) Recirculating water systems shall be used for waler features. 
(B) Where available. recycled watershall be usedasa source for deco

rative water fealltrc:s. 
(C) Surface area of a waler feature shalI be included in the high waler 

use hydrozonc arcn of the water budget calcula1ion. 
(D) Pool and spa covers a rc highly recommended. 
(3) Soil Preparation, Mulch and Amendments 
(A) Prior to the planting of any materials, compacted soils shall be 

transformed to a friable condilion. On engineered slopes, only amended 
planting holes need meet this requirement. 

{B) Soil amendmentsshall be incorporated according torccommend:i
tions ofthe soil report and what is appropriate for the plants selec ted (sec 
Section 492.5). 

(C) For landscape installntions,cornpost a t a rate of a minimum of four 
cubic yards per 1,000 square feet ofpem,eablc area shall be incorpon:ucd 
to a depth of six inches into the soil. Soils wi1h greater 1han 6% organic 
matter in the top 6 inches ofsoil are exempt from adding compost and 
tilling. 

(D) A minimum 1hrce inch (3") layer ofmulch sha ll be applied on all 
exposed soil surfaces of planting areas except in turfareas, creeping or 
rooting 1,,roundcovcrs, ordirect seedingapplications where mulch is con
tmindicated. To provide habi1a1 for bcnclic ia l insects and other wildlife, 
up to 5 % of the landscape area moy be left without mulch. Designated 
insect habitat must be included in the landscape design plan as such. 

(E) Stabilizing mulching products shall be used on slopes that mcel 
current engineering s tandards. 

(F) The mulching ponion of the seed/mulch slurry in hydro-seeded 
applications shall meet the mulching requirement. 

(G) Organic mulch materials made from recycled or post- consumer 
shall take precedence over inorganic materials o r virgin forest products 
unless the recycled post-consumerorganic products are no t locally avail• 
able. Organic mulches arc not required where prohibited by local Fuel 
Modification Plan Guidelines or other applicable local ordinances. 

(b) The landscape design plan. at a minimum, shall: 

Page 38A ltcp.slcr 2015, No, 33; 9 - 13-2015 



Title 23 Departmrnt or Water Resources § 492.7 

(I) delineate and label each hydrorone by number, letter, or other 
method; 

(2) identify each hydrozonc ns low, moderate, high water, or mixed 
water use. Temporarily irrigated areas o flhe landscape shall be included 
in the low water use hydrozone for the water budget calculation; 

(3) identify recreational areas; 
(4) identify areas pennanently and solely dedicated to edible plan ts; 
(5) identify areas irrigated with n:cycled water; 
(6) identify type of mulch and appl ication depth; 
(7) identify soil amendments, type, and quantity; 
(8) identify type and surface area ofwater features; 
(9) identify bardscapcs {pervious and non-pervious); 
( I 0) identify location. installation details. :rnd 24-hour retention or in

filtration capacity ofany applicable stormwater best management pmc
tices that encourage on-site retention and infiltration of s1ormwatcr. 
Project applicants shall refer 10 the local agency or regional Water Quali
ty Control Board for infom1ation on any applicable stormwuter technical 
requi remen1s. S torm water best management practices are encouraged in 
the landscape design plan und examples arc provided in Section 492.16. 

( 11) identify any applicable rain harvesting orcatchment technologies 
as discussed in Section 492. 16 and 1J1eir 24-hour retention or infill ration 
capacity; 

( 12) identify any applicable groywaier discharge piping, system com
ponents and nrea(s) ofdistribution; 

( 13) contain the following statement: ··t have complied with the crite
ria of the ordinance and applied them for the efficient use of water in the 
landscape design plan"; ond 

( 14) bear the signature ofa licensed landscape architect, licensed land
scape contractor, or any other person authorized 10 design a landscape. 
(Sec Sections 5500.1, 5615, 5641, 5641.1 , 5641.2, 5641.3, 5641.4, 
564 1.5, 5641.6, 6701, 7027.5 ofthe Business and Professions Code, Sec
tion 832.27 ofTitlcl6ofthe California Code ofRegulations, and Section 
6721 of the Food and Agriculture Code.). 
NOTE: Authority cited: Section 65595, Government Code; and sections 11 l!lld 30, 
Governor's Exec.Order No. B-29- 1S (April I. 2015). Reference: Section 65596, 
Government Code; Section 1351, Civil Code: and section 11. Governor's Exec. 
Order No. B- 29-15 (April I. 2015). 

HISTORY 
l. New section filed 9-10-2009: operative 9-10-2009 pursuant to Go,·ernmcnt 

Code section 11343.4 (Register 2009, No. 37). 
2. Amendmmt ofsection and NOTI: filed 9-15-2015: op..-rativc 9-15-2015. 'Ex

empt from OAL review and submined 10 OAL for printing only pUTSUMl 10 
Governor's ExecutiveOrde.rNo. D- 29- l5(4-1- 2015)(Register2015. No. 38). 

§ 492.7. Irrigation Design Plan. 
(a) 111is section applies 10 landscaped ureas requiring permanent ir

rigation, not areas that require temporary irrigation solely for the plant 
cstnblishmcnt period. For the efficient use ofwater, an irrigation syslem 
shall meet all the requirements listed in this section and the manufactur
ers' recommendations. The irrigation system and its related components 
shall be planned and designed to allow for proper installation, manage
ment , and maintenance. An irrigation design plan meeting the following 
design criteria shall be submitted as pan of the Landscape D<><:umcnta
tion Package. 

( I) System 
(A) Landscape water meters, defined as either a dedicated water ser

vice meter or private submeter, shall be ins talled for all non- residential 
irrigated landscapes of 1,000 sq. n.but not more than 5,000 sq.fl. ( the lev
el at which Water Code 535 applies) nod residential irrigated landscapes 
of 5,000 sq. fl. or greater. A landscape water meter may be either: 

I. a customerservice meterdedicated to landscape use provided by the 
local water purveyor; or 

2. n privately owned meter or submctcr. 
(B) Automatic irrigation controllers utilizing either evapotrnnspira

tion or soil moisture sensor data utilizing non-volatile memory shall be 
required for irrigation scheduling in all irrigation systems. 

(C) If the water pressure is below or exceeds the recommended pres
sure ofthe specified irrigation devices, the installation ofa pre.~surc rcgu-

latingdevice is required to ensure that the dynamicpressure at each emis
sion device is within the manufacturer's recommended pressure range 
for optimal performance. 

I. If the static pressure is above or below the required dynamic pres
sure ofthe irrigation system, pressure-regulating devices such as inline 
pressure regulators, booster pumps, or other devices shall be installed 10 
meet the required dynamic pressure ofthe irrigation system. 

2. Static water pressure, dynamic or operating pressure. and flow read
ing of the waler supply shall be measured at the point of connection. 
These pres.sure and flow measurements shall be conducted at the design 
stage. If the measurements are not available at the design stage. the mea
surements shall be condncted at installation. 

(D) Sensors (rain, free-.te. wind. etc.). either integral or auxiliary, that 
suspend or alter irrigation operation during unfavorable weather condi-
1ions shall be required on all irrigation systems, as appropriate for local 
cl imatic conditions. Irrigation should be avoided during windy or freez
ing weather or during rain. 

(E) Manual shut--ofivalves (such as a gate valve, ball valve, or butler
fly valve) shall be required, as close as possible io the point ofconnection 
ofthe water supply, to minimize water loss in caseofan emergency (such 
as a main line break) or routine repair. 

(F) Backflow preventiondevices shall be required to protect the water 
supply from contamination by the irrigation system. A project applicant 
shall re fer to the applicable local agency code (i.e., public health) for 
additional backflow prevention requirements. 

(G) Flow sensors that detect high flow conditions created by system 
damage or malfunction are required for all on non-residential landscapes 
and residential landscapes of 5000 sq. n. or larger. 

(11) Master shut-ofi valves arc required oa all projects except land
scapes that make use oftechnologies that allow for the individual control 
of sprinklers that are individually pressurized in a system equipped with 
low pressure shut down features. 

(I) The irrigation system shnll bedesigned to prevent runofi, low head 
drainage, overspray, or other similar conditions where irrigation water 
flows onto non-targeted areas. such as adjacent property, non-irrigated 
areas, hardscapes, roadways, or structures. 

(J) Relevant information from the soil management plan. such as soil 
type and infiltration rate, shall be utilized when designing irrigation sys
tems. 

(K) The design of the irrigntion system shall confom1 to 1J1e hydro
zones of the landscape design plan. 

(L) The irrigation system must be designed and installed to meet, a t a 
minimum, the irrigation efficiency criteria as described in Section 492.4 
regarding the Maximum Applied Water Allowance. 

(M ) All irrigation emission devices must meet the requirements set in 
the American National Standards Institute (ANSI) s tandard, American 
Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers'/ lntemutional Code 
Council's (ASABE/ICC) 802- 2014 "Landscape Irrigation Sprinkler and 
EminerStandard, All sprinkler heads installedinthe landscape must doc
ument a distribution unifom1ity low quaner of0_65 or higher using the 
protocol defined in ASABE/ICC 802-2014. 

(N) It is highly recommended that the project applicant or local agency 
inquire ,vith the local water purvcyor about peak water operating de
mands (on the water supply system) orwater restrictions that may impact 
the efiectiveness ofthe irrigation system. 

(0) In mulched planting areas. the use of low volume irrigation is re
quired to maximize water infiltration into the root zone. 

(P) Sprinkler heads and other emission devices shall have mntchcd 
precipitation rates, unk·ss otherwise directed by the manufacturer's rec
ommendations. 

(Q) Head to head coverage is recommended. However, sprinkler spac
ing shall be designed to achieve the highest possible distribution unifor
mity using the manufacturer's r<..'Commendations. 

{R) Swing joints or other riser- protection components are required on 
all risers subject to damage that arc adjacent 10 hardscapes or in high trnf
lic areas of turfgrass. 

Page 38.5 14gu1er :WIS, No. 3/1; '1- 18-2015 

https://free-.te
https://5,000sq.fl


§ 492.8 BARCLAYS CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS Title 23 

(S) Check valves or anti-drain valves are required on au sprinkler 
heads where low point drainage could occur. 

(T) Areas less than ten ( 10) feet in wid1h in any direction shall be irri
gated with subsurface irrigation or other means that produces no nmolT 
or overspmy. 

(U) Overhead irrigation shall not be pennitted within 24 inches ofany 
non- penneable surface. Allowable irrigation within 1he setback from 
non- penneable surfaces may include drip, drip line, or other low now 
non-spray technology. The setback urea may be planted or unplanted. 
The surfacing ofthe setback may be mulch, 1,,ravel, orother porous male• 
rial. These restrictions may be modified if: 

I. the landscape area is adjacent to pcm,eable surfacing and no runoff 
occurs; or 

2. the ndjacent non-permeable surfaces are designed and constructed 
10 drain entirely to landscaping; or 

3. the irrigation designer specifies an alternative design ortechnology, 
as part of the Landscape Documentation Package and clearly demon
strates strict adherence to irrigation system design criteria in Section 
492.7 (n)(l)(I). Prevention of overspray and nmoffmust be confinned 
during the irrigation audit. 

(V) Slopes greater than 25% shall not be irrigated with an irrigation 
system with a application rate e,cceeding 0.75 inches per hour. This re
striction m:iy be modified ifthe landscape dcsi1,rner specifies an altemo
tive design ortechnology, as part of1he Landscape Documentation Pack
age. and clearly demonstrates no runolTor erosion will occur. Prevention 
ofrunoffand erosion must be con finned during the irrigation audit. 

(2) Hydrozone 
(A) Each valve shall irrigate a hydrozone with similar site, slope, sun 

exposure, soil conditions, and plant materials with similar water use. 
(B) Spri11kler heads and other emission devices shall be selected based 

on what is appropriate for the plant type within that hydrozone. 
(C) Where feasible, trees shall be pieced on separate valves from 

shrubs, groundcovers, and turf to facilitate the appropriate irriga1ion of 
trees. The mature size and extent of the rool zone shall be considered 
when designing irrigation for the tree. 

(D) Individual hydrozones that mix plants ofmoderate and low water 
use, or moderate and high water use. may be allowed if: 

I. plant factor calculation is based on the proponions ofthe respective 
plant water uses and their plant factor; or 

2. the plant factor ofthe higher water using plant is used for calcula
tions. 

(E) Individual hydrozones that mix high and low water use plants shall 
1101 be pcnnitted. 

(F) On the lnndsc::ipe design plan and irrig111ion design plan, hydrozone 
areas shall be designated by number, letler, or other designation. On the 
irrigation design plan. designate the areas irrigated by each valve, and as
sign a number 10 each valve. Use this valve number in the Hydrozone ln
fonnation Table (see AppendilC B Section A). This table can also assist 
with the irrigation audit and programming the eon1rollcr. 

(b) The irrigation design plan. at a minimum, shall contain: 
(I) location and size ofseparate water meters for landscape; 
(2) IOClltion, type and size ofall components of the irrigation system. 

including controllers, main and lateral lines, valves, sprinkler heads, 
moisture sensing devices, min switches, quick couplers, pressure regula
tors, and backnow prevention devices; 

(3) static water pressure at the point ofconnection to the public water 
supply; 

(4) now rote (gallons per minute), application rate (inches per hour), 
and design operating pressure (pressure per square inch) for each station; 

(5) recycled water irrigation systems as specified in Section 492.14; 
(6) the following statement: "I have complied with the criteria ofthe 

ordinance and applied them accordingly for the efficient use ofwater in 
the irrigation design plan"; and 

(7) the signature ofa licensed landscape architect, certified irrigation 
designer. licensed landscape contractor, or any other person authorized 

to design an irrigation system. (SeeSec1ions 5500.1, 5615, 5641, 5641.1 , 
5641.2, 5641.3, 5641.4, 564 1.5, 5641.6. 6701, 7027.5 of the Business 
and Professions Code, Section 832.27 ofTitle16 of the California Code 
of Regulations, and Section 6721 oftJ1e Food and Agricultural Code.) 
NOTE: Authority cited: Sec1ion 65595. Government Code: and sections 11 and 30. 
Governor's Exec. Order No. B- 29- 15 (April I. 2015). Reference: Section 65596. 
Government Code: nnd section 11. Governor's Exec. Order No. 8-29-15 (April 
I , 2015). 

HISTORY 
I. New section filed 9-10-2009: opemtive 9- 10-2009 pursuant to Govcmmmt 

Cod~ section 11343.4 (Regis1er 2009, No. 37). 
2. Amendment ofsection and NOTE filed 9-15-20t5; operative 9-15-2015. Ex

empt from OAL review and submillcd to OAL for_P.rintin$ only rursuam to 
Governor's Executi,•eOrdcrNo. 0 - 29- 15(4-1-201:>)(Reg,stcr20 S. No. 38). 

§ 492.8. Grading Design Plan. 
(a) For the efficient use ofwater, grading ofa project site shall be de

signed to minimize soil erosion, nmoff, and water waste. A grading plnn 
shall be submitted as pan of the Landscape Documentation Package. A 
comprehensive grading plan prepared by a civil engineer for other local 
agency pem1its satisfies this requirement. 

(I)The project applicant shall submit a landscape !,'T3ding plan that in
dicates finished configurations and elevations ofthe landscape area in
cluding: 

(A) height ofgraded slopes; 
{B) drainage patterns; 
(C) pad elevations; 
(D) finish grade: and 
(E) stomnvater retention improvements, ifapplicable. 
(2) To prevent excessive erosion and nmolT, it is highly recommended 

Lhat project applicants: 
(A)grade so that all irrigation and nom,al rainfall remains wiLhin prop

erty lines and does not drain on to non-penneable hardscapcs; 
(B) ovoid disruption ofnatural clrninogc patterns and undisturbed soil; 

and 
(C) avoid soil compaction in landscnpe areas. 
(3) The gr.iding design plan shall contain the following statement: •·1 

have complied with thecrit.:ria ofthe ordinance and applied them accord
ingly for the efficient use ofwater in the grading design plan" and shall 
bear the signature ofa licensed professional as aulhorized by law. 
NOTE: Authority cited: Section 65595, Government Code. Reference: Section 
65596, Government Code. 

HISTORY 
I. New section filed 9- 10-2009; opemtivc 9- 10-2009 pursuant to Government 

Code section 11343.4 (Register 2009. No. 37). 

§ 492.9. Certificate of Completion. 
(a)The Ccnificate ofCompletion (sec Appendix C for a sample cert if-

icate) shall include the following six (6) elements: 
(I) project infonnation sheet that contains: 
(A) dtllc; 
(8) project name; 
(C) project applicant name, telephone, and mailing address; 
(D) project address and location; and 
(E) propeny owner name, telephone, and mailing address; 
(2) certification by either the signer ofthe landscape design pion, the 

signer ofthe irrigation design plnn, or the licensed landscape contrnc1or 
that the lnndscape project has been insralled per the approved Landscape 
Doeumcnta1ion Package; 

(A) where there have been significant changes made in the field during 
construction, these "as-built" or record drawings shall be included with 
the cenification; 

(B) A diagram oflhe irrigation plan showing hydrozones shall be kept 
with the irrigation controller for subsequent management purposes. 

(3) irrigation scheduling parameters used to set the controller (sec Sec
tion 492. 10); 

(4) landscape and irrigation maint.enance schedule (see Section 
492.11): 

(5) irrigation audit repon (sec Section 492.12); and 

Pagc38.6 llcgutcr 2015, No. 38; 9-18- 2015 



Title 23 Department of \\later Hcsourecs § 492. 13 

(6) soil analysis report. ifnot submined with Landscape Documenta NOTE: Authority cited: Sc-ction 65595. Go\'emment Code. Reference: Section 
tion Package, and documen1a1ion verifying implementation ofsoil report 65596, Government Code. 
recommendations (sec Section 492.5). 

(b) The project applieant shall: 
(_I) submit the signed Certificate ofCompletion 10 lhe local agency for 

review; 
(2) ensure that copies of the approved Certi ficnle of Completion ore 

submitted 10 the local water purveyor and property ovmer or his or her 
dcsignee. 

(c) The local agency shall: 
( I ) receive the signedCertificate ofCompletion from the project appli

cant; 
(2) approve or deny the Ccrtificah: ofCompletion. If the Certificate of 

Completion is denied, the local agency sholl provide information to the 
project applicant regarding reapplication, appeal, or other assistance. 
NOTE: Authority cited: Section 65595. Government C0<k;and sections 11 and 30, 
Governor's Exec. Order No. B--29- 15 (April I , 2015). Reference: Section 65596, 
Government Code: 3nd section 11, Govcmor's Exec. OrderNo. B-29- 15 (April 
I , 2015). 

HISTORY 

I. New section filed 9-10-2009: opemrivc 9-10-2009 pursuruil to Government 
Code section 113-13.4 (Register 2009, No. 37). 

2. New subsection (aX2)(B) nnd amendment ofNOTI! filed 9- 15-2015: operative
9-1 5-2015. Exempt from OAL review nnd submiucd to OALfor printing only 
pursuant 10 Governor's &ecutivc Order No. B-29-15 (4-1-2015) (Register 
2015, No. 38). 

§ 492.10. Irrigation Scheduling. 
(a) For the efficient use ofwater, all irrigation schedules shall be devel

oped. managed. and evaluated to utilize the minimum amount ofwater 
required to maintain plant health. Irrigation schedules shall meet the fol
lowing criteria: 

( 1) Irrigation scheduling shall be regulated by automatic irrigation 
controllers. 

(2) Overhead i.rrigation shall be scheduled between 8:00 p.m. and 
10:00 n.m. unless weather conditions prevent it. lfallowab!e hours ofir
rigation differ from the local water purveyor. the stricter ofthe two shall 
apply. Operation of the irrigation system outside the nonnal watering 
window is allowed for auditing and system maintenance. 

(3) For implementation ofthe irrigation schedule, particular attentfon 
must be paid to irrigation run times, emission device, flow rate, and cur
rent reference evapotranspiration, so that applied water meets the Esti
mated Total Water Use. Total annual applied water shall be less than or 
equal to Maximun1 Applied Water Allowance (MA WA). Actual irriga
tion schedulesshall be regulated by automatic irrigation controllers using 
current reference evapotranspirntion data (e.g., CIMlS) or soil moisture 
sensor data. 

(4) Parameters used to set the automatic controller shall be developed 
and submitted for each ofthe following: 

(A) the plant establishment period: 
(B) the established landscape; and 
(C) temporarily irrigated areas. 
(5) Each irrigation schedule shall consider for each station all of the 

following that apply: 
(A) irrigation interval (days between irrigation); 
(B) irrigation run times (hours or minutes per irrigation event to avoid 

runoll); 
(C) number ofcycle starts required for each irrigation event to nvoid 

ninofT; 
(D) amount ofapplied water scheduled to be applied on a monthly ba-

sis; 
(E) application rate selling; 
(F) root depth setting; 
(G) plant type setting; 
(H) soil type; 
(I) slope factor setting; 
(J) shade factor setting; and 
(K) irrigation uniformity or efficiency setting. 

HISTORY 
I. New section filed 9-10-2009: operative 9-10-2009 pu.rsuanl to Government 

Code seerion 11343.4 (Register 2009. No. 3 7). 

§ 492.11. Landscape and Irrigation Maintenance Schedule. 
(a) Landscapes shall be main1.ained to ensure water use efficiency. A 

regular maintenance schedule shall be submitted with the Cenificatc of 
Completion. 

(b) A regular maintenance schedule shall include, but not be limited 
to, routine inspection; auditing, adjustment and repair of the irrigation 
system and itscomponents; aerating and dcthatching turf areas; topdress
ing with compost, replenishing mulch: fertilizing; pruning: weeding in 
all landscape areas, and removing obstructions to emission devices. Op
eration ofthe irrigation system outside the nonnal watering window is 
allowed for auditing and system maintenance. 

(c) Repairofall irrigation equipment shall be done wi1h the originally 
installed components or their equivalents or with components with great
er efficiency. 

(d) A project applicant is encouraged 10 implement established land
scape industry sustainable Best Practices for all landscape maintenance 
activities. 
NOTE: Au1bori1y cited:Sc,;;1ion 65595. Government Code:and sections 11 and JO. 
Governor's Exec. Order No. B-29- 1S (April I , 2015). Reference: Section 65596, 
Government Code: and s..-ction 11 , Governor's faec. Order No. B-29- 15 (April 
I , 2015). 

H ISTORY 
I. New SCCtioa filed 9-10-2009: opcn,1ive 9-10-2009 pursuant 10 Go,·cmmcnl 

Code section 11343.4 (Rcgis1cr2009, No. 37). 
2. Amendment ofsection and NOT!! filed 9-15-2015; opcmtivc 9-15-2015. Ex

empt from OAL review and submiucd to OAL for_printing only rumu1nt 10 
Govern.or's ExeculiveOrderNo. B-29-15 ( 4-1- 20I~}(Rcg1s1cr 20 5, No. 38). 

§ 492.12. Irrigation Audit, Irrigation Survey, and Irrigation 
Water Use Analysis. 

(a) All landscape irrigation audits shall be conducted by a local agency 
landscape irrigation auditor om third party cenified landscape irrigation 
auditor. Landscape audits shall not be conducted by the person who de
signed the landscape or installed the landsc.ape. 

(b) In large projects or projects with multiple landscape installations 
(i.e. production home developments) an auditing rate of I in 7 lots or 
approximat.cly 15% will satisfy this requirement. 

{c) For new constn1ction and rehabilitated landscape projecls ins talled 
after December 1, 20 15, as described in Section 490. 1: 

( I ) the project applicant shall submit an irrigation audit report with the 
Certificate ofCompletion to the local agency that may include, but is nor 
limited to: inspection, system tune-up, system test with distribution uni
formity, reporting overspmy or run orr that causes overland fl ow, and 
preparntion of an irrigation schedule. including configuring irrigation 
controllers with application rate, soil types, plant factors, slope, exposure 
and any other factors necessary for accurate programming; 

(2) the local agency shall administer programs that may include, but 
not be limited to, irrigation water use analysis, irrigation audits. and ir
rigation surveys for compliance with the Maximum Applied Water Al
lowance. 
NOT!!: Authority cited: Section65595, GovernmentCode:and scc1ions 11 and 30. 
Governor's Exec. OnlcrNo. B-29-15 (April I , 2015). Reference: Section 65596, 
Government Code: and section 11 , Governor's Exec. Order No. 8-29- 1S (April 
1,2015). 

HISTORY 
I. New section filed 9-10-2009: operative 9- 10-2009 pursuant to Government 

Code section 11343.4 {Register 2009, No. 37). 
2. Amendment ofsection and NOTE filed 9-15- 2015; opcrntivc 9-15-2015. Ex• 

cmpl from OAL re,•iew and submi11ed 10 OAL for printing only pursuant 10 
Govcmor·s faccu1ivcOrderNo. B-29-15(4- t-2015)(Rcgistcr2015, No. 38). 

§ 492.13. Irrigation Efficiency. 
(a) For the purpose ofde1e.m1ining Estimated Total Water Use, aver

age irrigation efficiency is assumed to be0.75 for overhead spray devices 
and 0.81 for drip system devices. 
Norn:Authority cited: Section 65595, Government Code;and sections 11 ond 30. 
Governors Exec. Order No. 8-29- 15 (April I, 2015). Reference: Section 65596. 

P..igc 38.7 Rcgli11:t 2015. No. :18: 9- 18-2015 



§ 492. 14 BARCLAYS CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS T itl~ 23 

Govern men! Code: and section 11 , Governor's Exec. Order No. B-29--15 (April 
1,2015). 

HISTORY 

I. New section filed 9--10-2009; operative 9-10-2009 pun;Wlnl 10 Go\'crnmcnt 
Code section 11343.4 (Regis ter 2009, No. 37). 

2. Amcndmenl ofsection nnd NOTE filed 9--15-2015: operative 9-15-2015. EJt. 
empt from OAL review and submincd to OAl for _printing only f un;uam 10 
Governor's Executive Order No. B-29--15(4-1- 201:i){Re1,'lslcr10 5. No. 38). 

§ 492.14. Recycled Water. 
(a) The installation ofrecycled water irrigation systems shall allow for 

the current and future use ofrecycled water. 
(b) All recycled water irrigation systems shall be designed and oper

ated in accordance with all applicable local and State laws. 
(c) Landscapes using recycled water arc considered Special Land

scape Areas. llte ET Adjustment Factor for new and Cllisting (non-reha
biliu11ed) Special Landscape Areas shall not exceed 1.0. 
NOTE: Aulhori1ycitcd: Seel ion 65595, Govemmenl Code; and scc1ions 11 and 30. 
Governor's Exec. Order No. B-29-15 (April I, 201 S). Reference: Section 65596. 
Government Code; nod section 11, Governor's Exec. OrderNo. B-29-15 (April 
1,2015). 

HISTORY 

I. New section filed 9--10-2009; opcralivc 9-10-2009 pursuanl 10 Government 
Code section 11343.-1 {Register 2009, No. 37). 

2. Amendment ofsection nnd NOTE filed 9-15-2015: opcra1ive 9-15-2015. EJt. 
cmpl from OAL review nnd submitted to OAL for _printing only f ursuant to 
Governor's ExecutiveOrder No. B-29-15 (4-1- 2015)(Rcgmer 20 5. No. 38). 

§ 492.15. Graywater Systems. 
(a) Graywater systems promote the ellicicnt use of water and are en

couraged 10 assist in on-site landscape irriga1ion. All gmywatcr systems 
shall conform lo the California Plumbing Code (Title 24, Pan 5, Chapter 
16) and any applicable local ordinance Slltlldards. Refer to § 490.1 {d) for 
the applicability of this ordinance to landscape areas less than 2,500 
square feet with the Estimated Total Water Use mc:t entirely by brraywa
tcr. 
NOTE: Autbori1ycitcd: Section 65595, Go\'cmmenl Code; and scc1ions 11 nnd 30. 
Governor's Exec. Order No. 13-29-15 (April I, 2015). Reference: Sec1ion 65596, 
Govern men! Code; nn<l scc1ion 11, Governor's Exec. Order No. B-29-1S (April 
1,2015). 

HISTORY 

I. New section filed 9-10-2009; opcrn1ivc 9- 10-2009 pursurull 10 Govcrnmcnl 
Code section 11343.4 (Rcgis1er 2009, No. 37). 

2. Renumbering of former section 492.15 10 492.16, new section 492,15 Wld 
amendment of Nore filed 9-15--2015; OJ?CC?tivc 9- 15-2015. Exempt from 
OAL review and submined 10 OAL for pnnting only pursuant to Governor's 
Executive Order No. 0-29-15 (4--l- 2015)(Rcgis1er 2015. No. 38). 

§ 492.16. Stormwater Management and Rainwater 
Retention. 

(a) S1ormwa1er management practices minimize runofT and increase 
infiltration which recharges groundwater and improves water quali ly. 
Implementing stormwater best management practices into the landscape 
end gmding design plans to minimize runoff and to increase on-site rain
water retention and infihration are encouraged. 

(b) Project applicants sholl refer to the local agency or Regional Water 
Quality Control Board for ir1formation on any applic.ablc stormwater 
technical requirements. 

{c) All planted landscape areas are required to have mable soil to max
imize water retention and infiltration. Refer to § 492.6(aX3). 

(d) It is strongly recommended that lnncJscape areas be designed for 
cap!Ure and infiltration capacity that is sufficient to prevent runoff from 
impervious surfaces (i.e. roof and paved areas) from either: the one inch, 
24- hour rain event or (2) ihe 85th percentile, 24-hour rain event, and/or 
additional capacity as required by any applicable loco(, regional, state or 
federal regulation. 

(c) It is recommended thnt storm wa1er projects incorporate any of1he 
following elements to improve on-site stonn water and dryweather run
ofT capture and use: 
• Grade impervious surfaces, such as driveways, during construc• 

t ion to drain to vcgc1ated areas. 

• Minimize the area ofimpervious surfaces such as paved areas, roof 
and concrete driveways. 

• Incorporate pcrvious or porous surfaces {e.g., gravel, penneable 
pavers or blocks, pervious or porous concrete) that minimize run
ofT. 

• Direct runofTfrom paved surfaces and roof areas into planting beds 
or landscaped areas to m8"'timize site water captuTc and reuse. 

• lncorpora1e min gardens, cisterns, nnd other rain harvesting or 
catchment systems. 

• Incorporate infiltration beds. swales, basins and drywells to cap
tUie stonn water and dry weather runofTand increase percolation 
into the soil. 

• Consider constructed wetlands and ponds that retain water, equal-
ize excess now, and filter pollutrults. 

NOTE: Au1hori1y cited: Section 65595, Government Code; and sections 11 and 30, 
Governor's Exec. Order No. B-29-15 (April I.2015). Reference: Section 65596. 
Govcmmc:nl Code; nnd section 11, Governor's Exec. Order No. B-29-15 (April 
I. 2015). 

HISTORY 
I. New scc1ion filed 9- 10-2009; operative 9- 10-2009 pursunnl 10 Govcrnrncnl 

Code section 11343.4 {Register 2009, No. 37). 
2. Renumbering uf fonncr section 492.16 to scc1ion 492.17 and renumbering of 

former section 492. 15 10 new section 492. 16, including wnendmcnt ofscc1ion 
heading, section and Nore, filed 9-15-2015; opcralive 9- 15-2015. Exempl 
from OAL review nnd submined 10 OAL for printing only pursunnt 10 Gover
nor's Executive Order No. B-29-15 {4-1-2015) (Register 2015. No. 38). 

§ 492.17. Public Education. 
(a) Publications. Education is a critical component to promote the effi

cient use ofwater in landscapes. The use of appropriate principles ofde
sign, instnllation, management and maintenance that save water is en
couraged in the community. 

( I) A local agency or water supplier/purveyor shall provide informa
tion to owners ofpermitted renovations and new, single-family residen
tial homes regarding the design, installation, management, and mainte
nance of water efficient landscapes based on a water budgcL 

(b) Model Homes. AII model homes thnt are landscaped shall usesigns 
and written information to demonstrate the principles of water efficient 
landscapes described in this ordinance. 

( I) Signs shall be used 10 identify the model as an example ofa water 
efficient landscape featuring elements such as hydrozones, irrigation 
equipment, and others that contribute to the overall watereffieient theme. 
Signageshall include information about the site water use as designed per 
the local ordinance; specify who designed and installed the water effi
cient landscape; and demonstrate low water use approaches to lnndscap
ing such as using native plants, graywater systems, and rainwater cmc h
mem systems. 

(2) lnfomullion shall be provided about designing, installing, manng
ing, and maintaining water efficient landscal)\->s, 
NOTE: Authority ci1ed: Section 65595, Government Code; and sections 11 and 30, 
Governor's Exec. Order No. B-29--15 (April I , 2015). Reference: Section 65596, 
Government Code; nnd seccion 11, Governor's Exec. Order No. 8-29-15 (April 
I , 2015). 

HISTORY 
I. New section filed 9- 10-2009; opcrntive 9-10- 2009 pursuant to Govemmenl 

Code section 11 343.4 (Register 2009, No. 37). 
2. Renumbering o f forn1er section 492.17 10 new scccion 492.18 and renumbering 

of fonnL'l' section 492. 16 to new section 492. 17, including arnenclmcnt of sec
tion and Non:, filed 9- 15-2015; operative 9-15-2015. Exempl from OAL re
view and submitted 10 OA L for _printing only pun;uant to Governor's Ex.ecutive 
Order No. B-29--15 (4-1- 2015) (Reg1stcrl015. No. 38). 

§ 492.18. Environmental Review. 
(a) The local agency must comply with the California Environmental 

Quality Act (CEQA), as appropriate. 
NOTE: Aulhori1y cited: Section 21082, Public Rcsoun:es Code; ond sections 11 
and 30. Governor's E.xcc. OrderNo. B-29-15 (April I, 2015). Reference: Sections 
2 1080and 21082, Public Resources Code; and scc1ion 11. Governor's face. Order 
No. B-29- 15 (April I, 2015). 

Hl~'TORY 
I. Renumbering offorn1cr section 492.17 to new section 492. 18. including omend• 

mem ofNOTE. filed 9--15--2015; operative 9--15-2015. Exempt from OAL re
view and submiued 10 OAl for printing only pursuant to Govemor's Executive 
Order No. B- 29-15 (4-1- 2015) (Register 2015, No. 38). 

Page 38.8 Rcgiucr 2015, No. 38; 9 - 18-2015 



Title 23 Department of \ \later Resources § 495 

§ 493. Provisions for Existing Landscapes. 
(a) A local agency may by mutuul agreement, designntc another 

agency, such as a water purveyor, to implement some or all oft he require
ments contained in this ordinance. Local agencies may collabomlc with 
water purveyors to define each entity's specific responsibilities relating 
to this ordinance. 
NOTE: Authority cited: Scctfon 65595, Govcmmcnl Code; and sections 11 and 30, 
Govcrnor·s Exec. Order No. B-29-15 (April I, 201 S). Reference: Section 65596, 
Govcrnmcnl Code: and section 11. Governor's Exec. Order No. B-29- l5 (April 
I , 2015). 

HISTORY 

I. New section filed 7- J 1- 92: operative 7- 31- 92 (Register 92, No. J2). 

2. Repe:iler and new section o.nd amendment ofNon filed 9-10-2009; operative 
9-10-2009 pun.uant to Government Codesection 11343.4 (Register 2009, No. 
37). 

3. Amendment ofsection and NOTE filed 9- 1S--20 I5; operative 9-1 S--20 IS. Ex
empt from OAL review and ~-ubmined 10 OAL for print;ng only pur.iUMI 10 
Governor's Executive Order No. B-29-15(4-1- 2015)(Regislcr2015, No. JS). 

§ 493.1 . Irrigation Audit, Irrigation Survey, and Irrigation 
Water Use Analysis. 

(a)This section, 493.1, shall apply to all existing landscapes that were 
installed before December I , 2015 and an: over one acre in size. 

(I) For all landscapes in 493.1 (a) that have a water meter, the local 
agency shall administer programs that may include, but not be limited to, 
irrigation w111er use analyses, irrigation surveys, and inigalion audits to 
evaluate wnter use and provide recommendations as necessary to reduce 
landscape water use to a level that docs not exceed the Maximum Applied 
Water Allowance for existing landscapes. The Maximum Applied Water 
Allowance forexisting landscapes shall be calculated as: MA WA= (0.8) 
(ETo) (LA) (0.62). 

(2) For all landscapes in 493. 1 (a), that do not have a meter, the local 
agency shall administer programs 11101 may include, but not be limited to, 
irrigation surveys and irrigation audits to evaluate water use and provide 
recommendntions ns necessary in order to prevent water waste. 

(b) All landscape irrigation audits shnll be conducted by a certified 
landscape irrigation uuditor. 
NOTE: Authority ci1cd: Section 65595, Government Code; and sections 11 Md 30, 
Governor's Exec. Order No. B-29-15 (April I , 2015). Reference: Section 65596, 
Govcmmcnl Code; and soc1ion 11. Go,•crnor's Exec. Order No. B-29- 15 (April 
l , 2015). 

HISTORY 

I . New section filed 9-10-2009; oper.:11ivc 9- 10..2009 pursuant to Government 
Code scc1ion 11343.4 (Register 2009. No. 37). 

2. Amcndme nl of subsection (a) a nd NOTE filed 9- 15- 20 15; operative 
9-IS--2015. Excmp1 from OAL rev;ew o.nd submitted to OAL for printingonly 
pu.rsuant 10 Governor's Executive Order No. B- 29--15 (4-1- 2015) (Register 
2015, No. JB). 

§ 493.2. Water Waste Prevention. 
(a) Local agencies shall prevent water waste resulting from inefficient 

landscape irrigation by prohibiting runoff from leaving the target land
scape due to low head drainage, overspray, or other similar conditions 
where water flows onto adjacent propeny, non-irrigated areas, walks, 
roadways, parking lots, orstructures. Penalties for violation ofthese pro
hibitions shall be established locally. 

(b) Restrictions regarding overspray and runoff may be modified if: 
( I) the landscape area is adjacent lo permeable surfacing and no runoff 

occurs; or 
(2) the adjacent non- pcm1eoblc surfaces ore designed and constructed 

to drain entirely to landscaping. 
NOTE: Authority cited: SL-Clion 65594, Govcrnmenl Code. Reference: Section 
65596, Govcrnmcnl Code. 

H ISTORY 

I. New section filed 9-10--2009; operative 9- 10-2009 pW$uant 10 Government 
Code section I 1343.4 (Register 2009. No. 37). 

§ 494. Effective Precipitation. 
(a) A local agency may consider Effective Precipitation (25% ofannu

al precipitation) in tracking water use and mayuse the following equation 
10 calculate Maximum Applied Water Allowance: 

MAWA= (ETo - Eppl) (0.62) [(0.55 x LA) + (0.45 x SLA)) for resi
dcntiul areas. 

MAWA= (ETo--EPPT) (0.62) [(0.45 x LA) + (0.55 x SLA)) for non
residential areas. 
NOTE: Authority cited: S«tion65595, Government Code; and seclions 11 o.nd 30. 
Governor's EXL'C. Order No. B-29- 15 (April I , 2015). Refert.'llcc: Section 65596. 
Government Code; and section 11, Governor's Exec. Order No. B-29-15 (April 
I , 2015). 

H ISTORY 
I. Repealer and new section: new NOTE and new Appendices A- C filed 

9- 10-2009; opcrnti\•e 9-10- 2009 pursuant to Government Code section 
I 1343.4 (Register 2009, No. 37). 

2. Amendmen1 ofsection and Non filed 9-IS--2015; operative 9-IS- 2015. Ex
empt from OAL rc,•icw and submilled 10 OAL for printing only pur.iuanl 10 
Govcmor·s Executive Order No. B-29-15 (4-1- 2015) {Rcgis1cr2015. No. 38). 

§ 495. Reporting. 
(a) Local agencies shall rep0rt on implementation and enforcement by 

December 31, 2015. Local agencies resp0nsible for administering indi
vidual ordinances shall report on their updated ordinance, while those 
agencies developing a regional ordinance shall repon on their existing 
ordinance. TI1ose agencies crafting a regional ordinances shnll also re
Port on their new ordinance by March I, 2016. Subsequently, reporting 
for all agencies will be due by fanuary 3 1st ofeach year. Repons shall 
be submitted to the Department of Water Resources. 

(b) Local agencies are to address the following: 
( l) State whether you are adopting a single agency ordinance or a re

gional agency alliance ordinance, and the date ofadoption or anticipated 
date of adoption. 

(2) Define the reporting period. The reporting period shall commence 
on December l, 2015 and the end on December 28, 2015. For local agen
cies crafting regional ordinances with other agencies, there shall be an 
additional reporting period commencing on February I. 2016 end ending 
on February 28, 2016. In subsequent year.., all local agency reponing will 
be for the calendar year. 

(3) State ifusing a locally modified Water Efficient Landscape Ordi
nance (WELO) or the MWELO. If using a locally modified \VELO, how 
is it dilTcrent than MWELO, is it at least as efficient as MWELO, and are 
there any exemptions specified? 

(4) Slate the entity responsible for implementing the ordinance. 
(5) State number and types ofprojects subject 10 the ordinance during 

the specified reporting period. 
(6) State the total area (in square feel or acres) subject to lhc ordinance 

over the reporting period, if available. 
(7) Provide the number ofnew housing starts, new commercial proj

ects, and landscape retrofits during the reporting period. 
(8) Describe the procedure for review ofprojects subject to the ordi

nance. 
(9) Describe actions taken to verify compliance. Is a plan check per

formed; ifso, by what entity? Isa site inspection performed; ifso, by what 
entity'? Is a post- installation audit required; if so, by whom? 

( I 0) Describe enforcement measun ..-s. 
(11) Explain challenges to implementing and enforcing the ordinance. 
(I 2) Describe educational and other needs to properly apply the ordi-

nance. 
NoTE: Authority cited: Sec1ion 65595, Govcmmcn1 Code: :1nd sec lions 11 nod 30. 
Governor's Exec. Order No. B-29- t5(April I, 2015). Reference: Section 65596, 
Govcmmc111 Code; and section 11, Governor's 11'<CC. Order No. B-29- 15 (April 
I , 2015). 

HISTORY 
I. New section filed 9-15-2015; operative 9-15- 2015. Exempt from OALreview 

and submincd 10 OAL forprin1ingonly pursuant toGovcn:ior's. faccu1ivcO~er 
No. B--29-15(4-1- 2015) (Register 2015, No. 38). Forpnorh1s1ory. seeRegis.
le..- 2009. No. 37. 

P.Jge 38.9 Regi.sicr 2015, No. l8: ~- 18- 2015 



§ 495 BARCLAYS CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS T itle 23 

App(•ndix A. Reference Evapotranspiralion (ETo) T11ble 

Appendix A - Reference Evapotranspiration (ET01 Table* 
Annual 

County and City Jan Feb Mar Aor Mav Jun Jul AU!! Seo Oct Nov Dec ETo 
ALAMEDA 
Fremont 1.5 1.9 3.4 4.7 5.4 6.J 6.7 6.0 4.5 3.4 1.8 1.5 47.0 

Livennore 1.2 1.5 2.9 4.4 5.9 6.6 7.4 6.4 5.3 3.2 1.5 0.9 47.2 

Oakland 1.5 1.5 2.8 3.9 5.1 5.3 6.0 5.5 4.8 3.1 1.4 0.9 41.8 

Oakland Foothills I. I 1.4 2.7 3.7 5. 1 6.4 5.8 4 .9 3.6 2.6 1.4 1.0 39.6 

Pleasanton 0.8 1.5 2.9 4.4 5.6 6.7 7.4 6.4 4.7 3.3 1.5 1.0 46.2 

Union City 1.4 1.8 3. 1 4 .2 5.4 5.9 6.4 5.7 4.4 3. 1 1.5 1.2 44.2 

ALPINE 
Markleeville 0.7 0 .9 2.0 3.5 5.0 6.1 7.3 6 .4 4.4 2.6 1.2 0 .5 40.6 

AMADOR 
Jackson 1.2 1.5 2.8 4.4 6.0 7.2 7.9 7.2 5.3 3.2 1.4 0 .9 48.9 

Shanandoah Valley 1.0 1.7 2.9 4.4 5.6 6.8 7.9 7.1 5.2 3.6 1.7 1.0 48.8 

BUTTE 
Chico 1.2 1.8 2.9 4.7 6.1 7.4 8.5 7.3 5.4 3.7 1.7 1.0 51.7 

Durham 1.1 1.8 3.2 5.0 6 .5 7.4 7.8 6.9 5.3 3.6 1.7 1.0 51.1 
Gridley 1.2 1.8 3.0 4.7 6.1 7.7 8.5 7.1 5.4 3.7 1.7 1.0 51.9 
Oroville 1.2 1.7 2.8 4.7 6 . 1 7.6 8.5 7.3 5.3 3.7 1.7 1.0 51.5 

CALAVERAS 
San Andreas 1.2 1.5 2.8 4.4 6.0 7.3 7.9 7.0 5.3 3.2 1.4 0.7 48.8 
COLUSA 
Colusa 1.0 1.7 3.4 5.0 6.4 7.6 8.3 7.2 5.4 3.8 1.8 I.I 52.8 
Williams 1.2 1.7 2.9 4.5 6.1 7.2 8.5 7.3 5.3 3.4 1.6 1.0 50.8 
CONTRA COST A 
Brentwood 1.0 1.5 2.9 4 .5 6.1 7.1 7.9 6.7 5.2 3.2 1.4 0.7 48.3 
Concord I.I 1.4 2.4 4.0 5.5 5.9 7.0 6.0 4.8 3.2 1.3 0.7 43.4 

Courtland 0.9 l.5 2.9 4.4 6 .1 6.9 7.9 6.7 5.3 3.2 1.4 0.7 48.0 
Martinez 1.2 1.4 2.4 3.9 5.3 5.6 6 .7 5.6 4.7 3.1 1.2 0.7 41.8 
Moraga 1.2 1.5 3.4 4.2 5.5 6.1 6.7 5.9 4.6 3.2 1.6 1.0 44.9 
Pittsburg 1.0 1.5 2.8 4.1 5.6 6.4 7.4 6.4 5.0 3 .2 1.3 0.7 45.4 
Walnut Creek 0 .8 1.5 2.9 4.4 5.6 6.7 7.4 6.4 4.7 3.3 1.5 1.0 46.2 
DEL NORTE 
Crescent City 0.5 0 .9 2.0 3.0 3.7 3.S 4.3 3.7 3.0 2.0 0 .9 0 .5 27.7 

ELDORADO 
Camino 0.9 1.7 2.5 3.9 5.9 7.2 7.8 6.8 5. 1 3. 1 1.5 0.9 47.3 

FRESNO 
Clovis 1.0 1.5 3.2 4.8 6.4 7.7 8.5 7.3 5.3 3.4 1.4 0.7 51.4 

Coalinga 1.2 I. 7 3.1 4 .6 6.2 7.2 8.5 7.3 5.3 3.4 1.6 0.7 50.9 

Firebaugh 1.0 1.8 3.7 5.7 7.3 8.1 8.2 7.2 5.5 3.9 2.0 I.I 55.4 

FivePoints 1.3 2.0 4.0 6.1 7.7 8.5 8.7 8.0 6.2 4 .5 2.4 1.2 60.4 

Fresno 0.9 1.7 3.3 4.8 6.7 7.8 8.4 7. 1 5.2 3.2 1.4 0 .6 51. l 

Fresno State 0.9 1.6 3.2 5.2 7.0 8.0 8.7 7.6 5.4 3.6 1.7 0.9 53.7 

Friant 1.2 1.5 3.l 4.7 6.4 7.7 8.5 7.3 5.3 3.4 1.4 0.7 51.3 

Kerman 0.9 1.5 3.2 4.8 6.6 7.7 8.4 7.2 5.3 3.4 1.4 0.7 51.2 ..._ ·- i ]i -4T 
.. _~ 

5.3 3.4 0.7 51.6 ·-Kingsburg 1.5 3.4 6.6 7.7 8.4 7.2 1.4 

Mendota 1.5 2.5 4.6 6.2 7.9 8.6 8.8 7.5 5.9 4.5 2.4 1.5 61.7 

Orange Cove 1.2 1.9 3.5 4.7 7.4 8.5 8.9 7.9 5.9 3 .7 1.8 1.2 56.7 

Panoche I. I 2.0 4.0 5.6 7.8 8.5 8.3 7.3 5.6 3.9 LR 1.2 57.2 

Parlier 1.0 1.9 3.6 5.2 6.8 7.6 8.1 7.0 5.1 3.4 I. 7 0.9 52.0 

Page 38.10 RcgiJ!cr 2015, No. :\8;9-18-2015 



Tille 23 Dcpurtmcnt of\Vatcr Resources § 495 

Appendix A - Reference Evapotranspir-ation (ETo Table* 
Annual 

Countv and Citv Jan Feb Mar Apr Mav .lun Jul Aug Sep O ct Nov Dec E:To 
FRESNO 
Reedley I.I 1.5 3.2 4 .7 6A 7.7 8.5 7.3 5.3 3.4 1.4 0 .7 51.3 
Westlands 0.9 1.7 3.8 6.3 8.0 8.6 8.6 7.8 5.9 4.3 2 . 1 I. I 58.8 

GLENN 
Orland 1.1 1.8 3.4 5.0 6.4 7.5 7.9 6.7 5.3 3.9 1.8 1.4 52.1 
Willows 1.2 1.7 2.9 4.7 6.1 7.2 8.5 7.3 5.3 3.6 1.7 1.0 51.3 

HUMBOI.OT 
Eureka 0.5 I.I 2.0 3.0 3.7 3.7 3.7 3.7 3.0 2.0 0.9 0 .5 27.5 

Ferndale 0.5 I.I 2.0 3.0 3.7 3.7 3.7 3.7 3.0 2.0 0.9 0 .5 27.5 
Garbervillc 0.6 1.2 2.2 3. 1 4.5 5.0 5.5 4.9 3 .8 2.4 1.0 0.7 34.9 

l foopa 0.5 I. I 2.1 3.0 4.4 5.4 6.1 5.1 3.8 2 .4 0.9 0.7 35.6 

IMPERIAL 
Brawley 2.8 3.8 5.9 8.0 10.4 11.5 11.7 10.0 8.4 6.2 3.5 2.1 84.2 

Calipatria/Mulberry 2 .4 3.2 5.1 6 .8 8.6 9.2 9.2 8.6 7 .0 5.2 3.1 2.3 70.7 

El Centro 2.7 3.5 5.6 7.9 10 . 1 I I.I 11.6 9.5 8.3 6 . 1 3.3 2.0 81.7 

Holtville 2.8 3.8 5.9 7.9 10.4 11.6 12.0 10.0 8.6 6 .2 3.5 2.1 84.7 

Meloland 2 .5 3.2 5.5 7.5 8.9 9.2 9 .0 8.5 6 .8 5.3 3.1 2.2 71.6 

Palo Verde II 2.5 3.3 5.7 6.9 8.5 8.9 8.6 7.9 6 .2 4.5 2.9 2.3 68.2 

Seeley 2.7 3.5 5.9 7.7 9.7 10. 1 9.3 8.3 6.9 5.5 3.'I 2.2 75.4 

Westmoreland VI 3.3 5.3 6.9 8.7 9.6 9.6 &.7 6 .9 5.0 3.0 2.2 71.4 

Yuma 2.5 3.4 5.3 6.9 8.7 9.6 9 .6 8.7 6 .9 5.0 3.0 2.2 71.6 

lNYO 
Bishop 1.7 2.7 4.8 6.7 &.2 10.9 7.4 9.6 7.4 4.8 2.5 1.6 68.3 
Death Valley Jct 2 .2 3.3 5.4 7.7 9.8 I I.I 11.'I 10 . 1 &.3 5.4 2.9 1.7 79.1 

Independence 1.7 2.7 3.4 6.6 8.5 9.5 9 .8 8.5 7.1 3.9 2.0 1.5 65.2 

Lower Haiwee Res. 1.8 2 .7 4.4 7.1 8.5 9.5 9.8 8.5 7.1 4.2 2.6 1.5 67.6 

Oasis 2.7 2.8 5.9 8.0 10.4 11.7 11.6 10.0 8.4 6.2 3.4 2.1 83.1 

KERN 
Arvin 1.2 1.8 3.5 4.7 66 7.4 8. 1 7.3 5.3 3.4 1.7 1.0 51.9 

Bakersfield 1.0 1.8 3.5 4 .7 6.6 7.7 8.5 7.3 5.3 3.5 1.6 0.9 52.4 

Bakersfield/Bonanza 1.2 2.2 3.7 5.7 7.4 8.2 8.7 7.8 5.7 4 .0 2. 1 1.2 57.9 

Bakersfield/Greenlee 1.2 2.2 3.7 5.7 7.4 8.2 &.7 7.8 5.7 4.0 2. 1 1.2 57.9 

13elridge 1.4 2.2 4.1 5.5 7.7 8.5 8.6 7.8 6.0 3.8 2.0 1.5 59.2 

Blackwells Comer 1.4 2.1 3.8 5.4 7.0 7.8 8.5 7.7 5.8 3.9 1.9 1.2 56.6 

Buttonwillow 1.0 1.8 3.2 4.7 6.6 7.7 8.5 7.3 5.4 3.4 1.5 0.9 52.0 

China Lake 2. 1 3.2 5.3 7.7 9 .2 10.0 11.0 9.8 7.3 4.9 2.7 1.7 74.8 

Delano 0.9 1.8 3.4 4.7 6.6 7.7 8.5 7.J 5.4 3.4 1.4 0.7 52.0 

Famoso 1.3 1.9 3.5 4.8 6.7 7.6 8.0 7.3 5.5 3.5 1.7 1.3 53.1 

Grapevine 1.3 1.8 3.1 4.4 5.6 6.8 7.6 6.8 5.9 3.4 1.9 1.0 49.5 

lnyokcm 2.0 3. 1 4 .9 7.3 8 .5 9 .7 I 1.0 9.4 7.1 5.1 2.6 1.7 72.4 

Isabella Dam 1.2 1.4 2.8 4.4 5.8 7.3 7.9 7.0 5.0 3.2 1.7 0 .9 48.4 

Lamoni 1.3 2.4 4.4 4.6 6.5 7.0 8.8 7.6 5.7 3.7 1.6 0.8 54.4 

Lost Hills 1.6 2.2 3.7 5. 1 6 .8 7.8 8.7 7.8 5.7 4.0 2.1 1.6 57. 1 

McFarland/Kem 1.2 2.1 3.7 5.6 7.3 8.0 8.3 7.4 5.6 4. 1 2.0 l.2 56.5 

Shafter 1.0 I. 7 3.4 5.0 6 .6 7.7 8.3 7.3 5.4 3.4 1.5 0.9 52.1 

Taft 1.3 1.8 3.1 ,J.3 6.2 7.3 8.5 7.3 5.4 3.4 1.7 1.0 5 1.2 

Tehachapi 1.4 1.8 ... ") 
.l.- 5.0 6.1 7.7 7.9 7.3 5.9 3.4 2.1 1.2 52.9 

KINGS 
Caru1hers 1.6 2.5 4.0 5.7 7.8 8.7 9.3 8.4 6.3 4.4 2.4 1.6 62.7 

Page 38.11 Reg111e1 WIS, No. .18; 9-18-'.IOIS 



§ 495 BARCLAYS CALIFORNI A CODE OF REGULATIONS T itle 23 

Appendix A - Reference Evapotranspiration <ETo Table* 
Annunl 

County and Cil'y Jan Feb Mar Aur Mav J un Jul AUi! Sen Ocl Nov Dec F.To 
KINGS 
Corcoran 1.6 2.2 3.7 5.1 6.8 7.8 8.7 7.8 5.7 4.0 2. 1 1.6 57.1 
Hanford 0.9 1.5 3.4 5.0 6.6 7.7 8 ~ . .) 7.2 5.4 3.4 1.4 0.7 51.5 
Kcttlcman I. I 2.0 4.0 6.0 7.5 8.5 9.1 8.2 6. 1 4.5 2.2 I. I 60.2 
Lemoore 0.9 1.5 3.4 5.0 6.6 7.7 8.3 7.3 5.4 3.4 1.4 0.7 51.7 
Stratford 0.9 1.9 3.9 6.1 7.8 8.6 8.8 7.7 5.9 4.1 2.1 1.0 58.7 
LAKE 
Lakeport I.I 1.3 2.6 3.5 5.1 6.0 7.3 6.1 4.7 2.9 1.2 0.9 42.8 
Lower Lake 1.2 1.4 2.7 4.5 5.3 6.3 7.4 6.4 5.0 3.1 1.3 0.9 45.4 
LASSEN 
Buniingville 1.0 1.7 3.5 4.9 6.2 7.3 8.4 7.5 5.4 3.4 1.5 0.9 51.8 
Rnvendale 0.6 I. I 2.3 4.1 5.6 6.7 7.9 7.3 4.7 2.8 1.2 0.5 44.9 
Susanville 0.7 1.0 2.2 4. 1 5.6 6.5 7.8 7.0 4.6 2.8 1.2 0.5 44.0 

LOS ANGELES 
Burhank 2.1 2.8 3.7 4.7 5.1 6.0 6.6 6.7 5.4 4.0 2.6 2.0 51.7 
Claremont 2.0 2.3 3.4 4.6 5.0 6.0 7.0 7.0 5.3 4.0 2.7 2.1 51.3 
El Dorado 1.7 2.2 3.6 4.& 5.1 5.7 5.9 5.9 4.4 3.2 2.2 1.7 46.3 
Glendale 2.0 2.2 3.3 3.8 4.7 4.8 5.7 5.6 4.3 3.3 2.2 1.8 43.7 
Glendora 2.0 2.5 36 4.9 5.4 6.1 7.3 6.8 5.7 4.2 2.6 2.0 53.1 
Gorman 1.6 2.2 3.4 4.6 5.5 7.4 7.7 7.1 5.9 3.6 2.4 I. I 52.4 
Hollywood Hills 2.1 2.2 3.8 5.4 6.0 6.5 6.7 6.4 5.2 3.7 2.8 2. 1 52.8 
Lancaster 2. 1 3.0 4.6 5.9 8.5 9.7 11.0 9.8 7.3 4.6 2.8 I. 7 71. I 
Long Beach 1.8 2.1 3.3 3.9 4.5 4.3 5.3 4.7 3.7 2.8 1.8 1.5 39.7 
Los Angeles 2.2 2.7 3.7 4.7 5.5 5.8 6.2 5.9 5.0 3.9 2.6 1.9 50.1 
Monrovia 2.2 2.3 3.8 4.3 5.5 5.9 6.9 6.'I 5. 1 3.2 2.5 2.0 50.2 
Palmdale 2.0 2.6 4.6 6.2 7.3 8.9 9.8 9.0 6.5 4.7 2.7 2.1 66.2 
Pasadena 2.1 2.7 3.7 4.7 5.1 6.0 7.1 6.7 5.6 4.2 2.6 2.0 52.3 
Pcarblossom 1.7 2.4 3.7 4.7 7.3 7.7 9.9 7.9 6.4 4.0 2.6 1.6 59.9 
Pomona 1.7 2.0 3.4 4.5 5.0 5.8 6.5 6.4 4.7 3.5 2.3 1.7 47.5 
Redondo Beach 2.2 2.4 3.3 3.8 4 . .S 4.7 5.4 4.8 4.4 2.8 2.4 2.0 42.6 
San Fernando 2.0 2.7 3.5 4.6 5 .5 5.9 7.3 6.7 5.3 3.9 2.6 2.0 S2.0 
Sama Clarita 2.8 2.8 4. 1 5.6 6.0 6.8 7.6 7.8 5.8 5.2 3.7 3.2 61.5 
Sama Monica 1.8 2. 1 3.3 ,1.5 4.7 5.0 5.4 5.4 3.9 3.4 2.4 2.2 44.2 
MADERA 
Chowchilla 1.0 1.4 3.2 4.7 6.6 7.8 8.5 7.3 S.3 3.4 1.4 0.7 51.'I 

Madera 0.9 1.4 3.2 4.8 6.6 7.8 8.5 7.3 5.3 3.4 1.4 0.7 51.5 
Raymond 1.2 1.5 3.0 4.6 6.1 7.6 8.4 7.3 5.2 3.4 1..1 0.7 50.5 
MARIN 
Dlack Point I. I I. 7 3.0 4.2 5.2 6.2 6.6 5.8 4.3 2.8 1.3 0.9 43.0 
Novato 1.3 1.5 2.4 J.5 4.4 6.0 5.9 5.4 4.4 2.8 1.4 0.7 39.8 
Point San Pedro I.I 1.7 3.0 4.2 5.2 6.2 6.6 5.8 4.3 2.8 1.3 0.9 43.0 

San Rafael 1.2 1.3 2.4 3.3 4.0 4.8 4.8 4.9 4.J 2.7 1.3 0.7 35.8 

MARJPOSA 
Coulterville I. I 1.5 2.8 4.4 5.9 7.3 8.1 7.0 5.3 3.4 1.4 0.7 48.8 
Mnriposa I .I 1.5 2.8 4.4 5.9 7..1 8.2 7.1 5.0 3.4 1.4 0.7 49.0 

Yosemite Village 0.7 1.0 2.3 3.7 5.1 6.5 7.1 6.1 4.4 2.9 I. I 0.6 41.4 

M ENDOC INO 
Fo1113r:igg 0.9 1.3 2.2 3.0 3.7 3.5 3.7 3.7 3.0 2.3 1.2 0.7 29.0 

Hopland I.I 1.3 2.6 3.4 5.0 5.9 6.5 5.7 4.5 2.8 1.3 0.7 40.9 

Page 38.12 lleg,<1cr 2015, No. 38; 9-18-WIS 



T itle 23 Department of Water Resources § 495 

Appendix A - Reference Evapotransvira tion (ETo Table* 
Annual 

Countv and Cily J:in Feb Mar ADr May J uu Jul Aul! Sep Oct Nov Dec ETo 
M ENDOCINO 
Point Arena l.0 1.3 2.3 3.0 3.7 3 .9 3.7 3.7 3.0 2.3 l.2 0.7 29.6 
Sanel Valley 1.0 1.6 3.0 4.6 6.0 7.0 8.0 7.0 5.2 3.4 1.-1 0.9 49.1 
Ukiah 1.0 1.3 2.6 3.3 5.0 5.8 6.7 5.9 4.5 2.8 1.3 0.7 40.9 

MF.RCED 
Kesterson 0.9 1.7 3.<I 5.5 7.3 8.2 8.6 7.4 S.5 3.8 1.8 0.9 55. I 
Los Banos 1.0 1.5 3.2 4.7 6.1 7.4 8.2 7.0 5.3 3.4 1.4 0.7 50.0 

Merced 1.0 1.5 3.2 4.7 6.6 7.9 8.5 7.2 5.3 3.4 1.--1 0.7 51.5 
MODOC 
Modoc/ A hums 0.9 1.4 2.8 3.7 5.1 6.2 7.5 6.6 4.6 2.8 1.2 0 .7 .tJ.2 
MONO 

Bridgeport 0.7 0.9 2.2 3.8 5.5 6.6 7.4 6.7 4.7 2.7 1.2 0.5 43.0 
M ONTEREY 

Arroyo Scco 1.5 2.0 3.7 5.4 6 .3 7.3 7.2 6 .7 5.0 3.9 2.0 1.6 52.6 

Castroville 1..1 1.7 3.0 4.2 4.6 4 .8 4.0 3.8 3.0 2.6 1.6 1.4 36.2 

Gon7..alcs I 3 I 7 3.4 4.7 5.4 6 .3 6.3 5.9 4.4 3.4 1.9 1.3 45.7 
Greenfield 1.8 2.2 34 4.8 5.6 6.3 6.5 6.2 4.8 3.7 2.--1 1.8 49.5 
King City 1.7 2.0 3.4 4.4 4.4 5.6 6.1 6.7 6.5 5.2 2.2 1.3 49.6 

King City-Oasis Rd. 1.4 1.9 3.6 5.3 6.5 7.3 7.4 6.8 5.1 4 .0 2.0 1.5 52.7 
Long Valley 1.5 1.9 3.2 4. 1 5.8 6.5 7.3 6.7 5.3 3.6 2.0 1.2 49. 1 
Monterey 1 7 I.& 2.7 3.5 4 .0 4 .1 4.3 4.2 3.5 2.8 1.9 1.5 36.0 

Pajaro 1.8 2.2 3.7 4.8 5.3 5.7 5.6 5.3 4.3 3.4 2.4 1.8 46.1 
Salinas 1.6 1.9 2.7 3.8 4.8 4.7 5.0 4 .5 4.0 2.9 1.9 1.3 39. 1 

Salinas North 1.2 1.5 2.9 4. 1 4 .6 5.2 4.5 4 .3 3.2 2.R 1.5 1.2 36.9 
San Ardo 1.0 1.7 3. 1 4.5 5.9 7.2 8. I 7. 1 5.1 3. 1 1.5 1.0 49.0 
San Juan 1.8 2. 1 3.4 4.6 5.3 5.7 5.5 4 .9 3.8 3.2 2.2 1.9 44.2 
Soledad 1.7 2.0 3.4 4.4 5.5 5.4 6.5 6.2 5.2 3.7 2.2 1.5 47.7 
NAPA 
Angwin 1.8 1.9 3.2 4.7 5.8 7.3 8.1 7. 1 5.5 4.5 2 .9 2.1 54.9 

Cameras 0.8 1.5 3.1 4.6 5.5 6.6 6.9 6.2 4.7 3.5 1.4 1.0 45.8 
Oakville 1.0 1.5 2.9 4.7 5.8 6.9 7.2 6.4 4.9 3.5 1.6 1.2 47.7 
St Helena 1.2 1.5 2.8 3.9 5.1 6.1 7.0 6.2 4.8 3. 1 1.4 0 .9 4,1.1 

Yountville 1.3 1.7 2.8 3.9 5.1 6.0 7.1 6. 1 4.8 3.1 1.5 0 .9 44.3 
NEVAOA 
Grass Val11:y I. I 1.5 2.6 4.0 5.7 7.1 7.9 7. 1 5.3 3.2 1.5 0.9 48.0 

Nevada City I. I 1.5 2.6 3.9 5.8 69 7.9 7.0 5.3 3.2 1.4 0.9 47.4 

ORANGE 
Irvine 2.2 2.5 3.7 4.7 5.2 5.9 6.3 6.2 4.6 3.7 2.6 2.3 49.6 

Laguna Beach 2.2 2.7 3.4 3.8 4.6 4.6 4.9 4.9 4.4 3.4 2.4 2.0 43.2 
Santa Ana 2.2 2.7 3.7 4.5 4.6 5.4 6.2 6. 1 4.7 3.7 2.5 2 .0 48.2 

PLACER 
Auburn 1.2 1.7 2.8 4.4 6.1 7.4 8.3 7.3 5.4 3.4 1.6 1.0 50.6 

Blue Canyon 0.7 1.1 2.1 3.4 4.8 6.0 7.2 6 .1 4 .6 2.9 09 0.6 40.5 

Colfax I . I 1.5 2.6 4.0 5.8 7.1 7.9 7.0 5.3 3.2 I 4 0.9 47 9 

Roseville I. I 1.7 3.1 4.7 6.2 7.7 8.5 7 .3 5.6 3.7 1.7 1.0 52.2 

Soda Springs 0,7 0.7 1.8 3.0 4.3 5.3 6.2 5.5 4.1 2.5 0.7 0.7 35.4 

Tahoe City 0.7 0.7 1.7 3.0 4.3 5.4 6.1 5.6 4. 1 2.4 0.8 0.6 35.5 

Truckee 0.7 0.7 1.7 .3.2 4.4 5.4 6A 5.7 4.l 2.'I 0.8 0.6 36.2 

Pngt! 38.13 llegu10r 201s, No. 38: 9- 18-2015 



§ 495 BARCLAYS CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS Title 23 

Appendix A - Reference Evapotranspiration (ETo Table* 
Annual 

County and Citv Jan Feb Mar Apr Mav .Jun Jul All!! Sep Oct NO\' Dec ETo 
PLUMAS 
Panola 0.7 0.9 1.9 3.5 4.9 5.9 7.3 5.9 -1.3 2.7 0.9 0.5 39.4 
Quincy 0.7 0.9 2.2 3.5 4.9 5.9 7.3 5.9 4.4 2.8 1.2 0.5 40.2 
RI VERSmE 
Beaumont 2.0 2.3 3.4 4.11 6.1 7.1 7.6 7.9 6.0 3.9 2.6 1.7 55.0 

Olythc 2.4 J ,3 5.3 6.9 8.7 9.6 9.6 8.7 6.9 5.0 J .0 2.2 71.4 

Cathedral Ci1y 1.6 2.2 3 .7 5.1 6 .8 7.8 8.7 7 8 5.7 4 .0 21 1.6 57.1 

Coadiella 2.9 4.4 6.2 8.4 10.5 11.9 12.3 10. 1 8.9 6.2 3.8 2.4 88. J 

Desen Center 2.9 4 . 1 6 .4 8.5 11.0 12.1 12.2 I I.I 9.0 6.4 3.9 2.6 90.0 

Elsinore 2.1 2 .8 3.9 4.4 5.9 7.1 7.6 7.0 5.8 3.9 2.6 1.9 55.0 

Indio 3. 1 3.6 6.S 8.3 10.5 11.0 10.8 9.7 8.3 5.9 3 .7 2.7 83.9 

La Quinla 2.4 2 .8 5.2 6.5 8.3 8.7 8.5 7.9 6.5 4.5 2.7 2.2 66.2 

Mecca 2.6 3.3 5.7 7.2 8.6 9.0 8.8 8.2 6.8 5.0 3.2 2.4 70.8 

Oasis 2.9 3.3 5.3 6. 1 8.5 8.9 8.7 7.9 6.9 4.8 2 .9 2.3 68.4 

Palm Desert 2.5 3.4 5.3 6.9 8.7 9.6 9.6 8.7 6.9 5.0 3.0 2.2 71.6 

Palm Springs 2 .0 2.9 4.9 7.2 8.3 8.5 11.6 8.3 7.2 5.9 2.7 1.7 71.1 

Rancho California 1.8 2.2 3.4 4.8 5.6 6.) 6.5 6.2 4.8 3.7 2.4 1.8 49.5 

Rancho Mirage 2.4 3.3 5.3 6.9 8.7 9.6 9.6 8.7 6.9 5.0 3.0 2.2 71.4 

Ripley 2.7 3.3 5.6 7.2 8.7 8.7 8.4 7.6 6.2 4 .6 2.8 2.2 67.8 

Salton Sea North 2.5 3.3 5.5 7 ,2 8.8 9.3 9.2 8.5 6.8 5.2 3. J 2.3 71.7 

Temecula East 11 2.3 2.4 4.1 4 .9 6.4 7.0 7.8 7.4 5.7 4 . 1 2.6 2.2 56.7 

Thennal 2 .4 3.3 5.5 7.6 9.1 9.6 9.3 8.6 7.1 5.2 J. I 2.1 72.8 

Riverside UC 2 .5 2.9 4.2 5.3 5.9 6.6 7.2 6.9 5A 4 . 1 2.9 2 .6 56.4 

Winchester ? , _ ,J 2.4 4.1 4.9 6.4 6;9 7.7 7.5 6.0 3.9 2.6 2.1 56.8 
SACRAMENTO 
Fair Oaks 1.0 1.6 3.4 4. 1 6.S 7.5 8.1 7. 1 5.2 3.4 1.5 1.0 50.5 

Sacramento 1.0 1.8 3.2 4.7 6.4 7.7 8.4 7.2 5.4 3.7 1.7 0.9 51.9 
Twitchell Island 1.2 1.8 3.9 5.3 7.4 8.8 9.1 7.8 5.9 3.8 1.7 1.2 57.9 

SAN BENITO 
Hollister 1.5 1.8 3.1 4.3 5.5 5.7 6.4 59 5.0 3.5 I 7 I.I 45. 1 

San Benito 1.2 1.6 3.J 4.6 5.6 6.4 6.9 6.5 4.8 3.7 1.7 1.2 47.2 

San Juan Valley 1.4 1.8 3.4 4.5 6.0 6.7 7. 1 6.4 5.0 3.5 1.8 1.4 49.1 

SAN BERNARDINO 
Baker 2 .7 3.9 6.1 8.3 10 .4 11.8 12.2 11.0 8.9 6.1 3.3 2. 1 86.6 

Barstow NE 2 .2 2.9 5.3 6.9 9.0 10. 1 9.9 89 6.8 4.8 2.7 2. 1 71.7 
1:3ig 1:3ear Lake 1.8 2.6 4.6 6.0 7.0 7.6 8.1 7.4 5.4 4. 1 2.4 1.8 58.6 

Chino 2. 1 29 3.9 4 .5 5.7 6.5 7.3 7. 1 5.9 4 .2 2.6 2.0 54.6 

Crestline 1.5 1.9 3.3 4.4 5.5 6.6 7.8 7.1 SA 3.5 2.2 1.6 50.8 

Lake Arrowhead 1.8 2.C, 4.6 6.0 7.0 7.6 8. 1 7.4 5.4 4. 1 2.4 1.8 58.6 

Lucerne Valley 2.2 2.9 5. 1 6.5 9. 1 11.0 11.4 9.9 7.4 5.0 3.0 1.8 75.3 

Needles 3.2 4 .2 6.6 8.9 11.0 12.4 12.8 I 1.0 8.9 6.6 4 .0 2.7 92. 1 

Newbc:rry Springs 2.1 2.9 5.3 8..1 9.8 10.9 I I.I 9.9 7.6 5.2 3. 1 2.0 78.2 

San Remardino 2.0 2.7 3.8 4.6 5.7 6.9 7.9 7-1 5.9 4.2 2.6 2.0 55.6 

T,1cntyninc Palms 2.6 3.6 5.9 7.9 10. 1 11.2 112 10.3 8.6 5.9 3.4 2.2 82.9 

Victorville 2.0 2.6 4.6 6.2 7.3 8.9 9.8 9.0 6.5 4,7 2 .7 2. 1 66.2 

SAN DIEGO 
Chuln Vista 2.2 2.7 3.4 3 8 4 .9 4.7 5.5 4 .9 4.5 3.4 2.4 2.0 44.2 

fucundido SPV 2.4 2.6 3.9 4 .7 5.9 6.5 7.1 6.7 5.3 3.9 2.8 2.3 54.2 

Miramar '), __ ., 2.5 3.7 4 .1 5. 1 5.4 6. 1 5.8 4.5 3.3 2.4 2.1 4 7.1 

Page 38.14 Rcp11cr 2015. No. 38; 9-18-2015 



T itlc23 Dcpartm~nt of Water Resources § 495 

Appendix A - Reference Evapotranspiration (ETo Table* 
Annual 

County and City .J:in Feb Mar Aor May .Jun Jul Aug Seo Oct Nov Dec ETo 
SAN DIEGO 
Oceanside 2.2 2.7 3.4 3.7 4.9 4.6 4.6 5.1 4.1 3.3 2.4 2.0 42.9 
Oray Lake 2.3 2.7 3.9 46 5.6 5.9 6.2 6.1 4.8 3.7 2.6 22 50.4 
Pine V.1lley 1.5 2.4 J.8 5.1 6.0 7.0 7.8 7.3 6.0 4.0 2.2 1.7 54.8 
Ramona 2.1 2.1 J.4 4.6 5.2 6.3 6.7 6.8 5.3 4.1 2.8 2.1 51.6 
Sao Diego 2.1 2.4 3.4 4.6 5.1 5.3 5.7 5.6 4.3 3.6 2.4 2.0 46.5 
Santee 2.1 2.7 J.7 4.5 5.5 6.1 6.6 6.2 5.4 3.8 2.6 2.0 51.1 
TorTey Pines 2.2 2.3 3.4 3.9 4.0 4.1 4.6 4.7 3.8 2.8 2.0 2.0 39.8 
Warner Springs 1.6 2.7 3.7 4.7 5.7 7.6 8.3 7.7 6.3 4.0 2.5 1.3 56.0 

SAN FRANCISCO 
San Francisco 1.5 1.3 2.4 3.0 3.7 4.6 4.9 4.8 4.1 2.8 1.3 0.7 35.1 

SAN JOAQUIN 
Fannington 1.5 1.5 2.9 4.7 6.2 7.6 8. 1 6.8 5.3 3.3 1.4 0.7 50.0 
Lodi West 1.0 1.6 3.3 4.3 6.3 6.9 7.3 6.4 4.5 3.0 1.4 0.8 46.7 

Manteca 0.9 1.7 3.4 5.0 6.5 7.5 8.0 7.1 5.2 3.3 1.6 0.9 51.2 

Stockton 0.8 1.5 2.9 4.7 6.2 7.4 8.1 6.8 5.3 3.2 1.4 0.6 49.1 
Tracy 1.0 1.5 2.9 4.5 6.1 7.3 7.9 6.7 5.3 3.2 1.3 0.7 48.5 

SAN LUlS OBISPO 
Arroyo Grande 2.0 2.2 3.2 3.8 4.3 4.7 4.3 4.6 3.8 3.2 2.4 1.7 40.0 
Atascadero 1.2 1.5 2.8 3.9 4.5 6.0 6.7 6.2 5.0 3.2 1.7 1.0 43.7 

MorTo Bay 2.0 2.2 3.1 3.5 ,1.3 4.5 4.6 4.6 3.8 3.S 2.1 1.7 39.9 
Nipomo 2.2 2.5 J.8 5.1 5.7 6.2 6.4 6.1 4.9 4. 1 2.9 2.3 52.l 
Paso Robles 1.6 2.0 3.2 4.3 5.5 6.3 7.3 6.7 5.1 3.7 2.1 1.4 49.0 
Sao Luis Obispo 2.0 2.2 3.2 4.1 4.9 5.3 4.6 5.5 4.4 3.5 2.4 1.7 43.8 
San Miguel 1.6 2.0 3.2 4.3 5.0 6.4 7.4 6.8 5.1 3.7 2.1 1.4 49.0 
San Simeon 2.0 2.0 2.9 3.5 4.2 4.4 4.6 4.3 3.5 3.1 2.0 1.7 38.1 
SAN MATEO 
Hal Moon 13ay 1.5 1.7 2.4 3.0 3.9 4.3 4.3 4.2 3.5 2.8 1.3 1.0 33.7 
Redwood City 1.5 1.8 2.9 3.8 5.2 5.3 6.2 5.6 4.8 3.1 1.7 1.0 42.8 
Woodside 1.8 2.2 3.4 4.8 5.6 6.J 6.5 6.2 4.8 J.7 2.4 1.8 49.5 
SANTA BARBARA 
13ett.eravia 2.1 2.6 4.0 5.2 6.0 5.9 5.8 5.4 4.1 3.3 2.7 2.1 49.1 
Carpcntcria 2.0 2.4 3.2 3.9 4.8 5.2 5.5 5.7 4.5 3.4 2.4 2.0 44.9 
Cuyama 2.1 2.4 3.8 5...1 6.9 7.9 8.5 7.7 5.9 4.5 2.6 2.0 59.7 
Goleta 2.1 2.5 3.9 5. 1 5.7 5.7 5.4 5.4 4.2 3.2 2.8 2.2 48.1 
Goleta Foolhills 2.3 2.6 3.7 5.4 5.3 5.6 5.5 5.7 4.5 3.9 2.8 2.3 49.6 

Guadalupe 2.0 2.2 3.2 3.7 4.9 4.6 4.5 4.6 4.1 3.3 2.4 1.7 41.1 

Lompoc 2.0 2.2 3.2 3.7 4.8 4.6 4.9 4.8 3.9 3.2 2.4 1.7 41.1 
Los Alamos 1.8 2.0 3.2 4.1 4.9 5.3 5.7 5.5 4.4 3.7 2/1 1.6 44.6 

Santa Barbara 2.0 2.5 3.2 3.8 4.6 5.1 5.5 4.5 3.4 2.4 1.8 1.8 40.6 

Santa Maria 1.8 2.3 3.7 5. 1 5.7 5.8 5.6 5.3 4.2 3.5 2.4 1.9 47.4 

Santa Ynez 1.7 2.2 3.5 5.0 5.8 6.2 6.4 6.0 4.5 3.6 2.2 1.7 48.7 

Sisquoc 2.1 2.5 3.8 4.1 6.1 6.3 6.4 5.8 4.7 3.4 2.3 1.8 49.2 

Solvang 2.0 2.0 3.3 4.3 5.0 5.6 6.1 5.6 4.4 3.7 2.2 1.6 45.6 

SANTA CLARA 
Gilroy I.J 1.8 3.1 4.1 5.3 5.6 6.1 5.5 4.7 3.4 1.7 I.I 43.6 

Los Gatos 1.5 1.8 2.8 3.9 s.o 5.6 6.2 5.5 4.7 3.2 1.7 I. I 42.9 

Morgan Hill 1.5 1.8 3.4 4.2 6.3 7.0 7.1 6.0 5.1 3.7 1.9 1.4 49.5 

Palo Alto 1.5 1.8 2.8 3.8 5.2 5.3 6.2 5.6 5.0 3.2 1.7 1.0 43.0 

Page 38. 14(a) Rcgi.ncr 2015. No 38; Y-18-2015 



§ 495 BARCLAYS CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS Title 23 

Aonendix A - Reference Evapotranspiration (~To Table* 
Annuol 

County and City Jan Feb Mar Aor M:iv Jun Jul Alli! Sep Oct Nov Dec F.To 
SANTA CLARA 
San Jose 1.5 1.8 3.1 4 .1 S.5 5.8 6.5 S.9 5.2 3.3 1.8 1.0 45.3 
SANTA CRUZ 
De 1.avt:aga 1.4 1.9 3.3 4.7 4.9 5.J s.o 4.8 3.6 3.0 1.6 1.3 40.8 
Green Valley Rd 1.2 1.8 3.2 4 .5 4 .6 5.4 5.2 5.0 3.7 3. 1 1.6 1.3 40.6 

Sama Cruz 1.5 1.8 2.6 J.5 4.3 4.4 4.8 4.4 3.8 2.8 1.7 1.2 36.6 
W:itsonville 1.5 1.8 2.7 3.7 4.6 4.5 4.9 4.2 4.0 2.9 1.8 1.2 37.7 

Webb 1.8 2.2 3.7 4.8 5.3 5.7 5.6 5.3 4.3 3.4 2.4 1.8 46.2 

SHASTA 
Burney 0.7 1.0 2. 1 3.5 4.9 S.9 7.4 6.4 4.4 2.9 0.9 0.6 40.9 
Fall River Mills 0.6 1.0 2.1 3.7 5.0 6. 1 7.8 6.7 4.6 2.8 0.9 o.s 41.8 

Glenburn 0.6 1.0 2.1 3.7 5.0 6.3 7.8 6.7 4.7 2.8 0 .9 0.6 42.1 

M\:Anhur 0.7 1.4 2.9 4.2 5.6 6.9 R.2 7.2 s.o 3.0 I.I 0.6 46.8 

Redding 1.2 1.4 2.6 4. 1 5.6 7. 1 8.5 7.3 S.3 3.2 1.4 0.9 48.8 
SIERRA 
l)ownieville 0.7 1.0 2.3 3.5 5.0 6.0 7.4 6.2 4.7 2.8 0 .9 0.6 41.3 

Sierraville 0 .7 I.I 2.2 3.2 4.5 S.9 7.3 6.4 4.3 2.6 0 .9 o.s 39.6 

SISKIYOU 
1-lappy Camp 0.5 0 .9 2.0 3.0 4.3 5.2 6 .1 5.3 4. 1 2.4 0 .9 0.5 35.1 

MacDocl 1.0 1.7 3.1 4.5 5.9 7.2 8. 1 7.1 S. I 3.1 I.S 1.0 49.0 

Mt Shasta 0.5 0.9 2.0 3.0 4.S 5.3 6.7 5.7 4.0 2.2 0 .7 0.5 36.0 

Tulc lake FS 0.7 1.3 2.7 4.0 5.4 63 7.1 6.4 4.7 2.8 1.0 0.6 42.9 

Weed 0.5 0.9 2.0 2.5 4.5 5.3 6.7 5.5 3.7 2.0 0.9 0.5 34.9 

Yreka 0;6 0.9 2. 1 3.0 4.9 5.8 7.3 6.5 4.3 2.5 0.9 0.5 39.2 
SOLANO 
Benicia 1.3 l.4 2.7 3.8 4 .9 5.0 6.4 5.5 4 .4 2.9 1.2 0.7 40.3 

Dixon 0.7 1.4 3.2 5.2 6.3 7.6 8.2 7.2 5.5 4.3 1.6 I. I 52.1 
Fairfield I. I 1.7 2.8 4.0 5.5 6.1 7.8 6.0 4.8 3.1 1.4 0.9 45.2 
I lastings Tract 1.6 2.2 3.7 5.1 6.8 7.8 8.7 7.8 5.7 4.0 2 .1 1.6 57.1 
Putah Creek 1.0 1.6 3.2 4 .9 6.1 7.3 7.9 7.0 5.3 3.8 1.8 1.2 51.0 

Rio Vista 0 .9 1.7 2.8 4.4 5.9 6.7 7.9 6.5 5. 1 3.2 1.3 0.7 47.0 

Suisun Valley 0.6 1.3 3.0 4.7 5.8 7.0 7.7 6.8 5.3 3.8 1.4 0.9 48.3 
Winters 0 .9 1.7 3.3 5.0 6.4 7.5 7.9 7.0 5.2 3.5 1.6 1.0 51.0 

SONOMA 
13cnnen Valley I.I 1.7 3.2 4. 1 5.5 6.5 6.6 5.7 ,1.s 3.1 1.5 0.9 44.4 

Cloverdale 1.1 1.4 2 .6 3.4 5.0 5.9 6.2 5.6 4.5 2.8 1.4 0.7 40.7 

Fort Ross 1.2 IA 2.2 3.0 3.7 4.5 4 .2 4.3 3.4 2 .4 1.2 0.5 31.9 

Hcaldshurg 1.2 1.5 2.4 3.5 5.0 5.9 6. 1 5.6 4 .5 2.8 1.4 0.7 40.8 

Lmcoln 1.2 1.7 2.8 4.7 6.1 7.'I 8.4 7.3 5.4 3.7 1.9 1.2 51.9 

Petaluma 1.:! 1.5 2.8 3.7 4.6 5.6 4.6 5.7 4.5 2.9 1.4 0.9 39.6 

Santa Rosa 1.2 1.7 2.8 3.7 5.0 6.0 6. 1 5.9 4.5 2.9 1.5 0.7 42.0 

Valley of the Moon 1.0 1.6 3.0 4.5 5.6 6.6 7.1 6.3 4.7 3.3 1.5 l.O 46.1 

Windsor 0.9 1.6 3.0 4.5 5.5 6 .5 6.5 5.9 4.'I 3.2 1.4 1.0 44 2 

STANISLAUS 
Denair 1.0 1.9 3.6 4.7 7.0 7.9 8.0 6. 1 5.3 3.4 1.5 1.0 5 1.4 

l.:i Grange 1.2 1.5 3.1 4.7 6.2 7.7 8.5 7.3 5.3 3.4 1.4 0.7 51.2 

Modesto 0.9 1.4 3.2 4.7 6 .4 7.7 8.1 6.8 5.0 JA 1.4 0 .7 49 7 

Nc\\man 1.0 1.5 3.2 4.6 6 .2 7.4 8.1 6.7 5.0 3.4 1.4 0.7 49.3 

Oakdale 1.2 1.5 3.2 4.7 6.2 7.7 8. 1 7. 1 5.1 3.4 1.4 0.7 50.3 

Page 38.14(b) lltp$1cr 2015, No. 311; 9 - 18-'li/l5 



Title 23 Ocp:irtmcnt of Water Resources § 495 

Anncndix A - Reference Evapotranspiration (ETo Table* 
Annual 

Counlv und Citv Jan Feb Ma r Ar,r Mav Jun Jul AUi! Seo Oct Nov Dec ETo 
STANISLAUS 
Pancrson 1.3 2. 1 4.2 5.4 7.9 8.6 8.2 6.6 5.8 4.0 1.9 1.3 57.J 
Turlock 0.9 1.5 ',, .>.- 4.7 6.5 7.7 8.2 7.0 5. 1 3.4 1.4 0.7 50.2 
SUlTl-:R 

Nicolaus 0.9 1.6 3.2 4.9 6.3 7.5 8.0 6.9 5.2 3.4 1.5 0.9 50.2 
Yuba City 1.3 2.1 2.8 4.4 5.1 7.2 7.1 6. 1 4 .7 3.2 1.2 0.9 46.7 

TEHAMA 
Coming 1.2 1.8 2 .9 4.5 6. 1 7.3 8.1 7.2 5.3 3.7 1.7 I. I 50.7 
Gerber 1.0 l.8 3.5 5.0 6.6 7.9 8.7 7.4 5.8 4. 1 1.8 I.I 54.7 
Gerber Dryland 0.9 1.6 3.2 4 .7 6.7 8.4 9.0 7.9 6.0 4.2 2.0 1.0 55.5 
Red Bluff 1.2 1.8 2 .9 4.1I 5.9 7.4 8.5 7.3 5.4 3.5 1.7 1.0 51.1 

TRJNITY 
I lay Fork 0.5 I.I 2.3 3.5 4.9 5.9 7.0 6.0 4.5 2.8 0.9 0.7 40.1 

Weaverville 0.6 I.I 2.2 3.3 4.9 5.9 7.3 6.0 4.4 2-7 0.9 0.7 40.0 

TULARE 
Alpaugh 0.9 1.7 3.4 4.8 6.6 7.7 8.2 7.3 5.4 3.4 1.4 0.7 51.6 

Badger 1.0 1.3 2.7 4. 1 6.0 7.3 7.7 7.0 4.8 3.3 1.4 0.7 47.3 

Delano I . I 1.9 4.0 4.9 7.2 7.9 8.1 7.3 5.4 3.2 1.5 1.2 53.6 

Dinuba I. I 1.5 3.2 4.7 6.2 7.7 8.5 7.3 5.3 3.4 1.4 0.7 51.2 

Lindcove 0.9 1.6 3.0 4.8 6.5 7.6 II.I 7.2 5.2 3.4 1.6 0.9 50.6 

Poncrville 1.2 1.8 3.4 4.7 6.6 7.7 8.5 7.3 5.3 3.4 1.4 0.7 52.1 
Visalia 0.9 1.7 3.3 5. 1 6.8 7.7 7.9 6.9 4.9 3.2 1.5 0.8 50.7 

TUOLUMNE 
Groveland I. I 1.5 2.8 4.1 5.7 7.2 7.9 6.6 5.1 3.3 1.4 0.7 47.5 

Sonora I. I 1.5 2.8 4.1 5.8 7.2 7.9 6.7 5.1 3.2 1.4 0.7 47.6 

V~:NTURA 
Camarillo 2.2 2.5 3.7 4.3 5.0 5.2 5.9 5.4 4.2 3.0 2.5 2. 1 46.1 

Oxnard 2.2 2.5 3.2 3.7 4.4 4.6 5.4 4.8 4.0 3.3 2.4 2.0 42.3 

Piru 2.8 2.8 4.1 5.6 6.0 6.8 7.6 7.8 5.8 5.2 3.7 3.2 61.5 
Port Hueneme 2.0 2.3 3.3 4.6 4.9 4.9 4 .9 5.0 3.7 3.2 2.5 2.2 43.5 

111ousand Oaks 2.2 2.6 3.4 4.5 5.4 5.9 6.7 6.4 5.4 3.9 2.6 2.0 51.0 

Ventura 2.2 2.6 3.2 3.8 4.6 4.7 5.5 4.9 4.1 3.4 2.5 2.0 43.5 

YOLO 
Bryte 0.9 1.7 3.3 5.0 6.4 7.5 7.9 7.0 5.2 3.5 1.6 1.0 51.0 

Davis 1.0 1.9 3.3 5.0 6.4 7.6 8.2 7.1 5.4 4.0 1.8 1.0 52.5 
Esparto 1.0 1.7 3.4 5.5 6.9 8.1 8.5 7.5 5.8 4.2 2.0 1.2 55.8 

Winters 1.7 1.7 2.9 44 5.8 7.1 7.9 6.7 5.3 3.3 1.6 1.0 49.4 

Woodlantl 1.0 1.8 3.2 4.7 6.1 7.7 8.2 7.2 5.4 3.7 1.7 1.0 51.6 

Zamora I. I 1.9 3.5 5.2 6.4 7.4 7.8 7.0 5.5 4.0 1.9 1.2 52.8 

YUBA 
Browns Valley 1.0 1.7 3.1 4.7 6. 1 7.5 8.5 7.6 5.7 4. 1 2.0 I.I 52.9 

Brownsville 1.1 1.4 2.6 4.0 5.7 6.8 7.9 6.8 5.3 3.4 1.5 0.9 47.4 

• The values 111 th,s table were derived from: 
1) California Irrigation Management Information System (CIMIS); 
2) Reference EvapoTranspiratiun Zones Map, UC l.)cp1. of Land, Air & Water Resources and California IJepl of Water 

Resources 1999; anti 
3) Reference Evapotranspiration for California, Univcrsiry of California. Department of Agriculture and Na1ural Resources 

( I 987) nulletin 1922; 
4) Determining Daily Reference Evnpotranspirntion, Cooperative Extension UC Division of Agriculture and Natural Resources 

( 1987), Publication Lcanc1 21426 

HISTORY 
I. New Appendix A !ilcd 9-10-2009; opcrntivc 9- 10-2009 pursu:uu to Govcm

mcnl Code S(.'Clion 11343.4 (Rcgis1er 2009, No. 3 7). 

2. Rq,ealer a.nd new Appendix A filed 9-15- 201 S; opemive 9- 15- 2015. Excmpl 
from OAL review and submitted 10 OAL for printing only pursunnt 10 Gover
nor's Executive Order No. B-29- 15 (4-1- 201 S) (Rcgislcr 201S, No. 38). 

Page 38.14(c) !leg.t.1er 201s. No. 38; 9-1s-201s 



§ -195 BA RCLAYS CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS 

App<•ndix B - Sample Water Efficient Landscape Worksheet. 

WATER EFFICIENT LANDSCAPE WORKSHEET 
This worksheet is filled out by the project applicant and it IS a requ11ed element or the Landscape DocumcntatJon Package. 

Reference Evapotranspiration (ETo) _____ _ 

~lydrozone # 
/Planting 

Description" 

Plant 
Factor (PF) 

Irrigation 
Mothodb 

Irrigation 
Efficiency 

(IE)" 

ETAF 
(PFnE) 

Landscape ETAF l\ Area 
Aro3 (sq, ft,) 

Estimated Tot.al 
Water Use 
(ETWU)0 

Regular Landscape Areas 

Special Landscape Areas 

•Hydrozone #/Planting Descrip tion 
Eg 
I.) front lawn 
2) low water uso plent,ngs 
3 ) medium water use planting 

0 /rrlgation Method 
ove,/Jead spray 
or drip 

•MAWA (Annual Gallons Allow ed) = (EID) ( 0.62) { {ETAF x LA) 
• ((1 -ETAF) x St.A)) 

where 0.62 is a conversion factor that convects acm
mches per acre per year to gallons per square foot per 
year. LA is the total landscape area m square feet. SLA 
1s the total special landscape area in square feet. 
and ETAF 1s .55 for residential areas and 0.45 for non
residential areas 

ETAF Calculations 

Regular Landscape Areas 

Total ETAF x Area 

Total Area 

Average ETAF 

All Landscape Areas 

Total ETAF X Area 

Total Area 

Sitewide ET AF 

(B) 

(A) 

B + A 

(B+D) 

(AtC) 

(B+D) + (A+C) 

Totals (A) (8) 

Tolals (C) (D) 

ETWU Total 

Maximum Allowed Water Allowance (MAWA) 

' Irrigation Efficiency 
0. 75 for spray head 
0.81 tor drip 

0ETWU (Annual Gallons Required) = 
Eto x 0.62 x ET/IF x /\roil 

where 0.62 Is a conversion 
factor lhat converts acre
Inches per acre per year to 
gallons per square foot per 
year. 

Average ET AF for Regular Landscape Areas must 
be 0.55 or below for residential areas, and 0.45 or 
below for non-residential areas. 

Title 23 

H ISTORY 
I. New Appendix B filed 9-10-2009; operali\'c 9- 10-2009 pursuant 10 Govnn

ment Code ~ction I I 343.4 (Register 2009, No. 37). 

2. Repealernod new Appendix 8 liled 9-15- 2015: operntive 9-15- 201 S. Exempt 
from OAL review and submiued 10 OAL for printing only pursu3nt 10 Gover
nor's Executive Order No. B-29--15 (4-1- 201 S)(Register 2015, No. 38). 

Page 38.l4(d) Rcgulcr 2015, No. 38; 9-18- 2015 



Title 23 Ocpar1mcnt of \ Vatcr Resources 

Apprndix C - Sample Crr1ificatc of Completfon. 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION 
This cer11fica1e fs filled oul by lhe project appllcan1 upon completion of the landscape pro1ec1. 

PART 1. PROJECT INFORMATION SHEET 
Date 

Project Name 

Name or Project Applicant Telephone No. 

Fax No 

T ille Email Address 

Company Street Address 

C11y Stale I Zip Code 

Project Address a nd Location: 
Street Address Parcel, tract or lot number. if available. 

City Lahtude/Long,tude (optional) 

Slate I Z,p Code 

Property Owner or his/her designee: 
Name Telephone No. 

Fax No 

Title Email Address 

Company S11ee1 Address 

C,ty State I Zip Codo 

Property Owne r 
"I/we certify that I/we have received copies of all the documents within the Landscape Documentation Package 
and the Certificate of Completion and that it is our respons1b1lity to see that the proiect is maintained in 
accordance with the Landscape and Irrigation Maintenance Schedule." 

Property Owner Signature Date 

Please answer the questions below: 
1. Date the Landscape Documentation Package was submitted to the local agency _____ _ 
2. Date the Landscape Documentation Package was approved by the local agency ___ --,-__ 
3. Date that a copy of the Water Efficient Landscape Worksheet (including the Water Budget Calculation) was 

submitted to the local water purveyor _____ _ 

§ 495 

Page 38.l4(e) Reguter 201S, No. )8; 9- 18- 2015 



§ 495 BARCLAYS CALIFORNIA CODE Of REGULATIONS 

PART 2 . CERTIFICATION OF INSTALLATION ACCORDING TO THE LANDSCAPE 
DOCUMENTATION PACKAGE 
·1/we certify that based upon periodic site observations. the work has been completed ,n accordance with the 
ordinance and that the landscape planting and irrigation installation conform with the criteria and specifications of 
the approved Landscape Documentation Package." 

Signature' Date 

Name (print) Telephone No. 

Fax No. 

Title Ema,I Address 

License No or Certification No. 

Company S11ec1 Address 

City Stale I Zip Code 

"Signer of the landscape design plan, signer of the irrigation plan. or a licensed landscape contractor. 

PART 3 . IRRIGATION SCHEDULING 
Attach parameters for setting the irrigation schedule on controller per ordinance Section 492 10 

PART 4. SCHEDULE OF LANDSCAPE AND IRRIGATION MAINTENANCE 
Attach schedule of Landscape and Irrigation Maintenance per ordinance Section 492.11 . 

PART 5. LANDSCAPE IRRIGATION AUDIT REPORT 
Attach Landscape Irrigation Audit Report per ordinance Section 492.12. 

PART 6. SOIL MANAGEMENT REPORT 
Attach soil analysis report, if not previously submitted with the Landscape Documentation Package per ordinance 
Section 492.6. 
Attach documentation verifying implementation of recommendations from s011 analysis report per ordinance 
Section 492.6. 

Title 23 

H ISTORY 
I. New Appendix C filed 9- 10-2009; operative 9--10-2009 pursuant to Govern

ment Code section 11343.4 (Register 2009, No. 37). 

2. Rcpcalernnd new Appendix C filed 9--1 S--2015; operntivc 9--15--2015. Exempt 
from OAL review and submitted 10 OAL for printing only pursuant 10 Gover• 
nor's Executive Order No. B-29--15 (4-1-2015) (Register 2015. No. 38). 

Page 38.14(f) Register 2015, No. 38; 9-18-2015 



Title 23 Departrm~nt of\V:ttcr Resourcl>s § 497.2 

Appendix D - Prcscriptivr Compliance Option. 

(a) This appendix contains prescriptive requirements which may be (6) For non-,esiden1ial projects with landscape areas of 1,000 sq. n. 
used as a compliance option 10 the Model Water Efficient Landscape Or- or more, a private submeter(s) 10 measure landscape water use shall be 
dinancc. installed. 

(b) Compliance with the following items is mandatory and must be 
documented on a landscape plan in order to use the prescriptive com
pliance option: 

( I) Submit a Landscape Documentation Package which includes the 
following elements: 

(A) date 
(8) project applicant 
(C) project address (if available. parcel and/or l01 number(s)) 
(D) total landscape area (square feet), including a breakdown of turf 

and plant material 
(E) project type (e.g., new, rehabilitated, public, private, cemetery, 

homeowner-installed) 
(F) water supply rype (e.g., potable, recycled, well) and identify the lo

cal retail water purveyor if the applicant is not served by a private well 
(G) contact information for the project applicant and property owner 
(M) applicant signature and date with s1a1emen1, .. I ab>rce to comply 

with the requirements oflhe prescriptivecomplianceoplion to the MWE
LO ... 

(2) Incorporate compost at a rate ofat least four cubic yards per 1,000 
square feet to a depth ofsi,i: inches into landscape area (unless contra- in
dicated by a soil test); 

(3) Plant material shall comply with all of the following; 
(A) For residential areas, install climate adapted plants that require oc

casional, little or no summer water (average WUCOLS plant factor 0.3) 
for 75% of the plant area e,i:cluding edibles and areas using recycled wa
ter; For non- residential areas, install c limate adapted plants that require 
occasional, little or no summer water (average WUCOLS plant factor 
0.3) for I 00% of the plant area excluding edibles and areas using recycled 
wnter; 

(B) A minimum three inch (3") layer of mulch shall be applied on all 
c,i:posed soil surfaces of planting areas except in turf areas, creeping or 
rooting groundcovers, or direct seeding applications where mulch is con
traindicated. 

(4) Turf shall comply with all of the following: 
(A) Turf shall not exceed 25% of the landscape area in residential 

areas, and there shall be no turf in non- residential areas; 
(B) Turf shall not be planted on sloped areas which exceed a slope of 

I foot vertical elevation change for every 4 feet of horizon la I length; 
(C) Turfis prohibited in parkways less than 10 feet wide, unless the 

parkway is adjacent to a parking strip and used to enter and e,i:il vehicles. 
Any turf in parkways must be irrigated by sub-surface irrigation or by 
other technology that creates no ovcrspray or runofT. 

(5) Irrigation systems shall comply with the following: 
(A) Automatic irrigation controllers are required and must use evapo

transpiration or soil moisture sensor data and utilize a rain sensor. 
(8) Irrigation controllers shall be o f a type which does not lose pro

gramming data in the event the primary power source is interrupted. 
(C) Pressure regulators shall be installed on the irrigation system 10 en

sure the dynamic pressure of the system is within the manufacturers rec
ommended pressure range. 

(D) Manual shut-<>ffvalves (such as a gate valve, ball valve, orbutler-
0y valve) shall be installed as close as possible 10 the point of connection 
of the water supply. 

(E) All irrigation emission devices must meet the requirements sci in 
the ANSI standard, ASABE/ICC 802-2014. "Landscape Irrigation 
Sprinkler and Emitter Standard." All ~-prinklerheads installed in the land
scape must document a distribution unifonnity low quarter of 0.65 or 
higher using lhe protocol defined in ASABE/ICC 802-2014. 

(F) Areas less than ten {10) feet in width in any direction shall be irri
gated with subsurface irrigation or other means that produces no runoff 
or overspray. 

(c) Al the time of final inspection, the pennil applicant must provide 
the owner of the property with o ccrtificn1e of completion, certificate of 
installation, irrigation schedule and u schedule of landscape and irriga
tion maintenance. 

H ISTORY 
I. New Appendix D filed 9- 15- 2015: opemrive 9- 15-2015. Exempt from OAL 

review and submitted 10 OAL for printing only pursuant to Govcmor•s Execu
tive Order No. 13-29-15 (4-1- 2015) (Register 2015. No. 38). 

Chapter 2. 7 .1. Flood Protection Corridor 
Program of the Costa-Machado Water Act of 

2000 

§497.1. Scope. 
(a) These regulations implement Sections 79035 through 79044, and 

79044.9 in Article 2.5 of Chapter 5 of Division 26 of the Waler Code, 
which Division is the Costa- Machado Water Act of2000. They establish 
a process for funding acquisition of property rights and related activities 
for 0ood protection corridor projects undertaken by the Department of 
Water Resources directly or through grants to local public agencies or 
nonprofit organizations. 

(b) The Flood Protection Corridor Program is statewide in scope. 
Within the geographic scope of the CALFED Bay-Delta Progrom, funds 
in the subaccount for this program shall be used for project~ that, to the 
greatest e,i:tenl possible, are consistent with the CAL FED long- lenn plun 
identified in the Programmatic Record of Decision of August 28, 2000. 
Nore Authority cited: Sections 8300. 12580 and 790-!4.9. Water Code; 2000 Cal. 
Slllt. Ch. 52, Item No. 3860- 101- 6005; 2001 Cal. Stat. Ch. 106, Item No, 
3860- 001 - 0001 , Provision 3: and 2002 Cal. Stat. Ch. 379. Item No. 
3860-101--0005. Reference: Scc:rions 79037. 79043, 79044 and 79044.9. Wa1cr 
Code 

H ISTORY 
I . Newchaprer2.7. I {sec1ions497. l -497.l2) andsection filed 8-19-2003; opera• 

rive 8-19- 2003 pur..-unnt to Govcmmcn1 Code section 113-13.4 (Register 2003, 
No. 34). 

§ 497.2. Definitions. 
The words used in this chapter have meanings set forth as follows: 
(n) ·'A List" means the preferred priority list of projects described in 

Section 497.6. 
(b) "Applicant .. means an entity that is acting as the principal party 

making an application for funding under the provision!< of the Costa- Ma
chado Water Act of 2000. 

(c) "B List" means the reserve priority lis t of projecis described in Sec
tion 497.6. 

(d) "CEQA·· means the California Environmental Quality Act, Public 
Resources Code Sections 21000 et seq. 

(e) .. Department" means the California Department of Water Re
sources. 

(I) .. Director'' means the Director of the Department of Water Re
sources. 

(g) .. FEMA" means the Federal Emergency Management Agency. 
(h) "Fully funded" with respect lo a grant project means funded 10 the 

full amount of the requested funds or to the funding limit, whichever is 
less. 

(i) "Grant application form'' means the Department's form entitled 
"Flood Protection Corridor Program Project Evaluation Criteria and 
Competitive Grant Application Form .. dated April 9, 2003 and incorpo
rated herein by this reference. 

(j) .. Local public agency" means nny political subdivision of the Suite 
of California, including but not limited 10 any county, city. city and 
county, district. joint powers agency, or council of governments. 

Page 38.14(g) Rcgl.so:r 201-S, No 38; Y- 18- lOIS 



§ 497.3 BARCLAYS CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS Tille 23 

(k) ''Milestone" means a time when a significant portion of a project 
is completed, as defined in the: contract as II time for disbursement of 
grant funds. 

(/) "Nonprofit organization'' means an organization that does not oper
ate for profit and has no official governmental status, including but not 
limited to clubs, societies, neighborhood organiwtions, advisory coun
cils. conservation organizations and privately nm local community con
servation corps. 

(m) "Program" means the Flood Protection Corridor Program estab
lished by Water Code Division 26, Chapter 5. Article 2.5. 

(n} "Property interest" means any right in real property, including 
easement, fee title, and any other kind of right acquired by legally binding 
means. 

(o) ·'Project" means all planning, engineering, acquisition of real prop
erty interests, construction and related activities undertaken to imple
ment a discrete action undertaken under the program pursuant to Water 
Code Section 79037. 

(p) "Sponsor" means an applicant who has received grant funding 
through the 11pplic11tion process described in these regulations. 

(q} "Subaccount" means the Flood Protec1ion Corridor Subaccount 
created by Water Code Section 79035(a). 
NOTE: Authority cited: Sections 8300, 12580 and 79044.9. Water Code. Refer
ence: Sections 79035, 70937, 79038(11) and 79043, Waia Code; and Sections 
'.!1000 er seq .• Public Resources Code. 

HISTORY 
I. New section filed 8- 19-2003; operative 8-19- 2003 pursuant to Government 

Code section 11343.4 (Register 2003, No. 34). 

§ 497.3. Program Management Process. 
The Depanmcnt selects, approves, funds, and monitors projects 

funded by grants under the program. The process of managing the pro
gram includes these steps: 

(a) The Department shall appoint and maintain a Project Evaluation 
Team composed of Department stall' and other consulting governmental 
agencies. The Department may request consultation with nny appropriate 
government agency. including but not limiicd to the Department of Con
servation, the Department offish and Game, the Department ofFood and 
Agriculture, the Office of Emergency Services, nnd the CALFED Bay
Delta Program. 

(b} Local public agencies or nonprofit organizations qualified under 
Section 497.4 may apply for pro&rram grants for projects at such times as 

the Department may designate. Applications for proposed projects shall 
be submitted in response to a solicitation issued by the Department. As 
long as uncommitted funds remain available to fund new projects, the 
Department shall solicit proposals at least once per calendar year. The 
time period for submitting applications shall be 90 days from the date no
tice is given by the Department that project proposals are being solicited. 
Notices shall be provided to cities, counties. flood control districts, recla
mation districts, and other local government entities that manage flood 
plains and flood control projects. The Department will also provide no
tice to nonprofit organizations with interest in flood management issues, 
and shall send notice to all individuals and organizations that have re
quested notice of the opportunity to submit applications. Notices may be 
given by moil , electronic mail, website posting. or any other method that 
provides easy access and prompt availability. Projects shall meet the re
quirements of Section 497.5. Applications shall meet the requirements 
of Section 497.7. 

(c) The Project Evaluation Team shall review each application and 
evalualc the subject project within 60 days of the close of the specified 
submittal period, or within 60 days of receipt o f requested addilionnl in
fonnation. whichever is later. 

(d) The Project Evaluation Team shall notify the Department to re
quest the applicam to provide additional information within 30 days of 
the Department's request if: 

( 1) 111e project appears potentially eligible but is missing infonnation 
needed to evaluate the meriis of the project, or 

(2) Additional information is needed to evaluate the merits of the proj
ect in comparison to others received. 

(e) If the requested additional infonnation cannot be provided in 30 
days, the applicant may refile its application with the additional informa
tion at the Department's next solicitation of proposals. 

(f) When a proposal that meets minimum qualifications is complete 
and all requested additional infonnation has been supplied, the Project 
Evaluation Team shall complete the evaluation oflhe project including 
recommending its place on a priority list as described in Section 497.6. 

(g} Afler each solicitation of proposals, Department staff, using the 
evaluations end recommended priorities of the Project Evaluation Team, 
shall recommend projects, priori ty , and amounts per project to be funded 
and submit the recommendations to the Director for approval of the prior
ity lists. Department staff may recommend: 

[The next page is 38.15.J 

Page 38.14(h) Rcpitcr 2015. No, 38;9- 18- 2015 



       

 

 

 

   
 

       

   

 

     

      

   

 

      

 

    

   

      

    

    

 

  

 

  

  

  

    

  

 

  

  

  

     

      

   

   

 

 

  

    

   

  

 

Agenda Item G 

UPDATE ON 2018 COUNCIL OF LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURAL REGISTRATION 

BOARDS (CLARB) ANNUAL MEETING 

The CLARB Annual Meeting was held on September 27-29, 2018 in Toronto, Canada. 

Attachment 1 is the Annual Meeting agenda. The Landscape Architects Technical Committee 

(LATC) did not receive approval to attend this meeting. 

At its meeting on July 20, 2018, the LATC selected from the slate of candidates for the CLARB 

Board of Directors and Committee on Nominations elections. (Attachment 2 is the LATC’s 

election ballot submitted to CLARB and shows the LATC’s candidate selections.) In addition, the 

LATC discussed CLARB’s proposed updates to its Bylaws and moved to approve the Bylaws; but, 

in doing so, the LATC requested that a letter be issued to CLARB to encourage virtual attendance 

capabilities at Annual Meetings and for CLARB to amend the Bylaws to enable remote voting on 

all matters. Accordingly, Attachment 3 is the letter from Committee Chair, Patricia Trauth, dated 

September 13, 2018, to CLARB President, Christine Anderson, regarding remote participation at 

Annual Meetings. On September 20, 2018, the LATC received the following emailed response 

from Ms. Anderson: 

I’d like to thank you personally for your thoughtful letter outlining California’s concerns about 
virtual participation in future annual meetings. The CLARB Board, in its foresight role, has 

already begun looking into greater uses of technology to support our members and stakeholders. 

We have explored these possibilities in the past, but quickly realized the limitations of past 

technologies. I feel we can agree that with each passing year the technology improves to the 

point where we might consider this again. There are a number of issues and implications that 

the Board will need to consider in moving forward with this request however, not the least of 

which is how it might affect all of our 54 member jurisdictions. Please know that we will discuss 

this thoroughly at the Board level in the coming months and will keep you updated on progress. 

I hope that we can circle back to you if we have questions as we move through discussion. 

Following the July 20, 2018 meeting, the LATC was notified that CLARB would permit voting for 

the Bylaws via webcast to enable participation by Member Boards that are unable to attend the 

Annual Meeting. On September 29, 2018, Ms. Trauth issued the LATC’s vote to approve the 

Bylaws during the webcast. CLARB needed approval 75% of the quorum to pass the Bylaws but 

fell slightly short.  Accordingly, the Bylaws did not pass. 

On October 18, 2018, CLARB distributed an email to Member Boards featuring various materials 

from the Annual Meeting, including the full PowerPoint presentation on the “Understanding the 

Successful Student” report (a study regarding success of students who take the Landscape 

Architect Registration Examination [LARE] prior to graduation), and the results of CLARB’s 

Board of Directors and Committee on Nominations elections. For the Committee’s reference, 

LATC Meeting December 6-7, 2018 Sacramento, CA 



       

 

 

 

    

  

 

   

 

    

    

    

    

    

 

 

 

    

    

   

   

     

 

  

   

included as attachments are Annual Meeting presentation slides (Attachment 4) and the 

“Understanding the Successful Student” report (Attachment 5). Notably, the provided slides are 

only for the discussions: “Preparing for the 2019 Legislative Session,” “Working Toward 

Frictionless Licensure,” and “Understanding the Characteristics of Student Success on the LARE.” 
Only these three presentations were included in this packet due to the Committee’s perceived 

interest in the presented subject matter and to minimize the number of included slides.  

Finally, CLARB released the election results as follows: 

• Stan Williams – President Elect 

• Karen Kiest – Vice President 

• Bob Gunderson – Secretary 

• Edward Kinney – Committee on Nominations 

• Ellen White – Committee on Nominations 

Attachments: 

1. 2017 CLARB Annual Meeting Agenda 

2. LATC Letter of Delegate Credentials and Election Ballot dated September 6, 2018 

3. Letter from LATC Chair Regarding Remote Participation in CLARB Annual Meetings dated 

September 13, 2018 

4. CLARB Annual Meeting Session Presentation Slides for “Preparing for the 2019 Legislative 

Session,” “Working Toward Frictionless Licensure,” and “Understanding the Characteristics of 
Student Success on the LARE” 

5. “Understanding the Successful Student” Report 

LATC Meeting December 6-7, 2018 Sacramento, CA 



Meeting Agenda (all times listed are ET) 

All sessions will be located on the Mezzanine level. 

Wednesday, September 26 

*Everyone is welcome to attend. 

1:00 p.m. – 6:30 p.m. 
Colonnade 

5:30 p.m. – 6:30 p.m. 
Regency D and E 

6:30 p.m. – 8:30 p.m. 
King 2 

Thursday, September 27 

*Everyone is welcome to attend. 

8:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m. 
Colonnade 

8:00 a.m. – 9:00 a.m. 
King 2 

9:00 a.m. – 9:15 a.m. 
King 1 

Registration* 

What to Expect* 
Is this your first Annual Meeting? Are you an Annual Meeting veteran? Either 
way, this interactive session was made with you in mind. We’ll start off with 
some brief introductions and end up in a round of speed-networking so you 
can get to know your peers better. As we follow that with a review of this 
year’s mobile app, you can’t say technology hasn’t caused a disruption -
remember when meeting schedules used to be on paper? 

Welcome Reception* 
President Christine Anderson will officially welcome everyone to this year’s 
Annual Meeting. This reception provides an opportunity for you to network, 
mingle and relax a little before we kick off our three-day meeting discussing 
the types of disruption we have and expect to face. Come experience a few 
future-focused games. 

Hospitality Area Open* 

Breakfast* 

Opening Remarks 
Disruption comes in many forms, and always brings change or a new 
awareness. As we open this year’s Annual Meeting, you’ll learn what this 
means for you, CLARB, and the regulation of the practice of landscape 
architecture. 

C A BANN AL 

SEPTEMBER 27 - 29, 20 l 8 
T□ R□NT□ ONTARIO 

alknati
Typewritten Text
Attachment G.1



   
 

   
  

 
   

   
   

 
 

  
  

  
  

 
 

    
     

     
  

    
    

   
 

 

  
   

    
     

    
    

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

   
  

 

 
 

  
  

 
    

    
    

 
  

   
   

     
 

      
  
 

  
 

   
 

     
 

 
 

   
 

 

9:15 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. Legislative and Regulatory Environment Updates 
King 1 Now more than ever, our regulatory community is being disrupted by 

legislative attacks and threats to licensure. During this session, you’ll hear 
what is currently happening, how the landscape architecture regulatory 
community is responding to this disruption as well as responses from the 
broader regulatory (state and federal) and design profession community. 
Speakers will include representatives from the local, national and federal 
regulation realms. 

12:00 to 1:30 p.m. MBE Lunch 
MBE: Regency E MBM Lunch 
MBM: King 2 Take advantage of this opportunity to meet and network with your respective 

counterparts in other jurisdictions. What are the hot topics on their mind? 
What might you want an opinion on? 

1:30 p.m. – 2:30 p.m. Rotating Empower Sessions 
2:45 p.m. – 3:45 p.m. Empowering members to be ready to prepare for and defend against attacks 
4:00 p.m. – 5:00 p.m. to the regulatory systems in your jurisdictions as you know it as been a major 
Regency A, B and C focus over the past year. These sessions will provide some background 

information and allow for you to have an opportunity to apply your expertise 
to your jurisdiction’s situations. 
• Building Relationships 

Check the app or ask a A panel discussion will talk through case studies and best practices for 
CLARB staff member board and chapter relationships which is a transferable skill your board 
to help you identify will be able to use when speaking with legislators, peers and other 
the order in which you’ll industry-related organizations. 
rotate through these 
sessions. • Exercising Your Voice 

You, as a CLARB member, represent the voice in support of regulation of 
landscape architecture to continue protecting the health, safety and 
welfare of the public. One voice can go a long way in making an impact 
and through this workshop you will have the opportunity to develop (or 
fine-tune!) your elevator speech in support of what we do. 

• Planning for 2019 
CLARB and ASLA came together three times over the past year, twice via 
webcast and finally at an in-person Licensure Summit in June. We’ll 
discuss the benefits of this partnership, the outcomes of these Summits 
and work to plan ahead while looking at our existing licensure support 
tools to think of ideas for new ones. 

Friday, September 28 

*Everyone is welcome to attend. 

8:00 a.m. – 4:15 p.m. Hospitality Area Open* 
Colonnade 

8:00 a.m. – 9:00 a.m. Breakfast* 
King 2 



  
     

        
     

    
      

    
 

     
 
 

 

   
 

 
   

     
     

   
    

     
 

  
      

 
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

  
    
     

   
 

    
 

 

  
        

     
    
      

     
     

     
   

 
 

   
 

 
   

    
  

    
    

   
  
  
  
  

9:00 a.m. – 10:45 a.m. 
King 1 

10:45 a.m. – 11:00 a.m. 

11:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. 
King 1 

12:00 p.m. – 1:30 p.m. 
Regency A, B and C 

Check the app or ask a 
CLARB staff member 
to help you identify your 
board type’s lunch location. 

1:30 p.m. – 4:00 p.m. 
King 1 

4:00 p.m. – 5:00 p.m. 
King 1 

Friction Analysis Results 
The year-long research plan to identify and assess points of friction in the 
licensure process has now come to a close. Results of this research will be 
presented in large-group format followed by small group discussions to 
explore options to reduce friction and what steps your board can specifically 
take to reduce friction in your own jurisdiction. 

Break 

Student Research Update 
Katie Brown, CLARB’s Student Outreach Consultant, will present findings from 
the student research pilot program which hypothesized student preparedness 
to take the L.A.R.E. prior to graduation. Disturbing the licensure process as it 
currently exists, and removing friction for candidates in this process, will be 
explored along with next steps for this opportunity. An example from Indiana 
as well as what the Ontario Association of Landscape Architects (OALA) has 
already implemented will be shared and discussed. 

Lunch (By board type) 
Today’s lunch will offer you another opportunity to network and have open 
discussions with your peers from boards structured similarly to yours not only 
about common issues you are facing but follow-up conversations from our 
sessions so far. Re-fuel and get ready, we’re at the halfway point. 

Technology as a Disruptor 
You’ve heard the words and acronyms: “blockchain;” “AI;” “AR;” “VR;” and 
“Alexa, Google Home and Siri;” but what are they? This deep dive into new 
technology and how it impacts both regulation and the practice of landscape 
architecture will certainly explain CLARB’s focus on utilizing its foresight of 
this knowledge to need to change. Our community needs to be aware of this 
impact so we are not blindsided when inevitable changes occur. It is already 
happening in the regulation world; the Federation of State Medical Boards 
(FSMB) is working to implement credentials verification via blockchain 
technology. 

L.A.R.E. Update 
Prepared with the knowledge of how technology can impact how and what 
we need to regulate the practice of landscape architecture, come listen to 
CLARB’s psychometrician, Adrienne Cadle, discuss how technology has 
impacted the history and evolution of the L.A.R.E. Learn the process of editing 
exam questions from start to finish and try your hand at working through 
question updates. 



  
   

 
 

    
  
     

  
  
  

   
 

  
 

    
 

 

  
    

 
 

 

    
 

 
    

    
  

  
  

 
 

     
 
 

 

   
 

  
    

     
 

  
    

    
   

     
  

 
   

 

 
 

 
  

    
   

 
  
  
  
  
  

6:30 p.m. – 9:00 p.m. President’s Dinner* 
To Be Announced Christine Anderson welcomes everyone to this evening’s dinner event at one 

of Toronto’s must-see locations where you will have time to relax and reflect 
on session content before our final day together. 

Saturday, September 29 

*Everyone is welcome to attend. 

8:00 a.m. – 4:30 p.m. Hospitality Area Open* 
Colonnade 

8:00 a.m. – 9:00 a.m. Breakfast* 
King 2 

9:00 a.m. – 10:30 a.m. Membership in the Face of Disruption 
King 1 In this new interactive open-forum style session, your peers will be your 

panelists. With prepared topics to use as a guide (practice overlap, LA 
minority voices on multi-disciplinary boards, enforcement disconnect, and 
more) your panelists will open the floor to discuss real-time challenges 
boards are facing, swap ideas, and help create solutions through shared 
experiences. 

10:30 a.m. – 10:45 a.m. Break 

10:45 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. General Business Session 
King 1 As a member, you have a responsibility to the current and future efforts 

to sustain landscape architecture regulation. Our world is already being 
disrupted and we anticipate new threat arrivals becoming the norm rather 
than an outlier. The Governance Enhancement work group, appointed by 
the Board of Directors, understands this effect and the requirements 
needed to allow the organization to remain agile and flexible. During this 
session, member boards represented will cast their vote on the resolution 
to update CLARB’s bylaws and governance structure and hear the results 
of this year’s leadership elections. 

12:00 p.m. – 1:30 p.m. Awards Luncheon 
King 2 Join us for one last meal together as we celebrate the presentation of the 

Presidential Recognition Award to a member of our CLARB community. As 
we thank our outgoing volunteers for their service, you might just find out 
your participation over the last three days earned you a special nod as 
well. 

https://www.clarb.org/access-member-board-resources/governance-elections/2018-governance-enhancements


 
  

 

 
 

    
    

   
  

    
    
 

 
    

 
   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

   
 

 
   

     
   

  
  

 
 
  

   
    

    
 

 
  

  
 

1:30 p.m. – 2:30 p.m. 
King 1 

2:30 p.m. – 2:45 p.m. 

2:45 p.m. – 3:30 p.m. 
King 1 

3:30 p.m. – 4:00 p.m. 
King 1 

4:00 p.m. 

CLARB Leadership Academy 
Just how much opportunity do you, as a member (either yourself or 
representing your board) have to provide input in the leadership elections 
process? The answer is quite a bit and specifically twice per year. Join us 
to learn what that means and what specifically CLARB’s leadership needs 
are now and moving forward. During this session you can also explore 
potential leadership opportunities for yourself and learn how to get 
involved. 

Break 

Town Hall 
Ask me (us!) anything! CLARB’s President Christine Anderson, President-
Elect Phil Meyer and CEO Joel Albizo will answer any and all questions 
you’ve always wondered about the organization, leadership, 
membership, etc. Come ready to go or feel free to feed off of requests 
your peers have made and dig deeper. 

What’s Next 
As this year’s Annual Meeting concludes, witness the hand-off of 
leadership from one Board to the next with the traditional presidential 
pinning ceremony. Meet your newly elected leaders, hear outcomes 
from the work you accomplished this weekend, and learn what’s next to 
come. 

Meeting Adjourns 



DA TE: September 6, 2018 

TO: CLARB Board of Directors 

FROM: California Landscape Architects Technical Committee (LATC) 

RE: Letter of Delegate Credentials for 2018 CLARB Annual Meeting 

Governor 
Edmund G, Srown Jr. 

In accordance with Article VI, Section 3 of the Bylaws of the Council of Landscape 
Architectural Registration Boards, the CLARB Member Board indicated above has designated 
the following member(s) as its delegate(s) to the CLARB Annual Meeting in Toronto, ON, 
Canada, September 27-29, 2018. 

We understand that delegates are eligible to vote on behalf of the Member Board on all business 
matters and that only one ballot per Board may be cast regardless of the number of delegates 
present. The LA TC delegate is: 

NAME 
Patricia Trauth 

POSITION 
Member Board Member 

The LATC is presently seeking approval for meeting attendance. In addition to Ms. Trauth, 
requests for approval also include the following, additional, representatives to be in attendance: 

NAME 
Laura Zuniga 
Vickie Mayer 

Sincerely, 

BRIANNA MILLER 
Program Manager 

POSITION 
Member Board Executive 
Member Board Executive 

2420 Del Paso Rood, Suite 105 • Sacra mento, CA 95834 • P (916) 575-7230 • F (9 16) 575-7285 
lotc@dco.co.gov • www.lo tc .co.gov 

alknati
Typewritten Text
Attachment G.2



CLARB 
1840 Michael Faraday Drive 
Suite 200 
Reston, Virginia USA 20190 
571-432-0332 
www.clarb.org 

2018 Board of Directors & Committee on Nominations 

Elections Ballot 

MEMBER BOARD: California Landscape Architects Technical Committee 

COMPLETED BY: Patricia Trauth ----------------------------
PI ease note- Ballots may only be completed by a Member Board Member who has been authorized on the credentials 
letter to represent the member board's vote. Member Board Executives and staff are not eligible to complete this ballot. 

Each Member Board may vote for one candidate per office, unless noted. 

Please check the boxes to cast your vote: 

President-Elect 

D Allison Fleury 

IBJ Stan Williams 

Vice President 

w 
□ 

Karen Kiest 

Bob Mercier 

Secretary 

D Michael Beresnak 

Ii] Bob Gunderson 

Committee on Nominations (select 2) 

~ 

□ 
□ 

Edward Kinney 

Todd Reade (MBE*) 

Ellen White (MBE*) 

"'Only one MBE con be elected to the Committee on Nominations 
based on the current bylaws; the candidate receiving the most 
votes will be elected. 

You may choose any of the following options to submit your voting package to CLARB: 

• Mail - Mailed submissions must be received at the CLARB office by Friday, September 21. 

• Email -As an attachment (Word or PDF} to Andrea Elkin by Friday, September 21. 
• In-person -At CLARB's Annual Meeting registration table by noon, Friday, September 28. 



DLPARIME.Nl a, CONSUME.R Atr AIRS 

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS TECHNICAL COMMITTEE 
CALIFORNIA ARCHITECTS BOARD 
Public Pro t ectio n through Examination. Licensure. and Regulation 

September 13, 2018 

Ms. Christine Anderson, President 
Council of Landscape Architectural Registration Boards 
1840 Michael Faraday Drive, Suite 200 
Reston, Virginia 20190 

RE: Remote Participation in CLARB Annual Meetings 

Dear Christine: 

Govern°' 
Edmund G Brown Jr. 

I am writing to you on behalf of the Landscape Architects Technical Committee (LA TC) 
regarding the currently proposed Council of Landscape Architectural Registration Boards 
(CLARB) Bylaws which will be voted upon at the Annual Meeting on September 29, 2018. 

CLARB has presented extensive edits to its Bylaws which have been reviewed by our 
Committee. The Committee noted that Section 7 (Voting) of these Bylaws states (with proposed 
amendments included): 

The affirmative vote of the majority of the member boards represented at any CLARE 
meeting is required to pass any resolution except to amend the bylaws. Resolutions to amend 
the bylaws are governed by Article XII. There shall be no voting by proxy. Voting by written 
ballot is permitted only for the election of officers of the Board of Directors and for members 
of the Leadership Advisory Council. 

The LA TC finds concern with the stipulation that, with exception of elections for officers and 
members, voting cannot be issued by proxy. Customarily, voting on resolutions transpires 
during the Annual Meeting and so only those Member Boards who are able to attend the Annual 
Meeting may participate in the voting process. As is likely the case for many other Member 
Boards, LA TC participation in CLARB Annual Meetings is contingent upon obtaining 
authorization from various State approving officials to travel. For California, requests for travel 
approval are submitted each year and are assessed on a case-by-case basis for adherence to State 
policies, which limit travel to that which is mission-critical. Despite the LATC' s interest to 
attend and participate in each Annual Meeting, we cannot guarantee consistent and ongoing 
representation. We surmise that other Member Boards face this uncertainty each year, as well. 

For the 2018 Annual Meeting in Toronto, the LATC recognizes that an exception has been 
granted to allow voting of the Bylaws to be conducted virtually by those Member Boards who 
are unable to attend the meeting. However, this a special case. The LATC respectfully requests 
that CLARB consider the following to allow wide participation in the Annual Meeting: 

1. Institute a virtual attendance capability at each successive Annual Meeting so that 
Member Boards who are unable to travel to the meeting location can still remotely 
participate in discussions and cast votes to considered resolutions. 

2420 Del Paso Road, Suite 105 • Sacramento, CA 95834 • P (916) 575-7230 • F (916) 575-7283 
latc@dca.ca.gov • www.latc.ca.gov 

alknati
Typewritten Text
Attachment G.3



2. Consider additional amendments to its Bylaws by incorporating language that permits the 
ability for Member Board Members to vote on all proposed resolutions, regardless of 
Members' physical presence at the Annual Meeting. 

The LATC feels that participation in CLARB Annual Meetings provides us with tools and 
education that contribute to our ability to uphold our mission to protect the public 's health, safety 
and welfare. Participation also ensures that California's 3600 licensed landscape architects have 
voice in the development and adoption of policies regulating their profession. Accordingly, we 
feel that assurance of presence at these meetings, by having the option to participate virtually, 
will better safeguard California's and other Member Boards' opportunity to contribute to a 
robust and educational meeting forum. 

We appreciate your consideration of this request and look forward to an expansion of 
opportunities to participate in the Annual Meetings. 

SP~----
PATRICIA TRAUT , PLA, AICP, LEED AP 
Chair 

cc: Joel Albizo, CLARB Chief Executive Officer 
CLARB Member Board Executives 

2 



 

Preparing for the 2019 Legislative 
Session 
Veronica Meadows, Senior Director of Strategy 

Elizabeth Hebron, ASLA Director of State Government Affairs 

alknati
Typewritten Text
Attachment G.4



Areas of Focused Support in 2019 

Responding to Mandated 
Reviews 

1 

Preparing for “The 
Occupational Licensing 
Consumer Choice Act” 

2 



Responding to  Veronica Meadows, 
Senior Director of Strategy Mandated Reviews 



 
Mandated 
Reviews 

Trending Up 



Planning Your Response 

Internal 
data, 

information 
and 

processes 

External 
data, 

information 
and 

comparisons 



Internal Data and Information 



 

• Current rules, regulations and 
procedures for the regulated 
profession and oversight body, and 
associated reports 

• Recent changes to rules and 
regulations, or requests for 
legislative changes to rules &
regulations, and resulting actions 



• Need for the regulation of 
the profession 

• Justification for the current 
level of regulation 

• Evidence that the agency is 
properly, effectively and 
efficiently exercising its 
regulatory duties 

Justification 



 

Board Operations 

Public 
engagement 

process 

Board 
structure and 
membership 

Operating and 
administrative 

costs 

Licensure 
process and 
timelines 



The Numbers 

• Licensees 
• Applications 
• Renewals 
• Fees and penalties 
• Demographics 

• Denials 
• Complaints 

• Disciplinary actions 



 

 

Barriers 

• Initial licensure requirements 

• Reciprocal licensure requirements 

• Licensure maintenance 
requirements 

• Criminal history disqualifications 

• Military spouse accommodations 



Working Toward Frictionless 
Licensure 
Phil Meyer, President‐Elect 
Veronica Meadows, Senior Director of Strategy 



Our agenda 

How we got here 

Key points of friction workshop 

Vision for the future 

Next steps 



How we got here 
Phil Meyer, President‐Elect 



Case for Change (Why) 

• Advancement in technology 

• Push for regulatory reform 

• Changing stakeholder preferences 
• Changing demographics 



 

Strategy 
(What) 
Design a simpler, more frictionless 
framework and complementary 
process for licensure resulting in 
enhanced experience, 
improved credibility and confidence 
of the stakeholders of landscape 
architecture licensure 



Timeline 

Staff assessment 
April 2017 

Member Discussion 

Sept. 2017 

Project Scoping 

Oct. – Dec. 2017 

Project Emersion 

January 2018 

In‐depth Interviews 
March – April 2018 

Electronic Survey 

March – April 2018 

Workgroup Meeting 
May 2018 

CLARB Board 
Meeting 

June 2018 

Solution 
Development 

June – July 2018 

Stakeholder 
Feedback 

July – Aug. 2018 

Present Findings and 
Recommendation 

Sept. 2018 

Ongoing Workgroup and Stakeholder Engagement 



 

Key points of 
friction workshop 

Veronica Meadows, 
Senior Director of Strategy 



Key Points of Friction 

Time to licensure 

Duplication of documentation 

Varying licensure requirements 

Levels of customer service/support 



 

Workshop Process 

Brainstorm ideas 
for reducing key 
points of friction 

Review and 
consider workgroup  
recommendations 

Identify barriers 
and opportunities 
to overcome them 

Input to refinements and implementation planning 



What can we do to reduce the time it takes to 
become licensed? 



 

Workgroup recommendation  

• Administrative approval 

• Consistent application 
process/procedures 

• Non‐sequential 
requirements 



 • What are the barriers to implementing the 
recommendations for reducing the time to 
licensure? 

• How can we overcome these barriers? 



How can we eliminate duplication of documentation? 



Workgroup recommendation  

• Common application 
for licensure 



 • What are the barriers to implementing the 
recommendation to eliminate duplicate 
documentation? 

• How can we overcome these barriers? 



How can we achieve consistent licensure requirements 
across the membership? 



 

 

Workgroup recommendation 

• Shared standard for 
licensure 

• No difference between initial 
and reciprocal licensure
requirements 



 
 

   

• What are the barriers to implementing the 
recommendation to achieve consistent 
licensure requirements? 

• How can we overcome these barriers? 



How can we improve service and support to candidates 
and licensees? 



Workgroup recommendation 

• 24/7 customer support 

• Licensing advisor/mentor 



 • What are the barriers to implementing the 
recommendation to provide improved 
service and support to candidates and 
licensees? 

• How can we overcome these barriers? 



Vision for the 
future 

Phil Meyer, President‐Elect 



     

 

 

 

Regulation 4.0 (How) 

Attributes: 

• Embraces outcome‐
focused, non‐sequential 
requirements 

• Celebrates 
interdependence of the 
member boards 

• Leverages advanced 
tools for performance 
verification 

CLARB as Facilitator 
of the Network to 
Protect Public HSW 

• Uses a shared standard of 
evaluation 

Outcomes 
• Harmonization of the 

process promotes 
continuity for stakeholders 

• More members are 
engaged in policy making 
at a national level 

• Increased trust in 
regulatory model 

• Increased positive 
perceptions of CLARB and 
boards promoting low‐
friction, high HSW process 

• Adaptable and future‐
ready framework that 
anticipates changes in 
technology as well as 
regulation 



 Outcomes & Focus 

0‐36 Months 
Increased Efficiency 

48‐84 Months 
Improved systems 
and processes 

96‐120 Months 
Smart, automated 
frictionless licensure 

• Administrative approval 
• Consistent application process/procedures 
• Non‐sequential requirements 

Reduce time to licensure 

• Common application for licensure 

Eliminate duplication of documentation 

• Shared standard for licensure 
• No difference between initial and reciprocal requirements 

Achieve consistent licensure requirements 

• 24/7 customer support 
• Licensing advisor/mentor 

Improve customer service/support 

• Member/user engagement 
• Acceptance and adoption 
• Agile, entrepreneurial approach 

Learn, refine and iterate 



Understanding the Characteristics of Student 
Success on the L.A.R.E. 
Pilot Studies at the University of Guelph 

Katie Brown, Student Outreach Consultant 

Veronica Meadows, Senior Director of Strategy 



Background 
Veronica Meadows, Senior Director of Strategy 



The Case 

Recent 
graduates do 
better on 
Sections 1 
and 2 

Ontario 
students have 
successfully 

passed 
sections 

Opportunities 
to reduce 
friction 

 
 



 

 
 

Purpose of the Study 

• Explore student success on the L.A.R.E. 
• Identify the characteristics of the successful 
student 

• Develop content to assist in navigating the path 
to licensure 

• Learn and explore the possibility of enabling 
students to take the L.A.R.E. 



 
 

 

 

Study Authors 

Kate Brown Dr. Nathan Perkins 
Student Outreach  Co‐Author and 
Consultant at  Research Supervisor, 
CLARB, Urban  FASLA, Professor of 
Designer and  Landscape 
Landscape  Architecture at the 
Architectural Intern  University of Guelph 
at Stantec, Master 
of Urban Design, 
Bachelor of 
Landscape 
Architecture 



 

Research 

Three pilot studies were conducted with 37 volunteer student
participants (BLA and MLA) at the University of Guelph from 
January 2016 to April 2018. 



 

   

The questions posed for these pilot studies were: 

What are the outcomes of students enrolled in a landscape architecture program electing to take Section 
One of the L.A.R.E.?

Do students have a greater or lesser ‘pass’ percentage than professionals with a degree and practice 
experience?

Do students with successful pass rates have identifiable qualities that distinguish them from unsuccessful 
students?

How do students that are given the opportunity to take the L.A.R.E. reflect on their experience with exam 
preparation and the exam itself?

Research Questions 
The questions posed for these pilot studies were: 

What are the outcomes for students enrolled in a landscape architecture 
program electing to take Section One of the L.A.R.E.? 

Do students have a greater or lesser ‘pass’ percentage than professionals with a 
degree and practice experience? 

Do students with successful pass rates have identifiable qualities that distinguish 
them from unsuccessful students? 

How do students that are given the opportunity to take the L.A.R.E. reflect on 
their experience with exam preparation and the exam itself? 



Important 
Note 

NOT a L.A.R.E. ‘preparation’ course 

Content focused on navigating the path 

Student participation was independent 

Required deliverables enabled authors to track progress, 

ensure deadline adherence, and achieve academic credit. 

Prevention of conflict of interest, and avoidance of 

tampering with the results. 



Questions 



Kate Brown, CLARB 
Student Outreach Methods and Results Consultant 

-
-



Procedure: a shifting model 

• Digital via online learning 

• Digital via file transfer 
• Academic course integrated into University curriculum for credit 



 

Structure 

Content delivered over 4 

weeks 

• Module 1: Introduction to 

Section 1 of the L.A.R.E. 

• Module 2: L.A.R.E. Resources 

• Module 3: Study Strategies 

• Module 4: What to Expect 

Independent study 

period lasted 3‐4 months 

Students submitted 

weekly updates, mid‐

term reports and final 

papers. 

Credit was not based on 

pass/fail 



Sample Data 

• 37 students total: BLA and MLA • Qualitative Data: Interview, Qualtrics 
Survey • Pilot I = 5 students 
• Quantitative Data: Exam Pass Rates • Pilot II = 6 students 

• Pilot III = 26 students 

I00 0I I0 I00I I0 I 0I 0 
000 1 010001 101000 1010001 10 10001 10100010101 000 
001101 1000110110001 101100011011 00011011000110110 001 
010111 0001011100010 1110001011100 0101110001011100 010 
I oo Io I oo I oo Io I oo I oo Io I oo I oo Io I oo I oo Io I oo I oo Io I oo I oo 
0000o I I I 0000o I I I 000 0o I I I 0000o I I I 0000o I I I 0000o I I I 000 
I I0l0 100I I0l0100I I0 l0lool l0loloo l l0l0Iool l0l0100I I0 
0000 I 0000000 I 000000 0 I 0000000 I 00 00000 I 0000000 I 000 000 



Success rate 



 

Lack of Success Factors 

• Less professional practice experience 

• Younger 

• Less collaboration with peers (e.g., study groups, go it alone optimism) 

• Time Commitment (significantly fewer hours spent in total) 

• Motivation (desire to ‘succeed’ not as evident) 



Success Factors 

TIME DEDICATION 
Began studying sooner, mOfe 
consistently, for longer periods of 
time. 

MOTIVATION 
Determination to succeed 
is the true key to success. 



Professional 
Experience 

Most, but not all, of the successful students 
had office experience either through the 
formal internship program at Guelph or
summer jobs. 



   

Age 
Successful students were slightly older in age but also slightly more experienced and mature. 



Collaboration 
with Peers 

Successful students had regular, 
at least weekly, face‐to‐face 
meetings with their peers. 



Time Commitment 

Passing students worked consistently over time 
and for longer periods than their less 
successful peers. 



Motivation Motivation seems to be the best predictor of L.A.R.E. 
success. 



Conclusion 

• Enabling highly motivated, qualified 
students to start the exam prior to 
graduation can reduce the time to 
licensure 

• Introduction of structured licensure 
related curriculum into universities would 
benefit all students 

• We should explore the possibilities for 
reducing friction by working toward non‐
sequential requirements 



PPiilloot St Sttuuddiiees as at tt thhe Ue Unniiveverrssiitty oy of Gf Guueellpph          h          ii 

CLARB 

alknati
Typewritten Text
Attachment G.5



          Understanding the Successful Student ii 



    

UNDERSTANDING THE SUCCESSFUL STUDENT 

Pilot Studies at the University of Guelph 

Prepared for: 

The Council of Landscape Architectural Registration Boards (CLARB) 

By: 

Katherine Brown 

MUD, BLA 

Dr. Nathan Perkins 

Associate Professor, BLA Undergraduate Coordinator 

Landscape Architecture, PhD Rural Studies 

Pilot Studies at the University of Guelph          iii 



          Understanding the Successful Student iv 



       

     

 
       

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

To the Council of Landscape Architectural Registration Boards (CLARB), for 
providing the funding and support of this research endeavor, and the platform to 
advocate for the inclusion of students in the licensure model; 

The Ontario Association of Landscape Architects (OALA), for your approval, 
endorsement and support of this work; 

The University of Guelph School of Environmental Design and Rural Development 
(SEDRD), for your willingness to collaborate and incorporate this research into the 
landscape architecture program curriculum; and, 

All study participants, for your ambition, cooperation, and dedication to 
extracurricular professional development and contribution to licensure research; 

Without your involvement and belief in this initiative, an endeavor of 
this magnitude would not have been possible. The authors owe you their 
immense gratitude and thank you for your key contributions to this research. 

Pilot Studies at the University of Guelph          v 



 

 

 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Executive Summary ..........................................................2 

Introduction .......................................................................4 

Pilot Studies ........................................................................8 

Results ...............................................................................12 

Conclusion/Summary .....................................................20 



Pilot Studies at the University of Guelph          1 



          

 

 
   

      

     

 

   

 

SUBSECTION 1 

Executive Summary 
Landscape architecture is a regulated profession- a license is 
required to practice throughout the United States, three 
Canadian provinces and Puerto Rico. The Landscape Architect 
Registration Examination (L.A.R.E.) is one of the key 
requirements to obtaining a license to practice as a landscape 
architect. Licensed landscape architects have demonstrated 
their ability to practice without compromising the health, safety 
and welfare of the public. 

Despite common professional understanding of the importance 
of licensure, in the United States there has been an increased 
interest in, and push for, licensure reform to remove barriers 
that would enable greater access to practice and increased 
mobility. CLARB believes it is important to explore ways that 
landscape architectural licensure can be streamlined, reducing 
unnecessary friction in the licensure process and perhaps 
reducing the amount of time it takes to become a licensed 
practitioner.  

In many jurisdictions across the United States and Canada, the 
completion of a degree is required prior to being permitted to 
start the L.A.R.E. However, in Ontario, a small number of 
students have been permitted to begin taking the exam prior to 
graduation. Prior to this study, three students from the 
University of Guelph successfully passed one or two sections of 
the L.A.R.E. while in their undergraduate studies. This raises a 
key question: Would allowing students to begin the L.A.R.E. 
prior to graduation reduce the time to licensure and better 
streamline the licensure process? 

To explore this question, CLARB teamed up with the University 
of Guelph in Ontario, along with the support of the OALA, to 
conduct a series of pilot studies to measure student success on 
the L.A.R.E., and determine what characteristics successful 
students possess.   

Understanding the Successful Student 2 



All students that participated in the study sample were 
enrolled in the Bachelor of Landscape Architecture (BLA) and 
Master of Landscape Architecture (MLA) degree programs at 
the University of Guelph. 
The studies were conducted in three pilots: 

PILOT I 
BLA Sample + Digital Delivery 

PILOT II 
BLA/MLA Sample + Digital Delivery 

PILOT III 
Large BLA/MLA Sample + Academic Integration 

The results of the research suggest that particularly 
motivated individuals can take and pass Section 1 of the 
L.A.R.E. prior to graduation. As such, the following outlines 

the contents of this research summary: 

SUBSECTION 2. INTRODUCTION 

1. Background 

SUBSECTION 3.  PILOT STUDIES 

1. Participants 

2. Procedure 

SUBSECTION 4. RESULTS 

1. Respondent Profile 
2. Gender 
3. Age 
4. Program Level 
5. How Students Became Involved 
6. Prepare For and Take Additional Sections of 

the L.A.R.E. in the Future 
7. Time Commitment 
8. Study Aids 
9. Cost 
10.Exam Registration 
11.The Self-Motivated Student 

SUBSECTION 5. SUMMARY 

1. Closing Remarks 

3 

I 
I 
I 



          

 

     
 

  
   

   

 
 

     

     
  

 
 

   

 

      

     
 

     

  

  
  

SUBSECTION 2 

Introduction 

The Landscape Architect Registration Examination (L.A.R.E.) 
has been a key element in Canadian professional practice for 
almost two decades. The L.A.R.E., in addition to an 

accredited degree and supervised two-year Professional 
Development Period (PDP) is intended to ensure that 
professionals meet the minimum competency standards of 
professional practice, and as such form a measurable 
standard of knowledge and skills. The L.A.R.E. is administered 

by the Council of Landscape Architectural Registration 
Boards (CLARB). CLARB has managed the L.A.R.E. process 
that includes exam development, scoring and candidate 
management in the U.S., Canada and Puerto Rico since 1970. 

In 2009, CLARB conducted the Determinants of Success 
study to provide greater insights for the profession and 

regulatory community on which to base policy, practice and 

support decisions. The key results of the study were the 
factors contributing to success in passing the L.A.R.E.: 

Obtaining a landscape architecture degree from a LAAB-or 
LAAC accredited institution, 

Gaining diversified experience (for Section 4) in the years 
spent working in landscape architecture, 

Increasing study time both alone and in groups, Utilizing the 
ASLA practice problems, 

Spending more time on digital applications but designing by 
hand, and significantly, 

Taking Sections 1 and 2 of the L.A.R.E. closer to graduation 

(rather than waiting to gain more years of experience in 
landscape architecture practice). 

Understanding the Successful Student 4 



5 

    

 

 
  

 

  
 

    
  

  

  
  

 
 

 
  

   
 

 
  

 
  

This last finding, that candidate success in passing Sections 1 
and 2, is in part dependent on time since graduation raises 
some interesting implications for professional licensure. That 
recent graduates have a higher success rate may be due to 

many factors, some of them being that recent graduates are 
familiar with taking exams, their study methods are still fresh 

and effective in helping them pass exams and the content 
tested in these sections has typically been taught as part of 
the education curriculum. 

These findings led to the question, “If candidates are more 
successful immediately following graduation, how successful 
might they be while still in their academic program?” 

Presently, in most jurisdictions across the US and Canada, 
candidates are required to have obtained their degree prior 
to taking the L.A.R.E. In some jurisdictions, candidates must 
also complete a professional practice period before being 
eligible to take the exam, further removing them from their 
university studies.   

Considering that a handful of students in Ontario have 
successfully passed one or two sections of the exam, CLARB 
wanted to better understand the characteristics of 
successful students and to possibly explore the idea of 
allowing candidates to begin taking the L.A.R.E. prior to 
graduation. If students can begin taking the L.A.R.E. prior to 
graduation, they might begin their path to licensure sooner 
and therefore obtain their professional designation more 
quickly. 

PILOT STUDIES 

CLARB proposed undertaking a study of 
student success to present to the CLARB 
membership in September 2018. By 
assessing success of students on the 
L.A.R.E., and identifying the 

characteristics of successful students, 
this may create an opportunity for 
dialog to enable highly motivated 

students to begin their path to licensure 

prior to graduation in all jurisdictions. 

PARTICIPANTS 

The participants of the pilot studies 
were students enrolled in the University 
of Guelph Bachelors or Masters of 
Landscape Architecture programs at the 
time of the study. The students were 
recruited and volunteered for 
participation. 

KEY FINDINGS 

Of the 30% of passing students, seven 
key factors were crucial to their success. 
See the following for further detail. 

Pilot Studies at the University of Guelph 



6 Understanding the Successful Student CLARB 

WHAT MAKES THE SUCCESSFUL STUDENT? 
STUDENT SUCCESS PILOT STUDIES 
The pilot studies set out to explore the fundamental questions 
of what type of student would elect to take the L.A.R.E. while 
in school-and why. In essence, student motivation to pursue 
professional exam success outside of the formal curriculum 
was, we felt, key to understanding the issue. In addition to 
motivation, we were interested in how students prepared to 
take the L.A.R.E. and evaluated the support they received and 
resources they felt they required. 

FACTORS OF SUCCESS 
Students face unique challenges 
when it comes to their likelihood of 
success on the L.A.R.E. The 
students comprising the 1 /3 
passing group shared the following 
characteristics: 

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
The successful student has at l'=ast some 
experience working in the discipline 

TIME DEDICATION 
Began studying sooner, more 
consistently, for longer periods of 
time. 

APPROXIMATE SUCCESS RATE 
OF STUDY PARTICIPANTS 

WHY HOLD THEM BACK? 
If overall success in completing the 

L.A.R.E. in a timely fashion is the 
goal of the profession, it cannot but 

help to better introduce them (the 
L.A.R.E.) within university programs. 

An earlier introduction to the L.A.R.E. 
in landscape architecture program 

curriculum will help integrate 
licensure into student knowledge of 

the discipline and their future as a 
professional. 

MOTIVATION 
Determination to succeed 
is the true key to success. 



 

 
        

     
 

 

 

SUBSECTION 3 

Pilot Studies 

Introduction 

Since only a small number of students prior to 2017 had elected to take and 
successfully pass portions of the exam, it was felt that before examining 
the primary question of L.A.R.E. timing and success it was important to 
explore the fundamental questions of what type of student would elect to 
take the L.A.R.E. while in school and why. In essence, student motivation to 
pursue professional exam success outside of the formal curriculum was, we 
felt, key to understanding the issue. In addition to motivation, we were 
interested in how students prepared to take the L.A.R.E. and evaluated the 
support they received and resources they felt they required. 

Pilot studies, by definition, are exploratory, so three conditions were 
created that presented varied approaches to how navigating the exam 
process might take place with the measure, ‘success in passing the L.A.R.E.' 
as the outcome or dependent variable. These conditions ranged from 
digital delivery during the summer months, to integration into academic 
curriculum at the University of Guelph. There were, of course, some 
limitations, first of which was identifying and recruiting students interested 

in participating. 

Participants 

The first pilot in early 2017 was with five selected students that responded 
to a call for volunteers. The students were not selected or screened, and all 
were either third or fourth year BLA students at the University of Guelph. 

The second pilot study in the summer of 2017 was comprised of 10 
students (MLA and BLA) and this group, while composed of volunteers, was 
recruited based on interest and prior academic success. 

The third pilot study in the fall of 2017 similarly consisted of approximately 
19 recruited BLA and MLA students with one important distinction. This 
group of students was enrolled in an independent study course in 
landscape architecture with some of the structure of a traditional university 
course such as an instructor with students ‘on- site’ for the duration of 
their study period. Figure one shows the progression of the pilot studies. 

Pilot Studies at the University of Guelph          7 



          

 

  

 

 

 
 

PARTICIPANT PROFILE 

Due to semester timing and registration, perhaps 
unique to the University of Guelph, this third pilot 
study with 19 BLA students did not actually begin until 
late October 2017 and it quickly became evident that a 
December exam date allowed for only about six weeks 
of study during a very busy time of the academic year 
for the participants. During a scheduled meeting with 
the participants it was noted that the timing of the 
December 2017 L.A.R.E. administration coincided with 
University exams and all participants felt that they 
would be unprepared to take the L.A.R.E. during the 
scheduled December time frame. 

PILOT I 
5 self-selected students 
3RD AND 4TH YEAR BLA 

PILOT II 
6 self-selected and recruited students 
3RD YEAR BLA AND 2ND YEAR MLA 

PILOT III 
26 recruited students enrolled in independent 
study course 
3RD YEAR BLA AND 2ND YEAR MLA 

After consultation with the students and CLARB, the 
authors proposed that the 19 BLA students 
reschedule their L.A.R.E. for the April 2018 
administration and the pilot be expanded to include 
7 MLA students. The reasons for this were to allow 
for a sufficient and reasonable study duration that 
would more closely resemble the time a typical 
person might require to study and to add MLA 
students that were not included in the third pilot 
due to timing limitations in the fall 2017 period. 

Understanding the Successful Student 8 



          

   
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   
   

The result of this action is that, rather than a fourth pilot study 
in W2018, the original third pilot study (F2017) was expanded to 
include MLA students and the entire group carries over into the 
winter 2018 period. The authors examined the potential risks to the 
integrity of the pilot study and the implications this change may 
have on the ‘results.’ Our conclusion is that, 

1) Multiple case pilot studies, by definition, are each unique and the 

overall design of three versus four pilot studies is not a serious concern. In 

each iteration, the number of participants was expanded (5 to 6 to 26) and 

the ‘structure’ has increased from truly independent to semi-structured to 

‘course-like’ organization. 

2) The addition of up to seven MLA students in the last iteration 

addresses a concern the authors had about not having representation from 

this group. MLAs represent a meaningful number of landscape architecture 

students, at Guelph and elsewhere, that will be entering the profession and 

only pilot two had any MLA representation. Although smaller in number 
than total BLA participants, the authors felt the necessity to at least provide 

some data for this group. It was suspected that MLA students would likely 

bring a different set of motivations and expectations to pursuing the 

L.A.R.E. as students. 

3) Lastly, although these pilot studies were focused on predictors of 
student success and the L.A.R.E., the authors were learning about what 
supports are necessary and most effective to the research. We felt that a 

‘roll-over’ or extension to pilot three allowed us to have these supports in 

place. The study materials for the L.A.R.E., specifically a number of 
recommended books, are very expensive and likely pose a barrier to many 

post-degree applicants because pilot study two demonstrated this for in-
course students. 

We were aware that some larger professional offices have a library of 
appropriate materials for employees, however many smaller offices do 
not. The University of Guelph library has many of these books; however, 
to be accessible to more than one student at a time the books needed to 
be placed on reserve so they were available when needed. We learned 
this lesson and had most of the materials available on reserve through 
the library for pilot three. 

Understanding the Successful Student 9 



10 Understanding the Successful Student           

 

Procedure 

Note: None of the pilot studies were approached as an L.A.R.E. 
‘preparation’ course. This is a critical point to make as neither CLARB nor the 
authors intended to teach the content of the L.A.R.E., rather, the content 
presented to students was directed at presenting the process for 
establishing a CLARB Council Record, how the L.A.R.E. fits into the licensure 
process and the materials necessary for independent study. 

The authors were available for mentoring, answering procedural questions 
and offering advice but the use of the word ‘course’ does not imply that a 
face-to-face or distance format was used to teach the specific content of the 
exam. In cases where the authors were presented with questions regarding 
specific content questions or asked to structure the materials in what most 
people would consider a ‘course,’ we asked ourselves, “If the candidate were 
in a professional office what could or would, an informed and supportive 
manager offer?" This served as a check on keeping our roles to that of 
advisors and not teachers. 



          

 

  
  

  

  

In the first two pilot studies the ‘course' materials were presented over a 
period of four weeks, with each week focusing on a specific module. 
Delivered online via Udemy (https://www.udemy.com), students were 
provided an interactive lecture, student-to-student, and student-to-
instructor communication to be able to collaborate and fully understand 
the L.A.R.E. process. 

Module One focused on giving an introduction to what the L.A.R.E. is and 
why it is important for students to know about. In module one, students 
were also introduced to a break-down of the sections on the exam and the 
percentage of material that would be on the exam. For example, project 
management makes up 30% of the exam, and bidding makes up 20% of the 
exam. 

Module Two was focused on exam preparation material that included a 
reading list, important definitions, case law, and other resources that are 
helpful to successfully passing the exam. 

Module Three gave helpful hints for studying for the exam that allows for 
the students to narrow their focus, prepare for time management, flashcard 
ideas, and ways that students can test their knowledge as they study. 

Module Four was focused on taking the exam itself, including what to 
expect on the day of the exam and exam tips. At the end of the examination 
period students also were to provide feedback to be able to develop and 
refine the L.A.R.E. course for the next round of research. 

In the third pilot study some lessons learned from the first two iterations 
were incorporated. First, an independent study course was created so that 
students were enrolled in a course with four scheduled face-to-face 
meetings with the instructors. 

Understanding the Successful Student 11 

https://www.udemy.com


Pilot Studies at the University of Guelph          12 

- ~ . . 
C A~ • ..,_ ~ ~,,: 

- ... = "' ·,t 

",.A A ,c 

T•EATMEHI S!RAIAGES 

___ ... __::::... ____ .. _ 

0-:::- ~;:;. o;;:- B'= ,:g;--- -• • r-j' 
.,..--. ]' I <• 

j 1· f filrn-, 
L ' ~, 
- L • ' 

__ :.JI_ ( I .. 
:
=--
===..-. --



  
  

 

 

 

For all pilot studies, basic background information was collected such as 
year in the program, gender, etc. and both during and after the whole 
period qualitative information was solicited on appropriateness of study 
materials. At the end of the pilot periods, students were asked to 
complete a voluntary short questionnaire regarding the process of 
L.A.R.E. preparation they followed. 

Other questions we asked related to what level in their programs might 
they prepare for and take their exams, were there differences between 
graduate (MLA) and undergraduate (BLA) students and what were their 
motivations to participate? 

In summary, three pilot studies were conducted with both BLA and MLA 
students at the University of Guelph. What follows are the results of 
student responses to questionnaires and in some cases interviews 
following the survey format. 

PILOT TIME PERIOD BLA MLA 

Pilot I Winter 2017 5 0

Pilot II Summer 2017 4 2

Pilot III Fall 2017- Winter 2018 19  7 

Some of the students listed in the above table are ‘carry-over’ students 
from a previous pilot and/or some students were unable to complete the 
entire process for various reasons such as a death in the family or 
significant illness. 

Pilot Studies at the University of Guelph          13 



          

 

 

 

 

 

   

SUBSECTION 4 

Results 
From Pilots I to III, a total of 37 students registered to 
participate in the study. Of those 37, 31 sat to take their exam at 
the end of the academic period. 

Participants for Pilot I were 5 BLA students, and 6 BLA/MLA 
students for Pilot II. 

Participants for Pilot III were 19 BLA and 7 MLA students for a 
total of 26. From Pilots I-III, 6 students were not able to take the 
exam for various personal reasons (i.e., health or family 
emergencies) resulting in a final group of 21 students that took 
the exam and responded to the survey and/or interview. 

A digital survey using QualtricsTM (a University licensed software 
program) was delivered to all. There were a total of 19 
responses (90.5 response rate) and for those that did not 
respond, a follow-up telephone interview asking the same 
questions was held bringing the total response rate up to 96.4 
percent. 

What follows are characteristics of the participants. Unless 
otherwise stated N=21 for the data presented within this 
chapter. 

Gender 

The male/female ratio for the participants reported 
on below was, in comparison to the population of 
the program, skewed to female. The program has 
approximately 325 BLA and MLA students, with 
approximately 55 percent male and 45 percent 
female. In the case of this study, 40 percent of the 
participants were male and 60 percent female. 
There is nothing to infer from this statistic, we are 
simply presenting characteristics of the sample. 

MALE FEMALE 

4 10BLA 

MLA 52 

Understanding the Successful Student 14 



          

 

 

  

 

 

  

Age 

The range in age for participants was from 22 – 32 years old 
with a mean for the group of 26 years. For the BLA participants 
the mean age was just over 22 years old and for the MLA 
participants the mean age was 27. 

MEAN AGE AVERAGE AGE 

BLA 22 21-24 

MLA 27 24-32 

OVERALL 26 22-32 

Program Level 

All BLA students were in their 3rd or 4th year of the program 
and all MLA students were in the 2nd year of their 3-year MLA 
program. 

How students became involved 

While the population of participants was students enrolled in 
landscape architecture at the University of Guelph, the pilot 
studies by necessity relied on volunteers. Because of this, the 
participants were not randomly selected nor could a 
convenience sample be used. The implication of using 
volunteers is that the characteristics of the participant sample 
likely was not representative of the population of students at 
Guelph. 

Volunteered: 84 percent 

Recruited: 16 percent 

Prepare for and take additional sections of 
L.A.R.E. in near future 

Three questions were created to elicit the 
participants overall satisfaction with the experience 
of preparing for and taking the exam and their 
motivation to continue with additional sections. 
These were, "How satisfied or dissatisfied were you 
with your L.A.R.E. experience?," "How likely are you 
to continue to prepare for and take additional 
sections of the L.A.R.E.?", and “Would you 
recommend talking the L.A.R.E., while a student, to a 
peer?” 

The overwhelming response was very positive with 
over 80 percent of the responses positive for all three 
questions. The open-ended responses, however, 
added some nuance to the participants ‘satisfaction.’ 

While the participants felt very satisfied with the 
opportunity to participate, and the actual process, 
they did offer some criticisms of either their own 
approach or of general procedures. Some 
participants elected to pursue a strategy that fit their 
circumstances and in some cases, on reflection, this 
didn't lead to success. 
As one participant wrote, � 

“Having attempted this exam on 
my own, I will never go back to that 
strategy. Studying alone and without a 
time-management plan was clearly a 
mistake. The experience as a whole was 
isolating and lonely.” 

Understanding the Successful Student 15 



          

  

  
   

Another said, 

“ I didn’t really have a strategy in the  
beginning and wasted a lot of time. Having 
a support system, not just for studying, but 
for registration and reminders would have 
helped me to be more efficient.” 

� 

These types of comments were common. Successful 
and unsuccessful participants spoke to the value of 
working in groups for the benefit of shared resources 
and mutual support. A few participants also 
mentioned that peer pressure provided an extra 
incentive to stay on track with their preparation for 
the exam. So while there were no truly surprising 
comments, the general themes seem to be that 
group study was a key strategy; that regular and 
consistent meetings with a group (generally reported 
as from 2-6 people) and the delegation of tasks and 
responsibilities among group members was a 
satisfying experience. 

While satisfaction was not clearly correlated with a 
successful outcome, the participants who reported 
that they were satisfied all reported that they would 
recommend taking the L.A.R.E. exams to fellow 
students and all reported they would be continuing 
to prepare for either ‘re-taking’ L.A.R.E. section 1 or 
beginning to study for additional sections. 

Most Useful Study Aids 

Participants were asked to comment on the 
usefulness of study materials. A number of 
recommended L.A.R.E. study print references are 
available to students at the University of Guelph. In 
addition, participants listed sources of information 
they would recommend when asked what resources 
they found most useful (i.e., web-based tutorials, 
blogs, etc.) 

16 Understanding the Successful Student 



NOTE:  Responses in rounded percentages. 

HINZE: CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS 

Cost of Study Materials 

About 52 percent of the participants felt that the 
costs of the primary study materials were 
‘unreasonable’ if they had to pay themselves. The 
remaining 48 percent did not feel the materials 
were reasonable or unreasonable. It is telling that 
no participants felt the material costs were 
reasonable. A rough estimate of the cost of the 
basic study materials in 2018 was 800 Canadian 
Dollars. As the primary texts were available for loan 
this was not an issue but students did purchase 
some study exams on their own. 

Exam Registration 

Participants were asked, “How easy or difficult was 
it to register for the L.A.R.E. exams.” All participants 
felt the registration process was easy and efficient. 

Despite a few scheduling constraints for exam dates 
and locations, all participants felt the 'process' was 
smooth and efficient. Many participants were 
complimentary of the CLARB staff for answering 
their questions and facilitating registration. 

Pilot Studies at the University of Guelph          17 

STUDY RESOURCES NOT USEFUL NEITHER VERY USEFUL 

0% 6% 94% 

SHARKY: READY, SET, PRACTICE 0% 39% 61% 

MATHES: L.A.R.E. REVIEW PRACTICE PROBLEMS 0% 41% 59% 

RUSS: SUSTAINABILITY AND DESIGN ETHICS 0% 80% 7% 

TAYLOR: PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE 43% 12% 43% 

WEB RESOURCES: GENERAL 0% 0% 0% 

CLASSMATES 6% 35% 67% 

PREVIOUS EXAM TAKERS 12% 29% 58% 

OTHER 0% 50% 50% 



18 Understanding the Successful Student           

 

    

The Self-Motivated Student 

As previously stated, prior to these pilot studies, three Canadian students 
successfully took a section(s) of the L.A.R.E. on their own initiative with no 
supplemental academic or financial guidance. Each of these students were 
in their undergraduate studies in their third year, approximately at the same 
time many of the study participants were engaged in the pilot. 

As each of these students were successful, it is important to understand 
why they were motivated to pursue the professional exam. Each of these 
subjects were undergraduate students at the University of Guelph at the 
time of their exam, and all are practicing professionals actively pursuing 
their license and carrying out meaningful work in the discipline. 

One student noted that their motivation to begin the exam was internal 
eagerness to experience the “real” professional world, outside of the 
classroom. Another was highly dedicated to their studies and possessed a 
strong desire for academic and professional excellence. All self-motivated 
students acknowledged that they are uniquely positioned, as Ontario 
landscape architecture students are able to begin their licensure exams. 

One student noted that the experience of taking the exam benefited her 
greatly, on a professional and personal level. Employers took notice of her 
“milestone” achievement and she was proud to list the accomplishment on 
her resume. It inspired her to continue pursuing additional sections of the 
exam and increased her self confidence. 

Each of these self-motivated students pursued their exam while finishing an 
internship semester at landscape architecture firms in Ontario. While this 
level of experience is very small, it may have contributed to their 
understanding of the exam material. 



 

 

 

 

SUBSECTION 5 

Summary 

The passing percentage for students taking the exam at 
Guelph was approximately 29 percent – far lower than the 
72 percent pass rate for this exam period overall. This 
surprised not only us but many of the students as well. In 
looking at the information provided by the participants, 
some explanations can be ruled out. 

Age and maturity did not seem to be a predictor of exam 
success given the restricted age and level in program of the 
group. All students participating, both MLA and BLA, were 
upper year students with experience in study strategies and 
testing. All were ‘A’ or ‘B’ students and thus had performed 
at a respectable level in their previous studies. 

All students ‘volunteered’ and thus were more likely to be 
motivated to succeed, particularly, as the challenge of 
preparing for the exam was clearly presented beforehand. In 
essence, students had a fair idea of the preparation 
necessary and they had information on what they would 
need to do within the context of their semester schedule. 

What is left to explain for a pass rate of less than 30 percent 
for the pilot taking Section One? In analyzing both the survey 
and interviews and then comparing information from 
students that passed versus those that did not, a few 
possible explanations emerge. 

Almost all students that passed the L.A.R.E. section spent 
significantly more time preparing than those that did not. As 
well, the time that passing students spent was more 
consistent for the whole study period. So, passing students 
worked consistently over time and for longer hours than did 
their less successful peers. Although it is difficult to 'tease' 
this information out of open-ended responses to questions, 
it appears that students that developed a strategy 
beforehand that accounted for time, fared better. 

All students that passed the L.A.R.E. worked with peers to 
develop and execute a study plan. Some of these study 
groups were very organized while others were more 
opportunistic. For the most part, successful students had 
regular, at least weekly, face-to-face meetings with their 
peers. 

Follow-up interviews with many of the successful students 
clearly identified motivation as a primary factor in success. 
Students that passed the exam indicated that their 
primary goal was to pass the exam. 

Most, but not all, of the successful students had office 
experience either through the formal internship program 
at Guelph or through summer jobs. Each of these students 
felt that office experience gave them more confidence 
going into the exam. A few mentioned that while they did 
not have direct professional experience with the L.A.R.E. 
content, their exposure gave them some insight into the 
subject matter being tested. 

Students who passed the exam were slightly older in age 
but also slightly more experienced and mature. This is 
based on a familiarity with the students as the data 
collected did not assess maturity. 

Almost all students, both those that passed and those that 
failed, commented that the exam format (i.e., the phrasing 
of the questions, the subtle differences in possible 
answers, etc.) was intimidating and often frustrating. 
Further probing of why this might be the case suggested 
that students were uncomfortable with an exam that 
wasn’t simply ‘fact-based.’ We (the authors) suspect that 
Canadian students also have less experience with 
standardized exams on the whole and this may make a 
difference. 

Many students felt that they needed more structured-
learning opportunities to be successful. There were a 
number of comments on the order of, “I hoped there 
would be more formal classes,” or “I really needed a 
professor to answer some question.” It should be 
emphasized that participants were told in the beginning 
and frequently reminded that this was not a course and no 
structured course material sessions would be offered. 

Pilot Studies at the University of Guelph          19 



          

 
 
 

       

The implications arising out of 37 students participating in three L.A.R.E. 
pilots and examinations over four semesters are mixed. Given that these 
were pilot studies, and this comes with some analysis limitations, the 
following can be said with some confidence. 

First, in the landscape architecture programs at the University of Guelph 
there is interest and enthusiasm among students in preparing for and 
taking the L.A.R.E. Yet, based on the responses to questionnaire/ 
interviews and the exam results themselves, it is fairly clear that the 
students want and need structure in the form of a course or perhaps as 
part of an internship semester. There was overwhelming support for a 
formalized course that, at a minimum, was structured to fit within a 
university semester schedule that could include an internship. 

Secondly, while there is some support for the following contention, it is 
based on observation and informal conversation with students as much 
as the more formal ‘data.’ Motivation, the right kind of motivation at 
that, seems to be the best predictor of L.A.R.E. success. Self-motivated 
and diligent students that are willing to study on a consistent basis are 
more likely to pass the exam. This seems rather obvious, yet, we suspect 
that motivation is quite complex to unravel and there are many different 
reasons behind it. The pattern that presents itself for the one-in-three 
students that were successful is that they were willing to, in their own 
words, "...grind it out,” "...approach their preparation the same as 
athletic practice” and most memorably, “Show a prospective employer 
that they have more than just a degree.” 

Finally, if overall success in completing the L.A.R.E. in a timely fashion is 
the goal of the profession, it cannot but help to better introduce the 
L.A.R.E. within university programs. Many of the participants in these 

studies did not have a meaningful grasp of the purpose and content of 
the L.A.R.E. although they have had some exposure in their courses. An 

earlier introduction to the L.A.R.E. in landscape architecture program 

curriculum will help integrate licensure into student knowledge of the 

discipline and their future as a professional. 

Reinforcing the value of licensure in education will ensure that future 
generations of landscape architects carry forward this understanding- 
strengthening and empowering them in their call to protect the health, 
safety and welfare of the public. 

Understanding the Successful Student 20 



Pilot Studies at the University of Guelph          21 



       

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

   

  

 

  

 

 

      

 

 

  

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

     

 

 

 

  

   

  

Agenda Item H 

UPDATE ON AMENDMENTS TO THE LATC’S MEMBER ADMINISTRATIVE 

PROCEDURE MANUAL 

Section 12 of the 2018 Sunset Review Report template contains a prompt for inclusion of a 

Member Administrative Procedure Manual (Manual) with the submitted Report.  The California 

Architects Board (Board) previously revised its Manual in 2012; likewise, the Landscape 

Architects Technical Committee’s (LATC) Manual was previously updated in 2001. 

On May 24, 2018, the Department of Consumer Affairs sponsored a Sunset Review Training that 

included a presentation from the Legislature’s Business and Professions Committee staff.  During 

this presentation, boards were encouraged to provide a current, updated iteration of their Manual in 

the Report.  Following this training, Board and LATC staff obtained Manuals from the Contractors 

State License Board and the California Acupuncture Board – both were updated in 2017 – for use 

as references to update the Board and LATC Manuals. 

During the LATC meeting on July 20, 2018, the Committee was apprised that staff was in the 

process of updating the LATC’s Manual and that it would be modeled from the Board’s updated 

Manual.  Further, due to the Manual’s inclusion in the LATC’s Sunset Review Report, the 

Committee was advised that the proposed updates would be presented to the Board at its meeting 

on September 12, 2018 for review and approval. 

Attachment 1 is the Board’s updated manual, showing all changes to the Manual in tracked 

changes.  Attachment 2 shows updates to the LATC’s Manual; however, notably, this document 

uses the new language of the Board’s Manual with only the language specific to LATC shown in 

tracked changes.  For comparative reference, the LATC’s current Manual (2001) is included as 

Attachment 3.   

At its September 12, 2018 meeting, the Board reviewed and approved amendments to the Board’s 
and LATC’s Manuals (as shown in Attachments 1 and 2).  Accordingly, the approved iteration of 

the LATC’s Manual was included as an attachment in the LATC’s Sunset Review Report upon its 

submission to the Legislature on December 1, 2018. 

Attachments: 

1. Proposed Amendments to Board Administrative Procedure Manual 

2. Proposed Amendments to LATC Administrative Procedure Manual 

3. LATC Administrative Procedure Manual (2001) 

LATC Meeting December 6-7, 2018 Sacramento, CA 



  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
  

 
 

  

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

California Architects Board 
Member Administrative 

Manual 
Approved by Board 9/12/18 



  

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

   
 

   

  

   

   

      

   
 

    
 

     

   

    

   

    

    

  

   

   

   

   

   

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

Table of Contents 

Chapter 1 -- Introduction 

Overview................................................................................................1 

Mission.....................................................................................................1 

Vision.......................................................................................................2 

Values .....................................................................................................2 

General Rules of Conduct..................................................................2 

Abbreviations ........................................................................................2 

Chapter 2 -- Board Meeting Procedures 

Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act ....................................................3 

Public Comment ..................................................................................3 

Closed Session.......................................................................................3 

Frequency of Meetings .......................................................................4 

Meeting Location.................................................................................4 

Board Member Attendance at Board Meetings............................5 

Board Member Participation..............................................................5 

Teleconference Meetings...................................................................5 

Special Meetings ..................................................................................6 

Emergency Meetings...........................................................................6 

Quorum ..................................................................................................6 

Agenda Items .......................................................................................6 



  

 

         

          

   

   

    

    
 

   
 

   

   

    

    

    
 

   
 

   

      

     

     

    

    

     

   

    

    

    

   

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

Notice of Meetings to be Sent to Individuals ..................................6 

Notice of Meetings to be Posted on the Internet ..........................7 

Mail Ballots .............................................................................................7 

Record of Meetings .............................................................................7 

Voting on Motions ................................................................................8 

Audio/Visual Recording ......................................................................8 

Chapter 3 -- Travel & Salary Policies/Procedures 

Travel Approval.....................................................................................8 

Travel Arrangements............................................................................8 

Out-of-State Travel ...............................................................................9 

Travel Reimbursement .........................................................................9 

Salary Per Diem.....................................................................................9 

Chapter 4 -- Other Policies/Procedures 

Board Member Disciplinary Actions................................................11 

Removal of Board Members ............................................................11 

Resignation of Board Members .......................................................11 

Officers of the Board..........................................................................11 

Election of Officers .............................................................................12 

Officer Vacancies ..............................................................................12 

Nomination of Officers ......................................................................12 

Committee Appointments................................................................12 

Attendance at Committee Meetings ............................................13 

Board Staff ...........................................................................................13 

Executive Officer Evaluation ............................................................13 

Board Administration .........................................................................14 



  

 

    

   

    

   

    

      

   

     

    

    

    

   
 

   
 

   

   

    

   
 

 
 

     
     
       
        

     
 

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

Board Budget......................................................................................14 

Conflict of Interest ..............................................................................14 

Financial Disclosure............................................................................15 

Incompatible Activities......................................................................15 

Ex Parte Communications ................................................................17 

Communications with Other Organizations/Individuals .............18 

Legislation ............................................................................................18 

Contact with Candidates.................................................................18 

Gifts from Candidates .......................................................................18 

Request for Records Access.............................................................18 

Business Cards .....................................................................................19 

Letterhead...........................................................................................19 

Chapter 5 -- Training 

Board Member Orientation ..............................................................19 

Ethics.....................................................................................................19 

Sexual Harassment Prevention.........................................................20 

Defensive Driver..................................................................................20 

Appendix 

A. Member Position Description .....................................................21 
B. Committee Policy.........................................................................23 
C. DCA Incompatible Work Activities (OHR 14-01) 
D. Process for Annual Performance Evaluations of Executive Officer 

Memorandum (Dated March 9, 2015) 



  

 

  
  

   
   

  
  

  
 

   
   

   
 

  
  
 

   
 

  

      
     

   
 

   
  

  
 

 
   
  

  

   
  

 
  

 
 

  

   
  

  
 

  
  

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

Chapter 1 Introduction 

Overview The California Board of Architectural Examiners was 
created by the California Legislature in 1901 to 
safeguard the public’s health, safety, and welfare.  
It was renamed the California Architects Board 
(Board) in 2000.  It is one of the boards, bureaus, 
commissions, and committees within the 
Department of Consumer Affairs (DCA), part of the 
Business, Consumer Services and Housing Agency 
under the aegis of the Governor.  The Department 
is responsible for consumer protection and 
representation through the regulation of licensed 
professions and the provision of consumer services. 
While the DCA provides administrative oversight 
and support services, the Board has policy 
autonomy and sets its own policies, procedures, 
and regulations. 

The Board is presently composed of 10 members 
that, by law, 5 are public members, and 5 are 
architects.  The five architect members are all 
appointed by the Governor.  Three of the public 
members are also gubernatorial appointees; while 
one public member is appointed by the Assembly 
Speaker and the other is appointed by the Senate 
Rules Committee.  Board members may serve up to 
two four-year terms.  Board members fill non-
salaried positions but are paid $100 per day for 
each meeting day or day spent in the discharge of 
official duties (see section entitled “Salary Per 
Diem”) and are reimbursed travel expenses. 

This Board Member Administrative Manual is 
provided to Board members as a reference of 
important laws, regulations, DCA policies, and 
Board policies to guide the actions of the Board 
members and ensure Board effectiveness and 
efficiency. 

Mission The California Architects Board protects consumers 
by establishing standards for professional 
qualifications, ensuring competence through 
examinations, setting practice standards, and 
enforcing the Architects Practice Act. 

1 



  

 

  
  

  

  
 

 
 

  

 
 

 
    

  
     

 
   

  
 

 
  

 

   
   

  

 
   

   
  

 
   

 
 

  

 
   

   
   

   

 
 

  

   
   
    

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

Vision 

Values 

General Rules of Conduct 

The California Architects Board will be the national 
leader in the regulation of architectural practice. 

Collaborative 
Professional 
Innovative 
Proactive 

All Board members shall act in accordance with 
their oath of office, and shall conduct themselves 
in a courteous, professional and ethical manner at 
all times. The Board members serve at the pleasure 
of the Governor and the Legislature, and shall 
conduct their business in an open manner, so that 
the public that they serve shall be both informed 
and involved, consistent with the provisions of the 
Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act and all other 
governmental and civil codes applicable to similar 
boards within the State of California. 

•Board members shall not act or speak on the 
Board’s behalf without proper authorization from 
the Board president. 

•Board members shall maintain the confidentiality 
of confidential documents and information. 

•Board members shall commit the time to prepare 
for Board responsibilities. 

•Board members shall recognize the equal role 
and responsibilities of all Board members. 

•Board members shall act fairly, be nonpartisan, 
impartial, and unbiased in their role of protecting 
the public. 

•Board members shall treat all applicants and 
licensees in a fair and impartial manner. 

•Board members’ actions shall serve to uphold the 
principle that the Board’s primary mission is to 
protect the public. 

•Board members shall not use their positions on the 
Board for personal, familial, or financial gain. 

ARE Architectural Registration Examination 
B&P Business and Professions Code 
DCA Department of Consumer Affairs 

Abbreviations 

2 



  

 

   
   
    

 
   
     

 
  

  
  

 
 

  
   

    
  

  
    

 
  

  
  

 

 
 

 

 
 

  
   

   
    

 

   
   

  
 

    

  
  

   
  

 
 

    
   

 

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

EO Executive Officer 
Gov. Government Code 
NCARB 

SAM 

National Council of Architectural 
Registration Boards 
State Administrative Manual 

WCARB Western Council of Architectural 
Registration Boards 

Chapter 2 Board Meeting Procedures 

Bagley-Keene Open 
Meeting Act 
(Gov. Code Section 11120 
et seq.) 

All meetings are open for public attendance and 
subject to all provisions of the Bagley-Keene Open 
Meeting Act. This act governs meetings of the 
state regulatory boards and meetings of 
committees of those boards where the committee 
consists of more than two members. It specifies 
meeting notice and agenda requirements and 
prohibits discussing or taking action on matters not 
included in the agenda. 

Public Comment 
(Gov. Code Section 
11125.7) 

Public comment must be allowed on open session 
agenda items before or during discussion of each 
item and before a vote. 

The Board may accept public comment on an 
item not on the agenda, provided that the Board 
takes no action or does not discuss the item at the 
same meeting. The Board may refer the item to the 
Board’s next Strategic Planning session and/or 
place the matter on the agenda of a future 
meeting.  The Board cannot prohibit public criticism 
of the Board’s policies or services.  The Board 
president may set reasonable time limitations. 

Due to the need for the Board to maintain fairness 
and neutrality when performing its adjudicative 
function, the Board shall not receive any 
substantive information from a member of the 
public regarding matters that are currently under 
or subject to investigation, or involve a pending or 
criminal administrative action. 

Closed Session 
(Gov. Code Sections 

Any general discussion of exams or disciplinary 
procedures shall be held in public.  The Board may 
meet in closed session to discuss examinations 

3 



  

 

  

 

  
   

   
  

 
  

  

   

   

  
 

  

   

 
   

  
   

  
     

 
 

  
  

    
 

 
  

   
 

 

 
 

   
   

    
 

  

 
 

 
 

  
    

 
    

    

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

11125.2, 11126, 11126.1) where a public discussion would compromise the 
integrity of the examination and to deliberate on 
disciplinary cases. Examples of types of closed 
session meetings include: 

•Discuss and vote on disciplinary or enforcement 
matters under the Administrative Procedure Act 
(APA); 

•Prepare, approve, or grade examinations; 

•Discuss pending litigation; or; 

•Discuss the appointment, employment, or 
dismissal of the EO unless the EO requests that 
such action be taken in public. 

If the agenda contains matters that are 
appropriate for closed session, the agenda shall 
cite the particular statutory section and subdivision 
authorizing the closed session. 

No members of the public are allowed to remain in 
the meeting room for closed sessions. At least one 
staff member must be present at all closed sessions 
to record topics discussed and decisions made. 

Closed session must be specifically noticed on the 
agenda (including the topic and legal authority). 
Before going into closed session, the Board 
president should announce in open session the 
general nature of the item(s) to be discussed. If 
the item involves the EO’s employment, 
appointment, or dismissal, and action is taken in 
closed session, the Board must report that action 
and any roll call vote that was taken at the next 
public meeting. 

Frequency of Meetings The Board shall meet at least once a quarter for the 
purpose of transacting such business as may (B&P Code Section 5522) 
lawfully come before it and may meet more often 
as it determines necessary. 

Meeting Location 
(Gov. Code Sections 
11123.1 & 11131; B&P Code 
Section 101.7) 

The Board is required to hold its meetings at 
locations that are easily accessible to the public 
and individuals with disabilities in compliance the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). The Board 
will hold meetings in different locations throughout 

4 



  

 

 
 

 

  

 

 
    

   
    

 
  
  

  

 

   
 

   
 

    
    

  
  

  
   

   
  

 
  

 
   

    
  

  

  

  
   

   
    

   

  
  
   

   

 

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

Board Member Attendance 
at Board Meetings 
(Board Policy) 

Board Member 
Participation 
(Board Policy) 

Teleconference Meetings 
(Gov. Code Section 11123) 

the state and is required to hold at least one 
meeting in Northern California and one meeting in 
Southern California. 

Board members shall attend each meeting of the 
Board. If a member is unable to attend he/she 
must contact the Board president or the EO and 
ask to be excused from the meeting for a specific 
reason.  Should a member miss two consecutive 
meetings, the Board president may notify the 
Director of the DCA. 

The Board president may ascertain from members 
whose level of participation is below standard 
whether or not the member is no longer able to 
continue serving as an active member of the 
Board. In such a case, the Board president may 
suggest that the member resign. If such resignation 
is not forthcoming within a reasonable time, the 
Board, by resolution, may request the appointing 
authority to have the member replaced.  However, 
the member shall be given the opportunity to 
present to the Board his/her arguments against the 
resolution prior to such a resolution being adopted 
by the Board. 

Special rules for notice of teleconference meetings 
are as follows: 

•Same 10-day notice requirement as in-person 
meetings. 

•Notice and agenda must include teleconference 
locations. 

•Every teleconference location must be open to 
the public and at least one Board member must 
be physically present at every noticed location. 
Board members must attend the meeting at a 
publicly noticed location. 

•Additional locations may be listed on the notice 
that allow the public to observe or address the 
Board by electronic means without a Board 
member present. 

5 



  

 

 

 

     
 

    
  

  
  

   
  

  
 

   
  

      
   

   
  

 
 

 

  
  

  
 

    
    

 
 

  

 
  

   
    

  
  

   
   

   
  

   
 

  

 
 

   
 

   
  

 
  

   
 

   

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

Special Meetings 
(Gov. Code Section 
11125.4) 

Emergency Meetings 
(Gov. Code Section 
11125.5) 

Quorum 
(B&P Code Section 5524) 

Agenda Items 
(Board Policy) 

A special meeting may be called at any time by 
the Board president, or in his or her absence the 
vice president or by a majority of the members of 
the Board and held with 48 hours’ notice in 
specified situations (e.g., consideration of 
proposed legislation).  At the commencement of 
any special meeting, the Board must make a 
finding in open session that the delay necessitated 
by providing notice 10 days prior to a meeting 
would cause a “substantial hardship on the Board 
or that immediate action is required to protect the 
public interest.”  The finding shall be adopted by 
two-thirds vote of the Board if less than two-thirds 
members present, a unanimous vote of those 
members present. 

An emergency meeting may be held after finding 
by a majority of the Board at a prior meeting or at 
the emergency meeting that an emergency 
situation exists due to work stoppage or crippling 
disaster. [A quorum is required for the Board to 
meet in the event of emergency, such as a work 
stoppage or crippling disaster.] Emergency 
meetings require a one-hour notice. 

Six of the members of the Board constitute a 
quorum of the Board for the transaction of business. 
The concurrence of five members of the Board 
present at a meeting duly held at which a quorum 
is present shall be necessary to constitute an act or 
decision of the Board, except that when all 10 
members of the Board are present at a meeting 
duly held, the concurrence of six members shall be 
necessary to constitute an act or decision of the 
Board. 

The Board president, with the assistance of the EO, 
shall prepare the agenda and tentative meeting 
timeframe.  Any Board member may submit items 
for a Board meeting agenda to the EO 15 days 
prior to the meeting. 

Notice of Meetings to be According to the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting 
Sent to Individuals Act, meeting notices (including agendas for Board 

meetings) shall be sent to persons on the Board's 
6 



  

 

 
  

 

 
   

  
  

 
  

   

  
 

 
  

  
  

 
  

    
    

   
  

 
  

 
  

 

 
  

   
  

    
   

   
 

 
   

    
 

  

 
 
 

 

    
 
 
 
 
 

  
     

   
  

  

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

(Gov. Code Section 11120 
et seq.; B&P Code Section 
101.7) 

Notice of Meetings to be 
Posted on the Internet 
(Gov. Code Section 11125) 

Mail Ballots 
(Gov. Code Section 11500 
et seq.) 

Record of Meetings 
(Board Policy; B&P Section 
5521; Gov. Code Sections 
11123(c),11126.1) 

mailing or email list at least 10 calendar days in 
advance. The notice shall include a staff person's 
name, work address, and work telephone number 
who can provide further information prior to the 
meeting. 

Unless the meeting meets the requirements for a 
special or emergency meeting under the Bagley-
Keene Open Meeting Act, notice shall be given 
and made available on the Internet at least 10 
calendar days in advance of the meeting, and 
shall include the name, address, and telephone 
number of a staff person who can provide further 
information prior to the meeting but need not 
include a list of witnesses expected to appear at 
the meeting. The written notice shall additionally 
include the Internet address where notices required 
by the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act are made 
available. 

The Board must approve any proposed decision or 
stipulated settlement before the formal discipline 
becomes final and the penalty can take effect. 
Due to time limitations, mail ballots may be 
executed. If needed, stipulated settlements and 
proposed decisions will be mailed to each Board 
member for his or her vote. For stipulations, a 
background memorandum from the assigned 
deputy attorney general accompanies the mail 
ballot. A five-calendar day deadline generally is 
given to complete the ballot and return it to the 
Board’s office. 

The minutes are a summary, not a transcript, of 
each Board meeting.  They shall be prepared by 
Board staff and submitted for review by Board 
members before the next Board meeting.  The 
minutes must contain a record of how each 
member present voted for each item on which a 
vote was taken.  Board minutes shall be approved 
at the next scheduled meeting of the Board. When 
approved, the minutes shall serve as the official 
record of the meeting. 

7 



  

 

 
 

  
  

 

   
   

    

   
   

  
   
    

  

   

 

 

 
  

 
 

 
 

  
     

  

  

   
  

 
 

 

  
  
   

 
  

 
 

 
   

   
   

  

   
   

    
 

  
  

   

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

Voting on Motions 
(B&P Code Section 5524; 
Gov. Code Sections 11120, 
11122, 11123, 87100 et seq.; 
68 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 65, 
69-70) 

Audio/Visual Recording 
(Board Policy) 

Chapter 3 

Travel Approval 
(DCA Memorandum 
96-01) 

Travel Arrangements 
(Board Policy) 

As a general rule, all votes must be taken publicly. 
However, votes taken on closed session matters are 
not required to be taken publicly. In addition, the 
APA (disciplinary matters) authorizes mail voting on 
all questions arising under that act. Secret ballots 
and proxy votes are prohibited. A majority of the 
board or committee vote is determined by the 
votes actually cast. Abstentions are recorded, but 
not counted, unless a law provides otherwise. 

Options for Board members: 

1) Support / in Favor / Yes / Aye 

2) Oppose / No / Nay 

3) Abstain (not counted as a vote) 

4) Recused (not counted as a vote) 

The meeting may be audio/video recorded and/ 
or broadcast live via the Internet.  Recordings shall 
be disposed of upon Board approval of the 
minutes. If a webcast of the meeting is intended, it 
shall be indicated on the agenda notice. 

Travel & Salary Policies/Procedures 

Board members shall have Board president 
approval for all travel except for regularly 
scheduled Board and committee meetings to 
which the Board member is assigned. 

Board members are encouraged to coordinate 
with the EO secretary for any Board-related travel 
arrangements, including air or train transportation, 
car rental, and lodging accommodations through 
Cal Travel Store’s online booking tool, Concur. 

Board members must also utilize the most 
economic source of transportation available.  For 
example, if the hotel provides a shuttle from the 
airport to the hotel it is not fiscally responsible to 
rent a car or take a taxi.  Reimbursement may be 
reduced or denied if the most economical sources 
are not used. 

All Board-related travel must be booked using Cal 
8 



  

 

 
 

 
  

 
  

   
  

 
  

 
  
  

  
  

  
 

  

 
  

 

   

   
   

  
 

  
 

  
   

    
  

    
  

 
   

   

   
 

  
  

  

 
 

  
 

  
  

   

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

Out-of-State Travel 
(SAM Section 700 et seq.) 

Travel Reimbursement 
(SAM Section 700 et seq. & 
DCA Memorandum 96-01) 

Salary Per Diem 
(B&P Code Section 103) 

Travel Store’s self-service reservation system, 
Concur, if a Board member seeks reimbursement. 

In advance of Board and committee meetings, the 
EO secretary will provide members information 
detailing the name and address of the chosen 
hotel where state rates are available if an 
overnight stay is required. 

For out-of-state travel, Board members will be 
reimbursed actual lodging expenses, supported by 
vouchers, and will be reimbursed for meal and 
supplemental expenses.  Out-of-state travel for all 
persons representing the state of California is 
controlled and must be approved by the 
Governor’s Office. 

Rules governing reimbursement of travel expenses 
for Board members are the same as for 
management level state staff. Board members 
must submit the originals of all receipts, with the 
exception of meals, and, when applicable, a copy 
of the airline itinerary and hotel receipt showing the 
balance paid, to the EO secretary.  All expenses 
shall be claimed on the appropriate travel expense 
claim forms.  The EO secretary maintains these 
forms and completes them as needed. The EO 
secretary completes travel expense 
reimbursements in CalATERS Global and maintains 
copies of these reports and submitted receipts. It is 
advisable for Board members to submit their travel 
expense forms immediately after returning from a 
trip and not later than two weeks following the trip. 

In order for the expenses to be reimbursed, Board 
members shall follow the procedures contained in 
DCA Departmental Memoranda that are 
periodically disseminated by the Director and are 
provided to Board members on at least an annual 
basis by the EO secretary. 

Each member of a board, commission or 
committee created in various chapters of Division 3 
(commencing with section 5000) is eligible to 
receive a per diem of $100 for each day actually 
spent in the discharge of official duties, unless on 

9 



  

 

 
   

  
    

 

    
  

    

 
 

 
 

  

   
 

   

   
 

  
 

  
 

    
 

  
  

  
      

  
  

  
 
 

  

   
 

  
    

  
  

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

any day served, the member also received 
compensation for their regular public employment. 
Reimbursement of travel and other related 
expenses for Board members is also regulated by 
section 103. 

In relevant part, this section provides for the 
payment of salary per diem for Board members “for 
each day actually spent in the discharge of official 
duties,” and provides that the Board member “shall 
be reimbursed for traveling and other expenses 
necessarily incurred in the performance of official 
duties.” 

(Board Policy) Accordingly, the following general guidelines shall 
be adhered to in the payment of salary per diem or 
reimbursement for travel: 

No salary per diem or reimbursement for travel-
related expenses shall be paid to Board members 
except for attendance in official Board or 
committee meetings, unless a substantial official 
service is performed by the Board member. 
Attendance at gatherings, events, hearings, 
conferences, or meetings other than official Board 
or committee meetings in which a substantial 
official service is performed shall be approved in 
advance by the Board president.  The EO shall be 
notified of the event and approval shall be 
obtained from the Board president prior to Board 
member’s attendance. 

The term “day actually spent in the discharge of 
official duties” shall mean such time as is expended 
from the commencement of a Board or committee 
meeting to the conclusion of that meeting. Where 
it is necessary for a Board member to leave early 
from a meeting, the Board president shall 
determine if the member has provided a 
substantial service during the meeting and, if so, 
shall authorize payment of salary per diem and 
reimbursement for travel-related expenses. 

For Board specified work, Board members will be 
compensated for actual time spent performing 
work authorized by the Board president.  That work 
includes, but is not limited to, authorized 
attendance at other gatherings, events, meetings, 
hearings, or conferences; NCARB committee work; 

10 



  

 

    
 

   
 

  
 

  
  

  

  
 

  
  

  
 

    

 

  
 

  

  
 

 
    

 
 

   
  

  
 

  

  

    
     

  
   

    
    

    
   

  

 
 

 
  

 
 

  

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

Chapter 4 

Board Member 
Disciplinary Actions 
(Board Policy; Gov. Code 
Section 11125.4) 

Removal of Board 
Members 
(B&P Code Sections 106 & 
106.5) 

Resignation of Board 
Members 
(Gov. Code Section 1750) 

Officers of the Board 
(B&P Code Section 5518) 

and travel time on non-meeting days (out-of-state). 
That work does not include preparation time for 
Board or committee meetings. Board members 
cannot claim salary per diem for time spent 
traveling to and from a Board or committee 
meeting. 

Other Policies/Procedures 

A member may be censured by the Board if, after a 
hearing before the Board, the Board determines 
that the member has acted in an inappropriate 
manner. 

The Board president shall preside over the hearing 
unless the censure involves the president's own 
actions, in which case the Board vice president shall 
preside.  In accordance with the Bagley-Keene 
Open Meeting Act, the censure hearing shall be 
conducted in open session. 

The Governor has the power to remove from office 
at any time any member of any board appointed 
by him/her for continued neglect of duties required 
by law or for incompetence or unprofessional or 
dishonorable conduct. The Governor may also 
remove from office a board member who directly 
or indirectly discloses examination questions to an 
applicant for examination for licensure. 

In the event that it becomes necessary for a Board 
member to resign, a letter shall be sent to the 
appropriate appointing authority (Governor, Senate 
Rules Committee, or Speaker of the Assembly) with 
the effective date of the resignation. Written 
notification is required by state law. A copy of this 
letter shall also be sent to the director of DCA, the 
Board president, and the EO. 

The Board shall elect from its members a president, 
a vice president, and a secretary to hold office for 
one year or until their successors are duly elected 
and qualified. 

11 



  

 

 
 

   
   

   
    

   
 

  
  

 

 

 
    

  
   

 
 

  

 

 

 
  

 
   

 
    

 
  

   
  

 
     

  
   

  
     

  
   

    
 

 
  

  

 
 

 
 

  
   

    

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

Election of Officers 
(Board Policy) 

Officer Vacancies 
(Board Policy) 

Nomination of Officers 
(Board Policy) 

Committee Appointments 
(Board Policy) 

The Board shall elect the officers at the last meeting 
of the calendar year.  Officers shall serve a term of 
one year.  All officers may be elected on one 
motion or ballot as a slate of officers unless more 
than one Board member is running per office.  An 
officer may be re-elected and serve for more than 
one term. 

If an office becomes vacant during the year, an 
election shall be held at the next meeting. If the 
office of the president becomes vacant, the vice 
president shall assume the office of the president. 
Elected officers shall then serve the remainder of 
the term. 

The Board president shall appoint a Nominations 
Committee prior to the last meeting of the calendar 
year and shall give consideration to appointing a 
public and a professional member of the Board to 
the Committee.  The Committee’s charge will be to 
recommend a slate of officers for the following year. 
The Committee’s recommendation will be based on 
the qualifications, recommendations, and interest 
expressed by the Board members.  A survey of 
Board members will be conducted to obtain interest 
in each officer position.  A Nominations Committee 
member is not precluded from running for an officer 
position. If more than one Board member is 
interested in an officer position, the Nominations 
Committee will make a recommendation to the 
Board and others will be included on the ballot for a 
runoff if they desire.  The results of the Nominations 
Committee’s findings and recommendations will be 
provided to the Board members in the meeting 
packet prior to the election of officers. 
Notwithstanding the Nominations Committee’s 
recommendations, Board members may be 
nominated from the floor at the meeting. 

The Board president shall establish committees, 
whether standing or special, as he or she deems 
necessary.  The composition of the committees 
and the appointment of the members shall be 
determined by the Board president in consultation 
with the vice president, and the EO. When 

12 



  

 

   
 

   
  

  
 

    
 

   
  

    
 

  
  

    
 
 

 

    
    

  
 

  

 
 

   
  

   
  

 
 

   
 
 

  
  

 
 

   

  
  

  

 
    

 
 

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

Attendance at Committee 
Meetings 
(Board Policy; Gov. Code 
Section 11122.5(c)(6)) 

Board Staff 
(DCA Reference Manual) 

committees include the appointment of non-Board 
members, all impacted parties should be 
considered. (See Committee Policy in Appendix B.) 

If a Board member wishes to attend a meeting of a 
committee in an official capacity of which he/she 
is not a member, that Board member shall obtain 
permission from the Board president to attend and 
shall notify the committee chair and staff. Board 
members who are not members of the committee 
that is meeting cannot vote during the committee 
meeting and may attend only as observers. If 
there is a quorum of the Board at a committee 
meeting, Board members who are not members of 
the committee must sit in the audience and 
cannot participate in committee deliberations. 

Committees operate at the direction of the Board 
to fulfill specific goals in the Strategic Plan. 
Committee chairs shall lead committees’ actions 
toward such goals without undue influence on the 
part of Board officers or members. 

The Board and LATC maintain an ongoing practice 
of providing regular updates regarding key issues 
at each other’s respective meetings to sustain 
understanding of each entity’s priorities. The Board 
appoints an LATC liaison, who attends LATC 
meetings on behalf of the Board. 

Employees of the Board, with the exception of the 
EO, are civil service employees.  Their employment, 
pay, benefits, discipline, termination, and 
conditions of employment are governed by civil 
service laws, regulations, and collective bargaining 
labor agreements.  Because of this complexity, it is 
most appropriate that the Board delegate all 
authority and responsibility for management of the 
civil service staff to the EO.  Board members shall 
not intervene or become involved in specific day-
to-day personnel transactions or matters. 

Executive Officer Board members shall evaluate the performance of 
Evaluation the EO on an annual basis in accordance with 

(Board Policy; Gov. Code DCA’s memorandum Process for Annual 
Performance Evaluations of EO (Appendix D). The 

13 



  

 

  
     

   
   

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
   

 
  

  
  

     
   

 
  

 
 

   

   
  

  
      

  
 

 
  

 
   

 
    

 
 

    
   

   
  

  
  

   
     

  
   

  

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

Section 11126(a)(1)) evaluation shall be conducted in Closed Session 
during a meeting of the Board pursuant to Gov. 
Code section 11126(a)(1). 

Board Administration 
(DCA Reference Manual) 

Board members should be concerned primarily 
with formulating decisions on Board policies rather 
than decisions concerning the means for carrying 
out a specific course of action.  It is inappropriate 
for Board members to become involved in the 
details of program delivery.  Strategies for the day-
to-day management of programs and staff shall be 
the responsibility of the EO. 

Consistent with the budget and Strategic Plan, 
requests by individual Board members that are not 
directly associated with a committee’s goals or 
have an impact on staff workload, as determined 
by the president and EO, may be declined. In the 
event the request is by the president, the vice 
president shall review the request. 

Board Budget 
(Board Policy) 

The Board vice president shall serve as the Board’s 
budget liaison with staff and shall assist staff in the 
monitoring and reporting of the budget to the 
Board.  Staff will conduct an annual budget 
briefing with the Board with the assistance of the 
Board vice president. The EO or his/her designee 
will attend and testify at legislative budget hearings 
and shall communicate all budget issues to the 
Administration and Legislature. 

Conflict of Interest 
(Gov. Code Section 87100) 

No Board member may make, participate in 
making, or in any way attempt to use his or her 
official position to influence a governmental 
decision in which he or she knows or has reason to 
know he or she has a financial interest. Any Board 
member who has a financial interest shall disqualify 
himself/herself from making or attempting to use 
his/her official position to influence the decision. 
Any Board member who feels he or she is entering 
into a situation where there is a potential for a 
conflict of interest should immediately consult the 
EO or the Board’s legal counsel. The question of 
whether or not a member has a financial interest 
that would present a legal conflict of interest is 
complex and must be decided on a case-by-case 

14 



  

 

    
 

   
 

 
  

 
 

 

  
  

  
   

  
   

   
  

  
  

   
    

   

  
    

  
  

  

  
  

  
  

  
     

  
  

 
  

 
   

  
  

 
 

  

  
 

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

Financial Disclosure 
(Gov. Code Section 
87302(b) 

Incompatible Activities 
(Gov. Code Section 19990) 

review of the particular facts involved. For more 
information on disqualifying yourself because of a 
possible conflict of interest, please refer to the Fair 
Political Practice Committee’s manual on their 
website: fppc.ca.gov. 

The Conflict of Interest Code also requires Board 
members to file annual financial disclosure 
statements by submitting a Form 700 – Statement of 
Economic Interest. New Board members are 
required to file a disclosure statement within 30 
days after assuming office. Annual financial 
statements must be filed no later than April 1 of 
each calendar year. 

A “leaving of office statement” must be filed within 
30 days after an affected Board member leaves 
office. 

Board members are not required to disclose all of 
their financial interests. Gov. Code section 87302 
(b) explains when an item is reportable: 

An investment, interest in real property, or income 
shall be made reportable by the Conflict of Interest 
Code if the business entity in which the investment 
is held, the interest in real property, or the income 
or source of income may foreseeably be affected 
materially by any decision made or participated in 
by the designated employee by virtue of his or her 
position. 

Refer to the Fair Political Practices Commission’s 
website fppc.ca.gov to determine what 
investments, interests in property, or income must 
be reported by a member. Questions concerning 
particular financial situations and related 
requirements should be directed to DCA’s Legal 
Affairs Division. 

Following is a summary of the employment, 
activities, or enterprises that might result in or 
create the appearance of being inconsistent, 
incompatible, or in conflict with the duties of state 
officers: 

•Using the prestige or influence of a state office or 
employment for the officer’s or employee’s 

15 

https://fppc.ca.gov
https://fppc.ca.gov


  

 

  
  

  
   

   
  

  
  

 
  

  
 

   
  

  
 

  

   
 

   
   

 
  

   
  

  

 
  

  
  

 
 

    
   

  
 

  

   

   
  

   

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

private gain or advantage, or the private gain or 
advantage of another. 

•Using state time, facilities, equipment, or supplies 
for the officer’s or employee’s private gain or 
advantage, or the private gain or advantage of 
another. 

•Using confidential information acquired by the 
virtue of state employment for the officer’s or 
employee’s private gain or advantage or 
advantage of another. 

•Receiving or accepting money, or any other 
consideration, from anyone other than the state 
for the performance of an act which the officer or 
employee would be required or expected to 
render in the regular course or hours of his or her 
state employment or as a part of his or her duties 
as a state officer or employee. 

•Performance of an act other than in his or her 
capacity as a state officer or employee knowing 
that such an act may later be subject, directly or 
indirectly, to the control, inspection, review, audit, 
or enforcement by such officer or employee of 
the agency by which he or she is employed. (This 
would not preclude an “industry” member of the 
Board from performing normal functions of his or 
her occupation.) 

•Receiving or accepting, directly or indirectly, any 
gift, including money, any service, gratuity, favor, 
entertainment, hospitality, loan, or any other thing 
of value from anyone who is seeking to do 
business of any kind with the state or whose 
activities are regulated or controlled in any way 
by the state, under circumstances from which it 
reasonably could be inferred that the gift was 
intended to influence him or her in his or her 
official duties or was intended as a reward for any 
official action on his or her part. 

The aforementioned limitations do not attempt to 
specify every possible limitation on member or 
employee activity that might be determined and 
prescribed under the authority of Gov. Code 
section 19990. DCA’s Incompatible Work Activities 

16 



  

 

  
  

 
 

 

 

  
  

 
    

   
 

 

 
 

  
 

  

 
  

 

  
 

 
   

   
  

  
 

  
 
 

  
   

 
  

    
  

 
   

 

  
 

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

OHR 10-01 is included in Appendix C. 

Ex Parte Communications 
(Gov. Code Section 
11430.10 et seq.) 

The Government Code contains provisions 
prohibiting ex parte communications.  An “ex 
parte” communication is a communication to the 
decision-maker made by one party to an 
enforcement action without participation by the 
other party. While there are specified exceptions 
to the general prohibition, the key provision is 
found in subdivision (a) of section 11430.10, which 
states: 

“While the proceeding is pending, there shall 
be no communication, direct or indirect, 
regarding any issue in the proceeding to the 
presiding officer from an employee or 
representative of an agency that is a party 
or from an interested person outside the 
agency, without notice and an opportunity 
for all parties to participate in the 
communication.” 

Board members are prohibited from an ex parte 
communication with Board enforcement staff while 
a proceeding is pending. 

Occasionally an applicant who is being formally 
denied licensure, or a licensee against whom 
disciplinary action is being taken, will attempt to 
directly contact Board members. 

If the communication is written, the person should 
read only far enough to determine the nature of 
the communication.  Once he or she realizes it is 
from a person against whom an action is pending, 
they should reseal the documents and send them 
to the EO. 

If a Board member receives a telephone call from 
an applicant or licensee against whom an action is 
pending, he or she should immediately tell the 
person that discussion about the matter is not 
permitted, he or she will be required to recuse him 
or herself from any participation in the matter, and 
continued discussion is of no benefit to the 
applicant or licensee. 

If a Board member believes that he or she has 
received an unlawful ex parte communication, he 

17 

https://11430.10
https://11430.10


  

 

    
 

  

 

    
  

   
    

   
   

   
 

  
  

 
   

  
 
 

 
  

     
   

   
 

  

 
 

  
    

  
  

   
   
     

    
 

  

 
 

  
 

    
  

 
 

  

 
  

   
   

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

Communications with 
Other Organizations/ 
Individuals 
(Board Policy) 

Legislation 
(Board Policy) 

Contact with Candidates 
(Board Policy) 

Gifts from Candidates 
(Board Policy) 

Request for Records Access 

or she should contact the Board’s assigned Legal 
Affairs Division counsel. 

All communications relating to any Board action or 
policy to any individual or organization including 
NCARB, WCARB, or a representative of the media 
shall be made only by the Board president, his/her 
designee, or the EO.  Any Board member who is 
contacted by any of the above should 
immediately inform the Board president or EO of 
the contact.  All correspondence shall be issued on 
the Board’s standard letterhead and will be 
created and disseminated by the Board office. 

Board members shall not act on behalf of the 
Board without Board approval and consensus, 
including but not limited to meeting or interacting 
with other professional organizations, governmental 
entities, educational institutions, architectural 
associations, intern associations, etc.  All actions on 
behalf of the Board shall be documented and 
communicated to the EO.  The EO will then convey 
such information to the Board via the monthly 
report or by other means, as determined 
necessary. 

In the event time constraints preclude Board 
action, the Board delegates to the EO the authority 
to take action on legislation that would change 
the Architects Practice Act, impact a previously 
established Board policy, or affect the public’s 
health, safety, or welfare.  Prior to taking a position 
on legislation, the EO shall consult with the Board 
president. The Board shall be notified of such 
action as soon as possible. 

Board members shall not intervene on behalf of a 
candidate for any reason.  They should forward all 
contacts or inquiries to the EO or Board staff. 

Gifts of any kind to Board members or the staff from 
candidates for licensure with the Board shall not be 
permitted. 

No Board member may access a licensee or 
candidate file without the EO’s knowledge and 

18 



  

 

   

 
  

 
 

   
   

   
  

  
   

 
  

 
 

  
  

    
   

   
   

 

  

 
  

    
   

  
  

   
     

   
 

 
  

 
   

 
    

 
   

  
  

 
  

 
 

 

  
  

  

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

(Board Policy) approval of the conditions of access.  Records or 
copies of records shall not be removed from the 
Board's office. 

Business Cards 
(Board Policy) 

Business cards will be provided to each Board 
member upon request with the Board’s name, 
address, telephone, fax number, and website 
address.  A Board member’s business address, 
telephone, and fax number, and e-mail address 
may be listed on the card at the member’s 
request. 

Letterhead 
(Board Policy) 

Only correspondence that is transmitted directly by 
the Board office may be printed or written on 
Board letterhead stationery. Any correspondence 
from a Board member requiring the use of Board 
stationary or the Board’s logo should be 
transmitted to the Board office for finalization and 
distribution. 

Chapter 5 Training 
Once a Board member is appointed, the EO 
secretary will send an email containing a list of all 
the required trainings, their due dates, and 
instructions about their completion. Board 
members should send the certificate of completion 
or signature page to the EO secretary who 
maintains Board members’ records. For additional 
information, Board members may refer to DCA’s 
online Board Member Resource Center which may 
be found at: dca.boardmembers.ca.gov 

Board Member Orientation 
(B&P Code Section 453) 

Newly appointed and reappointed Board 
members must attend a Board Member orientation 
training course offered by DCA within one year of 
assuming office. The orientation covers information 
regarding required training, in addition to other 
topics that will ensure a member’s success, 
including an overview of DCA. 

Ethics 
(Gov. Code Section 11146 
et seq.) 

State appointees and employees in exempt 
positions are required to take an ethics orientation 
within the first six months of their appointment and 

19 



  

 

      
   

   
  

 
  

 
 

 

    
 

  

 
 

  
 

   
 

  
  

   
 

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

Sexual Harassment 
Prevention 
(Gov. Code Section 
12950.1) 

Defensive Driver 
(SAM Section 0751) 

every two years thereafter. To comply with that 
directive, Board members may take the interactive 
course provided by the Office of the Attorney 
General, which can be found at 
oag.ca.gov/ethics. 

Board members are required to undergo sexual 
harassment prevention training and education 
once every two years, in odd years. Staff will 
coordinate the training with DCA. 

All state employees, which includes Board and 
committee members, who drive a vehicle (state 
vehicle, vehicles rented by the state, or personal 
vehicles for state business) on official state business 
must complete the Department of General 
Services (DGS) approved defensive driver training 
(DDT) within the first six months of their appointment 
and every four years thereafter. 

20 

https://oag.ca.gov/ethics


  

 

 

 
  

    
   

   
 

 
  

     
 

 
    

   
   

     
      

    
   

 
 

  
  

   
 

   
   

   
 

     
   

    
  

  
 

  
      

  
   

     
 

   
    

  

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

APPENDIX A 

Member Position Description 

The California Architects Board exists to regulate the practice of architecture in 
the interest and for the protection of the public health, safety, and welfare.  The 
Board is comprised of ten members, five architects and five public members.  To 
ensure the most effective representation of the interests of both the public and 
the profession, the Board seeks to have among its members a broad cross-
section of architects and consumers of architectural services (e.g., 
representatives from large and small firms, developers, building officials, 
educators). Whether a public or a professional member, each member of the 
Board is responsible first and foremost for public protection. 

The Board manages its responsibilities by delegating to a number of committees 
and task forces and its staff, thereby enabling the Board to more effectively fulfill 
its mission.  The Board appoints an EO to exercise the powers and perform the 
duties delegated by the Board.  The EO manages the Board’s staff (currently 
29.8 positions including Landscape Architects Technical Committee [LATC] staff 
positions). With direction from the Board and the Strategic Plan, the Board staff 
implements the Board’s examination, licensing, enforcement, and administration 
programs. 

As a whole, the Board’s responsibilities include the following: 
• Delineation of the basic professional qualifications and performance 

standards for admission to and practice of the profession of architecture. 
The Board accomplishes this objective by setting minimum qualifications for 
licensure and administering the California Supplemental Examination. 

• Establishment and administration of a fair and uniform enforcement policy to 
deter and prosecute violations of the Architects Practice Act and related 
regulations. 

• Setting policy and procedures for the Board, its committees, task forces, and 
staff in carrying out the duties of the Board. 

• Disseminating information to consumers, licensees, and professional and 
educational organizations about the Board’s services and activities, and rules 
and regulations governing the profession. 

Individual Board member responsibilities include: 
• Attendance at Board meetings. (The Board regularly meets quarterly, but 

may meet more often if necessary.  Meetings are generally one-day and are 
scheduled in locations throughout California.  Overnight travel may be 
necessary. Every two years, the Board meeting includes a Strategic Planning 
session.) 

• Participation on Board committees and task forces.  (Time commitment for 
committees and task forces vary.  Most committees meet 1-2 times per year. 
Meetings are generally one-day and are scheduled in locations throughout 

21 



  

 

   
     

  
 

   
 

     
   

   
 

    
  

  
    

   
 

  
    

   

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

California.  Overnight travel may be necessary.) 
• Board members are also expected to invest the time to review the 

"recommended reading" necessary to participate effectively in Board 
business.  Such readings include the Board Member Administrative Procedure 
Manual, Sunset Review Report, Board and committee packets, recent studies 
and reports, and related material. 

• Acting as a representative of the Board to communicate information to the 
professional and educational communities. (Board members may be 
assigned an architectural school and a constituency group with which they 
act as a liaison.) 

• Possible participation in meetings of the National Council of Architectural 
Registration Boards (NCARB) and Western Council of Architectural 
Registration Boards’ (WCARB) meetings and committees. (Each organization 
holds at least one meeting per year.  NCARB committees typically meet 
twice per year.  Meetings are usually two days, and up to two days travel 
time may be required, depending on meeting location.) 

• Possible participation as a WCARB or NCARB officer or director.  (The Board 
has a goal of exercising more influence on WCARB/NCARB by encouraging 
its members to participate at officer levels of these two organizations.) 

22 



  

 

 
 

  
 
  
  
  
  

 
  

 
   

  
 

 
  

  
     

     
   

    
 

 
 

    
  

  
   

 
   

 
 

  
    
   

  
     

    
    

    
    
   

 
 

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

APPENDIX B 
Committee Policy 

Committees 
The standing committees of the Board are the: 

• Executive 
• Professional Qualifications 
• Regulatory and Enforcement 
• Communications 

Board committees are the deliberative bodies that assist the Board in 
developing policy.  Committees make recommendations for consideration by 
the Board.  All Board members should serve on at least one committee each 
year.  Commencing with the committees for the 2014 Strategic Plan, no 
committee should have more than nine members. 

The committees should meet regularly.  At a minimum, once the Board’s 
Strategic Plan is adopted in March, committees should conduct meetings to 
complete assigned objectives and present them to the Board for consideration, 
clarification, direction, etc. before the end of the biennial Strategic Plan. New 
issues that emerge during the course of the year, unless they are critical 
emergencies, should be referred to the next strategic planning session. 
Teleconference meetings can be utilized for meetings on urgent or single-
subject issues. 

In the event that additional new committee members are needed, the Board 
president shall ask Board and committee members for suggested interested 
persons; if an insufficient pool exists, the Board may request names from various 
organizations, including, but not limited to: The American Institute of Architects, 
California Council; Society of American Registered Architects; Construction 
Specifications Institute; California Building Officials, etc. 

Chairmanships 
With the exception of the Executive Committee, each committee chair and 
vice chair shall be appointed by the Board president (in consultation with the 
vice president and EO) and shall be a Board member, absent extenuating 
circumstances (numerous vacancies on the Board).  The Executive Committee 
shall be comprised of the current Board president, vice president, secretary, and 
the immediate past Board president.  Chairs should serve for two to three years, 
if possible, and in the best interest of the Board.  The Board should endeavor to 
offer opportunities for all Board members to serve as a chair or vice chair during 
their tenure on the Board.  The list of committee members will be reproduced as 
part of the Strategic Plan every other year so it is memorialized in a centralized 
location. 

23 



  

 

 
    
   

  
    

   
     

 
 
  
   

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

Review 
Committee chairs should prepare a report for the Board president and 
president-elect by November 30th each year.   The report would consist of a list 
of committee members, their committee meeting attendance record, and a 
synopsis of their contributions, as well as a recommendation as to whether they 
should be reappointed.  Staff shall prepare a template for the report with the 
attendance data.   Each chair shall consult with the EO in preparing the report. 

Approved by the Board June 14, 2012 
Revised and approved by the Board on September 12, 2018 

24 



  

 

    
 

  
 

 

California Architects Board Administrative Manual 

APPENDIX C 
DCA Incompatible Work Activities (OHR 14-01) 

APPENDIX D 
Process for Annual Performance Evaluations of Executive Officer Memorandum 
(Dated March 9, 2015) 

25 



TITLE INCOMPATIBLE WORK ACTIVITIES      

POLICY OWNER OFFICE OF HUMAN RESOURCES 

POLICY NUMBER OHR 14-01 SUPERSEDES OHR 10-01 

ISSUE DATE NOVEMBER 24, 2014  EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY 

DISTRIBUTE TO ALL EMPLOYEES 

ORIGINAL APPROVED 
BY 

Original signature on file 

Awet P. Kidane 
Director 

NUMBER OF PAGES 1 of 10 ATTACHMENT ATTACHMENT A 

POLICY 

It is the policy of the Department of Consumer Affairs (“DCA” and “Department”) that all 
policy directives and all laws, rules, and regulations concerning incompatible work activities 
are promoted and adhered to by its employees, governmental officials, and temporary staff. 

APPLICABILITY 

This policy applies to all employees, governmental officials, Board members and Bureau 
Advisory Committee members, and temporary staff of DCA, and any of its offices, divisions, 
bureaus, boards, programs, commissions, committees, and other constituent agencies. 
Within this policy, the terms “DCA” and “Department” apply to all of these entities. 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this policy is to outline the State laws set forth in the standards of conduct 
with which State civil service officers and employees, and appointees and employees 
exempt from civil service are expected to comply.  All employees of the DCA have a 
responsibility to their employer, their fellow employees, and the people of California to 
conduct themselves in an ethical manner so as not to bring discredit to themselves or the 
State and the Department. 

1 

■ TATK a .. CALI .. DRNIA 8U81NE88, CONBUMER SERVICES ANO HOUSING AGENCY • GOVERNOR EDMUND G. BROWN .JR. 

CIC:a DEPARTMENTAL POLICY 
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS 

I I 



 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 


 

AUTHORITY 

 CA Government Code section 11475.10 
 CA Government Code section 19990 et seq. 
 CA Penal Code Section 502 
 Executive Order B-66-2, "Standards of Ethical Conduct" 
 Political Reform Act (CA Government Code section 81000 et seq.) 
 Title II of the California Code of Regulations (CCR) section 599.859 

PROVISIONS 

Pursuant to Government Code section 19990 and Executive Order B-66-2, there is a code 
of ethical standards, which is applicable to State employees and gubernatorial 
appointees/exempt employees. This code of ethical standards is to be followed in addition 
to all other statutes, executive orders, or rules (i.e. the Fair Political Practices Act) which 
might affect questions of conflict of interest, incompatibility, or ethics relating to 
gubernatorial appointees/exempt employees. 

Applicable portions of the Executive Order are stated below. Exempt employees are 
requested to carefully read these sections and to comply with both their letter and spirit: 

Standards of Ethical Conduct for Exempt Appointees 

"Standards of Ethical Conduct" 

"No employment, activity, or enterprise shall be engaged in by any officer or employee of 
the Executive Department of the State which might result in, or create the appearance of 
resulting in any of the following: 

(1) Using the prestige or influence of a State office or employment for the officer's 
or employee’s private gain or advantage, or the private gain or advantage of 
another. 

(2) Using State time, facilities, equipment, or supplies for the officer's or employee’s 
private gain or advantage, or the private gains or advantage of another. 

(3) Using confidential information acquired by virtue of State employment for the 
officer's or employee’s private gain or advantage, or the private gain or advantage of 
another. 

(4) Receiving or accepting money or any other consideration from anyone other 
than the State for the performance of an act which the officer or employee would be 
required or expected to render in the regular course or hours of his [or her] State 
employment or as a part of his [or her] duties as a State officer or employee. 

(5) Performance of an act in other than his [or her] capacity as a State officer or 
employee knowing that such an act may later be subject, directly or indirectly, to the 

2 

http:11475.10


 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 


 

control, inspection, review, audit or enforcement by such officer or employee or the 
agency by which he or she is employed.  [This would not preclude an "industry" 
member of a board or commission from performing the normal functions of his or her 
occupation.]  

(6) Receiving or accepting, directly or indirectly, any gift, including money, any 
service, gratuity, favor, entertainment, hospitality, loan, or any other thing of value 
from anyone who is doing or is seeking to do business of any kind with the State or 
whose activities are regulated or controlled in any way by the State, under 
circumstances from which it reasonably could be inferred that the gift was intended 
to influence him or her in his or her official duties or was intended as a reward for 
any official action on his or her part." (Emphasis added.) 

Responsibility of All Employees, Both Exempt and Civil Service 

Employees of the DCA have a responsibility to their employer, their fellow employees, and 
the people of California to conduct themselves in an ethical manner so as not to bring 
discredit to themselves or the State and the Department. 

This policy must be followed by each employee of the DCA in order to avoid activities 
which are clearly inconsistent, incompatible, or in conflict with his or her official duties. 
Employees must review this policy with consideration toward their particular job duties and 
responsibilities. 

This policy specifically relates to incompatible activities and does not include all provisions 
of law or regulations with which employees must comply. 

If an employee is uncertain as to whether certain activity, employment, or enterprise is in 
violation of this policy, the employee should immediately consult with his or her supervisor 
who will indicate in writing whether the activity, employment, or enterprise is prohibited. 

To protect the integrity of the California State Civil Service, State law sets forth standards 
of conduct with which State civil service officers and employees are expected to comply. 
Section 19990 of the Government Code requires that: 

“A state officer or employee shall not engage in any employment, activity, or 
enterprise which is clearly inconsistent, incompatible, in conflict with, or 
inimical to his or her duties as a state officer or employee.” 

Each appointing power shall determine, subject to approval of the California Department of 
Human Resources (CalHR), those activities which, for employees under its jurisdiction, are 
inconsistent, incompatible, or in conflict with their duties as State officers or employees. 
Activities and enterprises deemed to fall in these categories shall include, but not be limited 
to, all of the following: 

Using Prestige or Influence 

(a) Using the prestige or influence of the State or the appointing authority for the 
officer's or employee’s private gain or advantage or the private gain of another. 

3 



 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

	

	

	

	 




	

	

	

	

	


 

Examples of such activities include: 

1.  Soliciting business from persons licensed by the employee's employer (DCA 
entity) under the guise that the licensee may receive special benefits from the 
employee's agency. 

2.  Soliciting money from a licensee or from other departmental employees for the 
employee's private gain. 

3.  Providing or using the names and/or addresses of licensees, vendors, or other 
entities subject to regulation by DCA for mailing lists or solicitation unless 
authorized to do so as part of the employee's duties. 

4.  Using the badge, uniform, or identification card of a State position for private 
gain or advantage. 

Use of State Time, Facilities, etc. 

(b) Using State time, facilities, equipment, or supplies for private gain or advantage. 

Examples of such activities include: 

1.  Using State vehicles or credit cards for personal gain or for personal transactions.   

2.  Using State letterhead stationery for private correspondence.  

3.  Using State office supplies, State postage stamping facilities, State copy machines, 
or computer equipment and software for home or personal business. 

4.  Selling products such as cosmetics, jewelry, stationery, plastics, etc., at times other 
than regularly scheduled breaks and lunch periods, or to other employees when 
they are not on such breaks. 

Using Confidential Information 

(c) Using, or having access to, confidential information available due to State 
employment for private gain or advantage or providing confidential information to 
persons to whom issuance of said information has not been authorized may be 
inconsistent, incompatible or in conflict with a State employee’s or officer’s duties. 

Examples of such activities include: 

1. Disclosing confidential investigative reports or confidential examination materials or 
information. 

2. Providing or using, unless authorized to do so by the Department or by someone to 
whom that responsibility has been delegated, licensee social security numbers, birth 
dates, gender, and/or complaint activity reports. 

4 



 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
  

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

	 







	

	

	

	

	

	

	


 

3. Requesting, acquiring, examining, or disseminating confidential or employee 
personnel records or personal information maintained by the Department 
unless authorized in the assignment of related duties. 

4. Willfully misusing, misplacing, or destroying confidential information, including 
but not limited to, the disclosure of passwords or permitting access to computer 
information systems, programs, or other data to unauthorized personnel. 

Accepting Money or Other Consideration 

(d) Receiving or accepting money, or any other consideration, from anyone other than 
the State for the performance of his or her duties as a State employee. 

Examples of such activities include: 

1. Requesting or accepting money, or other consideration, from applicants or licensees 
for the priority processing of license applications. 

2. Charging a fee for helping an applicant complete documents for licensure. 

Performance of an Activity 

(e) Performance of an activity, in other than his or her capacity as a State employee, 
which is subject directly or indirectly, to the control, inspection, review, audit, or 
enforcement by the employee. 

Each DCA entity should evaluate its own mission and job classifications to determine 
what activities are covered by this category. Specific applications may vary by the 
DCA entity. The following examples are provided for guideline purposes only: 

1. Engaging in a personal medical practice or activity which is regulated by the 
employee's licensing board, when the employee's duties are to review, inspect, 
audit, or enforce the regulated activity.  

2. Engaging in a nursing practice or activity which is regulated by the employee's 
licensing board, when the employee's duties are to review, inspect, audit, or enforce 
the regulated activity. 

3. Engaging in a construction business or activity which is regulated by the employee's 
licensing board, when the employee's duties are to review, inspect, audit, or enforce 
the regulated activity. 

4. Engaging in an automobile related business or activity which is regulated by the 
employee's bureau, when the employee's duties are to review, inspect, audit, or 
enforce the regulated activity. 

5 



 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

	


 

5. Engaging in a private legal practice where the employee represents clients in any 
matter or venture subject to the regulation of an agency in DCA, or represents any 
licentiate in any enforcement matter before a DCA entity. 

Exception to this Provision 

Each DCA entity may determine that it is in the interests of the agency to allow specified 
employees to engage in activities which would otherwise be prohibited under the above 
guidelines. Examples may include allowing employees holding professional or vocational 
licenses to engage in the licensed business or profession in order to maintain current skills.  

Any DCA entity deciding to allow such employment or activities shall develop criteria to 
evaluate whether requests to engage in such employment or activities will be approved. 
The criteria must include, but need not be limited to: the time-base of the employee, the 
benefit to the organization of the employment or activity, a policy to avoid an actual conflict 
of interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest, and periodic review of the 
employment or activity. 

Any employee currently engaged in, or desiring to engage in, such employment or activities 
shall submit a written request to his or her supervisor, describing the type and scope of 
outside employment or activity. The supervisor shall review the request and make a 
recommendation to approve or disapprove the request, based on the criteria developed by 
the DCA entity. The request and recommendation shall be submitted through the 
supervisorial chain to the Program Manager, Division Chief, Bureau Chief, Executive 
Officer, Executive Director, Registrar, Commissioner, or designee who will make the 
determination. The approving officer may review the matter with the DCA Legal Office and 
request legal review and a legal opinion regarding the proposed activity. The decision of 
the approving officer shall be in writing with reasons set forth for the decision. 

If an exception request is denied, represented employees may request further review in 
accordance with the terms of the employee’s Memorandum of Understanding.  

Gratuities, Gifts, and Other Things of Value 

(f) Receiving or accepting, directly or indirectly, any gift, including money, or any 
service, gratuity, favor, entertainment, hospitality, loan, or other thing of value from 
anyone who is doing or seeking to do business of any kind with the employee's 
appointing authority, or whose activities are regulated or controlled by the appointing 
authority under circumstances from which it could reasonably be substantiated that 
the gift was intended to influence the employee in his or her official duties, or was 
intended as a reward for any official action performed by the employee. 

Although this section does not preclude acceptance of gifts, it clearly establishes that if the 
intent of the giver is to influence future, or reward past, official actions, the gift cannot be 
accepted. 

Since determining intent may be difficult, the following guidelines are provided: 

6 



 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

	


 

1. Does the value of the gift, in itself, suggest an intent other than routine hospitality 
or gratuity? It may be useful to apply the Fair Political Practices laws as a general 
guide. These laws require that certain employees (only those who meet specific 
"Designated Employee" criteria) shall not receive gifts that exceed $460 during 
any twelve-month period from any one source; establish a financial interest 
between the source and the recipient; and must report gifts worth $50 or more. 
Thus, it follows that gifts approaching these value limits could raise questions 
under Government Code Section 19990. In addition, gifts considerably below 
these limits can also be inappropriate if they raise concern under any of the 
following standards: 

a. Do the circumstances surrounding the gift suggest an improper intent? For 
example, a gift given on the eve of an important decision involving the donor is 
of much greater concern than a routine holiday gift or an invitation to an annual 
reception. Gifts directly or indirectly identified as a reward for specific past 
decisions or actions usually raise questions of improper relationships. 

b. Is the gift characteristic of the gratuities, hospitalities, or other items typically 
received from organizations and/or individuals, similar to the donor? The key 
here is to not accept a gift from one party, which could be viewed as an 
attempt to gain an advantage over others who have a similar relationship with 
the recipient. 

c. How strongly does the form of the gift suggest that it is a routine part of an 
on-going business relationship as opposed to something more? For example, 
occasional business lunches or the receipt of mementos bearing the name or 
insignia of the donor raise fewer questions than gifts of cash, merchandise, 
extraneous travel or entertainment that have value beyond the business 
relationship. 

With consideration to the above-noted guidelines and rules set forth by the Fair Political 
Practices Commission, the best practice for addressing gifts (i.e. food, beverages, 
goods, etc.) is to always report them upon receipt to supervisors, regardless of the value 
of the gift. The supervisor will confer with Legal Affairs in making a determination to 
accept or return the gift. 

DCA employees should not accept gifts for performing their expected scope of duties, as 
it creates the perception that employees can be influence by gifts and gratuities, 
especially if the giver is a licensee or someone who will benefit from our services.  A gift 
offered to one individual should not be accepted. If a gift is presented to an office, and it 
is determined to be acceptable, the gift may be shared with all employees within the 
office. 

Not Devoting Full Time Efforts to State Office or Employment 

(g) Subject to any other laws, rules, or regulations as pertained thereto, not devoting his 
or her full time, attention, and efforts to his or her State office or employment during 
his or her hours of duty as a State employee. 

7 



 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

	 

	

	

	

	

	

	

	 

	 

	 





 

An example of such activity would be conducting private or personal business during an 
employee's regular hours of duty. 

Other Acts that May Be Incompatible 

The aforementioned limitations do not attempt to specify every possible limitation on 
employee activity that might be determined and prescribed under the authority of Section 
19990 of the Government Code. If later experience shows a need for additions to, deletions 
from, or clarification of the aforementioned limitations, the DCA will request the approval of 
CalHR in making changes it determines necessary. Upon such approval, the listing will be 
amended. Nothing in this statement or listing should be construed by any employee as the 
sole provisions of law and administrative rules, which should be observed by each State 
employee of this Department. 

Procedures for Determining Incompatible Work Activity 

This procedure applies to all requests to engage in outside employment or activity other 
than a request for an exemption from the prohibitions contained in Government Code 
Section 19990(e). To determine whether an activity is an Incompatible Work Activity, the 
following procedures shall be performed: 

 Any DCA employee who is engaging, or intends to engage, in outside 
employment or an activity or enterprise which may be in conflict with the 
provisions of this policy shall submit a written request for review of the matter to 
his or her immediate supervisor. 

The written request from the employee shall include the following information: 

1. The name of the employee. 

2. The name of the DCA entity, i.e., the office, board, bureau, committee, 
commission, division, or program under which the person is employed. 

3. The classification of the employee. 

4. The collective bargaining unit representing the employee, if applicable. 

5. The employee's duty statement, along with a statement describing the extent to 
which the employee's duties pertain to any confidential information that would 
come under his or her direct review. 

6. A detailed description of the specific activity in which the employee intends to 
engage. 

 The immediate supervisor shall review the request and discuss it with the head 
of the DCA entity, as applicable.  

 The head of the DCA entity may review the matter with the DCA's Legal Office 
and request a legal opinion on whether the proposed activity is prohibited by 
the DCA's Incompatible Work Activity Policy.  

 If the activity is determined to be compatible with the employee’s duties or 
position, the employee’s supervisor will approve the employee's request, and 

8 



 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

	 

	

	


 

the employee may continue to, or proceed to, engage in the activity or 
business. 

 If activity is determined to be incompatible with the employee’s duties or 
position, the supervisor shall provide a written statement detailing the reason(s) 
for the denial to the employee. 

Represented employees may appeal a denial in accordance with the terms of the 
employee's Memorandum of Understanding (MOU). Non-represented employees may 
appeal under CCR 599.859 to the DCA Director. In all cases, the DCA Director's decision 
shall be final. 

Appeal Process 

If an employee is notified that he/she has violated any provision of this statement, or if an 
employee is notified that any outside employment in which the employee wishes to engage 
is in violation of any provision of this statement, the employee may file an appeal as 
follows: 

1. The employee may appeal the determination to the Director/Chief Deputy Director 
within ten (10) working days after receipt of denial.  The appeal should contain: 

a. A copy of the original request for clarification; 

b. The response prepared by the Deputy Director of the Administrative Services 
Division; and 

c. A statement explaining why the employee believes the employment, activity, or 
enterprise in question is not incompatible, inconsistent, or in conflict with his/her 
assigned duties as a State employee. 

2. Within fifteen (15) working days after receipt of the appeal, the Director/Chief Deputy 
Director or his/her designee will meet with the Deputy Director of the Administrative 
Services Division and the appropriate Division Chief to review the appeal and issue 
a final determination. The employee will be advised of the time and date of said 
meeting and will be given an opportunity to attend. 

If the employee submits proof to the Director/Chief Deputy Director that the length of the 
appeal process would cause him/her to lose the opportunity to participate in the 
employment, activity, or enterprise in question, an accelerated appeal procedure may be 
used. Under this procedure, the employee is required to submit the appeal to the 
Director/Chief Deputy Director within five (5) working days of receipt of the determination 
from the Deputy Director of the Administrative Services Division. The Director/Chief Deputy 
Director or her/his designee shall respond with a final determination within fifteen (15) 
working days. 

Service on Governmental Bodies 

Service on a local appointed or elected governmental board, bureau, commission, 
committee, program, or other body or as a local elected official by DCA attorney shall not, 
by itself, be deemed to be inconsistent, incompatible, in conflict with, or inimical to, the 

9 



 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
  

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
   


 

duties of the attorney as a State employee and shall not result in the automatic vacation of 
either office. 

Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit a DCA attorney from serving on any 
other appointed or elected governmental board, commission, committee, or other body, 
consistent with all applicable conflict-of-interest statutes and regulations and judicial 
canons of ethics. 

RECOMMENDED IMPLEMENTATION  

This policy shall be distributed to all new employees in new employee packets or transfer 
packets for their review and acknowledgment.    

In addition, the Department will emphasize this policy by distributing it on an annual basis 
to all employees to ensure everyone completes the “Incompatible Work Activities 
Acknowledgment” (Attachment A). 

VIOLATIONS 

Failure to follow any of the provisions of this policy is cause for discipline, which may 
include termination of employment. 

In addition, any tampering, interference, damage, or unauthorized access to computer data 
or computer systems may constitute a criminal violation of Penal Code section 502. 

REVISIONS 

Determination of the need for revisions and/or the status or maintenance of this policy 
should be directed to the Division of Program & Policy Review at (916) 574-7970.  

ATTACHMENTS 

A. Incompatible Work Activities Acknowledgement OHR 14-01 

10 



ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 









ATTACHMENT A 

_________________________________________ 

_________________________________________  ________________ 

______________________________________________ 

Incompatible Work Activities 
OHR 14-01 

I hereby acknowledge receipt of the Department of Consumer Affairs (DCA) 
Incompatible Work Activities Policy OHR 14-01.  

____ 1. I understand that I shall read the Policy and become familiar with its contents. 

____ 2. I understand that I need to take all reasonable steps to comply with this policy. 

____ 3. I understand that this completed Acknowledgement will become a permanent 
part of my Official Personnel File (OPF).   

____ 4. I understand that my signature on this Acknowledgement does not modify my 
employment relationship with DCA as set forth in the most current 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) appropriate to my employee bargaining 
unit. 

(Printed Name) 

(Signature) (Date) 

(Board/Bureau/Committee/Commission/Program/Division/Office) 

Original: Office of Human Resources (Official Personnel File) 
Copies: Employee, Supervisor 

OHR 14-01 



e T AT ■ Dfl CALlflDANIA 

c::lc:a 
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS 

BUSINESS, CONSUVIEA SERVICES At.ID ~OLISl".IG AGENCY • GOVERNOR EDMUND G BROVVN JR 

Office of Human Resources 
1625 N. Market Blvd. Suite N-321 , Sacramento, CA 95834 
P {916) 574-8300 F (916) 574-8608 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE 

TO 

FROM 

SUBJECT 

March 9, 2015 

Board Presidents and Chairpersons 

Original Signature on File 
Jeffrey Sears, Personnel Officer 
Department of Consumer Affairs 

Process for Annual Performance Evaluations of Executive Officer 

l 

This memorandum revises and updates the February 14, 2013, memo that outlined the 
process by which boards, committees or commissions (hereafter, "Board") evaluate their 
Executive Officer (EO), a generic term which is intended to also include Executive Directors 
and Registrars. 

The Performance Appraisal process, which is outlined on the following pages, is based on 
the principle that performance should be evaluated on a regular basis in order to provide 
recognition of effective performance and as a tool to provide guidance in improving future 
performance. In accordance with best practices, the Office of Human Resources 
recommends that each Board: 

• Provide a written evaluation of EO performance each year, which advises the EO of 
past performance 

• Provide constructive, job-related comments and specific examples of work done well 
and work that could be improved. 

• If applicable, provide suggestions identifying specific ways in which the EO can 
improve performance in the coming year. 

• Place this topic on the agenda for the next Board Meeting in 2015, and annually 
thereafter. For the agenda, provide a copy of this memo (or successor memos on 
this topic) and the Board Chair/Executive Officer Supervisory Expectations memo 
(attached) to ensure all Board Members are aware of the EO Evaluation Process and 
the administrative expectations for the EO. 

This topic is now included in the orientation training for new Board Members to ensure the 
information is disseminated in the future. 

A new revision to the Performance Appraisal for Executive Officer (Evaluation Form) is 
attached to the email distributing this process revision, and will also be available to Board 
staff on the DCA Intranet. 



EO Performance Evaluation Process 
March 9, 2015 
Page 2 

Executive Officer Performance Evaluation Process 

The DCA recommends all Boards adhere to the process below, which meets Bagley-Keene 
Open Meeting Act requirements. 

1. When a Board is ready to begin the evaluation process: 
• Determine the Board Meeting when the evaluation will occur and provide proper 

notice of the evaluation in the meeting agenda. Suggested language for the 
agenda: 

Item # -- CLOSED SESSION 
"The Board will meet in Closed Session pursuant to Government Code Section 
11126(a)(1) to conduct its annual evaluation of its Executive Officer." 

• Ask DCA OHR staff or Board staff to provide the Performance Appraisal for 
Executive Officer (Evaluation Form) to each Member - ideally, two weeks prior to 
the Meeting. 

2. Prior to the Board Meeting during which the EO evaluation will occur, each Board 
Member independently completes the Evaluation Form, rating and commenting on 
the EO's performance in each applicable category. 

3. Prior to the Board Meeting during which the EO evaluation will occur, the Board 
President/Chairperson should contact the appropriate DCA OHR staff (the Personnel 
Officer or assigned Personnel Analyst) to discuss the EO's current salary, salary 
increase potential and any salary restrictions which may be in place. 

At the Board Meeting, the EO's performance is discussed by all Board Members in a 
closed session under Government Code section 11126(a) (1), in accordance with the 
agenda. Assigned DCA Counsel may assist the Board during this process. The 
Board may NOT take any action to dismiss or hear any charges brought against the 
EO. 

4. Board Members must: 
• Discuss ratings for each category and any job-related comments for that category. 
• Determine the final ratings for each category and which, if any, comments will be 

included in the final evaluation. 
• If applicable1

, determine a recommended salary increase and effective date. 

5. After the Board has reached consensus on the final ratings and on which comments 
will be included, the Board's designee - generally, the Board President/Chairperson -
- prepares a final Evaluation Form reflecting the Board's assessment of the EO's 
performance and includes any job-related comments which the Members deem 
necessary in order to communicate successes in the past year and any suggestions 
for improvement. 

1 The Board, via the Evaluation Form, may make a recommendation to the Administration to authorize a 
salary increase. The increase may not exceed the maximum of the salary range for the exempt level assigned 
to the EO for that Board. 



EO Performance Evaluation Process 
March 9, 2015 
Page 3 

• If applicable, the final Evaluation Form should provide the EO with specific 
examples of areas for improvement. The Board's suggestions for improvement 
must be realistic. 

• The Board's salary increase recommendation and a prospective effective date are 
reported on the final Evaluation Form. Note: The effective date is typically at the 
beginning of a month, and should be at least thirty (30) days from the meeting 
date, to allow adequate time for review and approval of the request. 

6. After the final Evaluation Form is completed, the Board President/Chairperson or 
designee meets with the EO to discuss his/her performance, the ratings and any 
comments provided by the Board Members. At the conclusion of the meeting, both 
must sign the final Evaluation Form. A signed copy is provided to the EO. 

7. After the Board President/Chairperson and the EO sign the final Evaluation Form, 
the original is forwarded in a confidential envelope to the Office of Human Resources 
(Attention: DCA Personnel Officer, at the address on page 1 of this memo), to be filed 
in the EO's Official Personnel File. 

8. If the Board has recommended a salary increase, the DCA OHR will prepare the 
documents to submit the request for final approval, based on the salary increase 
information and effective date indicated on the final Evaluation Form. 

Reporting Board Action at Next Board Meeting 

The Open Meeting Act requires that, after a closed session where there was an action taken 
to appoint, employ, or dismiss a public employee, the Board must, during open session at a 
subsequent public meeting, report that action and the roll call vote, if any was taken. A 
routine annual evaluation does not need to be reported out. If a Board meeting was held via 
teleconference, a roll call vote is required, and it will therefore be reported. 

Questions regarding this process should be directed to Christine Lally, DCA Deputy Director 
for Board and Bureau Relations, at (916) 574-8200 or Jeffrey Sears, DCA Personnel Officer, 
at (916) 574-8301. 

Attachment: Board Chair/Executive Officer Supervisory Expectations memo 

cc: Awet Kidane, Director 
Tracy Rhine, Chief Deputy Director 
Christine Lally, Deputy Director, Board and Bureau Relations 
Doreathea Johnson, Deputy Director, Legal Affairs 
Tonya Corcoran, Deputy Director, Office of Administrative Services 
All Board Executive Officers, Executive Directors and Registrars 
All DCA Attorneys 
OHR Classification and Pay Managers and Analysts 



  

  

  
  
  

  

  

      
  

    

  

    

    

    

      

    

    

  
 

        

        

            

        

      

  

  

  

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL

FOR

EXECUTIVE

OFFICER
(including

Executive Director

and

Registrar)

Department of Consumer Affairs
Office of Human Resources

1625 N. Market Blvd. Suite N-321
Sacramento, CA 95834
(Revised February 2015)

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL 

FOR 

EXECUTIVE 

OFFICER 
(including 

Executive Director 

and 

Registrar) 

Prepared by 
Department of Consumer Affairs 

Office of Human Resources 
1625 N. Market Blvd. Suite N-321 

Sacramento, CA 95834 
(Revised February 2015) 



  

                  

  

  
  

    

    
  
  

  
  

                          

                            

                        

  

  

                        

                            

                              

                          

                              

  

                                  

                            

                      

      

  

              

                  

                        

              

  

                              

                  

  

                          

                          

              

  

                              

                                

                              

              

  

                            

                            

        

  

  

  

Executive Officer

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL

INSTRUCTIONS

1. The DCA Performance Appraisal process system is based on the principle that
performance should be evaluated on a regular basis in order to provide recognition of
effective performance and as a tool to provide guidance in improving future
performance.

2. If the Executive Officer (hereafter, “EO”, which includes Executive Director and
Registrar) is not at the maximum range of salary, the Board, Committee or Commission
(hereafter, “Board”) may recommend a salary increase for the EO. To qualify for such
increases, the EO must meet or exceed performance expectations, as determined by the
Board. This form is used to document the Board’s recommendation for a salary increase.

3. To indicate the rating of any performance factor, an “X” mark should be placed in the
appropriate rating column and in the “Overall Rating” column on each page. Additional
spaces have been provided to accommodate other critical performance factors identified
by the Board.

4. Comments to the Executive Officer should:

 Be constructive and provide guidance for future performance;

 Include factual examples of work especially well or poorly done, and

 Give specific suggestions for performance improvement.

5. The Overall Ratings must be consistent with the factor ratings and comments, but there
is no prescribed formula for computing the Overall Rating.

6. Overall Comments may consist of a summary of comments from specific categories,
general comments or comments on other job-related factors which the rater wishes to
discuss. Additional pages may be attached.

7. The Board President/Chairperson will discuss the appraisal with the EO and give him or
her a signed copy. In signing the appraisal, the EO merely acknowledges that s/he has
reviewed the appraisal and has discussed it with the rater. His/her signature does not
indicate agreement with the ratings or comments.

8. The original copy of the appraisal, signed by both the Board President/Chairperson and
the EO, will be maintained by the Department of Consumer Affairs, in the Executive
Officer’s Official Personnel File.

Department of Consumer Affairs – Revised 2/2015

Executive Officer 

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL 

INSTRUCTIONS 

1. The DCA Performance Appraisal process system is based on the principle that 
performance should be evaluated on a regular basis in order to provide recognition of 
effective performance and as a tool to provide guidance in improving future 
performance. 

2. If the Executive Officer (hereafter, “EO”, which includes Executive Director and 
Registrar) is not at the maximum range of salary, the Board, Committee or Commission 
(hereafter, “Board”) may recommend a salary increase for the EO. To qualify for such 
increases, the EO must meet or exceed performance expectations, as determined by the 
Board. This form is used to document the Board’s recommendation for a salary increase. 

3. To indicate the rating of any performance factor, an “X” mark should be placed in the 
appropriate rating column and in the “Overall Rating” column on each page. Additional 
spaces have been provided to accommodate other critical performance factors identified 
by the Board. 

4. Comments to the Executive Officer should: 

 Be constructive and provide guidance for future performance; 

 Include factual examples of work especially well or poorly done, and 

 Give specific suggestions for performance improvement. 

5. The Overall Ratings must be consistent with the factor ratings and comments, but there 
is no prescribed formula for computing the Overall Rating. 

6. Overall Comments may consist of a summary of comments from specific categories, 
general comments or comments on other job-related factors which the rater wishes to 
discuss. Additional pages may be attached. 

7. The Board President/Chairperson will discuss the appraisal with the EO and give him or 
her a signed copy. In signing the appraisal, the EO merely acknowledges that s/he has 
reviewed the appraisal and has discussed it with the rater. His/her signature does not 
indicate agreement with the ratings or comments. 

8. The original copy of the appraisal, signed by both the Board President/Chairperson and 
the EO, will be maintained by the Department of Consumer Affairs, in the Executive 
Officer’s Official Personnel File. 

22 Department of Consumer Affairs – Revised 2/2015 



  

                  

  

  
  

    

        
  

                        

  

  

                            

                        

                        

                        

                  

  

  

    

                            

                                  

          
  

  

  

                            

                      
  

  

    

                            

                            

                  

  

  

    

                                      
    

  

  

  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL RATING SYSTEM

The rating system consists of five (5) Ratings Categories, as defined below:

Performance significantly exceeds the Board’s expectations due to the efforts and ability of the
Executive Officer when considering the job in its entirety. Significantly above-standard
performance may be exhibited by consistently completing assignments in advance of deadlines;
implementing plans and/or procedures to increase efficiency or effectiveness of work; working
independently with little direction; and consistently meeting Board goals.

Performance exceeds the Board’s expectations due to the efforts and ability of the Executive
Officer when considering the job in its entirety. Performance is beyond what is expected of an
Executive Officer in this position.

Performance of the Executive Officer meets the minimum expectations of the Board. The
Executive Officer adequately performs the duties and responsibilities of the position.

The Executive Officer’s performance fails to meet the Board’s minimum expectations due to lack
of effort and/or ability when considering the job in its entirety. Performance requires
improvement in numerous and/or important aspects of the position.

Rater is unable to assess the Executive Officer in this area, or the area is not applicable to the
employee’s job.

Department of Consumer Affairs – Revised 2/2015

EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL RATING SYSTEM 

The rating system consists of five (5) Ratings Categories, as defined below: 

OOuuttssttaannddiinngg 

Performance significantly exceeds the Board’s expectations due to the efforts and ability of the 
Executive Officer when considering the job in its entirety. Significantly above-standard 
performance may be exhibited by consistently completing assignments in advance of deadlines; 
implementing plans and/or procedures to increase efficiency or effectiveness of work; working 
independently with little direction; and consistently meeting Board goals. 

AAbboovvee AAvveerraaggee 

Performance exceeds the Board’s expectations due to the efforts and ability of the Executive 
Officer when considering the job in its entirety. Performance is beyond what is expected of an 
Executive Officer in this position. 

AAvveerraaggee 

Performance of the Executive Officer meets the minimum expectations of the Board. The 
Executive Officer adequately performs the duties and responsibilities of the position. 

NNeeeeddss IImmpprroovveemmeenntt 

The Executive Officer’s performance fails to meet the Board’s minimum expectations due to lack 
of effort and/or ability when considering the job in its entirety. Performance requires 
improvement in numerous and/or important aspects of the position. 

NNoott AApppplliiccaabbllee 

Rater is unable to assess the Executive Officer in this area, or the area is not applicable to the 
employee’s job. 

33 Department of Consumer Affairs – Revised 2/2015 



  

                  

  

  
  

    

    

      
  

  
        

  
      

  
                

  

                              

                            

      

  
      

  

        

  

      

  

        

  

  

                

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

                    

    

  
    

    

  
    

      

            

                                

          
  

Executive Officer

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL

OVERALL RATING

NAME OF EO:

NAME OF BOARD:

DATE OF BOARD MEETING WHEN RATING OCCURRED:

The overall rating must be consistent with the factor rating and comments, but there is

no prescribed formula for computing the overall rating. The rating system is described

on page 2.

 OUTSTANDING

 ABOVE AVERAGE

 AVERAGE

 NEEDS IMPROVEMENT

OVERALL COMMENTS (Attach additional pages, if necessary)

I HAVE PARTICIPATED IN A DISCUSSION OF OVERALL JOB PERFORMANCE

EO Signature: Date:

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Chairperson/President Signature: Date:

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Salary Increase recommendation (if applicable):

 No increase  No increase (at maximum)  Recommended Increase: %

Effective Date of Salary Increase:

Department of Consumer Affairs – Revised 2/2015

Executive Officer 

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL 

OVERALL RATING 

NAME OF EO: 

NAME OF BOARD: 

DATE OF BOARD MEETING WHEN RATING OCCURRED: 

The overall rating must be consistent with the factor rating and comments, but there is 

no prescribed formula for computing the overall rating. The rating system is described 

on page 2. 

 OUTSTANDING 

 ABOVE AVERAGE 

 AVERAGE 

 NEEDS IMPROVEMENT 

OVERALL COMMENTS (Attach additional pages, if necessary) 

I HAVE PARTICIPATED IN A DISCUSSION OF OVERALL JOB PERFORMANCE 

EO Signature: Date: 

Chairperson/President Signature: Date: 

Salary Increase recommendation (if applicable): 

 No increase  No increase (at maximum)  Recommended Increase: ______________% 

Effective Date of Salary Increase:____________________________________________________________ 

44 Department of Consumer Affairs – Revised 2/2015 



  

                  

  

  
  

    

    

  

                                    

    

  

          

  

  

  

  

  
  

  

  

    
  

              

  
          

            

      
          

              

            
          

              

          
          

              

        
          

              

        
          

            

        
          

                        

          

        
          

              

        

        

          

  
            

  

  

  

  

Executive Officer

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL

Performance Factor Ratings

1. Relationship with the Board

1 Maintains respect and trust of Board
members.

2 Provides Board with advice during
consideration of issues.

3 Keeps Board informed of progress of
Board programs on a regular basis.

4 Remains impartial and treats all Board
members in a professional manner.

5 Functions as an effective liaison between
Board and Board Staff.

6 Provides Board with complete, clear, and
accurate reports, minutes, etc.

7 Responds promptly to requests for
information from Board members.

8 Is readily available to Board members.

9 Responds appropriately to constructive
suggestions from Board members.

OVERALL RATING:

Relationship with the Board

(Attach additional pages, if necessary)

Department of Consumer Affairs – Revised 2/2015

Executive Officer 

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL 

Performance Factor Ratings 

1. Relationship with the Board 

1 Maintains respect and trust of Board 
members. 

2 Provides Board with advice during 
consideration of issues. 

3 Keeps Board informed of progress of 
Board programs on a regular basis. 

4 Remains impartial and treats all Board 
members in a professional manner. 

5 Functions as an effective liaison between 
Board and Board Staff. 

6 Provides Board with complete, clear, and 
accurate reports, minutes, etc. 

7 Responds promptly to requests for 
information from Board members. 

8 Is readily available to Board members. 

9 Responds appropriately to constructive 
suggestions from Board members. 

OVERALL RATING: 

Relationship with the Board 

CCoommmmeennttss:: (Attach additional pages, if necessary) 

55 Department of Consumer Affairs – Revised 2/2015 



  

                  

  

  
  

    

    

  

                  

    

  

          

  

  

  

  

  
  

    
  

  

  
  

              

              
          

                  

          

      
          

              

              

        

        

          

  

            

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
  

Executive Officer

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL

Performance Factor Ratings

(Attach additional pages, if necessary)

Department of Consumer Affairs – Revised 2/2015

Executive Officer 

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL 

Performance Factor Ratings 

22.. EExxeeccuuttiioonn ooff BBooaarrdd PPoolliiccyy 

11 UUnnddeerrssttaannddss aanndd ccoommppiilleess wwiitthh tthhee oovveerraallll 

ppoolliicciieess,, llaawwss aanndd rreegguullaattiioonnss ooff tthhee BBooaarrdd.. 

22 IImmpplleemmeennttss BBooaarrdd ppoolliicciieess.. 

33 EEffffoorrttss lleeaadd ttoowwaarrdd ssuucccceessssffuull 

aaccccoommpplliisshhmmeenntt ooff ggooaallss.. 

OOVVEERRAALLLL RRAATTIINNGG:: 

EExxeeccuuttiioonn ooff BBooaarrdd PPoolliiccyy 

CCoommmmeennttss:: (Attach additional pages, if necessary) 

66 Department of Consumer Affairs – Revised 2/2015 



  

                  

  

  
  

    

    

  

                  

    

  

      

  

  

  

  

      

  

  

          

        
          

            

        
          

                      

        

        

      

          

              

        
          

              

    
          

              

      
          

            

        
          

              

              

                    

  

            

  

  

  

  

  

Executive Officer

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL

Performance Factor Ratings

(Attach additional pages, if necessary)

Department of Consumer Affairs – Revised 2/2015

Executive Officer 

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL 

Performance Factor Ratings 

33.. BBooaarrdd PPrrooggrraammss 

11 EEnnssuurreess eeffffeeccttiivvee aanndd eeffffiicciieenntt 

mmaannaaggeemmeenntt ooff eennffoorrcceemmeenntt pprrooggrraammss.. 

22 KKeeeeppss BBooaarrdd aapppprriisseedd ooff eennffoorrcceemmeenntt 

pprrooggrraamm aanndd pprroocceessss ddeevveellooppmmeennttss.. 

33 MMaaiinnttaaiinnss sseeccuurriittyy ooff eexxaammiinnaattiioonn pprroocceessss.. 

44 MMoonniittoorrss vvaalliiddiittyy//ddeeffeennssiibbiilliittyy ooff 

eexxaammiinnaattiioonnss aanndd pprroovviiddeess aapppprroopprriiaattee 

rreeccoommmmeennddaattiioonnss ffoorr aaccttiioonn.. 

55 MMoonniittoorrss aanndd iiddeennttiiffiieess ttrreennddss iinn ccaannddiiddaattee 

qquuaalliiffiiccaattiioonnss,, ppaassss//ffaaiill rraatteess,, eettcc.. 

66 RReessoollvveess pprroobblleemmss wwhhiicchh aarriissee iinn tthhee 

eexxaamm pprroocceessss.. 

77 KKeeeeppss BBooaarrdd aapppprriisseedd ooff eexxaamm pprrooggrraamm 

aanndd pprroocceessss ddeevveellooppmmeennttss.. 

88 KKeeeeppss BBooaarrdd aapppprriisseedd ooff lliicceennssiinngg 

pprrooggrraamm aanndd pprroocceessss ddeevveellooppmmeennttss.. 

OOVVEERRAALLLL RRAATTIINNGG:: BBooaarrdd PPrrooggrraammss 

CCoommmmeennttss:: (Attach additional pages, if necessary) 

77 Department of Consumer Affairs – Revised 2/2015 



  

                  

  

  
  

    

    

  

                  

    

  

      

  

  

  

  

          

            

          

      

          

            

        
          

            

  
          

                    

                

        
          

            

    
          

              

              

        

    

          

  

            

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Executive Officer

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL

Performance Factor Ratings

(Attach additional pages, if necessary)

Department of Consumer Affairs – Revised 2/2015

Executive Officer 

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL 

Performance Factor Ratings 

44.. GGoovveerrnnmmeennttaall RReellaattiioonnss 

11 KKeeeeppss tthhee DDeeppaarrttmmeenntt ooff CCoonnssuummeerr 

AAffffaaiirrss iinnffoorrmmeedd ooff BBooaarrdd iissssuueess,, 

pprroobblleemmss,, aanndd aaccccoommpplliisshhmmeennttss.. 

22 MMaaiinnttaaiinnss aa ppoossiittiivvee wwoorrkkiinngg rreellaattiioonnsshhiipp 

wwiitthh ootthheerr SSttaattee AAggeenncciieess.. 

33 MMaannaaggeess BBooaarrdd lleeggiissllaattiivvee pprrooggrraamm aanndd 

eeffffoorrttss.. 

44 MMaannaaggeess ssuunnsseett rreevviieeww pprroocceessss.. 

55 AAccttss aa lliiaaiissoonn aanndd ppaarrttiicciippaatteess iinn nnaattiioonnaall 

oorrggaanniizzaattiioonnss,, ffeeddeerraattiioonnss oorr aalllliiaanncceess.. 

66 RReepprreesseennttss tthhee BBooaarrdd eeffffeeccttiivveellyy bbeeffoorree 

tthhee LLeeggiissllaattuurree.. 

OOVVEERRAALLLL RRAATTIINNGG:: 

GGoovveerrnnmmeennttaall RReellaattiioonnss 

CCoommmmeennttss:: (Attach additional pages, if necessary) 

88 Department of Consumer Affairs – Revised 2/2015 



  

                  

  

  
  

    

    

  

                  

    

  

      

  

  

  

  

          

            

        
          

          

          

        

          

            

  
          

            

            

        

            

  

          

            

          

    

          

            

      
          

              

      

    

          

  

            

  

  

  

  

  

  

Executive Officer

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL

Performance Factor Ratings

(Attach additional pages, if necessary)

Department of Consumer Affairs – Revised 2/2015

Executive Officer 

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL 

Performance Factor Ratings 

55.. AAddmmiinniissttrraattiivvee FFuunnccttiioonnss 

11 PPllaannss,, oorrggaanniizzeess aanndd ddiirreeccttss BBooaarrdd 

aaddmmiinniissttrraattiivvee ffuunnccttiioonnss aanndd ssttaaffff.. 

22 PPrroovviiddeess oovveerrssiigghhtt,, ddiirreeccttiioonn aanndd 

mmaannaaggeemmeenntt ooff tthhee BBooaarrdd’’ss aannnnuuaall 

bbuuddggeett,, eexxppeennddiittuurreess aanndd rreevveennuueess.. 

33 KKeeeeppss BBooaarrdd aapppprriisseedd ooff bbuuddggeett 

ddeevveellooppmmeennttss.. 

44 IIddeennttiiffiieess,, rreeccoommmmeennddss aanndd,, aass ddiirreecctteedd,, 

sseeeekkss nneecceessssaarryy cchhaannggeess ttoo llaawwss aanndd 

rreegguullaattiioonnss tthhrroouugghh pprrooppoosseedd lleeggiissllaattiioonn 

aanndd//oorr tthhee OOffffiiccee ooff AAddmmiinniissttrraattiivvee LLaaww 

((OOAALL)).. 

55 EEnnssuurreess ccoommpplliiaannccee aanndd eennffoorrcceemmeenntt ooff 

ddeeppaarrttmmeennttaall,, ssttaattee aanndd ffeeddeerraall ppoolliicciieess 

aanndd pprroocceedduurreess.. 

66 DDeevveellooppss aanndd eexxeeccuutteess ssoouunndd ppeerrssoonnnneell 

pprraaccttiicceess aanndd pprroocceedduurreess.. 

OOVVEERRAALLLL RRAATTIINNGG:: 

AAddmmiinniissttrraattiivvee FFuunnccttiioonnss 

CCoommmmeennttss:: (Attach additional pages, if necessary) 

99 Department of Consumer Affairs – Revised 2/2015 



  

                  

  

  
  

    

    
  

                    

    

  

      

  

  

  

  

          

                        

                    

                      

                      

              

              
          

            

        

          

      

          

              

              

                    

  

            

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Executive Officer

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL

Performance Factor Ratings

(Attach additional pages, if necessary)

Department of Consumer Affairs – Revised 2/2015

Executive Officer 

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL 

Performance Factor Ratings 

66.. PPuubblliicc LLiiaaiissoonn 

11 RReepprreesseennttss tthhee BBooaarrdd bbeeffoorree tthhee ppuubblliicc.. 

22 DDiirreeccttss ccoonnssuummeerr oouuttrreeaacchh pprrooggrraammss.. 

33 MMaannaaggeess BBooaarrdd’’ss ppuubblliicc rreellaattiioonnss eeffffoorrtt.. 

44 DDiirreeccttss lliiaaiissoonn wwiitthh eedduuccaattiioonnaall iinnssttiittuuttiioonnss.. 

55 SSoolliicciittss aanndd ggiivveess aatttteennttiioonn ttoo pprroobblleemmss 

aanndd ooppiinniioonnss ooff aallll ggrroouuppss aanndd iinnddiivviidduuaallss.. 

66 RReepprreesseennttss tthhee BBooaarrdd bbeeffoorree iinndduussttrryy 

aassssoocciiaattiioonnss ttoo pprroovviiddee iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn 

rreeggaarrddiinngg tthhee BBooaarrdd’’ss llaawwss,, rreegguullaattiioonnss,, 

pprrooggrraammss aanndd ppoolliicciieess.. 

OOVVEERRAALLLL RRAATTIINNGG:: PPuubblliicc LLiiaaiissoonn 

CCoommmmeennttss:: (Attach additional pages, if necessary) 

1100 Department of Consumer Affairs – Revised 2/2015 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
  

 
 

  

LATC Administrative Manual 

Landscape Architects Technical Committee 
Member Administrative 

Manual 
Approved by Board 9/12/18 

alknati
Typewritten Text
Attachment H.2



 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

   
 

   

   

  

   

   

      

   
 

    
 

     

   

    

   

    

     

   

   

   

   

   

LATC Administrative Manual 

Table of Contents 

Chapter 1 -- Introduction 

Overview................................................................................................1 

Delegated Authority ............................................................................2 

Mission.....................................................................................................2 

Vision.......................................................................................................3 

Values .....................................................................................................3 

General Rules of Conduct..................................................................3 

Abbreviations ........................................................................................4 

Chapter 2 -- LATC Meeting Procedures 

Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act ....................................................4 

Public Comment ..................................................................................4 

Closed Session.......................................................................................5 

Frequency of Meetings .......................................................................5 

Meeting Location.................................................................................5 

Committee Member Attendance at LATC and Board Meetings5 

Member Participation .........................................................................6 

Teleconference Meetings...................................................................6 

Special Meetings ..................................................................................6 

Emergency Meetings...........................................................................7 

Quorum ..................................................................................................7 



 

 

   

         

          

   

    

    
 

     
 

   

   

    

    

    
 

   
 

    

     

    

      

    

    

     

      

    

   

    

   

LATC Administrative Manual 

Agenda Items .......................................................................................7 

Notice of Meetings to be Sent to Individuals ..................................7 

Notice of Meetings to be Posted on the Internet ..........................7 

Record of Meetings .............................................................................8 

Voting on Motions ................................................................................8 

Audio/Visual Recording ......................................................................8 

Chapter 3 -- Travel & Salary Policies/Procedures 

Travel Approval.....................................................................................9 

Travel Arrangements............................................................................9 

Out-of-State Travel ...............................................................................9 

Travel Reimbursement .........................................................................9 

Salary Per Diem...................................................................................10 

Chapter 4 -- Other Policies/Procedures 

LATC Member Disciplinary Actions..................................................12 

Removal of LATC Members ..............................................................12 

Resignation of LATC Members .........................................................12 

Officers of the LATC ...........................................................................12 

Election of Officers .............................................................................12 

Officer Vacancies ..............................................................................13 

Task Force or Subcommittee Appointments .................................13 

Attendance at Task Force or Subcommittee Meetings..............13 

Board and LATC Staff ........................................................................13 

Program Manager Evaluation .........................................................14 

LATC Administration ...........................................................................14 

LATC Budget........................................................................................14 



 

 

   

    

   

    

      

   

     

    

    

    

   
 

   
 

    

   

    

   
 

 
 

      
       

LATC Administrative Manual 

Conflict of Interest ..............................................................................14 

Financial Disclosure............................................................................15 

Incompatible Activities......................................................................16 

Ex Parte Communications ................................................................17 

Communications with Other Organizations/Individuals .............18 

Legislation ............................................................................................19 

Contact with Candidates.................................................................19 

Gifts from Candidates .......................................................................19 

Request for Records Access.............................................................19 

Business Cards .....................................................................................19 

Letterhead...........................................................................................19 

Chapter 5 -- Training 

LATC Member Orientation................................................................20 

Ethics.....................................................................................................20 

Sexual Harassment Prevention.........................................................20 

Defensive Driver..................................................................................20 

Appendix 

A. LATC Committee Member Position Description.......................21 
B. DCA Incompatible Work Activities (OHR 14-01) ......................23 



 

 

  
  

   
   

    
  

  
 

   
   

  
 

  
  
 

   

  

      
     

  

   
  

  
 

 
  
  

  

  

   
  

  

  
   

 

   
 

     
   

LATC Administrative Manual 

Chapter 1 Introduction 

Overview The California Board of Architectural Examiners was 
created by the California Legislature in 1901 to 
safeguard the public’s health, safety, and welfare. 
It was renamed the California Architects Board 
(Board) in 2000.  It is one of the boards, bureaus, 
commissions, and committees within the 
Department of Consumer Affairs (DCA), part of the 
Business, Consumer Services and Housing Agency 
under the aegis of the Governor.  The Department 
is responsible for consumer protection and 
representation through the regulation of licensed 
professions and the provision of consumer services. 
While the DCA provides administrative oversight 
and support services, the Board has policy 
autonomy and sets its own policies, procedures, 
and regulations. 

The Board is presently composed of 10 members 
that, by law, 5 are public members, and 5 are 
architects.  The five architect members are all 
appointed by the Governor.  Three of the public 
members are also gubernatorial appointees; while 
one public member is appointed by the Assembly 
Speaker and the other is appointed by the Senate 
Rules Committee.  Board members may serve up to 
two four-year terms.  Board members fill non-
salaried positions but are paid $100 per day for 
each meeting day or day spent in the discharge of 
official duties (see section entitled “Salary Per 
Diem”) and are reimbursed travel expenses. 

The Landscape Architects Technical Committee 
(LATC) was statutorily established under the 
jurisdiction of the Board pursuant to the enactment 
of Assembly Bill 1546 (Chapter 475, statutes of 
1997), which became effective January 1, 1998. It 
replaces the former Board of Landscape 
Architects, which was abolished through the 
enactment of Senate Bill 2036 (Chapter 908, 
statutes of 1994) on July 1, 1997. 

The LATC consists of five technical experts who are 
licensed to practice landscape architecture in this 
state. Under the provisions of section 5621(b) of the 
Business and Professions (B&P) Code, the Governor 

1 



 

 

   
  

 
    

 
 

 

  
  

     
 

    
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 

  
  

   
   

  
  

   
  

 

 

   
 

  

  
    

 

    
   

  
  
    

 
  

   
  

  

LATC Administrative Manual 

Delegated Authority 
(B&P Code Sections 5620 & 
5622) 

has the authority to appoint three of the members. 
The remaining two members are appointed by the 
Senate Committee on Rules and the Speaker of 
the Assembly. Like the Board members, 
Committee members fill non-salaried positions but 
are paid $100 per day for each meeting day and 
are reimbursed travel expenses. 

The LATC’s purpose is to act in an advisory 
capacity to the Board on examinations, 
regulations, and other matters pertaining to the 
practice of landscape architecture in California. 

This Committee Member Administrative Manual is 
provided to members as a reference of important 
laws, regulations, DCA policies, and Board policies 
to guide the actions of the members and ensure 
effectiveness and efficiency. 

B&P Code sections 5620 and 5622 set forth the 
duties of the Board and the LATC.  On May 14, 
1998, the Board unanimously voted to empower 
the LATC, to the fullest extent authorized by law, to 
exercise all duties, powers, purposes, responsibilities 
and jurisdiction relative to administration of the 
LATC as set forth in Chapter 3.5 of Division 3 of the 
B&P Code (commencing with section 5615), with 
the following exceptions: 

The Committee shall: 

• Make recommendations concerning proposed 
regulatory or statutory changes and submit them 
to the Board for review and final approval. 

• Make recommendations concerning budget 
augmentations and submit them to the Board for 
review and final approval. 

• Develop a Strategic Plan for the LATC and submit 
it to the Board for review and final approval. 

• Make recommendations involving disciplining a 
landscape architect or taking action against a 
person who has violated this chapter to the Board 
for review and final approval. 

Mission The LATC regulates the practice of landscape 
architecture through the enforcement of the 
Landscape Architects Practice Act to protect 

2 



 

 

  
  

  

  
  

 
  

  
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

       
        

      
       

      
        

         
      
       

        
        

  

   
  

    

  
  

  
   

 
    

 
 

  

  
   

 
    

   

   

LATC Administrative Manual 

Vision 

Values 

General Rules of Conduct 

consumers, and the public health, safety, and 
welfare while safeguarding the environment. 

The LATC will champion for consumer protection 
and a safer built environment for the people of 
California 

Consumer Protection 
Innovation 
Communication 
Integrity 
Leadership 

All Committee members shall act in accordance 
with their oath of office, and shall conduct 
themselves in a courteous, professional and ethical 
manner at all times. The Committee members 
serve at the pleasure of the Governor and the 
Legislature, and shall conduct their business in an 
open manner, so that the public that they serve 
shall be both informed and involved, consistent 
with the provisions of the Bagley-Keene Open 
Meeting Act and all other governmental and civil 
codes applicable to similar boards within the State 
of California. 

•Members shall not act or speak on the Board’s or 
LATC’s behalf without proper authorization from 
the Board president or LATC chair. 

•Members shall maintain the confidentiality of 
confidential documents and information. 

•Members shall commit the time to prepare for 
LATC responsibilities. 

•Members shall recognize the equal role and 
responsibilities of all LATC members. 

•Members shall act fairly, be nonpartisan, impartial, 
and unbiased in their role of protecting the 
public. 

•Members shall treat all applicants and licensees in 
a fair and impartial manner. 

•Members’ actions shall serve to uphold the 
principle that the LATC’s primary mission is to 
protect the public. 

•Members shall not use their positions on the LATC 
3 



 

 

 
  

  
   
   

 
    
   
   
  

 
   
  

  
  

 
 

  
   

    
   

  
    

 
  

  
  

 

 
 

 

 
 

    
    

   
      

 
     

     
  

  
 

    

   
   

   
 

LATC Administrative Manual 

for personal, familial, or financial gain. 

Abbreviations ASLA 
B&P 

American Society of Landscape 
Business and Professions Code 

CLARB 

DCA 
EO 

Council of Landscape Architectural 
Registration Boards 
Department of Consumer Affairs 
Executive Officer 

Gov. Government Code 
LARE Landscape Architect Registration 

Examination 
SAM State Administrative Manual 

Chapter 2 LATC Meeting Procedures 

Bagley-Keene Open 
Meeting Act 
(Gov. Code Section 11120 
et seq.) 

All meetings are open for public attendance and 
subject to all provisions of the Bagley-Keene Open 
Meeting Act. This act governs meetings of the 
state regulatory boards and meetings of 
committees of those boards where the committee 
consists of more than two members. It specifies 
meeting notice and agenda requirements and 
prohibits discussing or taking action on matters not 
included in the agenda. 

Public Comment 
(Gov. Code Section 
11125.7) 

Public comment must be allowed on open session 
agenda items before or during discussion of each 
item and before a vote. 

The LATC may accept public comment on an item 
not on the agenda, provided that the LATC takes 
no action or does not discuss the item at the same 
meeting. The LATC may refer the item to the next 
Strategic Planning session and/or place the matter 
on the agenda of a future meeting. The LATC 
cannot prohibit public criticism of the LATC’s 
policies or services.  The LATC chair may set 
reasonable time limitations. 

Due to the need for the LATC to maintain fairness 
and neutrality when performing its adjudicative 
function, the LATC shall not receive any substantive 
information from a member of the public regarding 
matters that are currently under or subject to 
investigation, or involve a pending or criminal 

4 



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
   

   
  

 

   

 
   

 
   

  
     

 
  

    
    

 
     

  

 
  

    
   

  
 

  

 
 

 

  
    

 
     

  
  

 
 

  

 

    
  

 
 

   
  

  

 

LATC Administrative Manual 

administrative action. 

Closed Session 
(Gov. Code Sections 11126, 
11126.1) 

Frequency of Meetings 
(B&P Code Section 101.7) 

Meeting Location 
(Gov. Code Sections 
11123.1 & 11131; B&P Code 
Section 101.7) 

Committee Member 
Attendance at LATC and 
Board Meetings 
(Board/LATC Policy) 

Any general discussion of exams shall be held in 
public.  The LATC may meet in closed session to 
discuss examinations where a public discussion 
would compromise the integrity of the 
examination. 

If the agenda contains matters that are 
appropriate for closed session, the agenda shall 
cite the particular statutory section and subdivision 
authorizing the closed session. 

No members of the public are allowed to remain in 
the meeting room for closed sessions. At least one 
staff member must be present at all closed sessions 
to record topics discussed and decisions made. 

Closed session must be specifically noticed on the 
agenda (including the topic and legal authority). 
Before going into closed session, the LATC chair 
should announce in open session the general 
nature of the item(s) to be discussed. 

The LATC shall meet at least two times each 
calendar year for the purpose of transacting such 
business as may lawfully come before it and may 
meet more often as it determines necessary. 

The LATC is required to hold its meetings at 
locations that are easily accessible to the public 
and individuals with disabilities in compliance the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). The LATC will 
hold meetings in different locations throughout the 
state and is required to hold at least one meeting 
in Northern California and one meeting in Southern 
California. 

Members shall attend each meeting of the LATC. If 
a member is unable to attend he/she must contact 
the LATC chair or vice chair and ask to be excused 
from the meeting for a specific reason.  Should a 
member miss two consecutive meetings, the Board 
president or LATC chair may notify the Director of 
the DCA. 

The Board and LATC maintain an ongoing practice 

5 



 

 

 

   
 

  
  

 
 

   
 

   
     

  
     

   
  

  
   

   
  

 
  

 
   

    
  

  

  

  
   

    
    

   

  
  

    
   

 
 

 

     

    
   

  
  

   
  

LATC Administrative Manual 

Member Participation 
(Board/LATC Policy) 

Teleconference Meetings 
(Gov. Code Section 11123) 

Special Meetings 
(Gov. Code Section 
11125.4) 

of providing regular updates regarding key issues 
at each other’s respective meetings to sustain 
understanding of each entity’s priorities. The LATC 
may send a representative to Board meetings as 
deemed appropriate by the chair or vice chair. 

The LATC chair may ascertain from members 
whose level of participation is below standard 
whether or not the member is no longer able to 
continue serving as an active member of the LATC. 
In such a case, the chair may recommend to the 
Board that the member resign. If such resignation is 
not forthcoming within a reasonable time, the 
Board, by resolution, may request the appointing 
authority to have the member replaced.  However, 
the member shall be given the opportunity to 
present to the Board his/her arguments against the 
resolution prior to such a resolution being adopted 
by the Board. 

Special rules for notice of teleconference meetings 
are as follows: 

•Same 10-day notice requirement as in-person 
meetings. 

•Notice and agenda must include teleconference 
locations. 

•Every teleconference location must be open to 
the public and at least one LATC member must 
be physically present at every noticed location. 
LATC members must attend the meeting at a 
publicly noticed location. 

•Additional locations may be listed on the notice 
that allow the public to observe or address the 
LATC by electronic means without an LATC 
member present. 

A special meeting may be called at any time by 
the LATC chair or in his or her absence the vice 
chair or by a majority of the members of the LATC 
and held with 48 hours’ notice in specified 
situations (e.g., consideration of proposed 
legislation).  At the commencement of any special 
meeting, the LATC must make a finding in open 
session that the delay necessitated by providing 

6 



 

 

   
 

 
  

      
   

   
  

 
 

 

  
    

  
 

     
    

    
 

  

 
 

   
    

 
  

   
  

  

 
 

  
 

   
   

    
 

  

 
 

 

  
 

  
 

  
  

  
 

  

   

  
 

 
  

  

LATC Administrative Manual 

Emergency Meetings 
(Gov. Code Section 
11125.5) 

Quorum 

Agenda Items 
(Board/LATC Policy) 

Notice of Meetings to be 
Sent to Individuals 
(Gov. Code Section 11120 
et seq.; B&P Code Section 
101.7) 

Notice of Meetings to be 
Posted on the Internet 
(Gov. Code Section 11125) 

notice 10 days prior to a meeting would cause a 
“substantial hardship on the LATC or that 
immediate action is required to protect the public 
interest.”  The finding shall be adopted by two-
thirds vote of the LATC if less than two-thirds 
members present, a unanimous vote of those 
members present. 

An emergency meeting may be held after finding 
by a majority of the LATC at a prior meeting or at 
the emergency meeting that an emergency 
situation exists due to work stoppage or crippling 
disaster. [A quorum is required for the LATC to 
meet in the event of emergency, such as a work 
stoppage or crippling disaster.] Emergency 
meetings require a one-hour notice. 

Three of the members of the LATC constitute a 
quorum of the LATC for the transaction of business. 
The concurrence of three members of the LATC 
present at a meeting duly held at which a quorum 
is present shall be necessary to constitute an act or 
decision of the LATC. 

The LATC chair, with the assistance of the LATC 
program manager, shall prepare the agenda and 
tentative meeting timeframe.  Any LATC member 
may submit items for an LATC meeting agenda to 
the program manager 20 days prior to the 
meeting. 

According to the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting 
Act, meeting notices (including agendas for LATC 
meetings) shall be sent to persons on the LATC’s 
mailing or email list at least 10 calendar days in 
advance. The notice shall include a staff person's 
name, work address, and work telephone number 
who can provide further information prior to the 
meeting. 

Unless the meeting meets the requirements for a 
special or emergency meeting under the Bagley-
Keene Open Meeting Act, notice shall be given 
and made available on the Internet at least 10 
calendar days in advance of the meeting, and 

7 



 

 

  
 

  
    

    
   

   
 

  

 
 

  
 

    
  

 
 

 
 

  
     

   
  

  

 
 

  
  

 
 

  
    

    
   

 
   

   

   

  

 

 

 
  

 
 

 
 

    
  

 

  

LATC Administrative Manual 

Record of Meetings 
(Board/LATC Policy; B&P 
Section 5626; Gov. Code 
Sections 11123(c),11126.1) 

Voting on Motions 
(B&P Code Section 5524; 
Gov. Code Sections 11120, 
11122, 11123, 87100 et seq.; 
68 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 65, 
69-70) 

Audio/Visual Recording 
(Board/LATC Policy) 

shall include the name, address, and telephone 
number of a staff person who can provide further 
information prior to the meeting but need not 
include a list of witnesses expected to appear at 
the meeting. The written notice shall additionally 
include the Internet address where notices required 
by the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act are made 
available. 

The minutes are a summary, not a transcript, of 
each LATC meeting.  They shall be prepared by 
LATC staff and submitted for review by LATC 
members before the next LATC meeting.  The 
minutes must contain a record of how each 
member present voted for each item on which a 
vote was taken.  LATC minutes shall be approved 
at the next scheduled meeting of the LATC. When 
approved, the minutes shall serve as the official 
record of the meeting. 

As a general rule, all votes must be taken publicly. 
However, votes taken on closed session matters are 
not required to be taken publicly. Secret ballots 
and proxy votes are prohibited. A majority of the 
committee vote is determined by the votes 
actually cast. Abstentions are recorded, but not 
counted, unless a law provides otherwise. 

Options for LATC members: 

1) Support / in Favor / Yes / Aye 

2) Oppose / No / Nay 

3) Abstain (not counted as a vote) 

4) Recused (not counted as a vote) 

The meeting may be audio/video recorded and/or 
broadcast live via the Internet.  Recordings shall be 
disposed of upon LATC approval of the minutes. If 
a webcast of the meeting is intended, it shall be 
indicated on the agenda notice. 

8 



 

 

 

   
  

 
 

 

 
 

  
 

  

 
 

 
 

   
   

  

    
  

  
  

  
  

  

   
 

 

   

   
    

  

 
  

 
  
  

  
  

  
 

  

 
  

 

  
  

   
   

  
  

   
 

LATC Administrative Manual 

Chapter 3 

Travel Approval 
(DCA Memorandum 
96-01) 

Travel Arrangements 
(Board/LATC Policy) 

Out-of-State Travel 
(SAM Section 700 et seq.) 

Travel Reimbursement 
(SAM Section 700 et seq. & 
DCA Memorandum 96-01) 

Travel & Salary Policies/Procedures 

LATC members shall have LATC chair approval for 
all travel except for regularly scheduled LATC, 
Board and subcommittee meetings to which the 
LATC member is assigned. 

LATC members are encouraged to coordinate with 
the LATC staff for any LATC-related travel 
arrangements, including air or train transportation, 
car rental, and lodging accommodations through 
Cal Travel Store’s online booking tool, Concur. 

LATC members must also utilize the most economic 
source of transportation available.  For example, if 
the hotel provides a shuttle from the airport to the 
hotel it is not fiscally responsible to rent a car or 
take a taxi.  Reimbursement may be reduced or 
denied if the most economical sources are not 
used. 

All LATC-related travel must be booked using Cal 
Travel Store’s self-service reservation system, 
Concur, if an LATC member seeks reimbursement. 

In advance of LATC and Board meetings, the LATC 
staff will provide members information detailing the 
name and address of the chosen hotel where state 
rates are available if an overnight stay is required. 

For out-of-state travel, LATC members will be 
reimbursed actual lodging expenses, supported by 
vouchers, and will be reimbursed for meal and 
supplemental expenses.  Out-of-state travel for all 
persons representing the state of California is 
controlled and must be approved by the 
Governor’s Office. 

Rules governing reimbursement of travel expenses 
for LATC members are the same as for 
management level state staff.  LATC members must 
submit the originals of all receipts, with the 
exception of meals, and, when applicable, a copy 
of the airline itinerary and hotel receipt showing the 
balance paid, to the LATC staff.  All expenses shall 
be claimed on the appropriate travel expense 

9 



 

 

 
     

  
  

   
   

 
 

  

   
 

  
  

  

 
 

  
 

  
  

  
 

   
  

     
 

    
  

     

 
 

 
 

  

   
  

  

   
 

  
 

LATC Administrative Manual 

claim forms.  The staff maintain these forms and 
complete them as needed. The staff complete 
travel expense reimbursements in CalATERS Global 
and maintain copies of these reports and 
submitted receipts. It is advisable for LATC 
members to submit their travel expense forms 
immediately after returning from a trip and not later 
than two weeks following the trip. 

In order for the expenses to be reimbursed, LATC 
members shall follow the procedures contained in 
DCA Departmental Memoranda that are 
periodically disseminated by the Director and are 
provided to LATC members on at least an annual 
basis by the staff. 

Salary Per Diem Each member of a board, commission or 
committee created in various chapters of Division 3 (B&P Code Section 103) 
(commencing with section 5000) is eligible to 
receive a per diem of $100 for each day actually 
spent in the discharge of official duties, unless on 
any day served, the member also received 
compensation for their regular public employment. 
Reimbursement of travel and other related 
expenses for LATC members is also regulated by 
section 103. 

In relevant part, this section provides for the 
payment of salary per diem for LATC members “for 
each day actually spent in the discharge of official 
duties,” and provides that the LATC member “shall 
be reimbursed for traveling and other expenses 
necessarily incurred in the performance of official 
duties.” 

(Board/LATC Policy) Accordingly, the following general guidelines shall 
be adhered to in the payment of salary per diem or 
reimbursement for travel: 

No salary per diem or reimbursement for travel-
related expenses shall be paid to LATC members 
except for attendance in official Board or 
committee meetings, unless a substantial official 
service is performed by the LATC member. 
Attendance at gatherings, events, hearings, 
conferences, or meetings other than official Board 
or committee meetings in which a substantial 
official service is performed shall be approved in 

10 



 

 

  
   

  
   

  
  

  
      

 
    

 
 
 

 

    
 

    
    

  
 

    
 

  
 

  
 

  
  

  

  
 

   
 

 
 

     

  
  

 
  

 
  

 
    

 

LATC Administrative Manual 

Chapter 4 

LATC Member Disciplinary 
Actions 
(Board/LATC Policy; Gov. 
Code Section 11125.4) 

advance by the LATC chair.  The LATC program 
manager shall be notified of the event and 
approval shall be obtained from the LATC chair 
prior to LATC member’s attendance. 

The term “day actually spent in the discharge of 
official duties” shall mean such time as is expended 
from the commencement of a Board or committee 
meeting to the conclusion of that meeting. Where 
it is necessary for a LATC member to leave early 
from a meeting, the LATC chair shall determine if 
the member has provided a substantial service 
during the meeting and, if so, shall authorize 
payment of salary per diem and reimbursement for 
travel-related expenses. 

For LATC specified work, LATC members will be 
compensated for actual time spent performing 
work authorized by the LATC chair. That work 
includes, but is not limited to, authorized 
attendance at other gatherings, events, meetings, 
hearings, or conferences; CLARB committee work; 
and travel time on non-meeting days (out-of-state). 
That work does not include preparation time for 
LATC or subcommittee meetings.  LATC members 
cannot claim salary per diem for time spent 
traveling to and from a Board or committee 
meeting. 

Other Policies/Procedures 

An LATC member may be censured by the Board if, 
after a hearing before the Board, the Board 
determines that the member has acted in an 
inappropriate manner. 

The Board president shall preside over the hearing 
unless the censure involves the president's own 
actions, in which case the Board vice president shall 
preside. In accordance with the Bagley-Keene 
Open Meeting Act, the censure hearing shall be 
conducted in open session. 

Removal of LATC Members The Governor has the power to remove from office 
at any time any member of any board appointed (B&P Code Sections 106 & 
by him/her for continued neglect of duties required 

11 



 

 

  
   

 
  

  
 

  

  

  
     

  
   

   
  

    
  

  

 
 

   
  

 
  

 
 

   
   

     
    

 
 

 
  

 

 

 
    

   
  

  
  

 

 
 

  
 

  
   

   

  
 

  

LATC Administrative Manual 

106.5) 

Resignation of LATC 
Members 
(Gov. Code Section 1750) 

Officers of the LATC 
(Board/LATC Policy) 

Election of Officers 
(Board/LATC Policy) 

Officer Vacancies 
(Board/LATC Policy) 

Task Force or 
Subcommittee 
Appointments 
(Board/LATC Policy) 

by law or for incompetence or unprofessional or 
dishonorable conduct. The Governor may also 
remove from office a member of a board or other 
licensing entity in DCA who directly or indirectly 
discloses examination questions to an applicant for 
examination for licensure. 

In the event that it becomes necessary for an LATC 
member to resign, a letter shall be sent to the 
appropriate appointing authority (Governor, Senate 
Rules Committee, or Speaker of the Assembly) with 
the effective date of the resignation. Written 
notification is required by state law.  A copy of this 
letter shall also be sent to the director of DCA, the 
Board president, LATC chair, and the EO. 

The LATC shall elect from its members a chair and a 
vice chair to hold office for one year or until their 
successors are duly elected and qualified. 

The LATC shall elect the officers at the last meeting 
of the calendar year.  Officers shall serve a term of 
one year. All officers may be elected on one 
motion or ballot as a slate of officers unless more 
than one LATC member is running per office.  An 
officer may be re-elected and serve for more than 
one term. 

If an office becomes vacant during the year, an 
election shall be held at the next meeting. If the 
office of the chair becomes vacant, the vice chair 
shall assume the office of the chair.  Elected officers 
shall then serve the remainder of the term. 

The LATC chair shall establish task force groups or 
special subcommittees as he or she deems 
necessary.  The composition of the task forces or 
special subcommittees and the appointment of 
the members shall be determined by the LATC 
chair in consultation with the vice chair and LATC 
program manager. When task forces or special 
subcommittees include the appointment of non-
LATC members, all impacted parties should be 
considered. 

12 



 

 

  
 

 

  

 

    
 

   
  

 
   

    
  

  

 

 
  

 
  

  
 

  

 
 

 
   

 
  

 
  

   
  

    
  

 
  

 

 
   

    
   

    
    

   

 
 

  
  

  

LATC Administrative Manual 

Attendance at Task Force 
or Subcommittee Meetings 
(Board/LATC Policy; Gov. 
Code Section 
11122.5(c)(6)) 

If an LATC member wishes to attend a meeting of a 
task force or special subcommittee in an official 
capacity of which he/she is not a member, that 
LATC member shall obtain permission from the 
LATC chair to attend and shall notify the task force 
or subcommittee chair and LATC program 
manager.  LATC members who are not members of 
the task force or subcommittee that is meeting 
cannot vote during the task force or subcommittee 
meeting and may attend only as observers. If 
there is a quorum of the LATC at a task force or 
subcommittee meeting, LATC members who are 
not members of the task force or subcommittee 
must sit in the audience and cannot participate in 
task force or subcommittee deliberations. 

Task forces and subcommittees operate at the 
direction of the LATC to fulfill specific goals in the 
Strategic Plan.  Task force and subcommittee 
chairs shall lead actions toward such goals without 
undue influence on the part of LATC officers or 
members. 

Board and LATC Staff 
(DCA Reference Manual) 

Employees of the Board and LATC, with the 
exception of the EO, are civil service employees. 
Their employment, pay, benefits, discipline, 
termination, and conditions of employment are 
governed by civil service laws, regulations, and 
collective bargaining labor agreements.  Because 
of this complexity, it is most appropriate that the 
LATC delegate all authority and responsibility for 
management of the civil service staff to the LATC 
program manager.  LATC members shall not 
intervene or become involved in specific day-to-
day personnel transactions or matters. 

Program Manager 
Evaluation 
(Board/LATC Policy) 

LATC members shall provide input regarding the 
performance of the LATC program manager on an 
annual basis. The LATC chair shall disseminate a 
performance appraisal form to all LATC members 
who shall complete the form and return it to the 
chair who will, in turn, submit it to the EO. 

LATC Administration LATC members should be concerned primarily with 
formulating decisions on LATC policies rather than (DCA Reference Manual) 
decisions concerning the means for carrying out a 

13 



 

 

    
 

  

    
 

 
 

 
 

    
    

 
  

 
 

 
 

   
  

  
  

  
 

  
  

 
   

  
    

 
 

     
   

  
  

     
  

   
  

   
   

  
   

    
 

 
  

 

LATC Administrative Manual 

LATC Budget 
(Board/LATC Policy) 

Conflict of Interest 
(Gov. Code Section 87100) 

specific course of action. It is inappropriate for 
LATC members to become involved in the details 
of program delivery.  Strategies for the day-to-day 
management of programs and staff shall be the 
responsibility of the LATC program manager and 
EO. 

Consistent with the budget and Strategic Plan, 
requests by individual LATC members that are not 
directly associated with the LATC’s goals or have 
an impact on staff workload, as determined by the 
chair and program manager, may be declined. In 
the event the request is by the chair, the vice chair 
shall review the request. 

The vice chair shall serve as the LATC’s budget 
liaison with staff and shall assist staff in the 
monitoring and reporting of the budget to the 
LATC.  Staff will conduct an annual budget briefing 
with the LATC with the assistance of the LATC vice 
chair.  The EO, LATC program manager, or his/her 
designee will attend and testify at legislative 
budget hearings and shall communicate all 
budget issues to the Administration and Legislature. 

No LATC member may make, participate in 
making, or in any way attempt to use his or her 
official position to influence a governmental 
decision in which he or she knows or has reason to 
know he or she has a financial interest. Any LATC 
member who has a financial interest shall disqualify 
himself/herself from making or attempting to use 
his/her official position to influence the decision. 
Any LATC member who feels he or she is entering 
into a situation where there is a potential for a 
conflict of interest should immediately consult the 
LATC program manager or the LATC’s legal 
counsel.  The question of whether or not a member 
has a financial interest that would present a legal 
conflict of interest is complex and must be decided 
on a case-by-case review of the particular facts 
involved. For more information on disqualifying 
yourself because of a possible conflict of interest, 
please refer to the Fair Political Practice 
Committee’s manual on their website: 
fppc.ca.gov. 

14 



 

 

  

 
 

 

  
  

  
   

  
   

   
  

  
  

  
     

   

  
   

  
  

   

  
  

  
  

  
     

  
  

 
  

 
   

  
  

 
 

  

  
 

  
  

  
   

   

LATC Administrative Manual 

Financial Disclosure 
(Gov. Code Section 
87302(b) 

The Conflict of Interest Code also requires LATC 
members to file annual financial disclosure 
statements by submitting a Form 700 – Statement of 
Economic Interest. New LATC members are 
required to file a disclosure statement within 30 
days after assuming office. Annual financial 
statements must be filed no later than April 1 of 
each calendar year. 

A “leaving of office statement” must be filed within 
30 days after an affected LATC member leaves 
office. 

LATC members are not required to disclose all of 
their financial interests. Gov. Code section 87302 
(b) explains when an item is reportable: 

An investment, interest in real property, or income 
shall be made reportable by the Conflict of Interest 
Code if the business entity in which the investment 
is held, the interest in real property, or the income 
or source of income may foreseeably be affected 
materially by any decision made or participated in 
by the designated employee by virtue of his or her 
position. 

Refer to the Fair Political Practices Commission’s 
website fppc.ca.gov to determine what 
investments, interests in property, or income must 
be reported by a member. Questions concerning 
particular financial situations and related 
requirements should be directed to DCA’s Legal 
Affairs Division. 

Incompatible Activities 
(Gov. Code Section 19990) 

Following is a summary of the employment, 
activities, or enterprises that might result in or 
create the appearance of being inconsistent, 
incompatible, or in conflict with the duties of state 
officers: 

•Using the prestige or influence of a state office or 
employment for the officer’s or employee’s 
private gain or advantage, or the private gain or 
advantage of another. 

•Using state time, facilities, equipment, or supplies 
for the officer’s or employee’s private gain or 
advantage, or the private gain or advantage of 

15 

https://fppc.ca.gov


 

 

  

  
  

 
  

  
 

   
  

   
 

  

    
 

  
   

 
  

   
 

  

 
  

  
  

 
 

    
   

  
 

  

   
 

   

  
 

  

 
 

 

 
 

 
  

LATC Administrative Manual 

another. 

•Using confidential information acquired by the 
virtue of state employment for the officer’s or 
employee’s private gain or advantage or 
advantage of another. 

•Receiving or accepting money, or any other 
consideration, from anyone other than the state 
for the performance of an act which the officer or 
employee would be required or expected to 
render in the regular course or hours of his or her 
state employment or as a part of his or her duties 
as a state officer or employee. 

•Performance of an act other than in his or her 
capacity as a state officer or employee knowing 
that such an act may later be subject, directly or 
indirectly, to the control, inspection, review, audit, 
or enforcement by such officer or employee of 
the agency by which he or she is employed. (This 
would not preclude a member of the LATC from 
performing normal functions of his or her 
occupation.) 

•Receiving or accepting, directly or indirectly, any 
gift, including money, any service, gratuity, favor, 
entertainment, hospitality, loan, or any other thing 
of value from anyone who is seeking to do 
business of any kind with the state or whose 
activities are regulated or controlled in any way 
by the state, under circumstances from which it 
reasonably could be inferred that the gift was 
intended to influence him or her in his or her 
official duties or was intended as a reward for any 
official action on his or her part. 

The aforementioned limitations do not attempt to 
specify every possible limitation on member or 
employee activity that might be determined and 
prescribed under the authority of Gov. Code 
section 19990. DCA’s Incompatible Work Activities 
OHR 10-01 is included in Appendix C. 

Ex Parte Communications The Government Code contains provisions 
prohibiting ex parte communications.  An “ex (Gov. Code Section 
parte” communication is a communication to the 11430.10 et seq.) 
decision-maker made by one party to an 

16 

https://11430.10


 

 

 
    

   
 

 

 
 

  

  

 
  

 

 
    

 
 
 
 

  

  
 

 

 
   

   
  

  
 
 

  
 

  
   

    

  
 

 
   

 

LATC Administrative Manual 

enforcement action without participation by the 
other party. While there are specified exceptions 
to the general prohibition, the key provision is 
found in subdivision (a) of section 11430.10, which 
states: 

“While the proceeding is pending, there shall 
be no communication, direct or indirect, 
regarding any issue in the proceeding to the 
presiding officer from an employee or 
representative of an agency that is a party 
or from an interested person outside the 
agency, without notice and an opportunity 
for all parties to participate in the 
communication.” 

Board members adjudicate disciplinary matters 
involving the practice of architecture and 
landscape architecture and are prohibited from 
an ex parte communication with Board 
enforcement staff individuals involved in 
disciplinary proceedings while those matters are 
pending. In addition, Committee members shall 
not participate in any ex parte communication 
with Board members, enforcement staff, or 
individuals involved in pending disciplinary 
proceedings. 

Occasionally an applicant who is being formally 
denied licensure, or a licensee against whom 
disciplinary action is being taken, will attempt to 
directly contact Board or Committee members. 

If the communication is written, the person should 
read only far enough to determine the nature of 
the communication.  Once he or she realizes it is 
from a person against whom an action is pending, 
they should reseal the documents and send them 
to the EO. 

If a Committee member receives a telephone call 
from an applicant or licensee against whom an 
action is pending, he or she should immediately tell 
the person that discussion about the matter is not 
permitted, he or she will be required to recuse him 
or herself from any participation in the matter, and 
continued discussion is of no benefit to the 
applicant or licensee. 

17 

https://11430.10


 

 

  
 

  
 

  

 

   
   

 
  

   
   

  
  

 
   

  

   

  
 
 

 
  

    
   

    
 

  

 
 

  
    

   
 
 

  
  

  

 
  

 
 

  
 

   
 

  

     

LATC Administrative Manual 

Communications with 
Other Organizations/ 
Individuals 
(Board/LATC Policy) 

Legislation 
(Board/LATC Policy) 

Contact with Candidates 
(Board/LATC Policy) 

If a Committee member believes that he or she has 
received an unlawful ex parte communication, he 
or she should contact the Board’s assigned Legal 
Affairs Division counsel. 

All communications relating to any LATC action or 
policy to any individual or organization including 
CLARB, ASLA, or a representative of the media shall 
be made only by the LATC chair, his/her designee, 
or the LATC program manager.  Any LATC member 
who is contacted by any of the above should 
immediately inform the LATC chair or LATC 
program manager of the contact.  All 
correspondence shall be issued on the LATC’s 
standard letterhead and will be created and 
disseminated by the LATC office. 

LATC members shall not act on behalf of the LATC 
without approval and consensus, including but not 
limited to meeting or interacting with other 
professional organizations, governmental entities, 
educational institutions, landscape architectural 
associations, intern associations, etc.  All actions on 
behalf of the LATC shall be documented and 
communicated to the LATC program manager. 
The LATC program manager will then convey such 
information to the LATC via the monthly report or 
by other means, as determined necessary. 

In the event time constraints preclude Board and 
LATC action, the Board delegates to the EO the 
authority to take action on legislation that would 
change the Landscape Architects Practice Act, 
impact a previously established Board or LATC 
policy, or affect the public’s health, safety, or 
welfare.  Prior to taking a position on legislation, the 
EO shall consult with the LATC chair and Board 
president.  The LATC shall be notified of such action 
as soon as possible. 

LATC members shall not intervene on behalf of a 
candidate for any reason.  They should forward all 
contacts or inquiries to the LATC program 
manager. 

Gifts from Candidates Gifts of any kind to LATC members or the staff from 

18 



 

 

  
 

  

 
 

   
  

 

 
  

 
 

   
 

  
 
 

   
 

  

 
  

  
 

  
     

  
  

  

 
     

  
   

    

  
    

     
 

 
  

 
 

  
    

   
   

  
  

 

LATC Administrative Manual 

(Board/LATC Policy) candidates for licensure with the LATC shall not be 
permitted. 

Request for Records Access No LATC member may access a licensee or 
candidate file without the program manager’s (Board/LATC Policy) 
knowledge and approval of the conditions of 
access.  Records or copies of records shall not be 
removed from the LATC’s office. 

Business Cards Business cards will be provided to each LATC 
member upon request with the LATC’s name, (Board/LATC Policy) 
address, telephone, fax number, and website 
address.  A LATC member’s business address, 
telephone, and fax number, and e-mail address 
may be listed on the card at the member’s 
request. 

Letterhead Only correspondence that is transmitted directly by 
the LATC office may be printed or written on LATC (Board/LATC Policy) 
letterhead stationery. Any correspondence from a 
LATC member requiring the use of LATC stationary 
or the LATC’s logo should be transmitted to the 
LATC office for finalization and distribution. 

Chapter 5 Training 
Once a LATC member is appointed, the LATC staff 
will send an email containing a list of all the 
required trainings, their due dates, and instructions 
about their completion. LATC members should 
send the certificate of completion or signature 
page to the LATC staff who maintain LATC 
members’ records. For additional information, 
LATC members may refer to DCA’s online Board 
Member Resource Center which may be found at: 
dca.boardmembers.ca.gov 

LATC Member Orientation Newly appointed and reappointed LATC members 
must attend a Board Member orientation training (B&P Code Section 453) 
course offered by DCA within one year of assuming 
office. The orientation covers information 
regarding required training, in addition to other 
topics that will ensure a member’s success, 
including an overview of DCA. 

19 

https://dca.boardmembers.ca.gov


 

 

  

 
 

 

  
 

  
      

   
    

  
 

  

 
 

  

    
 

  

 
 

  
 

   
 
 

  
   

 

LATC Administrative Manual 

Ethics 
(Gov. Code Section 11146 
et seq.) 

Sexual Harassment 
Prevention 
(Gov. Code Section 
12950.1) 

Defensive Driver 
(SAM Section 0751) 

State appointees and employees in exempt 
positions are required to take an ethics orientation 
within the first six months of their appointment and 
every two years thereafter. To comply with that 
directive, LATC members may take the interactive 
course provided by the Office of the Attorney 
General, which can be found at 
oag.ca.gov/ethics. 

LATC members are required to undergo sexual 
harassment prevention training and education 
once every two years, in odd years. Staff will 
coordinate the training with DCA. 

All state employees, which includes Board and 
committee members, who drive a vehicle (state 
vehicle, vehicles rented by the state, or personal 
vehicles for state business) on official state business 
must complete the Department of General 
Services (DGS) approved defensive driver training 
(DDT) within the first six months of their appointment 
and every four years thereafter. 

20 

https://oag.ca.gov/ethics


 

 

 

 
     

   
        

 
 

    
     

    
    

      
     

 
 

   
   

 
   

     
 

     
  

     
 

 
   

      
 

   
     

   
     

 
   

  
  

  
 

    
 

    
      

LATC Administrative Manual 

APPENDIX A 

Landscape Architects Technical Committee (LATC) 
Committee Member Position Description 

The LATC exists to regulate the practice of landscape architecture in the interest 
and for the protection of the public health, safety, and welfare.  The LATC is 
comprised of five landscape architects. Each member of the LATC is 
responsible first and foremost for public protection. 

The LATC manages its responsibilities by delegating to subcommittees and task 
forces as needed and its staff, thereby enabling the LATC to more effectively 
fulfill its mission.  The LATC employs a program manager to exercise the powers 
and perform the duties delegated by the LATC.  The program manger manages 
the LATC’s staff (currently five positions).  With direction from the LATC and the 
Strategic Plan, the LATC staff implement the LATC’s examination, licensing, 
enforcement, and administration programs. 

As a whole, the LATC’s responsibilities include the following: 
• Assist the Board in the examination of candidates for landscape architecture 

licensure and, after investigation, evaluate and make recommendations 
regarding potential violations of the Landscape Architects Practice Act. 

• Investigate, assist, and make recommendations to the Board regarding the 
regulation of landscape architects in this state. 

• Perform duties and functions that have been delegated to it by the Board 
pursuant to B&P Code section 5620. 

• Send a representative to all meetings of the full Board to 
report on the LATC’s activities. 

Individual LATC member responsibilities include: 
• Attendance at LATC meetings. (The LATC regularly meets quarterly, but may 

meet more often if necessary.  Meetings are generally one-day and are 
scheduled in locations throughout California.  Overnight travel may be 
necessary. Every two years, the LATC meeting includes a Strategic Planning 
session.) 

• Participation on LATC subcommittees and task forces. (Time commitment for 
committees and task forces vary.) 

• LATC members are also expected to invest the time to review the 
"recommended reading" necessary to participate effectively in LATC 
business.  Such readings include the LATC Member Administrative Manual, 
Sunset Review Report, Board and committee packets, recent studies and 
reports, and related material. 

• Acting as a representative of the LATC to communicate information to the 
professional and educational communities. 

• Possible participation in the Council of Landscape Architectural Registration 
Boards (CLARB) meetings. (CLARB meets once per year. Meetings are 

21 



 

 

      
  

      
 

   

LATC Administrative Manual 

usually three days, and up to two days travel time may be required, 
depending on meeting location.) 

• Possible participation as a CLARB officer or director. (The LATC has a goal of 
exercising more influence on CLARB by encouraging its members to 
participate at officer levels of the organization.) 

22 



 

 

 

    
 

 

LATC Administrative Manual 

APPENDIX B 
DCA Incompatible Work Activities (OHR 14-01) 

23 



                                     
 
 
 

 

  
  

 
 

 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
   

 
   

California Architects Board Landscape Architects Technical Committee 

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS 
TECHNICAL COMMITTEE 

COMMITTEE MEMBER 
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE MANUAL 

Updated 2001 

alknati
Typewritten Text
Attachment H.3



  

     
 

  
  

  
 

    
  

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
   

  
   

  
  

  
 

  
   

 
 
  

 
 
 

  
 

    
  

 
 

  

 
 

 
  
   

 
 

 

Landscape Architects Technical Committee Administrative Procedure Manual 

Chapter 1 Introduction 

Overview The Landscape Architects Technical Committee (LATC) 
was statutorily established under the jurisdiction of the 
California Architects Board (CAB) pursuant to the 
enactment of AB 1546 (Chapter 475, statutes of 1997) 
which became effective January 1, 1998. It replaces the 
former Board of Landscape Architects which was 
abolished through the enactment of SB 2036 (Chapter 
908, statutes of 1994) on July 1, 1997. 

The LATC’s purpose is to act in an advisory capacity to 
the CAB on examinations and other matters pertaining to 
the regulation of the practice of landscape architecture in 
California. 

The LATC consists of five technical experts who are 
licensed to practice landscape architecture in this state. 
Under the provisions of section 5621(b) of the Business 
and Professions Code, the Governor has the authority to 
appoint three of the members.  The remaining two 
members are each appointed by the Senate Committee on 
Rules and the Speaker of the Assembly.  Committee 
members fill non-salaried positions but are paid $100 per 
day for each meeting day and are reimbursed travel 
expenses. 

This procedure manual is provided to Committee 
members as a ready reference of important laws, 
regulations, Department of Consumer Affairs (DCA) 
policies, and CAB policies in order to guide the actions of 
the LATC and ensure its effectiveness and efficiency. 

Delegated Authority Sections 5620 and 5622 of the Business and Professions 
Code set forth the duties of the CAB and LATC.  On May 
14, 1998, the CAB unanimously voted to empower the 
LATC, to the fullest extent authorized by law, to exercise 
all duties, powers, purposes, responsibilities and 
jurisdiction relative to administration of the Landscape 
Architects Technical Committee as set forth in Chapter 
3.5 of Division 3 of the Business and Professions Code 
(commending with section 5615), with the following 
exceptions: 

• The Committee shall make recommendations 
concerning proposed regulatory or statutory changes 
and submit them to the Board for review and final 
approval. 

1 



  

   
 

   
  
   

  
  

 
  
   

  
 

 
  

   
  
   
  
   
  
   
  
  

   
  

 
 

  
  

  
  

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

 

 
  

 
    

 
 

  
    

 
 

  
 

 
 

 

 
   

Landscape Architects Technical Committee Administrative Procedure Manual 

Definitions 

Chapter 2 

Frequency of Meetings 
(Committee Policy) 

Attendance at Meetings 
Committee Member 
(Committee Policy) 

Committee Member 
Participation 
(Committee Policy) 

• The Committee shall make recommendations 
concerning budget augmentations and submit them to 
the Board for review and final approval. 

• The Committee shall develop a strategic plan for the 
Landscape Architects Technical Committee (LATC) 
and submit it to the Board for review and final 
approval. 

• The Committee shall make recommendations 
involving disciplining a landscape architect or taking 
action against a person who has violated this chapter 
to the Board for review and final approval. 

B&P Business and Professions Code 

CAB California Architects Board 

DCA Department of Consumer Affairs 

LATC Landscape Architects Technical Committee 

Committee Meeting Procedures 

The Committee shall meet at least once a quarter and may 
meet more often as it determines necessary. 

Committee members shall attend each meeting of the 
LATC.  If a member is unable to attend he/she must 
contact the LATC chair or vice chair and ask to be 
excused from the meeting for a specific reason. 

The LATC chair may ascertain from members whose 
level of participation is below standard whether or not the 
member is able to continue serving as an active member 
of the LATC. In such a case, the chair may recommend 
to the CAB that the member resign.  If such resignation is 
not forthcoming within a reasonable time, the CAB, by 
resolution, may request the appointing authority to have 
the member replaced. However, the member shall be 
given the opportunity to present to the CAB his/her 
arguments against the resolution prior to such a resolution 
being adopted by the CAB. 

Committee Member The LATC may send a representative to CAB board 
Meetings meetings as deemed appropriate by the chair or vice chair. 
(Committee Policy) 

2 



  

 
 

 

   
 
 

 
   

  
 

 
  

  
 
 

  
 
 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
  

 

 

  
 
 
 

   
 

 
  

 
   

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 
 

 
  

 
 

  

   
 

  
  

Landscape Architects Technical Committee Administrative Procedure Manual 

Public Attendance at 
Committee Meetings 
(Government Code Section 
11120 et seq.) 

Meetings are subject to all provisions of the Bagley-
Keene Open Meeting Act.  This act governs meetings of 
the state regulatory boards and meetings of committees of 
those boards where the committee consists of more than 
two members. It specifies meeting notice and agenda 
requirements and prohibits discussing or taking action on 
matters not included in the agenda. 

Any general discussion of exams or disciplinary 
procedures shall be held in public.  The LATC may meet 
in closed session to discuss examinations where a public 
discussion would compromise the integrity of the 
examination, and to deliberate on disciplinary cases.  If 
the agenda contains matters which are appropriate for 
closed session, the agenda shall cite the particular 
statutory section and subdivision authorizing the closed 
session. 

Agenda Items 
(Committee Policy) 

Notice of Meetings 
(Government Code Section 
(11120 et seq.) 

Record of Meetings 
(Committee Policy) 

Tape Recording 
(Committee Policy) 

Meeting Rules 
(Committee Policy) 

Any Committee member may submit suggested items for 
a Committee meeting agenda to the LATC program 
manager 20 days prior to the meeting. 

According to the Open Meeting Act, meeting notices 
(including agendas for Committee meetings) shall be sent 
to persons on the Committee’s mailing list of interested 
persons at least ten (10) calendar days in advance.  The 
notice shall include a telephone number and address 
where persons can obtain additional information prior to 
the meeting. 

The minutes are a summary, not a transcript, of each 
Committee meeting.  They shall be prepared by LATC 
staff and submitted for review by the LATC before the 
next scheduled meeting.  LATC minutes shall be 
approved by the CAB at the Board’s next scheduled 
meeting.  When approved, the minutes shall serve as the 
official record of the meeting. 

The meetings may be tape-recorded for staff purposes. 
Tape recordings shall be disposed of upon CAB approval 
of the minutes. 

The LATC will use Robert’s Rules of Order, to the extent 
that it does not conflict with state law (e.g., Bagley-Keene 
Open Meeting Act), as a guide when conducting 
meetings. 

3 



  

  
  

 
 

  
 

  
 

 
 

  
  

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
   

 
   

 
   

  
  
  

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

  
  

  
 

 
 

 
  

    
  

 
  
   

 

Landscape Architects Technical Committee Administrative Procedure Manual 

Chapter 3 

Travel Approval 
(Committee Policy) 

Travel Arrangements 
(Committee Policy) 

Out-of-State Travel 
(SAM Section 700 et seq.) 

Travel Claims 
(SAM Section 700 et. seq. and 
DCA Memorandum 91-26) 

Salary Per Diem 
(B&P Code Section 103) 

(Committee Policy) 

Travel & Salary Policies/Procedures 

Committee members shall have the chair’s approval for 
all travel except for regularly scheduled meetings. 

Committee members should attempt to make travel 
arrangements through LATC staff. 

For out-of-state travel, Committee members will be 
reimbursed actual lodging expenses, supported by 
vouchers, and will be reimbursed for meal and 
supplemental expenses. Out-of-state travel for all persons 
representing the state of California is controlled and 
approved by the Governor’s Office. 

Rules governing reimbursement of travel expenses for 
Committee members are the same as for management and 
state staff.  All expenses shall be claimed on the 
appropriate travel expense claim forms.  The LATC’s 
administrative assistant maintains these forms and 
completes them as needed. It is advisable for Committee 
members to submit their travel expense forms 
immediately after returning from a trip and not later than 
two weeks following the trip. 

In order for the expenses to be reimbursed, Committee 
members shall follow the procedures contained in DCA 
Departmental Memoranda that are periodically 
disseminated by the director. 

Compensation in the form of salary per diem and 
reimbursement of travel and other related expenses for 
Committee members is regulated by the Business and 
Professions Code. 

In relevant part, this section provides for the payment of 
salary per diem for Committee members “for each day 
actually spent in the discharge of official duties,” and 
provides that the Committee member “shall be 
reimbursed for traveling and other expenses necessarily 
incurred in the performance of official duties.” 

Accordingly, the following general guidelines shall be 
adhered to in the payment of salary per diem or 
reimbursement for travel: 

1. No salary per diem or reimbursement for travel-related 
expenses shall be paid to Committee members except for 

4 



  

 
   

 
  

   
  

  
 

 
  

 
 

  
  
  

 
 

  
 
 
 

 
  
     

   
  

 
 

 
  

 
  

  
  

  
 

 

  
    

  
 

 
   

 
 

 
 

 

Landscape Architects Technical Committee Administrative Procedure Manual 

attendance at official meetings, unless a substantial, 
official service is performed by the Committee member. 
Attendance at gatherings, events, hearings, conferences, 
or meetings in which a substantial official service is 
performed shall be approved in advance by the LATC 
chair.  The program manager shall also be notified of the 
event prior to the Committee member’s attendance. 

Committee members attending out-of-state annual or 
regional meetings, conferences, seminars, etc. are 
expected to attend all appropriate sessions and to make a 
report to the Committee on the sessions at its next 
scheduled meeting following the event. 

2. The statement “day actually spent in the discharge of 
official duties” shall mean such time as is expended from 
the commencement of a Committee meeting to the 
conclusion of that meeting.  Where it is necessary for a 
member to leave early from a meeting, the LATC chair 
shall determine if the member has provided a substantial 
service during the meeting and, if so, shall authorize 
payment of salary per diem and reimbursement for travel-
related expenses. 

3. For LATC specified work, Committee members will 
be compensated for actual time spent performing work 
authorized by the LATC chair.  That work includes, but is 
not limited to, authorized attendance at other gatherings, 
events, meetings, hearings, or conferences or participation 
in item writing workshops for the California 
Supplemental Examination, and travel time on non-
meeting days.  That work does not include preparation 
time for Committee meetings.  Members cannot claim 
salary per diem for time spent traveling to and from a 
Committee meeting. 

Chapter 4 Other Policies/Procedures 

Committee Member 
Disciplinary Actions 
(Committee Policy) 

A Committee member may be censured by the CAB if, 
after a hearing before the Board, the Board determines 
that the member has acted in an inappropriate manner. 

The president of the Board shall sit as chair of the hearing 
or in his or her absence, the vice president. In accordance 
with the Public Meetings Act, the censure hearing shall 
be conducted in open session. 

5 



  

 
 

 

 
    

 
 

  
 
 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

  
 
  
 
 

   
  

  
    

 
 

 
 

   
   
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

   
 
 

  
  

 
 

 
 

 

   
   

  

 
 

Landscape Architects Technical Committee Administrative Procedure Manual 

Removal of Committee Members 
(B&P Code Sections 
106 and 106.5) 

Resignation of Committee 
Members 
(Government Code Section 1750) 

Officers of the Committee 
(Committee Policy) 

Program Budget 
(Committee Policy) 

General Role of Committee 
Members 
(Committee Policy) 

The Governor has the power to remove from office at any 
time any member of any board or committee appointed by 
him/her for continued neglect of duties required by law or 
for incompetence or unprofessional or dishonorable 
conduct.  The Governor may also remove from office a 
board or committee member who directly or indirectly 
discloses examination questions to an applicant for 
examination for licensure. 

In the event that it becomes necessary for a Committee 
member to resign, a letter shall be sent to the appropriate 
appointing authority (Governor, Senate Rules Committee, 
or Speaker of the Assembly) with the effective date of the 
resignation.  Written notification is required by state law. 
A copy of this letter shall also be sent to the director of 
the DCA, the CAB president, the executive officer of the 
CAB and the chair of the LATC. 

The LATC shall elect from its members a chair and a vice 
chair to hold office for one year or until their successors 
are elected. 

The chair shall preside over and conduct meetings in 
accordance with Robert’s Rules of Order.  In addition, the 
chair shall represent the LATC at the Council of 
Landscape Architectural Registration Boards’ annual and 
regional meetings and make reports to the LATC at the 
next scheduled meeting following the event. 

The vice-chair shall assume the duties of chair in the 
chair’s absence. 

The vice chair shall serve as the LATC’s budget liaison 
with staff and shall assist staff in the monitoring and 
reporting of the budget to the Committee.  Staff will 
conduct an annual budget briefing with the CAB with the 
assistance of the vice chair.  The program manager or 
his/her designee will attend and testify at legislative 
budget hearings and shall communicate all budget issues 
to the Administration and Legislature. 

The primary role of LATC members is to recommend 
policy under the statutes governing it.  Policy guidance is 
developed by interpreting the regulatory law through 
officially adopted regulations and clearly developed 
licensing and enforcement procedures. 

6 



  

 

  
  

 
 

   
     

   
 

 
  

 
 

  
     

 
  

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
  

  
 

 

  
  

 
 

  
  

 
 

  
 

 
  

  
  

 
 

  
 

  
 

 
 

   
   

  
 

 
  

 
  

Landscape Architects Technical Committee Administrative Procedure Manual 

More detailed duties of a Committee member are 
contained in the Department of Consumer Affairs’ Board 
Member Orientation and Reference Manual. 

Election of Officers 
(Committee Policy) 

Officer Vacancies 
(Committee Policy) 

Task Force Appointments 
(Committee Policy) 

Attendance at Task Force 
Meetings 
(Committee Policy) 

Request for Records Access 
(Committee Policy) 

Communications with Other 
Organizations/Individuals 
(Committee Policy) 

The LATC shall elect its officers at the last meeting of the 
fiscal year. Officers shall serve a term of one year.  All 
officers may be elected on one motion (or ballot) as a 
slate of officers unless objected to by a Committee 
member. 

If an office becomes vacant during the year, an election 
shall be held at the next meeting. If the office of the chair 
becomes vacant, the vice chair shall assume the office of 
the chair.  Elected officers shall then serve the remainder 
of the term. 

The chair shall establish task force groups or special 
committees as he or she deems necessary.  The 
composition of the task forces or special committees shall 
be determined by the chair in consultation with the vice 
chair and the program manager of the LATC. 

If a Committee member wishes to attend a task force or 
special committee meeting, and he/she is not a participant 
on that task force, that member shall obtain permission 
from the Committee chair to attend and shall notify the 
Committee chair and program manager of the LATC. 

No Committee member may access a licensee or 
candidate file without the CAB executive officer’s 
knowledge and approval of the conditions of access. 
Records or copies of records shall not be removed from 
the LATC’s office. 

All official communications relating to any Committee 
recommendation or policy to any individual or 
organization, including the Council of Landscape 
Architectural Registration Boards (CLARB), the 
American Society of Landscape Architects (ASLA), or a 
representative of the media, shall be made only by the 
chair of the LATC, his/her designee, or the program 
manager of the LATC. Any Committee member who is 
contacted regarding official business of the LATC should 
inform the chair or program manager of the contact.  All 
correspondence shall be issued on the LATC’s standard 
letterhead and will be created and disseminated by the 
LATC staff. 

7 



  

 
 

 
 

 
  

   
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
    

  
 

  
 

 
   

  
 

 
 

 
  

   
  

 

 
 

  
   

 
 

 
  

 

 
 
 
 

  
 

 
   

  
   

   

  
 

Landscape Architects Technical Committee Administrative Procedure Manual 

Program Evaluation Committee members shall evaluate their performance on 
(Committee Policy) an annual basis in conjunction with their strategic 

planning process. 

Program Manager Review 
(Committee Policy) 

Contact with Candidates 
(Committee Policy) 

Committee members shall provide input regarding the 
performance of the program manager at the end of each 
fiscal year.  The LATC chair shall disseminate a 
performance appraisal form to all Committee members 
who shall complete the form and return it to the chair who 
will, in turn, submit it to the executive officer of the 
CAB. 

Committee members shall not intervene on behalf of a 
candidate for any reason.  They should forward all 
contacts or inquiries to the program manager or LATC 
staff. 

Gifts from Candidates Gifts of any kind to Committee members or the LATC 
(Committee Policy) staff from candidates for licensure with the LATC are not 

permitted. 

Conflict of Interest 
(Government Code Section 87100) 

No Committee member may make, participate in making 
or in any way attempt to use his or her official position to 
influence a governmental decision in which he or she 
knows or has reason to know he or she has a financial 
interest.  Any Committee member, who has a financial 
interest, shall disqualify himself/herself from making or 
attempting to use his/her official position to influence the 
decision.  Any Committee member who feels he or she is 
entering into a situation where there is a potential for a 
conflict of interest should immediately consult the 
program manager of the LATC or the executive officer of 
the CAB. 

Ex Parte Communications 
Government Code Section 
11430.10 et seq.) 

The Government Code contains provisions prohibiting ex 
parte communications.  An ex parte communication is a 
communication to the decision-maker made by one party 
to an enforcement action without participation by the 
other party.  While there are specified exceptions to the 
general prohibition, the key provision is found in 
subdivision (a) of section 11430.10, which states: 
“While the proceeding is pending, there shall be no 

communication, direct or indirect, regarding any issue in 
the proceeding to the presiding officer from an employee 
or representative of an agency that is a party or from an 
interested person outside the agency, without notice and 
an opportunity for all parties to participate in the 
communication.” 

8 

https://11430.10
https://11430.10


  

  
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

 
 

 

 
  

 
 

   

 
 

  
 
 

  
 

 
  

   
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
  
 

    
 

   
   

 
 

   

 
 
 

Landscape Architects Technical Committee Administrative Procedure Manual 

Business Cards 
(Committee Policy) 

LATC Staff 
(DCA Reference Manual) 

Committee members are prohibited from ex parte 
communication with LATC enforcement staff while a 
proceeding is pending. 

Occasionally, an applicant who is being formally denied 
licensure, or a licensee against whom disciplinary action 
is being taken, will attempt to directly contact LATC 
members. 

If the communication is written, the person should read 
only far enough to determine the nature of the 
communication.  Once he or she realizes it is from a 
person against whom an action is pending, they should 
reseal the documents and send them to the program 
manager. 

If a Committee member receives a telephone call from an 
applicant or licensee against whom an action is pending, 
he or she should immediately tell the person they cannot 
speak to them about the matter.  If the person insists on 
discussing the case, he or she should be told that the 
Committee member will be required to recuse him or 
herself from an participation in the matter.  Therefore, 
continued discussion is of no benefit to the applicant or 
licensee. 

If a Committee member believes that he or she has 
received an unlawful ex parte communication, he or she 
should contact the LATC’s assigned Legal Office 
attorney. 

Business cards will be provided to each Committee 
member with the LATC’s name, address, telephone and 
fax numbers, and website address. 

Employees of the LATC are civil service employees. 
Their employment, pay, benefits, discipline, termination, 
and conditions of employment are governed by a myriad 
of civil service laws and regulations and often by 
collective bargaining labor agreements. Because of this 
complexity, it is most appropriate that the LATC delegate 
all authority and responsibility for management of the 
civil service staff to the executive officer of the CAB and 
program manager of the LATC.  Committee members 
shall not intervene or become involved in specific day-to-
day personnel transactions. 

9 



  

  
  

      
  
  

 
 
   
   
 

 
 
  
  
  
  

  
 
  
  
  

 
 

 
  

  

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
 
 
   
  
 
 
  

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Landscape Architects Technical Committee Administrative Procedure Manual 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Chapter 1: Introduction 

Overview; Delegated Authority 
Definitions 

Chapter 2: Committee Meeting Procedures 

Frequency of Meetings, Attendance, Participation, CAB Meetings, 
Public Attendance, Agenda Items, Notices, Record of Meetings 
Tape Recording, Meeting Rules 

Chapter 3: Travel & Salary Policies/Procedures 

Travel Approval, Arrangements, Out-of-State Travel, Travel Claims, 
Salary Per Diem 

Chapter 4:  Other Policies/Procedures 

Committee Member Disciplinary Actions; Removal of Committee 
Members; Resignation of Committee Members; Officers of the 
Committee, Program Budget; General Role of Committee Members; 
Election of Officers; Officer Vacancies; Task Force Appointments; 
Attendance at Task Force Meetings; Request for Records; 
Communications with Other Organizations/Individuals; Program 
Evaluation; Program Manager Review; Contact with Candidates; Gifts; 
Conflict of Interest; Ex Parte Communications; Business Cards; 
LATC Staff 

10 



  

 

Landscape Architects Technical Committee Administrative Procedure Manual 

11 



 

 

 

  
 

  

 

  

  

 

 

     

   

 

  

 

 

 

   

  

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

  

 

 

 

    

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

Agenda Item I 

UPDATE ON 2017 – 2018 STRATEGIC PLAN OBJECTIVE TO FOLLOW THE BOARD’S 

DETERMINATION REGARDING THE NECESSITY FOR A LICENSURE FINGERPRINT 

REQUIREMENT AND THE ALTERNATIVES FOR IMPLEMENTATION AS A MEANS 

OF PROTECTING CONSUMERS 

The Landscape Architects Technical Committee’s (LATC) 2017-2018 Strategic Plan contains an 

objective to “follow the Board’s determination regarding the necessity for a licensure fingerprint 
requirement and the alternatives for implementation as a means of protecting consumers.” 

Consistent with the California Architects Board (Board), the LATC does not have statutory authority 

to use fingerprinting for background checks.  The Board and LATC are, at this time, 2 of 6 programs 

within the Department of Consumer Affairs’ (DCA) 39 boards and bureaus without such authority. 

Currently, for the Board and LATC, applicants and licensees are required to honestly disclose 

whether they have ever been convicted of a crime inclusive of a citation, infraction, misdemeanor, 

and/or felony on their applications and/or renewal notices.  Applicants and licensees are not required 

to report a traffic infraction with a fine of less than $1,000 or any incident that has been sealed or 

disposed of under California Welfare and Institutions Code section 781, and Penal Code sections 

1000.3, 1000.5, or 1203.45. 

Candidate applications and license renewals that provide indication of a conviction are referred to 

the LATC’s enforcement analyst for review of conviction-related records and possible disciplinary 

action.  Within the past five years, three instances of a licensee’s reported conviction have resulted in 

LATC’s pursuit of disciplinary action due to the conviction’s substantial relationship to the practice 

of landscape architecture, pursuant to California Code of Regulations section 2655. 

At the Board’s August 23, 2018 Regulatory and Enforcement Committee (REC) meeting, Board 

staff provided the REC with a presentation containing: the Board’s review of applicant and licensee 
convictions; additional information regarding the state and federal criminal offender record 

information searches available through the California Department of Justice and the Federal Bureau 

of Investigation; an overview of the licensure fingerprint requirements for all DCA boards and 

bureaus; and specific information regarding the Contractors State License Board’s (CSLB) and the 

Board for Professional Engineers, Land Surveyors, and Geologists’ (BPELSG) applicant fingerprint 

requirements. 

The REC extensively discussed the necessity of a fingerprint requirement at the meeting and 

considered the health, safety, and welfare of the public, consumer protection, and potential impacts 

to applicants, licensees, and the Board.  The REC recognized the benefit of a fingerprint 

requirement, but also noted: 

1. There is a low percentage of the Board’s applicant and licensee population with criminal 

records and most of those crimes are not substantially related to the qualifications, functions, 

or duties of an architect.  



       

  

 

  

  

 

 
 

 
 

  

  

  

 

   

    

   

  

  

   

 

 

 

 

2. Applicants and licensees are already required to disclose convictions to the Board on their 

applications. 

3. A fingerprint requirement would result in increased costs for applicants and licensees. 

4. BPELSG and CSLB fingerprint their applicants, but only deny a negligible percentage of 

applications due to prior convictions. 

5. The Texas Board of Architectural Examiners is the only architectural licensing board in the 

United States with a fingerprint requirement. 

6. A fingerprint requirement would only apply to applicants and licensees, not unlicensed 

employees of architectural firms who may also enter consumers’ homes and businesses. 

7. Licensees who work on school projects where children are present are already required to 

have a background check conducted by submitting their fingerprints. 

The REC ultimately concluded that there is insufficient data to justify the need for fingerprinting at 

this time and voted to recommend to the Board to not pursue a fingerprint requirement for 

applicants or licensees at this time unless mandated to do so. 

At the September 12, 2018 Board meeting, the Board was presented with the REC’s 

recommendation and moved to approve it. At this same meeting, the Board was asked to reference 

its decision for the Board’s licensure fingerprinting requirement and issue a consistent decision to 

the LATC. It was noted that the LATC had not yet discussed this Strategic Plan objective at a 

meeting, but that the Board was asked to issue a decision because 1) the REC meeting occurred 

after the most recent LATC meeting and 2) the Strategic Plan objective is intended to have LATC 

mirror the Board’s decision. 

LATC Meeting December 6-7, 2018 Sacramento, CA 



       

 

 

 

             
 

  

 

  

 

  

   

   

 

 

    

     

   

  

    

   

 

  

   

  

      

     

    

    

   

  

  

      

    

  

   

  

    

    

      

   

 

   

 

Agenda Item J 

REVIEW NAD DISCUSS CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS (CCR), TITLE 16, 

DIVISION 26, ARTICLE 1, SECTION 2620.5 (REQUIREMENTS FOR AN APPROVED 

EXTENSION CERTIFICATE PROGRAM) 

The University of California, Los Angeles (UCLA) and University of California, Berkeley (CAL) 

Extension Programs were established in 1976 and 1982 respectively.  As part of the University of 

California, both Extension Programs are governed by their respective university policies and 

academic standards. 

In November 1991, the Board of Landscape Architects (BLA) adopted CCR, title 16, 

section 2620.5, formally establishing requirements for Board approval of extension certificate 

programs, based on university accreditation standards from the Landscape Architectural 

Accreditation Board (LAAB).  (It should be noted that educational credit is granted for associate 

degree programs and non-accredited bachelors and masters programs that are not regulated by the 

Landscape Architects Technical Committee [LATC], but rather, are governed by the academic 

institutions within which they are structured.) 

In 2009, LAAB implemented changes to its accreditation standards.  Prompted by these changes, 

the LATC, with the aid of a working group, drafted updated requirements for an approved 

extension certificate program and recommended the Board authorize LATC to proceed with a 

regulatory change to amend CCR section 2620.5. At its December 15, 2010 meeting, the Board 

approved proposed regulatory language to amend CCR section 2620.5. In April 2012, the 

regulatory proposal to amend CCR section 2620.5 was sent to the Office of Administrative Law 

(OAL). In July 2013, OAL issued a “Decision of Disapproval of Regulatory Action,” citing 
deficiencies in the file relating to the necessity standard of Government Code section 11349.1 (see 

Attachments 1 and 2). 

At its August 20, 2013 meeting, the LATC voted to: 1) not pursue a resubmission of the 

rulemaking file for CCR section 2620.5 to OAL; 2) have staff analyze the proposed modifications 

to CCR section 2620.5 and attempt to provide sufficient justification for each proposed change that 

would meet OAL standards; and 3) submit a new rulemaking file to OAL once sufficient 

justification for the proposed changes have been developed. Attachment 3 provides historical 

context regarding the LATC’s successive activity and discussions surrounding this topic prior to 

2018. Notably, within this timeframe, successive amendments to CCR section 2620.5 have been 

proposed and reviewed by the LATC – Attachment 4 shows amendments proposed to CCR 

section 2620.5 as well as proposed language to add CCR sections 2620.2, 2620.3, and 2620.4 that 

were reviewed by the LATC on February 10, 2015; Attachment 5 shows proposed amendments to 

CCR section 2620.5 to reflect new LAAB standards that were reviewed by the LATC on 

January 17, 2017; and, Attachment 6 is LAAB’s most current accreditation standards. 

LATC Meeting December 6-7, 2018 Sacramento, CA 



       

   

    

  

  

 

  

   

   

   

    

 

       

   

   

    

    

     

   

 

 

 

   

    

   

   

 

 

   

  

   

    

   

  

  

 

     

  

 

  

   

   

    

   

  

In early 2018, staff began consultation with Department of Consumer Affairs (DCA) legal counsel 

regarding the OAL-denied amendments to CCR section 2620.5 (Attachment 1) as this language is 

the most recent proposal approved by the LATC and the Board. Resultant of these meetings, staff 

reassessed the proposed amendments to CCR section 2620.5 to ascertain whether sufficient 

justification for these amendments could be garnered sufficient to survive OAL review. 

Unfortunately, staff could not document sufficient justification. In addition, staff identified that 

changes to the language, inspired by LAAB, only encompassed the program curriculum categories 

and specific requirements of the annual report submitted by the program. It was determined that 

the other changes made to the language appeared to come from the working group’s assessment of 
regulatory amendments, and did not consistently parlay from the LAAB requirements. 

At their meeting on July 20, 2018, the LATC reviewed the following documents to determine how 

to proceed: 1) edits to CCR section 2620.5 that were denied by OAL in 2013 (Attachment 1), 2) 

2016 LAAB Accreditation Standards (Attachment 6) and resultant proposed amendments to CCR 

section 2620.5 previously presented to the LATC in 2017 (Attachment 5), and 3) previously 

proposed additions of regulatory language (proposed CCR sections 2620.2, 2620.3, and 2620.4) 

that were reviewed by the LATC in 2015 (Attachment 4). During that meeting, the LATC was 

also notified that, in July 2017, the CAL Extension Program announced it will close in Fall 2019 

and is no longer accepting new students. 

Following discussion of the information provided, the Committee directed staff to correspond with 

the LAAB regarding the possibility of obtaining LAAB-certification of Extension Certificate 

Programs and other non-accredited programs. The LATC also directed staff to research 

availability of appropriate private entities with whom the LATC could contract with to conduct 

reviews and certification of California Extension Certificate Programs. Per the information 

obtained by staff, the LATC concluded that it would continue its discussion of CCR section 2620.5 

at its next meeting. 

Following the July 20, 2018 LATC meeting, DCA legal counsel researched the availability of a 

private entity that could review and provide certification of these programs on behalf of the LATC. 

DCA legal counsel was advised that there are no landscape architecture accrediting bodies other 

than LAAB. Furthermore, staff conducted research into the LATC’s past requests to the LAAB 
for accreditation of Extension Certificate Programs and found that the LATC reached out to the 

LAAB in 2000 to recommend that it consider evaluating and accrediting landscape architecture 

Extension Certificate Programs.  This effort culminated in a 2006 LAAB survey sent to each state 

licensure board through the Council of Landscape Architectural Registration Boards, where more 

than half (53%) of the 73 respondents reported interest in having LAAB accredit certificate 

programs.  Subsequent to publication of the survey results, LAAB determined they would not 

engage in accreditation of Extension Certificate Programs. 

More recently, in September 2018, LATC staff contacted LAAB Accreditation and Education 

Programs Manager, Kristopher Pritchard, regarding the accreditation of extension certificate 

programs and was informed that LAAB’s scope of accreditation is limited to “professional 

programs at the bachelor’s or master’s level.” On October 23, 2018, LATC Chair Patricia 

Trauth issued a letter to LAAB requesting consideration of extending its accreditation to include 

university extension certificate programs (Attachment 7). 

LATC Meeting December 6-7, 2018 Sacramento, CA 



       

 

   

  

   

     

   

 

  

 

 

 

    

  

  

  

    

    

  

 

  

  

  

 

 

      

  

    

 
 

      

   

   

 
 

   

In October 2018, prompted by discussions with UCLA Extension Program Director, 

Stephanie Landregan, regarding UCLA Extension Certificate Program’s approval, staff researched 

the approval procedures for extension certificate programs.  Resultant of a review of past processes 

and discussions with DCA legal counsel, staff identified that CCR section 2620.5 does not 

currently require the LATC to perform extension certificate program site visits or establish site 

visit procedures to evaluate the program’s adherence to requirements it sets forth. Rather, the 

regulation specifies the necessary components and documentation required for extension certificate 

program approval. In addition, CCR section 2620.5 does not establish an expiration of the Board’s 

approval (pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 5630) of a program or extensions of 

time for reapproval, and information and documentation submitted by an extension certificate 

program received in a Self-Evaluation Report often contains information not required by the 

regulation. 

At its meeting on July 20, 2018, the Committee continued discussions regarding previously 

proposed amendments to CCR section 2620.5 to its next meeting. The Committee is asked to 

review and discuss the current provisions of CCR section 2620.5 and consider whether the 

following should be addressed in the regulation: 1) program approval expiration, reauthorization, 

and extensions of said approval; 2) provisions for site reviews and how or if these shall be 

conducted; and 3) the information that shall be provided by the extension certificate program to 

evaluate the program’s compliance with this regulation. 

Finally, attached for Committee reference is the Extension Certificate Program Site Review/ 

Approval Procedures dated May 22, 2013 (Attachment 8). 

Attachments: 

1. Proposed Language to Amend CCR Section 2620.5 Disapproved by OAL in July 2013 

2. OAL Decision of Disapproval of Regulatory Action, July 17, 2013 

3. Historical Information: LATC Activity (2013-2017) 

4. Proposed Language to Add CCR Sections 2620.2, 2620.3, and 2620.4 Provided to LATC on 

February 10, 2015 and July 20, 2018 

5. Proposed Amendments to CCR Section 2620.5 that Incorporate the 2016 LAAB Standards, 

Provided to LATC on January 17, 2017, April 18, 2017 and July 20, 2018 

6. LAAB Accreditation Standards – March 2016 

7. Letter from LATC Chair to LAAB Regarding Extension Certificate Program Accreditation 

dated October 23, 2018 

8. Extension Certificate Program Site Review/Approval Procedures dated May 22, 2013 

LATC Meeting December 6-7, 2018 Sacramento, CA 



 

 
 

 
   

 

  

 

    

   

  
  

       
  

      
   

  
  

  
  

    
 

  
 

     

 
 

  
   

  

   
 

       

        
    

      
   

CALIFORNIA ARCHITECTS BOARD 
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS TECHNICAL COMMITTEE 

PROPOSED LANGUAGE 
(NOTE: THE RULEMAKING FILE THAT PROPOSED THESE AMENDMENTS WAS 

DISAPPROVED BY THE OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE LAW IN JULY 2013) 

California Code of Regulations, Title 16, Division 26 

Amend Section 2620.5 to read as follows: 

§ 2620.5 Requirements for an Approved Extension Certificate Program 

An extension certificate program shall meet the following requirements: 

(a) The educational program shall be established in an educational institution which has a four-
year educational curriculum and either is approved by the Western Association of Schools 
and Colleges under Section 94900 of the Education Code or is an institution of public 
higher education as defined by Section 66010 of the Education Code. 

(b) There shall be a written statement of the program's philosophy and objectives which serves 
as a basis for curriculum structure. Such statement shall take into consideration the broad 
perspective of values, missions and goals of the profession of landscape architecture. The 
program objectives shall provide for relationships and linkages with other disciplines and 
public and private landscape architectural practices. The program objectives shall be 
reinforced by course inclusion, emphasis and sequence in a manner which promotes 
achievement of program objectives. The program's literature shall fully and accurately 
describe the program's philosophy and objectives. 

(c) The program shall have a written plan for evaluation of the total program, including 
admission and selection procedures, attrition and retention of students, and performance 
of graduates in meeting community needs. 

(d) The program shall be administered as a discrete program in landscape architecture 
within the institution with which it is affiliated. 

(e) There shall be an organizational chart which identifies the relationships, lines of 
authority and channels of communication within the program and between the 
program and other administrative segments of the institution with which it is 
affiliated. 

(f) The program shall have sufficient authority and resources to achieve its educational 
objectives. 

(g) The program's administrator director shall be a California licensed  landscape architect. 

(h) The program administrator faculty shall have the primary responsibility for developing 
policies and procedures, planning, organizing, implementing and evaluating all aspects 
of the program. The faculty shall be adequate in type and number to develop and 
implement the program approved by the Board. 

1 

alknati
Typewritten Text
Attachment J.1



 

 

    
  

 

     
    

  
     

   
     

  

  
 

  
   

 
     

 

       
 

 

  
 

    
  

 
 

 
 

 

   
   

     
 

 

   
 

 

   
 

   
  
    

 
 

      
    

 
 

(i) The program curriculum shall provide instruction in the following areas related to 
landscape architecture including public health, safety, and welfare: 

(1) History, theory art and criticismcommunication 
(2) Natural and , cultural, and social systems including principles of sustainability 
(3) Public Policy and regulation 
(43) Design, planning and management at various scales and applications including but not 

limited to pedestrian and vehicular circulation, grading drainage and storm water 
management as a process in shaping the environment 

(54) Site design and Implementation:Plant materials, methods, technologies, and their 
application 

(65) Construction documentation materials and techniques and administration 
(7) Written, verbal and visual communication 
(86) Professional practice methods 
(97) Professional ethics and values and ethics 
(10) Plants and ecosystems 
(118) Computer applications systems and other advanced technology 

The program's curriculum shall not be revised until it has been approved by the 
Board. 

(j) The program shall consist of at least 90 quarter units or 60 semester units. 

(k) The program shall maintain a current syllabus for each required course which includes 
the course objectives, learning outcomes, content, and the methods of evaluating student 
performance. 

(l)  The program clearly identifies where the public health, safety, and welfare issues are 
addressed. 

(ml) The curriculum shall be offered in a timeframe which reflects the proper course 
sequence. Students shall be required to adhere to that sequence, and courses shall be 
offered in a consistent and timely manner in order that students can observe those 
requirements. 

(nm) A program shall meet the following requirements for its instructional personnel: 

(1) At least one half of the program's instructional personnel shall hold a professional 
degree or certificate from an approved extension certificate program in landscape 
architecture. 

(2) At least one half of the program's instructional personnel shall be licensed by the Board 
as landscape architects. 

(3) The program administrator shall be at least .5 time-base. 
(4) The program administrative support shall be 1.0 full-time equivalence. 

(o) The program shall submit an annual report in writing based on the date of the most recent 
Board approval.  The report shall include: 

2 



 

  
 

   
    

 
 

 
  

 
 

    
 

  
    

   
   

  
 

  
    

    
  

 
     

 
  

 
  

  
   

 
    

 
 

 

(1) Verification of continued compliance with minimum requirements; 
(2) Any significant changes such as curriculum, personnel, administration, fiscal support, 

and physical facilities that have occurred since the last report; 
(3) Current enrollment and demographics; and 
(4) Progress toward complying with the recommendations, if any, from the last 

approval. 

(p) The program title and degree description shall incorporate the term “Landscape 
Architecture.” 

The Board may choose to further evaluate changes to any of the reported items or to a program. 

The Board will either grant or deny an application.  When specific minor deficiencies are 
identified during evaluation of an application, but the institution is substantially in compliance 
with the requirements of the Code and this Division, a provisional approval to operate may be 
granted for a period not to exceed 24 months, to permit the institution time to correct those 
deficiencies identified. A provisional approval to operate shall expire at the end of its stated 
period and the application shall be deemed denied, unless the deficiencies are corrected prior to 
its expiration and an approval to operate has been granted before that date or the provisional 
approval to operate has been extended for a period not to exceed 24 months if the Board is 
satisfied that the program has made a good faith effort and has the ability to correct the 
deficiencies. 

The Board shall review the program at least every six years for approval. 

The Board may rescind an approval during the six-year approval period based on the 
information received in the program’s annual report after providing the school with a written 
statement of the deficiencies and providing the school with an opportunity to respond to the 
charges.  If an approval is rescinded, the Board may subsequently grant provisional approval in 
accordance with the guidelines of this section to allow the program to correct deficiencies. 

Note: Authority cited: Section 5630, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Section 
5650, Business and Professions Code. 

3 



~cf-
,~ -1 ... 

~--- ..... ... 

State of California 
Office of Administrative Law 

JUL 19 2013 

In re: 
California Architects Board 

Regulatory Action: Title 16 
California Code of Regulations 

Adopt sections: 
Amend sections: 2620.5 
Repeal sections: 

DECISION OF DISAPPROVAL OF 
REGULATORY ACTION 

Government Code Section 11349.3 

OAL File No. 2013-053 1-0IS 

SUMMARY OF REGULATORY ACTION 

The California Architects Board (Board) proposed this regulatory action to amend title 16, 
California Code of Regulations, section 2620.5, which is the sole regulation that governs extension 
certificate programs for landscape architects. One way that an applicant for licensure as a 
landscape architect can fulfi ll educational requirements is by successful completion of an extension 
certificate program that is recognized and approved by the Board pursuant to the provisions of 
Section 2620.5. The provisions of Section 2620.5 were initially established by the Landscape 
Architects Technical Committee (LA TC), a statutory committee under the purview of the Board, 
and adopted by the Board to mirror standards established by an organization called the Landscape 
Architectural Accreditation Board in a publication titled Accreditation Standards and Procedures 
(LAAB Standards). The LAAB Standards are used nationa!Jy fo r accrediting college and 
university degree programs in landscape architecture. The proposed amendments are intended to 
update Section 2620.5 to conform to updates made to the LAAB Standards published by the 
Landscape Architectural Accreditation Board on February 6, 20 IO (20 IO LAAB Standards). 

DECISION 

On May 31, 2013, the Board submitted the above-referenced regulatory action to the Office of 
Administrative Law (OAL) for review in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act 
(APA). On July 15, 2013, the OAL notified the Board of the disapproval of this regulatory action 
for failure to comply with the necessity standard of Government Code section I 1349. I. 

DISCUSSION 

The adoption of regulations by the Board must satisfy requirements established by the part of the 
APA that governs rulemaking by a state agency. Any regulation adopted by a state agency to 
implement, interpret, or make specific the law enforced or administered by it, or to govern its 

alknati
Typewritten Text
Attachment J.2



Decision of Disapproval 
OAL File No. 2013-0531-0 \S 

Page 2 of 4 

procedure, is subject to the AP A unless a statute expressly exempts the regulation from AP A 
coverage. (Gov. Code, sec. 11346.) 

Before any regulation subject to the APA may become effective, the regulation is reviewed by 
OAL for compliance with the procedural requirements of the APA and for compliance with the 
standards for administrative regulations in Government Code section 11349.1. Generally, to 
satisfy AP A standards, a regulation must be legally val id, supported by an adequate record, and 
easy to understand. In this review, OAL is limited to the rulemaking record and may not 
substitute its judgment for that of the rulemaking agency with regard to the substantive content 
of the regulation. This review is an independent check on the exercise of rulemaking powers by 
executive branch agencies intended to improve the quality of regulations that implement, 
interpret, and make specific statutory law, and to ensure that the public is provided with a 
meaningful opportunity to comment on regulations before they become effective. 

NECESSITY 

OAL must review regulations for compliance with the necessity standard of Government Code 
section 11349.1, subdivision (a)(l ). Government Code section 11349, subdivision (a), defines 
necessity as follows: 

(a) "Necessity" means the record of the rulemaking proceeding demonstrates by 
substantial evidence the need for a regulation to effectuate the purpose of the 
statute, court decision, or other provision of law that the regulation implements, 
interprets, or makes specific, taking into account the totality of the record. For 
purposes of this standard, evidence includes, but is not limited to, facts, studies. 
and expert opinion. 

To further explain the meaning of substantial evidence in the context of the necessity standard, 
subdivision (b) of section 10 of title 1 of the California Code of Regulations provides: 

(b) In order to meet the "necessity" standard of Government Code section 
11349. I , the record of the rulemaking proceeding shall include: 
(I) a statement of the specific purpose of each adoption, amendment, or repeal; 

and 
(2) information explaining why each provision of the adopted regulation is 
required to carry out the described purpose of the provision. Such information 
shall include, but is not limited to, facts, studies, or expert opinion. When the 
explanation is based upon policies, conclusions, speculation, or conjecture, the 
rulemaking record must include, in addition, supporting facts, studies, expert 
opinion, or other information. An "expert" within the meaning of this sectio~ is a 
person who possesses special skill or knowledge by reason of study or expenence 
which is relevant to the regulation in question. 

In order to provide the public w ith an opportunity to review and comm~nt upon an agency 's 
perceived need for a regulation, the APA requires that the agency describe the need _for _th~. 
regulation in the initial statement of reasons. (Gov. Code, sec. 11346.2, subd. (b).) 1 he m1t1al 



Decision of Disapproval 
OAL File No. 2013-0531-0IS 

Page 3 of4 

statement of reasons must include a statem·ent of the specific purpose for each adoption, 
~mendment, or repeal, and the rationale for the determination by the agency that each regulation 
1s reasonably necessary to carry out the purpose for which it is proposed or simply restated 
"why" a regulation is needed and "how" this regulation fills that need. (Go~. Code, sec. 11346.2, 
subd. (b)(l).) The initial statement of reasons must be submitted to OAL with the initial notice of 
the proposed action and made available to the public during the public comment period, along 
with all the information upon which the proposal is based. (Gov. Code, sec. 11346.2, subd. (b) 
and sec. 11346.5, subds. (a)(l6) and (b).) In this way the public is informed of the basis of the 
regulatory action and may comment knowledgeably. 

The initial statement of reasons in this regulatory action did not describe the need for each 
amended regulatory provision that deviated from the updated 2010 LAAB Standards of which 
this regulatory action was based. (Any such deviations from the 2010 LAAB Standards will be 
referred to as amended regulatory provisions for purposes of this discussion.) The initial 
statement of reasons states that the provisions of section 2620.5 need to be updated to conform to 
the 20 l 0 LAAB Standards; however, it needs to provide more than this. The problem, 
administrative requirement, or other condition or circumstance that each amended regulatory 
provision is intended to address must be identified. In addition, information must be included 
that explains why each amended regulatory provision is needed to carry out the described 
purpose of the regulatory provision. 

The initial statement of reasons only provides background information on the development and 
administration of section 2620.5, including the genesis of section 2620.5 from earlier LAAB 
standards, followed by a brief statement that the earlier LAAB Standards had been updated and a 
list of the proposed amendments to section 2620.5 that contain only brief, conclusory statements 
describing what the proposed amendments are, not why they are needed. Additionally, the Board 
modified the proposed regulatory text in a 15-day notice of availability that took place from 
November 30, 2012 to January 9, 2013. But there is no necessity provided for these additional 
modifications anywhere in the rulemaking record. Furthermore, before this regulatory action is 
resubmitted to OAL, the Board must draft a statement of reasons to add to the rulemaking record 
to correct the lack of necessity in the initial statement of reasons. The Board may make 
additional modifications to the proposed regulatory text in another 15-day notice of availability, 
which the Board must approve, to clarify issues that become apparent while drafting this 
statement of reasons. The Board must provide necessity for all of the regulatory amendments to 
section 2620.5 upon resubmittal of this regulatory action to OAL. 

Government Code section 11347.1 requires this statement of reasons, which will provide the 
necessity missing from the initial statement of reasons and from the rulemaking record, to be 
made available to the public for at least 15 days prior to the Board's adoption, amendment or 
repeal of the regulations. Moreover, any comments made in relati?n to the supplemental_ 
statement of reasons or modifications to the text must be summanzed and responded to m the 
final statement of reasons. (Gov. Code, secs. 11346.8, subd. (c) and 11347.1, subd. (d).) 

The Board's demonstration of the need for the amended regulatory provisions is basic to a 
complete understanding of the proposed regulations. Withou~ an adequate showing of ne~essity 
for each amended regulatory provision, OAL cannot be certam of what effect the Board intended 



Decision of Disapproval Page 4 of4 
OAL File No. 2013-0531-0IS 

regarding the amended regulatory provisions. OAL must therefore reserve the right upon 
resubmittal of this regulatory action to conduct a review of these regulations for compliance with 
all of the substantive standards of Government Code section 1 1349 .1 until such time as an 
adequate statement ofreasons is submitted with the rulemaking record. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reason set forth above, OAL has disapproved this regulatory action. If you have any 
questions, please contact me at (916) 323-6809. 

Date: Julyl7,2013 

Original: Douglas McCauley 
Copy: John Keidel 

Richard L. Smith 
Senior Counsel 

FOR: DEBRA M. CORNEZ 
Director 



  

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

  

    

  

 

 

 

 

 

    

   

 

  

  

  

   

 

 

 

 

  

 

  
 

Historical Information: LATC Activity (2013-2017) 

Subsequent to the August 2013 LATC meeting, staff consulted with Department of Consumer 

Affairs (DCA) legal counsel and Christine Anderson, Chair of the Task Force, to identify the 

best approach to resubmit the rulemaking file.  Legal counsel advised that LATC would need to 

develop sufficient justification for the proposed amendments to CCR section 2620.5 as well as 

the addition of new regulations that address: 1) the application process for extension certificate 

programs; 2) annual reporting requirements; 3) denial, suspension, and withdrawal of approval; 

and 4) appealing denial, suspension and withdrawal of approval actions.  Based on 

recommendations provided by DCA legal counsel, staff developed additional proposed language 

to address the application and approval processes listed above, CCR sections 2620.2, 2620.3 and 

2620.4. In addition, new, proposed amendments were made to CCR section 2620.5.  

Staff and legal counsel drafted proposed regulatory language that was presented for discussion to 

the LATC at its February 2015 meeting.  Resultant of this discussion, the Committee approved 

the appointment of a new working group to assist staff in substantiating recommended standards 

and procedures in order to obtain OAL approval.  Linda Gates and Ms. Anderson, former LATC 

members and University of California Extension Program site review team, were appointed to 

the working group. 

In March 2016, LAAB released updated Accreditation Standards and Procedures, making 

significant changes to curriculum requirements.  Specifically, prior curriculum standards 

encompassed 8 broad subject matter areas of study.  The new standards require coursework in 9 

subject matter areas with 41 subcategories of study.  

LATC staff began incorporating the proposed changes and drafting proposed language that 

included many of LATC’s previously submitted modifications to CCR section 2620.5and to 

include LAAB’s 2016 curriculum requirements.  This draft was provided to the LATC at their 
January 17, 2017 meeting.  However, prior to the meeting, Stephanie Landregan, Director of the 

UCLA Extension Certificate Program, requested that discussion be postponed until the next 

LATC meeting.  Her request was granted, and the regulatory proposals were tabled for 

discussion at the January 17, 2017 LATC meeting.  Thereafter, on March 15, 2017, the LATC 

received a letter from Ms. Landregan and Eddie Chau, Directors of the Extension Programs, 

requesting the opportunity to speak to the LATC on the importance of continuing the current 

approval process.  The letter also asked that any changes to this process be addressed by a 

reconvened or new subcommittee.  

At their April 18, 2017 meeting, staff recommended that LATC review the LAAB Accreditation 

Standards and Procedures and determine how to proceed.  Staff also suggested the Committee 

consider receiving input from the Extension Programs and public on the impact of LATC not 

reviewing/approving the programs.  The LATC discussed the proposed language and moved to 

form a subcommittee comprised of one LATC member, one member from each extension 

certificate program, and two landscape architects to prepare regulatory changes for LATC’s 

consideration.  However, due to competing priorities at that time, staff focus was redirected to 

other Strategic Plan priorities and a subcommittee was not formed in 2017. 

alknati
Typewritten Text
Attachment J.3



CALIFORNIA ARCHITECTS BOARD 

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS TECHNICAL COMMITTEE 

PROPOSED LANGUAGE 

California Code of Regulations, Title 16, Division 26 

Add Sections 2620.2, 2620.3 and 2620.4 as follows: 

§ 2620.2 Extension Certificate Programs – Application for Approval 

(a) An extension certificate program may apply to the Board for approval when it meets the 

requirements of Section 2620.5.  The program shall document how it meets the requirements 

of Section 2620.5 by submitting a written self-evaluation report to the Board. 

(b) The Board’s designee, or designees, shall review the self-evaluation report, conduct a site 

visit, submit a written report to the Board that contains findings as to whether the program 

complies with Section 2620.5, and make a recommendation regarding approval. 

(c) The Board shall consider the application, written self-evaluation report, and recommendation 

regarding approval, and either grant or deny approval. When specific minor deficiencies are 

identified during evaluation of a program, but the program is in substantial compliance with 

the requirements of Section 2620.5, a provisional approval to operate may be granted for a 

period not to exceed 24 months, to permit the program time to correct the deficiencies 

identified. 

(d) A provisional approval to operate shall expire at the end of its stated period and the 

application shall be deemed denied, unless the deficiencies are corrected prior to its 

expiration and an approval to operate has been granted before that date or the provisional 

approval to operate has been extended for a period not to exceed 24 months if the Board is 

satisfied that the program has made a good faith effort and has the ability to correct the 

deficiencies. 

Commented [D2]: Depending on research conducted on (a), 
may need to clarify source of recommendation. 

Commented [D1]: References to the Board’s authority is being 
researched whether it should say Board or LATC throughout these 
sections. 

(e) The Board shall review each extension certificate program at least every six years for 

continuing approval. 

(f) The Board may withdraw approval during the six-year approval period based on the 

(g) The 

guidelines of this section to allow the program to correct deficiencies. 

  

 

   

  
 

      
 

    

 

      

 

           

      

       

 

      

           

     

 

     

     

       

      

      

 

 

            

   

    

       

             

 

 

         

  

 

        

       

     

          

       

     

 
      

     

   
  

 

  
  

  
   

 
 

 
 

    
  

    
 

Board shall have discretion to defer action on an application for approval. The program 

information received in the program’s annual report after providing the program with a 

Commented [D3]: Need to clarify if program is required to 
submit documents/report to trigger each 6-year review after initial 
approval. 

May need to clarify difference between 6-year review and annual 
report. 

written statement of the deficiencies noted and giving the program an opportunity to respond 

to the deficiencies. If approval is withdrawn by the Board in accordance with section 

2620.3(b), the Board may subsequently grant provisional approval in accordance with the 

shall be notified by the Board, in writing, of actions taken regarding an application for 

1 

Commented [D4]: Consider moving this subsection to 2620.4 as 
it relates to withdrawal of approval based on annual report. 

Commented [D5]: How long should the action be deferred? 
Should be applied consistently for all program reviews. 

alknati
Typewritten Text
Attachment J.4



approval. 

§ 2620.3 Suspension or Withdrawal of Approval 

  

 

    

       

     

           

       

     

       

          

      

      

       

 

         

      

       

        

   

      

      

     

        

     

 

        

  

 

         

       

       

       

       

      

   

  

        

    
   
  
  
   

 

  
 

(a) When an approved program fails to maintain the requirements for approval for administrative 

reasons, including but not limited to failure to submit required reports, approval may be 

suspended. Before this action is taken, the Board shall send a letter to the program requesting 

an explanation as to why approval should not be suspended. Suspension of approval for 

administrative reasons is not subject to appeal. 

Students attending a program with suspended approval are considered to be attending an 

approved program.  A program may be suspended for a maximum of 12 months. The Board 

will begin procedures to withdraw approval to take effect immediately when the maximum 

period of suspension is reached. If evidence of remedial action is submitted and judged 

adequate within the 12-month period of suspension, reinstatement of approval shall be 

granted. 

(b) When an approved program fails to comply with approval standards for other than 

administrative reasons, approval may be withdrawn. Before withdrawing approval, the 

program will be given the opportunity to explain why approval should not be withdrawn, 

after which the Board may conduct a site visit and make a final decision. 

If the program's parent institution or other programs within the institution are placed on 

probationary status or have approval withdrawn by their accrediting agencies, the program 

must notify the Board of the landscape architecture degree program’s status. 

(c) Extension certificate programs may appeal denial or withdrawal of approval decisions to the 

Board. An appeal shall be based on one or more of the following issues: 

(1) Whether the Board and/or the site visit team conformed to the procedures described in 

regulation; or 

(2) Whether the Board and/or the site visit team conformed to the approval requirements 

specified in Section 2620.5. 

(d) A written notice of appeal shall be signed by the chief administrator of the college or 

university in which the extension certificate program is located. The appeal must be 

submitted within 30 days of the Board’s notice of decision. Within 60 days of the Board’s 
decision letter, the program administrator must submit a comprehensive written statement of 

all reasons for appeal.  Failure to submit this statement within 60 days will be deemed 

equivalent to withdrawing the appeal.  During the appeal period, the approved status of the 

program will not change. 

§ 2620.4 Annual Reports 

(a) Approved extension certificate programs shall submit to the Board a written report, each year 

2 

Commented [D6]: Consider restructuring section, i.e., 
(a) Board may suspend approval for these reasons….. 
(b) Board may withdraw approval for these reasons… 
(c) Suspension terms and affects on students 
(d) Program may appeal withdrawal of approval for these 
reasons… 

Commented [D7]: May have to specify for what purpose Board 
is requiring to be notified. 



from the date of the most recent Board approval.  The report shall include: 

(1) Verification of continued compliance with the requirements of Section 2620.5; 

(2) Any significant changes in areas such as curriculum, personnel, administration, fiscal 

support, and physical facilities that have occurred since the last report; 

(3) Current enrollment and demographics; 

(4) Progress toward complying with the recommendations, if any, from the last approval, 

and 

(5) Any substantive change.  “Substantive change” is any change that compromises an 

extension certificate program’s ability to meet one or more of the Board’s program 

requirements or that makes the program unable to meet any of the following 

requirements: 

(A) The program title and certificate description incorporate the term "Landscape 

Architecture." 

(B) The parent institution is accredited by the institutional accrediting body of its region. 

(C) There is a not a designated program administrator for the program under review. 

(b) The program administrator shall notify the Board if, at any time, the program fails to meet the 

requirements of Section 2620.4 (a)(1)-(5). 

(c) The Board may further evaluate changes to any of the reported items in the annual report. 

Commented [D8]: May need to clarify what is considered 
significant. 

Commented [D9]: Does wording limit taking action only based 
on annual report? 

Commented [D10]: May need to clarify. 

Note: Authority cited: Section 5630, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Section 

5650, Business and Professions Code. 

Amend Section 2620.5 to read as follows: 

§ 2620.5 Requirements for an Approved Extension Certificate Program 

An extension certificate program shall meet the following requirements: 

(a) The educational program shall be established in an educational institution which has a four-

year educational curriculum and either is approved accredited by the Western Association 

of Schools and Colleges under Section 94900 of the Education Code or is an institution of 

public higher education as defined by Section 66010 of the Education Code. 

(b) There The program shall be have a written statement of the program'swhich fully and 

accurately describes its philosophy and objectives which serves as a basis for curriculum 

structure. Such statement shall take into consideration the broad perspective of values, 

missions and goals of the profession of landscape architecture. The program objectives 

shall provide for relationships and linkages with other disciplines and public and private 

landscape architectural practices. The program objectives shall clearly identify where public 

health, safety, and welfare issues are addressed. The program objectives shall be reinforced 

by course inclusion, emphasis, and sequence in a manner which promotes achievement of 

program objectives. The program's literature shall fully and accurately describe the 

program's philosophy and objectives. 

  

        

      

     

    

     

        

 

     

     

     

 

      

   

        

         

 

          

     

 

         

    

 

 

   

 

       

 

       

 

       

         

           

     

 

           

          

     

         

         

     

        

     

       

 

 

  
 

   
 

  

 
 

Commented [D11]: Duplicative language above, added “which 
fully and accurately describes” to first sentence of (b). 

3 



  

          

   

     

 

        

    

 

         

      

     

  

 
          

 
 

          
 

            

       

         

    

 

       
 

 

       

      
 

      

        

    

      

    

       

     

 

       

   

     

    

   

      
 

         

 
 

        
 

(c) The program shall have a written plan for evaluation of the total program, including 

admission and selection procedures, attrition and retention of students, and performance 

of graduates in meeting community needs. 

(d) The program shall be administered as a discrete program in landscape architecture 

within the institution with which it is affiliated. 

(e) There The program shall be have an organizational chart which identifies the 

relationships, lines of authority, and channels of communication within the program 

and between the program and other administrative segments of the institution with 

which it is affiliated. 

(f) The program shall have sufficient authority and resources to achieve its educational 

objectives. 

(g) The program's administrator director shall be a California licensed landscape architect. 

(h) The program administrator faculty shall have the primary responsibility for developing 

policies and procedures, planning, organizing, implementing and evaluating all aspects 

of the program. The faculty shall be adequate in type and number to develop and 

implement the program approved by the Board. 

(i) The program title and certificate description shall incorporate the term “Landscape 
Architecture.” 

(ij) The program curriculum shall provide instruction that includes public health, safety, 

and welfare in the following areas related to landscape architecture: 

(1) History, theory art and criticism communication 

(2) Natural and cultural, and social systems including principles of sustainability 

(3) Public policy and regulation 

(43) Design, planning, and management at various scales and applications, including but not 

limited to, pedestrian and vehicular circulation, grading, drainage, and storm water 

management as a process in shaping the environment 

(54) Site design and implementation: Plant materials, methods, technologies, andtheir 

application 

(65) Construction documentation materials and techniques and administration 

(7) Written, verbal, and visual communication 

(86) Professional practice, values, and ethics methods 

(7) Professional ethics and values 

(109) Plants and ecosystems 

(810) Computer applications systems and other advanced technology 

The program's curriculum shall not be revised until it has been approved by the 

Board. 

(jk) The program shall consist of at least 90 quarter units or 60 semester units. 

4 



(kl) The program shall maintain a current syllabus for each required course which includes 

the course objectives, learning outcomes, content, and the methods of evaluating 

student performance, and how public health, safety, and welfare issues are addressed. 

(l) The program clearly identifies where the public health, safety, and welfare issues are 

addressed. 

(ml) The program curriculum shall be offered in a timeframe which reflects the proper 

course sequence. Students shall be required to adhere to that sequence, and courses 

shall be offered in a consistent and timely manner in order that students can observe 

those requirements. 

(nm) A The program shall meet the following requirements for its instructional personnel: 

(1) At least one half of the program's instructional personnel shall hold a professional 

degree or certificate from an approved extension certificate program in landscape 

architecture. 

(2) At least one half of the program's instructional personnel shall be licensed by the Board 

as landscape architects. 

(3) The program administrator shall be at least half-time. 

(4) The program administrative support shall be full-time. 

  

          

      

    
 

         

 
 

         

     

        

 
 

          
 

    

      

 

         

  

       

      
 

       

  

 

    
 

   
 

Note: Authority cited: Section 5630, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Section 

5650, Business and Professions Code. 

Commented [D12]: Need to specify employment in program 
and define amount of time. 

Commented [D13]: Need to specify employment in program 
and define amount of time. 

5 



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

     
 

 

    
 

     

                

             

            

       

     

             

           

            

          

        

            

          

           

     

  

               

        

      

              

       

 

              

          

            

              

 

               

 

          

        

             

        

        

CALIFORNIA ARCHITECTS BOARD 

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS TECHNICAL COMMITTEE 

PROPOSED LANGUAGE 

California Code of Regulations, Title 16, Division 26 

Amend Section 2620.5 to read as follows: 

§ 2620.5 Requirements for an Approved Extension Certificate Program 

An extension certificate program shall meet the following requirements: 

(a) The educational program shall be established in an educational institution which has a 

four-year educational curriculum and either is approved by the Western Association of 

Schools and Colleges under Section 94900 of the Education Code or is an institution of 

public higher education as defined by Section 66010 of the Education Code. 

(b) There shall be a written statement of the program’s philosophy and objectives which 

serves as a basis for curriculum structure. Such statement shall take into consideration 

the broad perspective of values, missions and goals of the profession of landscape 

architecture. The program objectives shall provide for relationships and linkages with 

other disciplines and public and private landscape architectural practices. The program 

objectives shall be reinforced by course inclusion, emphasis and sequence in a manner 

which promotes achievement of program objectives. The program’s literature shall fully 

and accurately describe the program’s philosophy and objectives. The program shall 

provide comprehensive public information disclosure about the program’s status and 

performance within a single click link from the program’s internet website homepage. 
(c) The program shall have a written plan for evaluation of the total program, including 

admission and selection procedures, attrition and retention of students, and 

performance of graduates in meeting community needs. 

(d) The program shall be administered as a discrete program in landscape architecture within 

the institution with which it is affiliated. The program title and certificate description 

shall incorporate the term “Landscape Architecture”. 
(e) There shall be an organizational chart which identifies the relationships, lines of 

authority and channels of communication within the program and between the 

program and other administrative segments of the institution with which it is affiliated. 

(f) The program shall have sufficient authority and resources to achieve its educational 

objectives. 

(g) The program administrator ’s director shall be a California licensed landscape architect 

and position shall be at least .5 time-based. 

(h) The program administrator faculty shall have the primary responsibility for developing 

policies and procedures, planning, organizing, implementing and evaluating all aspects 

of the program. The faculty shall be adequate in type and number to participate in program 

governance and develop and implement the program approved by the Board. 

(i) The program curriculum shall include the core knowledge, skills and applications of 

1 

alknati
Typewritten Text
Attachment J.5



 

 

 

           

  

  

    

   

   

   

    

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

  

landscape architecture and shall provide instruction in the following areas related to 

landscape architecture: 

(1) History, theory, philosophy, principles and values: 

(A) design history and theory; 

(B) criticism; 

(C) sustainability, resiliency, stewardship; 

(D) health, safety, welfare. 

(2) Design processes and methodology: 

(A) critical thinking; 

(B) analysis; 

(C) ideation; 

(D) synthesis; 

(E) site program; 

(F) iterative design development; 

(G) design communication. 

(3) Systems and Processes, natural and cultural, (related to design, planning and 

2 



(D) numeracy, quantitative problem-solving and communication; 

(E) community and client engagement. 

(5) Implementation: 

(A) construction technology and site engineering; 

(B) site materials; 

(C) use and management of plants and vegetation; 

(D) policies and regulation. 

(6) Computer applications and advanced technologies: 

(A) visualization and modeling; 

(B) communication (conceptual and construction drawings); 

(C) geospatial analysis. 

(7) Assessment and evaluation: 

(A) site assessment; 

(B) pre-design analysis; 

(C) landscape performance; 

(D) post-occupancy evaluation: 

(E) visual and scenic assessment. 

(8) Professional Practice: 

(A) values and ethics; 

(B) practice; 

(C) construction administration. 

(9) Research and scholarly methods (for master’s level degree programs): 

(A) quantitative and qualitative methods; 

(B) establishing a research hypothesis; 

 

 

 

 

   

   

   

   

  

   

   

   

    

    

  

   

   

   

    

  

   

   

   

  

   

   

   

    

   

   

   

   

   

    

   

    

   

    

   

   

   

  

  

  

management): 

(A) plants and ecosystems sciences; 

(B) built environment and infrastructure; 

(C) human factors, social and community systems; 

(D) human health and well-being. 

(4) Communication and documentation: 

(A) written and oral communication; 

(B) visual and graphic communication; 

(C) design and construction documents; 

(C) framing research questions; 

(D) literature/case study review/precedent review 

(E) research integrity and protection of human subjects 

(F) communication of research. 

(A) History, art, and communication 

(B) Natural, cultural, and social systems 

(C) Design as a process in shaping the environment 

3 



 

 

 

  

  

  

   

  

 

              

           

             

        

       

             

              

              

 

     

         

      

   

      

  

      

   

    

 
      

  

 

the course objectives, content, identifies where public health, safety and welfare issues 

are addressed, and the methods of evaluating student performance. 

(l) The curriculum shall be offered in a timeframe which reflects the proper course 

sequence. Students shall be required to adhere to that sequence, and courses shall be 

offered in a consistent and timely manner in order that students can observe these 

requirements. 

(m) A program shall meet the following requirements for its instructional personnel: 

(1) There shall be sufficient number of faculty to carry out the mission of the program 

(such as teaching, research, service, program administration, academic advising, 

and/or creative professional development. At least one half of the program’s 

instructional personnel shall hold a professional degree or certificate from an 

approved extension certificate program in landscape architecture. 

(2) At least one half of the program’s instructional personnel shall be licensed by the 
Board as landscape architects. 

(3) A program shall have at least one full time administrative support staff position. 

Note: Authority cited: Section 5630, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Section 

5650, Business and Professions Code. 

(D) Plant material and their application 

(E) Construction materials and techniques 

(F) Professional practice methods 

(G) Professional ethics and values 

(H) Computer systems and advanced technology 

The program’s curriculum shall not be revised until it has been approved by the Board. 

(j) The program shall consist of at least 90 quarter units or 60 semester units. 

(k) The program shall maintain a current syllabus for each required course which includes 

4 



 

 
 

  

 
 

 

ACCREDITATION STANDARDS 

For First-Professional Programs In 
Landscape Architecture 

Landscape Architectural Accreditation Board 

American Society of Landscape Architects 
636 Eye Street, N.W. 

Washington, D.C.  20001-3736 

March 2016 

alknati
Typewritten Text
Attachment J.6



  

 
 
 
 

                
                 
          
  
 
 

 
           
       
             
          
                 
   
           
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table of Contents 

PREAMBLE 
Introduction 1 
Definitions, Interpretation and Application 1 
Minimum Requirements for Achieving and Maintaining Accredited Status 3 

STANDARDS 
Standard 1: Program Mission and Objectives 5 
Standard 2: Program Autonomy, Governance, and Administration 7 
Standard 3: Professional Curriculum 10 
Standard 4: Student and Program Outcomes 14 
Standard 5: Faculty 15 
Standard 6: Outreach to the Institution, Communities, Alumni, and Practitioners 17 
Standard 7: Facilities, Equipment, and Technology 18 



                                                                                                                          

 
 

  
   

    
    

       
    

 
 

   
 

 
 

     
  

 
 

     
  

    
  
     
     

  
     

  
   

   
 

  
  

 
  

    
 

    
 

  
   

 
  

   
    

 
 

 
    

   
     

  

Introduction 

The mission of the Landscape Architecture Accreditation Board (LAAB) is to evaluate, advocate for, and 
advance the quality of education in landscape architectural degree programs. To do that, the Board creates 
and applies Standards and Procedures. The Standards are basis for decision-making and action for the 
Board. The Standards are reviewed and updated every five years through a process articulated in Board 
Procedures. The previous version of the Standards and Procedures (2010) were both a part of a single 
document. For this version, the Board has decided to create separate documents of Standards and of 
Procedures. 

This document contains the Accreditation Standards. 

Definitions, Interpretation, and Application 

Accreditation: Accreditation is a voluntary process of peer review designed to evaluate programs on the 
basis of their own stated objectives and the accreditation standards that follow. 

Administrative Probation Status: Administrative Probationary Accreditation status is assigned when an 
institution or program does not meet its administrative obligations. LAAB assigns this status if the 
institution or program fails to comply with one or more of the following requirements: 

• paying annual fees within 90 days of the invoice date, 
• paying a late fee by the due date, 
• submitting reports or other required information within 45 days of the due date, or 
• agreeing to a reasonable on-site evaluation visit date at or near the time established by LAAB 

staff. 
Administrative Probationary Accreditation is an accreditation category not subject to appeal. The program 
is recognized and listed as accredited with this designation until the requirement(s) that was not met has 
been fully satisfied. Failure to completely remedy the situation by the date specified in the probationary 
letter may result in revocation of accreditation. 

Assessment: Assessment is the process by which a program or institution’s level of compliance with or 
achievement of the criteria relevant to its accreditation is evaluated. 

Candidacy Status: Candidacy is an accreditation classification granted to a program that is in the 
planning or early stages of development or an intermediate stage of program implementation. 

Compliance: Compliance with a standard is achieved when LAAB concludes, after review of relevant 
indicators or other evidence, that the standard is met or met with recommendation, as defined below. To 
achieve LAAB accreditation, a program must demonstrate to LAAB, through the self-evaluation report, 
site visit, and technical accuracy review of the visiting team’s report, that it complies with all standards. 

Considerations for Improvement: Considerations for Improvement are informal counsel offered to a 
program as a part of the Visiting Team’s Report but not included in the final action letter from LAAB to 
the program. These may areas where the program can build on a strength or address an area of concern 
that does not directly affect accreditation at the time of the LAAB review. 

Criteria: Each LAAB standard has one or more criteria statements that define the components needed to 
satisfy the standard. Not satisfying a criterion does not automatically lead to the assessment of a standard 
as not met. To be accredited, a program must demonstrate progress toward meeting the criteria. In this 
document, criteria are identified by letters (for example: A. Program Mission). 

LAAB ACCREDITATION STANDARDS - 2016 page 1 



                                                                                                                          

  
    

  
  

 
    

  

 
    

   
 

 
 

     
     

  
 

   
    

  
  

    
 

  
    

 
 

  
   

  
   

  
 

 
 

   
  

 
   

 
  

 
   

  
 

  

 
 

Faculty Full-Time Equivalence (FTE): The FTE is a figure representing the aggregated time committed 
by full- and part-time faculty members to teaching in a department or program, including faculty who 
have their duties or teaching assignments split between an undergraduate and a graduate program and 
faculty who have their assignments split between disciplines. For purposes of calculation, a faculty 
member with a part-time appointment of 50 percent (and, presumably, a teaching/scholarship/service 
assignment roughly equivalent to half that of a full-time faculty member) would be assigned a 0.5 FTE. A 
full-time faculty member with duties in only one department would be assigned an FTE of 1.0 for that 
department. 

Final Action Letter: A final action letter is an official communication from LAAB to a program reporting 
its accreditation status and any recommendations affecting accreditation. 

First-Professional Program: A first-professional program in landscape architecture encompasses the 
body of knowledge common to the profession and promotes acquisition of the knowledge and skills 
necessary to enter its professional practice. At the bachelor's level, such a program is typically conducted 
in a context enriched by the liberal arts and natural and social sciences. At the master’s level, such a 
program also provides instruction in and application of research and scholarly methods. 

Initial Accreditation: The first period of accreditation for a program leading to a degree in landscape 
architecture is its initial accreditation; LAAB initial accreditation applies to degrees awarded within two 
years prior to initial accreditation by LAAB. 

Intent: A statement of intent explains the purpose of a standard. 

Program: A program comprises the coursework and other learning experiences leading to a degree as 
well as the supporting administration, faculty, staff, facilities, and services that sponsor and provide those 
experiences. 

Recommendations Affecting Accreditation: Recommendations Affecting Accreditation are issues of 
serious concern, directly affecting the quality of a program. Recommendations Affecting Accreditation 
are issued when a visiting team assesses a standard as met with recommendation or not met. 
Recommendations are derived from the identified areas of weakness in meeting a standard as described in 
the rationale sections of a visiting team’s report. The program is required to report progress regularly on 
these issues. Recommendations Affecting Accreditation identify issues; they do not prescribe solutions. 

Self-Evaluation Report (SER): An SER is a document prepared by a program that describes its 
expectations, operations, and resources; assesses its progress toward meeting its mission, goals, and 
objectives; and measures its performance against the criteria for accreditation. 

Shall: In official LAAB standards and criteria, “shall” indicates mandatory actions for a program or 
institution. 

Should: In official LAAB standards and criteria, “should” indicates prescriptive recommendations for a 
program or institution. 

Standards: Standards are qualitative statements of the essential conditions an accredited program must 
meet to achieve accreditation. 

Standard Met:  A “Standard Met” designation indicates that overall program performance in the relevant 
area meets LAAB minimum standards.  LAAB may judge a standard as met even though one or more 
indicators within the standard are not minimally met. 

LAAB ACCREDITATION STANDARDS - 2016 page 2 



                                                                                                                          

  
    

   
 

  
 

 
  

  
 

  
 

  
  

 
    

  
 

     
  

  
    

   
  

    
    

   
 

  
 

 
   

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

  
 

 

  
   

      
 

   

      
      

   

 
 

   

      
 

   

      
      

   

 
  

 
 

Standard Met with Recommendation: A “Standard Met with Recommendation” designation indicates 
that deficiencies exist in an area directly bearing on accreditation. The problem or problems have 
observable effects on the overall quality of the program. 

Standard Not Met: A “Standard Not Met” designation means that a cited deficiency is so severe that the 
overall quality of a program is compromised and the program’s ability to deliver adequate landscape 
architecture education is impaired. 

Minimum Requirements for Achieving and Maintaining Accredited Status 

1. The program title and degree description must incorporate the term "landscape architecture." 

2. An undergraduate first-professional program must be a baccalaureate program of at least four 
academic years' duration. 

3. A graduate first-professional program must be a master's program equivalent to at least three 
academic years' duration. 

4. Faculty instruction full-time equivalence (FTE) requirements are as follows: 
a.  An academic unit that offers a single first-professional degree program at the emerging or 

Initial Accreditation status has at least three FTE instructional faculty who hold professional 
degrees in landscape architecture, at least one of whom is full-time. 

b. An academic unit that offers a first-professional degree program at both the bachelor’s and 
master’s levels at the emerging or Initial Accreditation status has at least six FTE 
instructional faculty, at least five of whom hold professional degrees in landscape 
architecture, at least two of whom are full-time in the department. 

c.  An academic unit that offers a single first-professional degree program at the continuing full 
accreditation status has an FTE of at least five instructional faculty, at least four of these 
faculty members hold a professional degree in landscape architecture, at least three of whom 
are full-time in the department. 

d. An academic unit that offers first-professional degree programs at both the bachelor’s and 
master’s levels with continuing full accreditation status has an FTE of at least seven 
instructional faculty, at least five of whom hold professional degrees in landscape architecture 
and are full-time in the department. 

Program Status 

Number of Full-time 
Equivalent Instructional 
Faculty* 

Number of Faculty with a 
Professional Degree in 
Landscape Architecture (could 
be part-time or adjunct) 

Number of Full-time Faculty 
with a Professional Degree 
in Landscape Architecture 

Programs seeking Initial 
Accreditation 

Single Program 3 3 1 

Bachelor’s & Master’s 
Program 

6 5 2 

Programs seeking re-
accreditation 

Single Program 5 4 3 

Bachelor’s & Master’s 
Program 

7 5 

5. The parent institution must be accredited by a recognized institutional accrediting agency (such as 
the U.S. Department of Education or CHEA). 

LAAB ACCREDITATION STANDARDS - 2016 page 3 



                                                                                                                          

  
   

 
    

  
 

   
  
   
   

 
 

    
   
  

6. There must be a designated program administrator responsible for the leadership and management 
functions for the program under review. 

7. The program must provide a comprehensive public information disclosure about the program’s 
status and performance within a single-click link from the program’s website. 

8. The program must: 
• continuously comply with accreditation standards, 
• pay the annual sustaining and other fees as required, and  
• regularly file complete annual and other requested reports. 

The program administrator shall inform LAAB if any of these factors fail to apply during an accreditation 
period. The program administrator is responsible for reporting any substantive changes to the program 
when they occur. (Substantive changes are those that may affect the accreditation status of the program, 
addressed on page 16 of the LAAB Accreditation Procedures.) 

LAAB ACCREDITATION STANDARDS - 2016 page 4 



                                                                                                                          

 
 
 

 

  
  

 
    

  
   

    
 

 
 

   

 
       

  
 

      
      

 
    

 
      

   
 

 
 

 
     

 
 

    
  

 
 

 

 
   

    
 

 
    

 
   

     

STANDARDS 

Standard 1: Program Mission and Objectives 
The program shall have a clearly defined mission supported by goals and objectives 
appropriate to the profession of landscape architecture and shall demonstrate progress 
toward their attainment. 

INTENT: Using a clear, concise mission statement, each landscape architecture program shall 
define its core values and fundamental purpose for faculty, students, prospective students, and 
the institution. The mission statement shall summarize why the program exists and the needs 
that it seeks to fulfill. It shall also provide a benchmark for assessing how well the program is 
meeting the stated objectives. 

A. Program Mission. The mission statement expresses the underlying purposes and values of the 
program.  

Assessment: The program has a clearly stated mission reflecting its purpose and values, which relate to 
the institution’s mission. 

B. Educational Goals. The program shall have clearly defined and formally stated academic goals 
that reflect the mission and demonstrate that attainment of the goals will fulfill the program mission. 

Assessment: The program has an effective procedure to determine progress in meeting its goals and is it 
used regularly. 

C. Educational Objectives. The program shall have educational objectives that specifically 
describe how each of the academic goals will be achieved. 

Assessment: The program has clearly defined, achievable educational objectives and an effective, 
regularly used procedure to determine progress in meeting them. 

D. Long-Range Planning Process. The program shall engage in an effective long-range planning 
process. 

Assessment 1: The long-range plan describes how the program mission, goals, and objectives will be met, 
and the program documents the review and evaluation process. 

Assessment 2: The long-range plan (along with the mission, goals and objectives) is reviewed and revised 
periodically, and it presents realistic and attainable methods for advancing the program’s academic 
mission. 

Assessment 3: The program’s SER responds to recommendations and considerations for improvement 
from the previous accreditation review (if applicable), and it reports on efforts to rectify identified 
weaknesses. 

E. Program Disclosure. Program literature and promotional media shall accurately describe the 
program’s mission, objectives, educational experiences, accreditation status, goals, student achievement, 
costs for a full-time student per academic year, estimated housing costs per year, average costs of books 
and materials per year, student retention and graduation rates, number of degrees granted per year, and 

LAAB ACCREDITATION STANDARDS - 2016 page 5 



                                                                                                                          

  
  

 
    

 
  

 
 

  

percentage of students with timely graduation (master’s students graduating within four years, bachelor’s 
students graduating within six years). 

Assessment 1: The program information is accurate, understandable, and accessible to the public. 

Assessment 2: The public disclosure information can be found with a single-click link from the program’s 
website. 

LAAB ACCREDITATION STANDARDS - 2016 page 6 



                                                                                                                          

  
 

 
 

 
   

   
    

 
 

     
   

 
   

 
      

 
      

    
   

     
 

 
    

       
 

    
  

 

 
     

 
      

 
    

  
 

     
 

 
  

 
     
   

 
 

   
    

 

Standard 2: Program Autonomy, Governance, and 
Administration 
The program shall have the authority and resources to achieve its mission, goals and 
objectives. 

INTENT: Each landscape architecture program shall be recognized as a discrete professional 
program with the resources, institutional support, and authority to enable achievement of the 
stated program mission, goals and objectives. 

A. Program Administration. The landscape architecture program shall be administered as an 
identifiable, discrete program within its institution. 

Assessment 1: The program is seen as a discrete and identifiable program within the institution. 

Assessment 2: The program administrator holds a faculty appointment in landscape architecture. 

Assessment 3: The program administrator exercises effective leadership of and management functions for 
the program. (Where the program administrator is not the primary administrator for the academic unit, 
as in a landscape architecture program within a multidisciplinary department or school, the landscape 
architecture leader has the authority to significantly influence the management of resources, including 
budget, faculty review, tenure and promotion outcomes, and the direction of the program.) 

B. Institutional Support. The institution shall provide sufficient resources to enable the program to 
achieve its mission and goals, and it supports individual faculty members’ development and advancement. 

Assessment 1: Funding is available to assist faculty and other instructional personnel with continued 
professional development, including support in developing funded grants and attendance at conferences. 
Funding is sufficient to maintain computers and appropriate software, other types of equipment, and 
technical support. 

Assessment 2: Funding is adequate for student support, such as scholarships and work-study jobs. 

Assessment 3: Adequate support personnel are available to accomplish the program’s mission and goals. 

C. Commitment to Diversity. The program shall demonstrate a commitment to diversity through 
its recruitment and retention of faculty, staff, and students. 

Assessment: The program demonstrates its commitment to diversity in the recruitment and retention of 
students, faculty, and staff. 

D. Faculty Participation. The faculty shall participate in program governance and administration. 

Assessment 1: The faculty makes recommendations on the allocation of resources and has the 
responsibility to develop, implement, evaluate, and modify the program’s curriculum, and to contribute to 
operating practices. 

Assessment 2: The faculty participates, in accordance with institutional guidelines, in developing criteria 
and procedures for annual evaluation, promotion, and tenure of faculty members. 

LAAB ACCREDITATION STANDARDS - 2016 page 7 



                                                                                                                          

    
     

 
 

  
 

    
    

  
   

 
    

   
   

  
   

   
 

  
   

  
    

   
 

    
   

   
  

  
 

 
    

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
  
 

 

  
   

      
 

   

      
      

   

 
   

      
 

   

      
      

   

   
   

 
   

Assessment 3: The faculty participates, in accordance with institutional guidelines, in developing and 
applying criteria and procedures for the appointment and assessment of program and academic unit 
leadership. 

Assessment 4: The program or institution adequately communicates and mentors faculty regarding 
policies, expectations, and procedures for annual evaluations, tenure, and promotion to all ranks. 

E. Faculty Number. The faculty shall be of a sufficient size to accomplish the program’s goals and 
objectives; to teach the curriculum; to support students through advising and other functions; to engage in 
research, creative activity, and scholarship; and to be actively involved in professional endeavors such as 
presenting at conferences. The faculty FTE shall be assessed by the institutional culture for faculty 
development across the closely related academic units (such as other departments and programs within a 
college). The workload (number, type, and sizes of courses assigned) and responsibilities (such as a split 
of time for teaching, research, and service activities) for a typical tenured or long-term faculty member 
within the college shall be considered the template for assessing the FTE resources assigned to the 
landscape architecture program. Where landscape architecture faculty members have their responsibilities 
split between programs (such as bachelor’s and master’s or between landscape architecture and another 
discipline), the FTE assessment must be prorated. 

Faculty instruction full-time equivalence (FTE) shall be as follows: 
a.  An academic unit that offers a single first-professional degree program at the emerging or 

Initial Accreditation status has at least three FTE instructional faculty who hold professional 
degrees in landscape architecture, at least one of whom is full-time. 

b. An academic unit that offers a first-professional degree program at both the bachelor’s and 
master’s levels at the emerging or Initial Accreditation status has at least six FTE 
instructional faculty, five of whom hold professional degrees in landscape architecture, at 
least two of whom are full-time. 

c.  An academic unit that offers a single first-professional degree program at the continuing full 
Accreditation status has an FTE of at least five instructional faculty.  At least four of these 
faculty members hold a professional degree in landscape architecture and at least three of 
them are full-time. 

d. An academic unit that offers first-professional degree programs at both the bachelor’s and 
master’s levels with continuing full Accreditation status has an FTE of at least seven 
instructional faculty, at least five of whom hold professional degrees in landscape architecture 
and are full-time 

Program Status 

Number of Full-time 
Equivalent Instructional 
Faculty* 

Number of Faculty with a 
Professional Degree in 
Landscape Architecture (could 
be part-time or adjunct) 

Number of Full-time Faculty 
with a Professional Degree 
in Landscape Architecture 

Programs seeking Initial 
Accreditation 

Single Program 3 3 1 

Bachelors & Masters 
Program 

6 5 2 

Programs seeking re-
accreditation 

Single Program 5 4 3 

Bachelors & Masters 
Program 

7 5 

* In determining FTEs and the pro-rata contribution some faculty may make to teaching in a program, we 
acknowledge that variations do exist among institutions regarding how standard teaching loads are determined. 
Please provide in the SER any commentary that you believe appropriate to demonstrate how your program achieves 
the required faculty numbers within your institution’s particular administrative and staffing model. 

LAAB ACCREDITATION STANDARDS - 2016 page 8 



                                                                                                                          

   
 

      
 

 

Assessment 1: Student/faculty ratios in studios are typically not greater than 15:1. 

Assessment 2: There are sufficient faculty FTE to carry out the mission of the program (such as duties in 
teaching, research, service, program administration, academic advising, and creative professional 
development). 

LAAB ACCREDITATION STANDARDS - 2016 page 9 



                                                                                                                          

 
    

  
 

   
 

  
  

  
 

   
    

  
 

    
 

  
 

     
     

     
    

 
 

    
      

     
  

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

Standard 3: Professional Curriculum 
The first-professional degree curriculum shall include the core knowledge, skills, and 
applications of landscape architecture. 

a. In addition to the professional curriculum, a first-professional degree program at 
the bachelor’s level shall provide an educational context enriched by other 
disciplines, including but not limited to liberal and fine arts, natural sciences, and 
social sciences, as well as opportunities for students to develop other areas of 
interest. 

b. In addition to the professional curriculum, a first-professional degree at the 
master’s level shall provide instruction in and application of research and scholarly 
methods. 

c. A first-professional degree at the master’s level that does not require all students to 
have an undergraduate degree before receiving the MLA shall meet the 
requirements for both a and b, above. 

INTENT: Each landscape architecture curriculum shall be designed to achieve the learning goals 
stated in the mission and specific educational objectives of the program. The curriculum shall 
encompass both coursework and other co-curricular opportunities intended to develop students’ 
knowledge and skills in landscape architecture. 

A. Curricular Expression of the Mission and Objectives. The program’s curriculum shall 
address and express its mission, goals, and objectives. (This criterion is directed not toward the evaluation 
of the mission and objectives, but rather toward the way the curriculum is developed and delivered in 
carrying out the expectations of the mission and objectives.) 

Assessment: The program identifies the knowledge, skills, abilities, and values it expects students to 
possess at graduation. 

B. Professional Curriculum. The program curriculum shall be guided by, but not limited to, 
coverage of: 

History, theory, philosophy, principles, and values 
design history 
design theory 
criticism 
sustainability, resiliency, stewardship 
health, safety, welfare 

Design processes and methodology 
critical thinking 
analysis 
ideation 
synthesis 
site program 
iterative design development 
design communication 

LAAB ACCREDITATION STANDARDS - 2016 page 10 



                                                                                                                          

 
   

 
 

   

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  

   
   

 
  

    
 

 
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
    
   
   
   
    
   

  
 

  
 

 
  

   
 

   
  

 
 

Systems and processes—natural and cultural (related to design, planning, and management) 
plants and ecosystems sciences 
built environment and infrastructure 
human factors and social and community systems 
human health and well-being 

Communication and documentation 
written communication 
oral communication 
visual and graphic communication 
design and construction documents 
numeracy, quantitative problem-solving, and communication 
community and client engagement 

Implementation 
construction technology and site engineering 
site materials 
use and management of plants and vegetation 
policies and regulation 

Computer applications and advanced technologies 
visualization and modeling 
communication (conceptual and construction drawings) 
geospatial analysis 

Assessment and evaluation 
site assessment 
pre-design analysis 
landscape performance 
post-occupancy evaluation 
visual and scenic assessment 

Professional practice  
values 
ethics 
practice 
construction administration 

Research and scholarly methods (for master’s-level degree programs) 
quantitative and qualitative methods 
establishing a research hypothesis 
framing research questions 
literature/case study review/precedent review 
research integrity and protection of human subjects 
communication of research 

Assessment 1: The curriculum addresses the designated subject matter in a sequence that supports the 
degree program’s goals and objectives. 

Assessment 2: Student work and other accomplishments demonstrate that the curriculum is providing 
students with the appropriate content to enter the profession. 

Assessment 3: Curriculum and program opportunities enable students to pursue academic interests 
consistent with institutional requirements and entry into the profession. 

LAAB ACCREDITATION STANDARDS - 2016 page 11 



                                                                                                                          

   
    

   
  

    
   

 
   

   
  

 
    

    
   

   
   

 
 

  
 

      
  

  
  

     
 

 
      

 
 

  
  

 
    

   
 

  
  

 
    

  
 

   
 

 
    

 
  

C. Syllabi. Appropriate syllabi shall be maintained for courses. 
Assessment 1: Syllabi include educational objectives, course content, and the criteria and methods that 
will be used to evaluate student performance. 

Assessment 2: Syllabi identify the various levels of accomplishment students need to achieve to 
successfully complete the course and advance in the curriculum. 

D. Curriculum Evaluation. At both the course and curriculum levels, the program shall evaluate 
how effectively the curriculum is helping students achieve the program’s learning objectives in a timely 
way. 

Assessment 1: The program demonstrates and documents ways of: 
a. assessing students’ achievement of course and program objectives within the length of time to 

graduation stated by the program; 
b. reviewing and improving the effectiveness of instructional methods in curriculum delivery; and 
c. maintaining currency with the evolving technologies, methodologies, theories, and values of the 

profession. 

Assessment 2: Students participate in evaluation of the program, courses, and curriculum. 

E. Augmentation of Formal Educational Experience. The program shall provide 
opportunities for students to participate in co-curricular activities, internships, off-campus studies, 
research assistantships, or practicum experiences. 

Assessment 1: The program provides opportunities for students to augment the formal educational 
experience and documents students’ use of these opportunities. 

Assessment 2: The program identifies the objectives of co-curricular activities and evaluates the 
effectiveness of these opportunities. 

Assessment 3: Student participants are given the opportunity to report on their cocurricular experiences 
to their fellow students. 

F. Coursework (Bachelor’s Level). In addition to the professional curriculum, students shall also 
pursue coursework in other disciplines in accordance with institutional and program requirements. 

Assessment: Students take courses in the humanities, arts, technologies, mathematics, natural sciences, 
social sciences, and/or other disciplines. 

G. Areas of Interest (Bachelor’s Level). The program shall provide opportunities for students to 
pursue special interests. 

Assessment 1: The program provides opportunities for students to pursue independent projects, focused 
electives, optional studios, certificates, minors, and the like. 

Assessment 2: Student work incorporates academic experiences reflecting a variety of pursuits beyond the 
basic curriculum. 

LAAB ACCREDITATION STANDARDS - 2016 page 12 



                                                                                                                          

   
  

 
   

 
 

   
  

 
 
 
 

  

H. Research/Scholarly Methods (Master’s Level). The program shall provide an introduction 
to research and scholarly methods. 

Assessment 1: The curriculum provides instruction in research and scholarly methods and their relation 
to the profession of landscape architecture. 

Assessment 2: The program requires that theses or terminal projects exhibit creative and independent 
thinking and contain a significant research/scholarly component. 

LAAB ACCREDITATION STANDARDS - 2016 page 13 



                                                                                                                          

 
  

 
   

  
    

   
 
 

      
  

 
    

 
 

    
   

 
    

 
 

  
 

   
 

    
  

 
 

   

 
    

   
 

    

 
     

   
 

 

Standard 4: Student and Program Outcomes 
The program shall prepare students to pursue careers in landscape architecture. 

INTENT: Each landscape architecture program shall prepare students—through educational 
programs, advising, and other academic and professional opportunities—to pursue careers in 
landscape architecture upon graduation. The program shall foster knowledge and skills in 
creative problem solving, critical thinking, communications, design, and organization. 

A. Student Learning Outcomes. The program shall qualify students to pursue careers in 
landscape architecture. 

Assessment 1: Student work demonstrates the competencies required for entry-level positions in the 
profession of landscape architecture. 

Assessment 2: Students demonstrate their achievement of the program’s learning objectives, including 
critical and creative thinking, and their ability to understand, apply, and communicate the subject matter 
of the professional curriculum as evidenced through project definition, problem identification, 
information collection, analysis, synthesis, conceptualization, and implementation. 

B. Student Advising. The program shall provide students with effective advising and mentoring 
throughout their educational careers. 

Assessment 1: Students receive effective advising regarding academic development. 

Assessment 2: Students receive effective advising regarding career development. 

Assessment 3: Students are made aware of professional opportunities, advanced educational 
opportunities, licensure requirements, and continuing education requirements associated with 
professional practice. 

Assessment 4: Students are satisfied with academic experiences and their preparation for the landscape 
architecture profession. 

C. Participation in Extracurricular Activities. The program shall encourage students to 
participate in professional activities and institutional and community service. 

Assessment 1: Students participate in institutional/college organizations, community initiatives, or other 
activities. 

Assessment 2: Students participate in events such as LABash, ASLA Annual Meeting, local ASLA chapter 
events, and the activities of other professional societies or special-interest groups. 

LAAB ACCREDITATION STANDARDS - 2016 page 14 



                                                                                                                          

 
   

   
     

 
   

  
   

  
 
 

       
  
 

  
 

 
    

 
  

 
 

     
 

 
    

     

 

   
  

 
   

 
  

 
  
     

 
  

  
 

     
 

   
 

 
 
 
 

 

Standard 5: Faculty
The program shall advance its academic mission and objectives by means of promoting 
the qualifications, academic position, professional activities, and individual professional 
development of its faculty and instructional personnel. 

INTENT: Each landscape architecture program shall have qualified, experienced faculty and 
other instructional personnel to instill the knowledge and skills that students will need to pursue 
a career in landscape architecture. Equitable faculty workloads and compensation, and overall 
support for career development contribute to the success of the program. 

A. Credentials. The qualifications of the faculty, instructional personnel, and teaching assistants shall 
be appropriate to their roles. 

Assessment 1: The faculty has a balance of professional practice and academic experience appropriate to the 
program mission. 

Assessment 2: Faculty assignments are appropriate to the course content and program mission. 

Assessment 3: Adjunct and/or part-time faculty (if present) are integrated into the program’s administration 
and curriculum evaluation/development in a coordinated and organized manner. 

Assessment 4: Faculty qualifications are appropriate to responsibilities of the program as defined by the 
institution. 

B. Faculty Development. The faculty members shall be continuously engaged in activities leading 
to their professional growth and advancement, the advancement of the profession, and the effectiveness of 
the program.  

Assessment 1: Faculty activities such as scholarly inquiry, research, professional practice, and service to the 
profession, university, and community are documented, peer-reviewed, and disseminated through appropriate 
media such as journals, professional magazines, community, and university publications. 

Assessment 2: Teaching and administrative assignments allow sufficient opportunity for faculty to pursue 
advancement and professional development. Expectations for faculty workload and distribution of 
responsibilities (of teaching, research, service, and professional engagement) are similar to expectations in 
related academic units. 

Assessment 3: The development and teaching effectiveness of faculty and instructional personnel are 
systematically evaluated, and the results are used for individual and program improvement. 

Assessment 4: Faculty seek and make effective use of available funding for conference attendance, equipment, 
technical support, and other professional needs. 

Assessment 5: The activities of faculty are reviewed and recognized by faculty peers. 

Assessment 6: Faculty participate in university and professional service, student advising, and other activities 
that enhance the effectiveness of the program. 

LAAB ACCREDITATION STANDARDS - 2016 page 15 



                                                                                                                          

  
  

 
    

 
      

 
 
 
  

C. Faculty Retention. The faculty shall hold academic status, have workloads, and receive 
compensation, mentoring, and support that promote productivity and retention. 

Assessment 1: Faculty salaries and support are evaluated and are appropriate to promote faculty retention 
and productivity. 

Assessment 2: The rate of faculty turnover does not undermine the mission and goals of the program. 

LAAB ACCREDITATION STANDARDS - 2016 page 16 



                                                                                                                          

 
     

      
 

  
     

  
  

  
 

 
 

    
      

   
 

  
 

  
   

     
 

 
  
     

 
     

 
 

 
      

  
 

 
   

  

Standard 6: Outreach to the Institution, Communities, Alumni, 
and Practitioners 
The program shall have a plan for and a record of interaction with its alumni, the larger 
institution, the professional community, the local community, and the public at large. 

INTENT: Each landscape architecture program shall establish an effective relationship with the 
larger institution, its alumni, practitioners, the local community, and the public at large in order to 
provide a source of service learning opportunities for students, scholarly development for 
faculty, and professional guidance and financial support. Documentation and dissemination of 
successful outreach efforts shall enhance the image of the program and educate its 
constituencies regarding the program and the profession of landscape architecture. 

A. Interaction with the Profession, Institution, and Public. The program shall represent 
and advocate for the profession by interacting with the larger institution, the local community, 
practitioners, and the public at large. 

Assessment 1: Service-learning activities are incorporated into the curriculum. 

Assessment 2: Service activities are documented on a regular basis. 

Assessment 3: The program community interacts with the institution, practitioners, the local community, 
and the public at large. 

B. Alumni and Practitioners. The program shall recognize alumni and practitioners as a resource. 

Assessment 1: The program maintains or has access to a current registry of alumni that includes 
information pertaining to current employment, professional activity, post graduate study, and significant 
professional accomplishments. 

Assessment 2: The program engages its alumni and other practitioners in activities such as service on a 
formal advisory board, student career advising, potential employment, curriculum review and 
development, fundraising, and continuing education. 

Assessment 3: The program acknowledges and celebrates the significant professional accomplishments of 
its alumni and benefactors. 

LAAB ACCREDITATION STANDARDS - 2016 page 17 



                                                                                                                          

  
   

  
  

 
 

      
   

  
 
 

     
   

 
   

 
    

 
 

 

   
 

 
     

  
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

       

 
  

  
 

  
 

   
 

   

 
  
 
  

Standard 7: Facilities, Equipment, and Technology 
The program shall provide faculty, students, and staff access to facilities, equipment, 
libraries, and other resources necessary for achieving the program’s mission and 
objectives. 

INTENT: Each landscape architecture program shall occupy space in designated, code-
compliant facilities that support the achievement of the program’s mission and objectives. 
Students, faculty, and staff shall have the required tools and facilities to enable achievement of 
the program’s mission and objectives. 

A. Facilities. The program shall provide designated, code-compliant, adequately maintained spaces to 
serve the professional requirements of the faculty, students, and staff. 

Assessment 1: Faculty, staff, and administration are provided with appropriate office space. 

Assessment 2: Students are assigned permanent studio workstations adequate to meet the program’s 
needs. 

Assessment 3: Facilities are adequately maintained and in compliance with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA), the Life Safety Code, and applicable building codes. (Acceptable documentation 
includes reasonable-accommodation reports from the university ADA-compliance office and/or facilities 
or risk-management office.) 

B. Information Systems and Technical Equipment. The program shall provide information 
systems and technical equipment needed to achieve its mission and objectives to students, faculty, and 
other instructional and administrative personnel. 

Assessment 1: The program’s participants have sufficient access to computer equipment and software. 

Assessment 2: The frequency of hardware and software maintenance, updating, and replacement is 
sufficient. 

Assessment 3: The hours of use of information systems and equipment are sufficient to serve faculty and 
students. 

C. Library Resources. The program shall provide library collections and other resources sufficient 
to support its mission and educational objectives. 

Assessment 1: Collections are adequate to support the program. 

Assessment 2: Courses integrate library and other resources. 

Assessment 3: Library hours of operation are convenient and adequate to serve the needs of faculty and 
students. 

LAAB ACCREDITATION STANDARDS - 2016 page 18 



October 23 , 2018 

Kristopher Pritchard, Accreditation and Education Programs Manager 
Landscape Architectural Accreditation Board 
The American Society of Landscape Architects 
636 Eye Street NW 
Washington, D. C. 20001 

RE: Extension Certificate Program Accreditation 

Dear Mr. Pritchard: 

Governor 
Edmund G . Brown Jr. 

The California Landscape Architects Technical Committee (LATC) requests the Landscape Architectural 
Accreditation Board's (LAAB) consideration of extending its accreditation to include university extension 
certificate programs. 

The LATC recognizes university extension certificate programs in landscape architecture as licensure
qualifying educational programs, per California Code of Regulations (CCR) section 2620. Presently, there 
are two landscape architecture extension certificate programs in California - provided by the University of 
California, Berkley and the University of California, Los Angeles. 

Under the California Architect Board's (Board) purview, the LATC reviews extension certificate programs 
for approval pursuant to criteria denoted in CCR section 2620.5. However, the LATC believes that LAAB 
accreditation of alternative landscape architectural education programs, inclusive of extension certificate 
programs, would provide constancy in standards within landscape architecture academia. 

While the LATC understands from prior discussions that the LAAB's accreditation scope is limited (under 
the Council for Higher Education Accreditation) to, "professional programs at the bachelor's or master's 
level," we are resubmitting our request in order to determine whether LAAB' s scope has changed to permit 
accreditation of certificate programs. These programs are beneficial for California's students of landscape 
architecture as they offer students a means to achieve their educational goals while balancing personal needs 
(i.e., lower cost education, class schedules that facilitate students' ability to work, etc.). Extending the 
LAAB ' s scope of accreditation to these programs will better ensure that California students are receiving 
consistent education of quality standard to prepare them as proficient practitioners in the field of landscape 
architecture. 

We appreciate your consideration and look forward to your response to this request. 

Sincerely, 

?~~ 
Patricia Trauth, Chair 
Landscape Architects Technical Committee 

2420 Del Paso Road, Suite 105 • Sacramento, CA 95834 • P (916) 575-7230 • F (9 16) 575-7285 
la tc@dca.ca.gov • www. la tc.ca.gov 

alknati
Typewritten Text
Attachment J.7



 

 

    

 

  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

   

  

 

 

  

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS TECHNICAL COMMITTEE 

Review/Approval Procedures 

Landscape Architects Technical Committee 

2420 Del Paso Road, Suite 105 

Sacramento, CA 95834 

(916) 575-7230 

May 22, 2013 

alknati
Typewritten Text
Attachment J.8





 

  

  

  

  

  

   

  

 

  

 

   

 

 

  

   

 

 

 

   

 
 

  
 

  

   

  

   

  

  

 

      

 

 

  

 

  

   

    

 

   

     

 

Purpose 

Mission 

The mission of the Landscape Architects Technical Committee (LATC) is to regulate the 

practice of landscape architecture in a manner which protects the public health, safety, and 

welfare and safeguards the environment by: 

• Protecting consumers and users of landscape architectural services 

• Empowering consumers by providing information and educational materials to help them 

make informed decisions 

• Informing the public and other entities about the profession and standards of practice 

• Ensuring that those entering the practice meet standards of competency by way of 

education, experience, and examination 

• Establishing and enforcing the laws, regulations, codes, and standards governing the 

practice of landscape architecture 

• Requiring that any person practicing or offering landscape architectural services be 

licensed 

Overview and Educational Preparation for Licensure 

In implementing its mission, LATC has established regulations identifying the education and 

training requirements necessary for a candidate to apply for the licensure examination. In order 

to identify the appropriate combination of requirements, LATC has convened an Education 

Subcommittee on several occasions since its inception.  Each time, the subcommittee has 

recognized and upheld the value of education, experience, and examination in the training of a 

candidate for licensure.  At the same time, LATC has also recognized the need to define multiple 

options for meeting the education and training requirements.  The majority of the options for 

addressing the education requirement are based on the use of a traditional college or university 

degree programs that are accredited by the national Landscape Architectural Accrediting Board 

(LAAB).  However, LATC recognized the need to address both the inability of standard 

accredited degree programs to expand capacity for additional graduates and the growing need of 

students in California to obtain their education through night school programs.  The need for this 

non-traditional approach to obtain education might be due to any number of circumstances: 

finding a second career in landscape architecture, military veterans returning from serving their 

country, mothers and fathers returning to the work force after raising a family, or the inability to 

find the economic means to attend a full degree program. The post-degree professional 

landscape architecture education, offered by the University of California (UC) extension 

programs strives to address this nontraditional route. Acknowledging these facts, the Education 

Subcommittee, in 2006, recommended that extension graduates in landscape architecture be 

allowed some education credit toward taking the Landscape Architect Registration Examination 

(LARE). The extension programs are not reviewed by LAAB. Thus, in allowing education credit 

for extension program graduates, LATC assumes the responsibility for ongoing verification that 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 1 

page 1 

page 1 

page 1 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

  

    

  

   

  

  

 

 

 

     

 

  

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

     

 

 

   

 

  

  

 

   

 

  

  

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

    

the extension programs provide the education in landscape architecture necessary for a 

graduate to qualify to take the LARE. To facilitate this evaluation, the LATC has interpreted 

standards established by LAAB to objectively evaluate landscape architectural certificate 

programs and judge whether a landscape architectural program is in compliance. The intent of 

the LATC is not to supersede LAAB’s role in accreditation, but to allow additional access to 

licensure for candidates within the State of California who might not find it feasible to pursue a 

regular degree-level program.  

Academic Quality 

LATC approved programs must maintain and monitor – and strive to advance – academic quality 

within their program and their institution.  “Academic quality” at its most basic definition is that 

the program satisfies (meets or exceeds) student and professional expectations.  However, the 

program reflects the institutional mission, thus providing diversity amongst programs and 

fostering innovation in practice and serves the community. The program must have specific 

processes to determine if its quality standards are being met; this evaluation must be on-going 

and forward-thinking.  In addition to student achievements, academic quality is also indicated by 

high standards of teaching and service.  The goals and results of these activities should reflect 

both the institutional mission and the profession of landscape architecture. 

Definitions, Interpretation and Application 

Approved(al) – an acceptance by LATC for graduates to meet the education credit for licensure 

examination. 

Approval Period – The period of time between review cycles. 

Assessment - Each criterion has one or more questions that seek qualitative and quantitative 

evidence used to assess the level of compliance with or achievement of the related criteria. 

Compliance - Achieved when LATC concludes, after review of relevant indicators or other 

evidence, that a standard is met or met with recommendation as defined below.  To achieve 

approval a program must demonstrate to LATC, through the Self-Evaluation Report (SER), site 

visit, and technical accuracy review of the Visiting Team Report, that it complies with all 

standards. 

Criteria - Each standard has one or more criteria statements that define the components needed 

to satisfy the related standard. Not satisfying a criterion does not automatically lead to an 

assessment of a standard as ‘not met’. To be approved, a program demonstrates progress towards 

meeting the criteria. 

Discrete Program – A program that is not a hybrid with another. 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 2 

page 2 

page 2 

page 2 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

 

    

 

   

 

   

  

  

 

   

 

  

    

 

 

 

    

  

  

  

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

   

  

 

 

Initial Application – An application for review by a program that has not been reviewed before. 

Intent - Explains the purpose of the standard. 

Landscape Architectural Accreditation Board (LAAB) – Organization charged with accrediting 

landscape architectural degree-granting programs as overseen by the American Society of 

Landscape Architects (ASLA). 

LATC Certificate Program Approval - A voluntary process of peer review designed to evaluate 

programs based on their own stated objectives and the review standards. 

Program - An inclusive term for the coursework and other learning experiences leading to a 

landscape architectural curriculum and the supporting administration, faculty, facilities and 

services which sponsor and provide those experiences. 

Recommendation Affecting LATC Approval - Are issues of serious concern, directly affecting 

the quality of the program.  Recommendations affecting approval are only made when the 

visiting team assesses a standard as met with recommendation or not met.  Recommendations are 

derived from the identified areas of weakness in meeting a standard that are described in the 

rationale sections of the Visiting Team Report.  The program is required to report progress 

regularly on these issues.  Recommendations Affecting Approval identify issues, and do not 

prescribe solutions. 

Renewal – An application for review by a program that has been reviewed and approved before. 

Shall…is defined as mandatory. 

Should…is defined as prescriptive. 

Standards - Qualitative statements of the essential conditions an approved program must meet. 

A program must demonstrate adequate evidence of compliance with all standards to achieve 

LATC approval. 

Standard Met - Evidence shows that overall program performance in this area meets LATC 

minimum standards.  A standard may be judged as met even though one or more indicators are 

not minimally met. 

Standard Met With Recommendation - Deficiencies exist in an area directly bearing on 

approval.  The problem or problems have observable effects on the overall quality of the 

program. 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 3 

page 3 

page 3 

page 3 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

   

 

  

  

  

Standard Not Met - Cited deficiency is so severe that the overall quality of the program is 

compromised and the program’s ability to deliver adequate landscape architecture education is 

impaired. 

Suggestions for Improvement - Areas where the program can build on strength or address an 

area of concern that does not directly affect approval at the time of LATC review.  

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 4 

page 4 

page 4 

page 4 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

   
 

  

 

 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Minimum Requirements for Achieving and Maintaining LATC Approved Status 

The Landscape Architects Practice Act contains the following language which addresses the 

minimum requirements for achieving and maintaining Approval Status: 

A regulatory proposal to amend California Code of Regulations (CCR) Section 2620.5, 

Requirements for an Approved Extension Certificate Program, is currently pending 

approval.  The proposed regulatory language states the following: 

“An extension certificate program shall meet the following requirements: 

(a) The educational program shall be established in an educational institution which 

has a four-year educational curriculum and either is approved by the Western 

Association of Schools and Colleges or is an institution of public higher education 

as defined by Section 66010 of the Education Code. 

(b) There shall be a written statement of the program's philosophy and objectives 

which serves as a basis for curriculum structure. Such statement shall take into 

consideration the broad perspective of values, missions and goals of the profession 

of landscape architecture. The program objectives shall provide for relationships 

and linkages with other disciplines and public and private landscape architectural 

practices. The program objectives shall be reinforced by course inclusion, 

emphasis and sequence in a manner which promotes achievement of program 

objectives. The program's literature shall fully and accurately describe the 

program's philosophy and objectives. 

(c) The program shall have a written plan for evaluation of the total program, 

including admission and selection procedures, attrition and retention of students, 

and performance of graduates in meeting community needs. 

(d) The program shall be administered as a discrete program in landscape architecture 

within the institution with which it is affiliated. 

(e) There shall be an organizational chart which identifies the relationships, lines of 

authority and channels of communication within the program and between the 

program and other administrative segments of the institution with which it is 

affiliated. 

(f)  The program shall have sufficient authority and resources to achieve its 

educational objectives. 

(g) The program administrator shall be a California licensed landscape architect. 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 5 

page 5 

page 5 

page 5 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

 

  

  

  

 

  

  

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

(h) The program administrator shall have the primary responsibility for developing 

policies and procedures, planning, organizing, implementing and evaluating all 

aspects of the program. The faculty shall be adequate in type and number to 

develop and implement the program approved by the Board. 

(i)  The program curriculum shall provide instruction in the following areas related to 

landscape architecture including public health, safety, and welfare: 

(1) History, theory and criticism 

(2) Natural and cultural systems including principles of sustainability 

(3) Public Policy and regulation 

(4) Design, planning and management at various scales and applications including 

but not limited to pedestrian and vehicular circulation, grading drainage and 

storm water management 

(5) Site design and Implementation: materials, methods, technologies, application 

(6) Construction documentation and administration 

(7) Written, verbal and visual communication 

(8) Professional practice 

(9) Professional values and ethics 

(10) Plants and ecosystems 

(11) Computer applications and other advanced technology 

(j)  The program shall consist of at least 90 quarter units or 60 semester units. 

(k) The program shall maintain a current syllabus for each required course which 

includes the course objectives, learning outcomes, content, and the methods of 

evaluating student performance. 

(l) The program clearly identifies where the public health, safety, and welfare issues 

are addressed. 

(m) The curriculum shall be offered in a timeframe which reflects the proper course 

sequence. Students shall be required to adhere to that sequence, and courses shall 

be offered in a consistent and timely manner in order that students can observe 

those requirements. 

(n) A program shall meet the following requirements for its instructional personnel: 

(1) At least one half of the program's instructional personnel shall hold a 

professional degree or certificate from an approved extension certificate 

program in landscape architecture. 

(2) At least one half of the program's instructional personnel shall be licensed by 

the Board as landscape architects. 

(3) The program administrator shall be at least .5 time-base. 

(4) The program administrative support shall be 1.0 full-time equivalence. 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 6 

page 6 

page 6 

page 6 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

 

 

  

  

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

   

    

   

  

 

(o) The program shall submit an annual report in writing based on the date of the most 

recent Board approval.  The report shall include: 

(1) Verification of continued compliance with minimum requirements; 

(2) Any significant changes such as curriculum, personnel, administration, fiscal 

support, and physical facilities that have occurred since the last report; 

(3) Current enrollment and demographics; and 

(4) Progress toward complying with the recommendations, if any, from the last 

approval. 

(p) The program title and degree description shall incorporate the term “Landscape 
Architecture.” 

The Board may choose to further evaluate changes to any of the reported items or to a 

program. 

The Board will either grant or deny an application.  When specific minor deficiencies 

are identified during evaluation of an application, but the institution is substantially in 

compliance with the requirements of the Code and this Division, a provisional 

approval to operate may be granted for a period not to exceed 24 months, to permit the 

institution time to correct those deficiencies identified.  A provisional approval to 

operate shall expire at the end of its stated period and the application shall be deemed 

denied, unless the deficiencies are corrected prior to its expiration and an approval to 

operate has been granted before that date or the provisional approval to operate has 

been extended for a period not to exceed 24 months if the Board is satisfied that the 

program has made a good faith effort and has the ability to correct the deficiencies. 

The Board shall review the program at least every six years for approval. 

The Board may rescind an approval during the six-year approval period based on the 

information received in the program’s annual report after providing the school with a 
written statement of the deficiencies and providing the school with an opportunity to 

respond to the charges.  If an approval is rescinded, the Board may subsequently grant 

provisional approval in accordance with the guidelines of this section to allow the 

program to correct deficiencies.” 

A program approved by LATC shall: 

a. Continuously comply with LATC approval standards; 

b. Pay the biennial sustaining and other fees as required; and 

c. File complete annual reports. 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 7 

page 7 

page 7 

page 7 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

 

 

   

 

 

The program administrator shall inform LATC if any of these factors fails to apply during an 

approval period.  The program administrator is responsible for reporting any substantive changes 

to the program when they occur.  Substantive changes would be those that may affect the 

approval status of the program.  

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 8 

page 8 

page 8 

page 8 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

 
 

      

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

    

  

 

   

   

 

  

  

 

  

 

 

   

 

 

   

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

STANDARDS 

Standard 1: Program Mission and Objectives 
The program shall have a clearly defined mission supported by goals and objectives 

appropriate to the profession of landscape architecture and shall demonstrate progress 

towards their attainment. 

INTENT: Using a clear concise mission statement, each landscape architecture certificate 

program should define its core values and fundamental purpose for faculty, students, prospective 

students, and the institution. The mission statement summarizes why the program exists and the 

needs that it seeks to fulfill. It also provides a benchmark for assessing how well the program is 

meeting the stated objectives. 

A. Program Mission. The mission statement expresses the underlying purposes and values of 

the program. 

Assessment 1: Does the program have a clearly stated mission reflecting the purpose and values 

of the program and does it relates to the institution’s mission statement? 

Assessment 2: Does the mission statement take into consideration the broad perspective of 

values, missions and goals of the profession of landscape architecture? 

Assessment 3: Does the program's literature fully and accurately describe the program's 

philosophy and objectives? 

Assessment 4: Does the program title and degree description incorporate the term “Landscape 
Architecture?” 

B. Educational Goals. Clearly defined and formally stated academic goals reflect the mission 

and demonstrate that attainment of the goals will fulfill the program mission. 

Assessment 1: Does the program have an effective procedure to determine progress in meeting 

its goals and is it used regularly? 

Assessment 2:  Does the program have a written plan for evaluation of the total program, 

including admission and selection procedures, attrition and retention of students, 

and performance of graduates in meeting community needs? 

C. Educational Objectives. The educational objectives specifically describe how each of the 

academic goals will be achieved. 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 9 

page 9 

page 9 

page 9 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

  

 

  

   

 

    

  

 

    

   

 

  

Assessment: Does the program have clearly defined and achievable educational objectives that 

describe how the goals will be met? 

D. Long-Range Planning Process. The program is engaged in a long-range planning process. 

Assessment 1: Does the long-range plan describe how the program mission and objectives will 

be met and document the review and evaluation process? 

Assessment 2: Is the long-range plan reviewed and revised periodically and does it present 

realistic and attainable methods for advancing the academic mission? 

Assessment 3: Does the SER respond to recommendations and suggestions from the previous 

accreditation review and does it report on efforts to rectify identified weaknesses? 

E. Program Disclosure. Program literature and promotional media accurately describe the 

program’s mission, objectives, educational experiences and LATC approval status. 

Assessment: Is the program information accurate? 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 10 

page 10 

page 10 

page 10 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

 

  

 

   

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Standard 2: Program Autonomy, Governance & Administration 
The program shall have the authority and resources to achieve its mission, goals and 

objectives. 

INTENT: Landscape architecture should be recognized as a discrete professional program with 

sufficient financial and institutional support and authority to enable achievement of the stated 

program mission, goals and objectives. 

A. Program Administration. Landscape architecture is administered as an identifiable/discrete 

program. 

Assessment 1: Is the program seen as a discrete and identifiable program within the institution? 

Assessment 2: Does the program administrator hold a faculty appointment in landscape 

architecture? 

Assessment 3: Does the program administrator exercise the leadership and management 

functions of the program? Does he/she have the primary responsibilities for 

developing policies and procedures, planning, organizing, implementing, and 

evaluating all aspects of the program? 

Assessment 4:  Is the educational program established in an educational institution which has a 

four-year educational curriculum and either is approved by the Western 

Association of Schools and College or is an institution of public higher education 

as defined by Section 66010 of the Education Code? 

Assessment 5: Does the program meet the following requirements for its instructional personnel: 

(1) At least one half of the program's instructional personnel shall hold a 

professional degree or certificate from an approved extension certificate 

program in landscape architecture. 

(2) At least one half of the program's instructional personnel shall be licensed by 

the Board as landscape architects. 

(3) The program administrator shall be at least .5 time-base. 

(4) The program administrative support shall be 1.0 full-time equivalence. 

Assessment 6: Is the program administrator a California licensed landscape architect? 

Assessment 7: Has an organizational chart been provided that clearly identifies the 

relationships, lines of authority and channels of communication within the 

program and with the institution that supports it? 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 11 

page 11 

page 11 

page 11 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

B. Institutional Support. The institution provides sufficient resources to enable the program to 

achieve its mission and goals and support individual faculty development and advancement. 

Assessment 1: Are student/faculty ratios in studios typically not greater than 15-18:1? 

Assessment 2: Is funding available to assist faculty and other instructional personnel with 

continued professional development including attendance at conferences, 

computers and appropriate software, other types of equipment, and technical 

support? 

Assessment 3: Does the institution provide student support, i.e., scholarships, work-study, 

internships, etc? 

Assessment 4: Are adequate support personnel available to accomplish program mission and 

goals? 

C. Commitment to Diversity.  The program demonstrates commitment to diversity through its 

recruitment and retention of faculty, staff, and students. 

Assessment: How does the program demonstrate its commitment to diversity in the recruitment 

and retention of students, faculty and staff? 

D. Faculty Participation. The faculty participates in program governance and administration. 

Assessment 1: Does the faculty make recommendations on the allocation of resources and do 

they have the responsibility to develop, implement, evaluate, and modify the 

program’s curriculum and operating practices? 

Assessment 2: Does the faculty participate, in accordance with institutional guidelines, in 

developing criteria and procedures for annual evaluation of faculty? 

Assessment 3: Does the program or institution adequately communicate and mentor faculty 

regarding policies, expectations and procedures for annual evaluations? 

E. Faculty Number. The faculty shall be of a sufficient size to accomplish the program’s goals 

and objectives, to teach the curriculum, to support students through advising and other functions, 

to engage in creative activity and scholarship and to be actively involved in professional 

endeavors such as presenting at conferences. 

Assessment 1: Are the number of faculty adequate to achieve the program’s mission and goals 

and individual faculty development? 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 12 

page 12 

page 12 

page 12 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

   

 

  

  

Assessment 2: Is at least 50% of the academic faculty licensed as a landscape architect? 

Assessment 3: Does the strategic plan or long-range plan include action item(s) for addressing 

the adequacy of the number of faculty? 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 13 

page 13 

page 13 

page 13 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

    
    

   

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

    
 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

   

 

   

  

 

  

  

 

Standard 3: Professional Curriculum 
The certificate curriculum shall include the core knowledge skills and applications of 

landscape architecture. 

INTENT: The purpose of the curriculum is to achieve the learning goals stated in the mission and 

objectives. Curriculum objectives should relate to the program’s mission and specific learning 
objectives. The program’s curriculum should encompass coursework and other opportunities 

intended to develop students’ knowledge, skills, and abilities in landscape architecture. 

A. Mission and Objectives.  The program’s curriculum addresses its mission, goals, and 

objectives. 

Assessment: Does the program identify the knowledge, skills, abilities and values it expects 

students to possess at graduation? 

B. Professional Curriculum. The program curriculum includes coverage of: 

History, theory and criticism 

Natural and cultural systems including principles of sustainability 

Public Policy and regulation 

Design, planning and management at various scales and applications including but not 

limited to pedestrian and vehicular circulation, grading drainage and storm water 

management 

Site design and Implementation: materials, methods, technologies, application 

Construction documentation and administration 

Written, verbal and visual communication 

Professional practice 

Professional values and ethics 

Plants and ecosystems 

Computer applications and other advanced technology 

Assessment 1: Does the curriculum address the designated subject matter in a sequence that 

supports its goals and objectives? 

Assessment 2: Does student work and other accomplishments demonstrate that the curriculum is 

providing students with the appropriate content to enter the profession? 

Assessment 3: Do curriculum and program opportunities enable students to pursue academic 

interests consistent with institutional requirements and entry into the profession? 

Assessment 4: Does the curriculum provide opportunities for student engagement in 

interdisciplinary professions? 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 14 

page 14 

page 14 

page 14 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

   

 

   

 

 

     

 

   

   

 

  

   

 

   

 

 

   

   

  

  

 

  

  

 

  

 

 

  

     

 

  

 

 

    

 

  

 

Assessment 5: Does the curriculum include a “capstone” or terminal project? 

Assessment 6: Does the program consist of at least 90 quarter units or 60 semester units? 

C. Syllabi. Syllabi are maintained for all required courses. 

Assessment 1: Do syllabi include educational objectives, learning outcomes, course content, and 

the criteria and methods that will be used to evaluate student performance? 

Assessment 2: Do syllabi identify the various levels of accomplishment students shall achieve to 

successfully complete the course and advance in the curriculum? 

D. Curriculum Evaluation. At the course and curriculum levels, the program evaluates how 

effectively the curriculum is helping students achieve the program’s learning objectives in a 

timely way. 

Assessment 1: Does the program demonstrate and document ways of: 

a. Assessing students’ achievement of course and program objectives in the length of time 

to graduation stated by the program? 

b. Reviewing and improving the effectiveness of instructional methods in curriculum 

delivery? 

c. Maintaining currency with evolving technologies, methodologies, theories and values of 

the profession? 

Assessment 2: Do students participate in evaluation of the program, courses and curriculum? 

E. Augmentation of Formal Educational Experience.  The program provides opportunities for 

students to participate in internships, off campus studies, research assistantships, or practicum 

experiences. 

Assessment 1: Does the program provide any of these opportunities? 

Assessment 2: How does the program identify the objectives and evaluate the effectiveness of 

these opportunities? 

Assessment 3: Do students report on these experiences to their peers? If so, how? 

F. Coursework and Areas of Interest: 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 15 

page 15 

page 15 

page 15 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

   

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

Assessment 1: What percentage of current students are currently enrolled in the program with a 

bachelor’s degree or higher?  Please provide a breakdown of degree levels 

admitted. 

Assessment 2: How does the program provide opportunities for students to pursue independent 

projects, focused electives, optional studios, coursework outside landscape 

architecture, collaboration with related professions, etc.? 

Assessment 3: How does student work incorporate academic experiences reflecting a variety of 

pursuits beyond the basic curriculum? 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 16 

page 16 

page 16 

page 16 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

  
 

 

    

  

 

  

 

 

 

  

    

 

   

  

 

 

  

 

 

   

 

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Standard 4: Student and Program Outcomes. 
The program shall prepare students to pursue careers in landscape architecture. 

INTENT: Students should be prepared – through educational programs, advising, and other 

academic and professional opportunities – to pursue a career in landscape architecture upon 

graduation.  Students should have demonstrated knowledge and skills in creative problem 

solving, critical thinking, communications, design, and organization to allow them to enter the 

profession of landscape architecture. 

A. Student Learning Outcomes.  Upon completion of the program, students are qualified to 

pursue a career in landscape architecture. 

Assessment 1: Does student work demonstrate the competency required for entry-level positions 

in the profession of landscape architecture? 

Assessment 2: Do students demonstrate their achievement of the program’s learning objectives, 

including critical and creative thinking and their ability to understand, apply and 

communicate the subject matter of the professional curriculum as evidenced 

through project definition, problem identification, information collection, 

analysis, synthesis, conceptualization and implementation? 

Assessment 3: Can the students demonstrate and understanding of the health, safety and welfare 

issues affecting the coursework studied?  Can these issues be applied to the real 

world? 

B. Student Advising. The program provides students with effective advising and mentoring 

throughout their educational careers.  

Assessment 1:  Are students effectively advised and mentored regarding academic development? 

Assessment 2:  Are students effectively advised and mentored regarding career development? 

Assessment 3:  Are students aware of professional opportunities, licensure, professional 

development, advanced educational opportunities and continuing education 

requirements associated with professional practice? 

Assessment 4: How satisfied are students with academic experiences and their preparation for 

the landscape architecture profession? 

C. Participation in Extra Curricular Activities.  Students are encouraged and have the 

opportunity to participate in professional activities and institutional and community service. 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 17 

page 17 

page 17 

page 17 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

   

 
 

   

  

 

Assessment 1: Do students participate in institutional/college organizations, community 

initiatives, or other activities? 

Assessment 2: Do students participate in events such as LaBash, ASLA Annual Meetings, local 

ASLA chapter events and the activities of other professional societies or special 

interest groups? 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 18 

page 18 

page 18 

page 18 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

   
 

   

 

 

 

   

 

 

  

 

 

     

 

 

    

 

   

  

 

  

 

 

   

 

 

    

 

 

 

   

 

  

 

    

 

 

   

 

Standard 5: Faculty 
The qualifications, academic position, and professional activities of faculty and 

instructional personnel shall promote and enhance the academic mission and objectives of 

the program. 

INTENT: The program should have qualified experienced faculty and other instructional 

personnel to instill the knowledge, skills, and abilities that students will need to pursue a career 

in landscape architecture. Faculty workloads, compensation, and overall support received for 

career development contribute to the success of the program. 

A. Credentials. The qualifications of the faculty, instructional personnel, and teaching assistants 

are appropriate to their roles. 

Assessment 1: Does the faculty have a balance of professional practice and academic experience 

appropriate to the program mission? 

Assessment 2: Are faculty assignments appropriate to the course content and program mission? 

Assessment 3: Are adjunct and/or part-time faculty integrated into the program’s administration 

and curriculum evaluation/development in a coordinated and organized manner? 

Assessment 4: Are qualifications appropriate to responsibilities of the program as defined by the 

institution? 

B. Faculty Development. The faculty is continuously engaged in activities leading to their 

professional growth and advancement, the advancement of the profession, and the effectiveness 

of the program. 

Assessment 1: Are faculty activities such as scholarly inquiry, professional practice and service 

to the profession, university and community documented and disseminated 

through appropriate media such as journals, professional magazines, community, 

college and university media? 

Assessment 2: Are the development and teaching effectiveness of faculty and instructional 

personnel systematically evaluated, and are the results used for individual and 

program improvement? 

Assessment 3: Do faculty seek and make effective use of available funding for conference 

attendance, equipment and technical support, etc? 

Assessment 4: Are the activities of faculty reviewed and recognized by faculty peers? 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 19 

page 19 

page 19 

page 19 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

     

  

 

 

 

  

  

 

    

 

 

     

Assessment 5: Do faculty participate in university and professional service, student advising and 

other activities that enhance the effectiveness of the program? 

C. Faculty Retention. Faculty hold academic status, have workloads, receive salaries, 

mentoring and support that promote productivity and retention. 

Assessment 1: Are faculty salaries, academic and professional recognition evaluated to promote 

faculty retention and productivity? 

Assessment 2: What is the rate of faculty turnover? 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 20 

page 20 

page 20 

page 20 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

         

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

   

   

  

   

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Standard 6: Outreach to the Institution, Communities, Alumni, and 

Practitioners 
The program shall have a record or plan of achievement for interacting with the 

professional community, its alumni, the institution, community, and the public at large. 

INTENT: The program should establish an effective relationship with the institution, 

communities, alumni, practitioners and the public at large in order to provide a source of service 

learning opportunities for students, scholarly development for faculty, and professional guidance 

and financial support. Documentation and dissemination of successful outreach efforts should 

enhance the image of the program and educate its constituencies regarding the program and the 

profession of landscape architecture. 

A. Interaction with the Profession, Institution, and Public.  The program represents and 

advocates for the profession by interacting with the professional community, the institution, 

community and the public at large. 

Assessment 1: Are service-learning activities incorporated into the curriculum? 

Assessment 2: Are service activities documented on a regular basis? 

B. Alumni and Practitioners. The program recognizes alumni and practitioners as a resource. 

Assessment 1: Does the program maintain a current registry of alumni that includes information 

pertaining to current employment, professional activity, licensure, and significant 

professional accomplishments? 

Assessment 2:  Does the program engage the alumni and practitioners in activities such as a 

formal advisory board, student career advising, potential employment, curriculum 

review and development, fund raising, continuing education etc.? 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 21 

page 21 

page 21 

page 21 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

       
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

  

 

    

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

   

 

  

 

   

 
 

Standard 7: Facilities, Equipment, and Technology 
Faculty, students and staff shall have access to facilities, equipment, library and other 

technologies necessary for achieving the program’s mission and objectives. 

INTENT:  The program should occupy space in designated, code-compliant facilities that 

support the achievement of program mission and objectives.  Students, faculty, and staff should 

have the required tools and facilities to enable achievement of the program mission and 

objectives. 

A. Facilities.  There are designated, code-compliant, adequately maintained spaces that serve the 

professional requirements of the faculty, students and staff.  

Assessment 1: Are faculty, staff and administration provided with appropriate office space? 

Assessment 2: Are students assigned permanent studio workstations adequate to meet the 

program needs? 

Assessment 3: Are facilities adequately maintained and are they in compliance with ADA, life-

safety and applicable building codes? (Acceptable documentation includes 

reasonable accommodation reports from the university ADA compliance office 

and/or facilities or risk management office.) 

B. Information Systems and Technical Equipment. Information systems and technical 

equipment needed to achieve the program’s mission and objectives are available to students, 

faculty and other instructional and administrative personnel. 

Assessment 1: Does the program have sufficient access to computer equipment and software? 

Assessment 2: Is the frequency of hardware and software maintenance, updating and 

replacement sufficient? 

Assessment 3: Are the hours of use sufficient to serve faculty and students? 

C. Library Resources.  Library collections and other resources are sufficient to support the 

program’s mission and educational objectives. 

Assessment 1: Are collections adequate to support the program? 

Assessment 2: Do courses integrate library and other resources? 

Assessment 3: Are the library hours of operation convenient and adequate to serve the needs of 

faculty and students? 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 22 

page 22 

page 22 

page 22 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

 

   

  

  

 

 

  

    

  

  

 

 

 

   

   

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

    

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

REVIEW AND APPROVAL PROCEDURES 

Initiating Review and Approval 

A program can apply to the LATC for approval whenever it meets the Minimum Requirements 

for Achieving and Maintaining Approval Status 

A program should notify LATC of its intention to apply for initial approval at least four months 

before the anticipated visit.  A program must have had one graduating class, and meet the 

approval requirements (see Minimum Requirements for Achieving and Maintaining LATC 

Approved Status) before a visit can be scheduled. The approval process is the same whether a 

program is applying for renewal of accreditation or initial accreditation. 

Candidacy Status 

To assist non-approved programs, the LATC has developed a Candidacy Status to help programs 

prepare for the accreditation process. The purpose of candidacy is to establish stable, 

constructive, ongoing, and helpful partnerships between LATC and institutions working toward 

becoming approved by LATC.  Programs designated as “candidates” have voluntarily committed 

to work toward LATC approval.  Candidacy status signifies that the program is demonstrating 

reasonable progress toward the attainment of accreditation.  However, candidacy status does not 

indicate approval status or guarantee eventual approval. 

To achieve candidacy status a program must meet the minimum requirements for achieving and 

maintaining approved status. 

After achieving candidacy status, a program must apply for initial approval once it has had at 

least 20 graduates. If initial approval is not granted, the program can retain its candidacy status 

for one additional year. 

To achieve candidacy status, a program may submit a SER and undergo a program review. A 

program review is an initial assessment where the LATC will review the program’s SER and 

determine whether the program should be granted candidacy status or not. In addition, LATC 

will make recommendations and suggestions on how the program can continue to advance 

towards meeting the approval standards. 

LATC will vote on whether to grant a program candidacy status at its next regularly scheduled 

meeting by reviewing the program’s Visiting Team Report, Advisory Recommendation to the 

LATC, and institutional response. If LATC decides not to grant candidacy status this decision is 

not subject to appeal.  The program will be informed in writing of LATC’s decision. 

After achieving candidacy status, programs are required to submit annual reports to LATC. 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 23 

page 23 

page 23 

page 23 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

     

  

 

 

   

 

  

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

  

 

 

   

 

     

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

   

   

 

Programs that have achieved candidacy status must pay a biennial application renewal fee (a fee 

schedule can be obtained from the LATC). 

Self-Evaluation Report 

All programs applying for accreditation prepare a SER following the required LATC format.  

The SER describes the program's mission and objectives, its self-assessment, and future plans; 

provides a detailed response to the recommendations of the previous visiting team; and details 

the program's compliance with each approval standard.  It is important that faculty, 

administrators, and students participate in preparing the SER. The SER must include a statement 

explaining the participation of each group.  The LATC notifies each program of the approval 

schedule and LATC deadlines. 

Since LATC approval is a voluntary process, the LATC cannot conduct a review without an 

invitation or written notice of consent from the chief executive officer of the institution.  This 

invitation and notice of preferred visit dates must be submitted at least four months prior to the 

review. 

At least 45 days before the visit, the program submits two copies of the SER and proposed visit 

schedule to the LATC Program Manager. 

If the documents are not submitted by this deadline, the program may be notified that the visit 

has been postponed. In the case of a currently LATC approved program, this may result in the 

suspension of approval and/or the term of approval expiring. 

The program is responsible for all costs incurred plus an administrative fee (a fee schedule can 

be obtained from the LATC). 

LATC Certificate Program Review Committee/Visiting Team 

Visiting team members are selected by the LATC. There are three categories of evaluators: 

Landscape architecture educators or administrators who hold a first-professional degree 

in landscape architecture, teach or have taught in an accredited program, and hold the 

minimum academic rank of tenured associate professor. 

LATC Member (current or former) 

Landscape architecture practitioners who are licensed landscape architects and have at 

least five full years of practice experience. 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 24 

page 24 

page 24 

page 24 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

 

  

 

  

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

   

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

  

 

Where special conditions warrant, such as providing team member training or assisting with 

site-evaluation procedures and matters of due process, a four-person team may be assembled.  

Exceptions to these criteria must be approved by the LATC. 

Visiting Team Selection 

The visiting team consists of one landscape architecture educator, one practitioner, and one 

LATC member. 

Teams are selected to avoid potential conflicts of interest.  For example, a previous affiliation 

with the program under review, or an affiliation with a program in the same geographic location 

with competing enrollments, monies, etc., renders an evaluator ineligible.  

The program is advised of the proposed team, including each proposed team member's present 

position, experience, and areas of expertise.  The program has the right to challenge one team 

member, with cause.  For the purpose of challenge, conflict of interest can be cited if the 

nominee comes from the same geographic location and is affiliated with a competitive 

institution; if the nominee had a previous affiliation with the institution; or if the institution can 

demonstrate that the nominee is not competent to evaluate the program.  However, the final 

decision on team assignments rests with the LATC chair. 

Following the program's review of potential team members, the team members are invited to 

serve.  When the visiting team composition and date of the review are finalized, the team and the 

program are formally notified.  Any subsequent changes in team makeup because of scheduling 

conflicts or emergencies are made in consultation with the program. 

At the discretion of the LATC chair, one of the following may accompany the visiting team: an 

additional LATC member, a landscape architecture educator who has a specialist background 

relevant to the program under review, or another LATC evaluator for training purposes. 

Pre-Visit Responsibilities: Visiting Team 

The team chair is responsible for making assignments and assembling the Visiting Team Report.  

Team members receive the LATC Approval Standards and Procedures and the LATC Visiting 

Team Guidelines and are expected to be thoroughly familiar with these documents before the 

accreditation visit.  Each visiting team member must carefully review the SER and carry out 

assignments as the team chair directs. 

Pre-Visit Responsibilities:  Program 

The LATC Program Manager, after conferring with the team and the institution, schedules the 

dates of the accreditation visit.  The program is responsible for making all lodging arrangements 

for the visiting team.  Hotel accommodations should, where possible, use on-campus facilities 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 25 

page 25 

page 25 

page 25 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

   

  

such as those for visiting faculty or guest lecturers. LATC is responsible for the travel, lodging, 

and meal expenses of the visiting team within State travel guidelines. 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 26 

page 26 

page 26 

page 26 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

 

 

  

   

 

 

 

 

  
 

     

 

    

 

 

  

 

 

   

 

 

               

 

        

 

 

     

 

 

 

    

 

 

    

 

   

 

 

  

  

Sample Visit Schedule 

The following is a sample schedule of activities for a visiting team of the LATC. This includes 

all necessary elements and provides adequate time for report preparation. The certificate 

programs generally function in the evening. The visiting team is required to spend at least three 

hours each day to prepare reports and executive summaries. Changes may be made to this 

schedule as long as this requirement is met. 

Day 1 

8:30 am  Breakfast with certificate program administrator 

9:30 am Familiarization tour of the landscape architectural facilities.  Tour should be 

brief. 

10:30 am Meet with the chief administrator of the unit in which the certificate 

program is located 

11:00 am Meet with the immediate supervisor of the landscape architecture certificate 

program administrator. 

12:00 Noon Lunch 

1: 30 pm Team meets with landscape architecture certificate program administrator to 

finalize schedule and to discuss the program in general 

3: 00 pm Executive session:  confirm team member assignments and plan how the 

team will conduct interviews and various meetings that will take place 

during the visit. 

4:30 pm Curriculum review by faculty to visiting team.  Reviews how program 

accomplishes its mission through the curriculum and a review of student 

work from each class and sequence. 

6:00 pm Dinner 

7:00 pm Interviews with students and faculty.  Student interviews should be 

conducted with students grouped by year.  It is recommended that student 

interviews take place before faculty interviews.  Faculty interviews are 

usually a series of individual interviews at half-hour intervals, to discuss 

impressions of the program--strengths, weaknesses, faculty input, and 

faculty development.  Group faculty interviews can be conducted if more 

acceptable to the faculty and the team. 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 27 

page 27 

page 27 

page 27 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

   
 

          

 

     

 

 

   

   

 

 

      

 

     

 

     

 

  
 

      

 

      

 

 

    

   

 

 

       

 
 

 

 

 

  

 

Day 2 

8:30-11:30 am  Review of student work and facilities. Additional interviews as necessary. 

11:30 am Inspection of library and other supporting facilities, e.g., computing center, 

special services, etc. 

12:30 pm Lunch with recent graduates and practitioners, to be arranged at the 

discretion of the team and the school.  Opportunity to evaluate graduates' 

satisfaction with the educational process and the degree to which the 

program prepared them to perform entry-level functions. 

2: 00 pm Team meets in executive session to review findings. 

6:00 pm Dinner with faculty. 

8:00 pm Additional interviews with students and faculty.  

Day 3 

8:30 am Breakfast meeting with program administrator. 

9:30 am Team meets in executive session to compile draft report and advisory 

recommendations. 

12:00 Noon Lunch.  Review of the team's findings with the program administrator, the 

chief administrator and the immediate supervisor of the landscape 

architecture program administrator. 

3:00 pm Team departs from campus. 

The program prepares the visit schedule and forwards it to the LATC Program Manager, along 

with the SER, at least 45 days prior to the visit.  The recommended schedule includes interviews 

with students, faculty, and administration officials, as well as alumni and local practitioners.  

Team members may conduct interviews by telephone with persons who are unable to meet with 

them on campus, such as alumni, practitioners or faculty on leave.  The appropriate 

administrators should be interviewed both at the beginning and at the end of the team's visit.  

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 28 

page 28 

page 28 

page 28 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

  

     

 

 

   

   

   

 

 

 

 

   

    

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Early inspection of space and facilities and an exhibit of work produced by students in the 

program are vital. 

The team members meet in several executive sessions over the course of the visit to prepare a 

complete report in draft form, and to decide on an advisory recommendation to LATC on the 

program's approval status. The content of this report, except the advisory recommendation, is 

discussed with the appropriate administrator as well as the certificate program administrator, 

particularly in regard to strengths and weaknesses of the program, recommendations affecting 

approval, and suggestions for program improvement. It is important to note to the administrators 

that all of the information discussed verbally is in draft form until it has been reviewed, 

approved, and distributed by LATC. This draft is not to be copied for the program. 

Visiting Team Report 

Before the visit, the visiting team receives the completed SER, the LATC Review/Approval 

Procedures and the Visiting Team Guidelines.  The guidelines include a format for the Visiting 

Team Report, which is designed to ensure a response to all the LATC requirements and approval 

standards.  The team chair makes writing assignments as necessary and is responsible for 

compiling the report. 

Within ten days following the visit, the visiting team chair completes final editing and sends 

copies to the other team members and the LATC Program Manager, who review the report.  The 

report may be edited for grammar, spelling and style.  The team members should send any 

comments to the LATC Program Manager.  Any substantive changes or additions will be 

referred to the team chair and may result in distributing the report to the team to review the 

report a second time. 

Institutional Response 

Within ten days of the receipt of the team report, the LATC Program Manager shall send copies 

to the appropriate campus administrator and the certificate program director for their comment 

and technical accuracy review. 

Within fifteen days following receipt of the team report, the institution shall submit its 

institutional response (substantive comments and corrections) to the LATC Program Manager. 

The certificate program shall respond to any standard that is assessed as “met with 

recommendation” or “not met.”  This response should include any documentation the program 

deems pertinent. 

The team report and institutional response are sent to the LATC members prior to the next 

scheduled LATC meeting. 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 29 

page 29 

page 29 

page 29 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

   

  

   

  

 

 

    

   

   

  

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

   

Vacating of Application for Accreditation 

Any time before action by LATC, an institution may vacate its application for LATC Certificate 

Approval without penalty by notifying the LATC Program Manager in writing. LATC will not 

refund fees and the program will be assessed for expenses incurred by LATC. 

LATC Review and Decision 

The LATC Certificate Program Approval review decision may take place at the next scheduled 

LATC meeting following receipt of the Visiting Team Report, Advisory Recommendation to the 

LATC, and institutional response. LATC may consult with a member of the visiting team 

(usually the chair) and/or LATC Program Manager in order to clarify items in the Visiting Team 

Report, Advisory Recommendation to the LATC, or institutional response.  Certificate Programs 

may request to appear before the LATC to discuss the pending approval decision.  LATC's 

decision will be based upon the program's SER, annual reports, Visiting Team Report, payment 

of application fee, and institutional response.  

Any adverse approval decision, defined as either “LATC Certificate Program Approval denial,” 

or “withdrawal of LATC Approval,” will be substantiated with specific reasons, and program 

administrators will be notified of their right to appeal any such decision (see Appeal Process). A 

program that has not been granted approved status, or a program from which approval has been 

withdrawn, may reapply for approval when its administrators believe the program meets current 

requirements. 

LATC Actions 

LATC Certificate Program Approval is granted for a period of one to six years.  A program may 

apply for an approval review at any time before its term expires, but may not defer a visit to 

extend its term.  The LATC may vary these normal terms at its discretion.  Reasons for such 

variance will be supplied to the program. The official action letter to the institution indicates the 

date on which approval will expire.  The annually published list of accredited programs includes 

the LATC Certificate Approval status of each program along with the next scheduled approval 

review. 

LATC can take the following actions: 

Approved LATC Certificate Program 

Granted when all standards are met or when one or more standards are met with 

recommendation, and continued overall program quality and conformance to standards are 

judged likely to be maintained. 

Approval may be granted up to six (6) years. 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 30 

page 30 

page 30 

page 30 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

 

 

  

 

  

   

    

 

  

   

 

    

 

  

   

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

   

 

A program receiving approval may be required to submit special progress reports at the 

discretion of LATC. 

Provisionally Approved LATC Certificate Program 

Granted when one or more standards are met with recommendation and the cited deficiencies 

are such that continued overall program quality or conformance to standards is uncertain.  

Provisional LATC Certificate Program Approval may be granted up to two (2) years.  This 

status shall not be granted more than twice without an intervening period of approval.  

Provisional status is not deemed to be an adverse action and is not subject to be appealed. 

Initial LATC Certificate Program Approval  

Granted on a first review when all standards are at least minimally met and the program's 

continued development and conformance to the LATC approval standards is likely.  Initial 

approval may be granted for up to six (6) years. 

Programs receiving initial LATC Certificate Program Approval must submit a special 

progress report after two or three years (time determined by LATC).  LATC will review the 

progress report to determine if an approval review should be scheduled immediately or as 

originally scheduled when initial LATC Certificate Program Approval was granted. 

Suspension of LATC Certificate Program 

This status results if a program fails to maintain good standing for administrative reasons.  

Suspension of approval is not subject to appeal. 

Denial of LATC Certificate Program 

This status results when one or more standards are not met.  This determination is subject to 

appeal. 

Withdrawal of LATC Certificate Program 

This status results if a program fails to comply with accreditation standards.  This 

determination is subject to appeal. 

Notification of LATC Action 

The institution is officially notified of the LATC's action with a letter.  Copies of the letter are 

sent to the certificate program administrator and LATC visiting team. 

The LATC retains a copy of a program's two most recent SERs. 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 31 

page 31 

page 31 

page 31 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

 

  

 

 

   

 

 

   

 

 

   

 

 

  

 
 

   

 

  

  

   

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

   

  

 

 

  

  

 

 

Confidentiality 

The LATC treats all material generated by the program and LATC for the LATC Certificate 

Program Approval review as confidential.  However, the LATC encourages the widest 

dissemination of all approval materials within the institution.  The Visiting Team Report and 

SER are considered to be the property of the institution.  The LATC reserves the right to release 

a complete report should the institution release a portion of the team report that might, in the 

judgment the LATC, presents a biased or distorted view of the site-evaluation findings. 

Reference to LATC Certificate Program Approval 

A program's approval status must be clearly conveyed in all program and institutional literature. 

Delaying a scheduled LATC Certificate Program Approval Visit 

Occasionally, a program may want to delay a scheduled LATC Certificate Program Approval 

visit because of unexpected circumstances.  LATC will grant a site visit delay for up to one year 

(from spring semester 2014 to spring semester 2015 for example) if the following conditions are 

met: 

• The program received a six year term of LATC Certificate Program Approval at its last 

review. 

• The program is in compliance with LATC Minimum Requirements for achieving and 

maintaining LATC approved status. 

• All fees and required reports have been submitted. 

To request a delay the LATC Program Manager must receive a letter from the chief 

administrator of the unit that in which the certificate program is located 

Rescheduling Visit 

When the visit is rescheduled, priority for selecting visit dates will go to programs hosting visits 

in their regular cycle.  

A delayed visit cannot be postponed again for any reason. If the rescheduled review does not 

take place the program’s accreditation will lapse.  If a program chooses to apply, it will be 

through the initial accreditation process. 

Term of LATC Certificate Program Approval 

When LATC takes action, the grant of certificate approval will begin from the originally 

scheduled review date. 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 32 

page 32 

page 32 

page 32 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

 

   

 

 

 

 

  

 

    

 

   

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

  

 

 

   

   

 

   

 

   

   

 

  

   

  

  

 

 

 

Annual Reports and Other Reports 

Each LATC Approved Certificate Program submits an annual report to allow LATC to monitor 

the program's continuing compliance with approval requirements.  The report must include: 

a. Changes in curriculum, personnel, administration, fiscal support, and physical facilities 

that have occurred since the last report 

b. Current enrollment 

c. Number of graduates for the current year 

d. Report on employment for previous year's graduates 

e. Progress toward complying with the recommendations of the most recent approval 

review 

The LATC may choose to alert the program administrator as well as the chief administrator of 

the unit that in which the certificate program is located of its concern for potential effects of 

reported changes. 

Policy on Substantive Change 

In order to support LATC-Approved Certificate programs as they make changes between regular 

approval visits, LATC will offer consultative reviews of proposed changes prior to submission of 

an official request for substantive change.  Substantive change will normally be included in 

annual reports, yet, is encouraged to be reported prior to the change. Primary responsibility for 

reporting substantive change rests with the certificate program administrator. 

Substantive change is any change that compromises a program’s ability to meet one or more of 

the LATC program standards or that makes a certificate program unable to meet any of the 

following Minimum Requirements for maintaining approved status as currently stated in the 

LATC Review/Approval Procedures and must be reported: 

1. The program title and certificate description incorporate the term "Landscape 

Architecture." 

2. The parent institution is accredited by the institutional accrediting body of its region. 

3. There is a designated program administrator for the program under review. 

Other Reports 

From time to time, LATC may require programs to prepare special reports to explain or describe 

a certain issue or problem.  These issues will be ones that LATC believes require additional 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 33 

page 33 

page 33 

page 33 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

   

   

 

 

 

   

 

 

   

 

 

  

 

      

 

 

 

   

 

    

 

 

  

 

  

   

  

  

   

 

 

 

    

 

explanation than what is included in annual reports.  The due date for submitting a special report 

may be different from the annual report due date. 

Maintaining Good Standing 

To maintain good standing a program must continuously meet the minimum requirements for 

achieving and maintaining LATC Approved status. LATC must be informed if any of these 

requirements cannot be met during an approval period. 

Should a program fail to maintain good standing, LATC Approval may be suspended or 

withdrawn. 

Suspension of LATC Certificate Program Approval 

Should a program fail to maintain good standing for administrative reasons (such as failure to 

pay required fees or submit required reports) approval may be suspended.  Before this action is 

taken, the LATC shall draft a letter requesting the program to explain why approval should not 

be suspended. 

Since suspension of LATC Approval occurs only for administrative reasons it is not subject to 

appeal. Students attending a program with suspended approval are considered to be attending an 

approved program.  A program can be suspended for a maximum of one year (12 months).  

LATC will begin procedures to withdraw approval to take effect immediately when the 

maximum period of suspension is reached. 

If evidence of remedial action is submitted and judged adequate within the one-year period of 

suspension, reinstatement of the previous grant of LATC Certificate Program Approval may be 

made. 

Withdrawal of LATC Certificate Program Approval 

Should a program fail to comply with approval standards, approval may be withdrawn.  Before 

withdrawing approval, the LATC shall send a letter requesting the program to explain why 

Approval should not be withdrawn.  The LATC may suggest to the program that an approval 

visit is in order.  Withdrawal of LATC approval is an adverse action and can be appealed (see 

Appeals Process). 

If the program's parent institution or other programs within the institution are placed on 

probationary status or have accreditation withdrawn by their accrediting agencies, LATC may 

send a letter to the landscape architecture program to determine the program's current condition. 

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 34 

page 34 

page 34 

page 34 



 

  

  

  

  

  

   

   
 

  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

   

 

 

   

 

 

 
 

 

 

THE APPEAL PROCESS 

When the LATC takes adverse action on LATC Certificate Program Approval, specific reasons 

shall be provided for that action to the certificate program administrator/director and chief 

administrator of the unit that in which the certificate program is located adverse actions include 

denial or withdrawal of accreditation. 

Recipients of adverse action shall be advised of their right to appeal.  An appeal must be based 

on one or more of the following issues: 

1. Whether the LATC and/or the visiting team conformed to the procedures described in this 

document; or 

2. Whether the LATC and/or the visiting team conformed to the LATC Approval Standards. 

A written notice of appeal shall be signed by the chief administrator of the unit in which the 

certificate program is located. The appeal must be submitted within twenty days of notice of 

LATC's action letter.  The appeal must be sent to the LATC Program Manager who shall notify 

the LATC Chair. The certificate program must submit, within sixty days of LATC's action, a 

“comprehensive written statement” of all the reasons for the appeal.  Failure to submit this 

statement within sixty days of notice of LATC's action is equivalent to withdrawing the appeal.  

During the appeal period, the approved status of the program before the adverse action will not 

change.  The record of the appeal upon which the appeal is based shall be limited to the material 

that was presented to the LATC at its scheduled meeting from which the final approval report 

consisting of the action letter from LATC is issued.  

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCEDURES • May 22, 2013 page 35 

page 35 

page 35 

page 35 



       

 

 

 

  
 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

Agenda Item K 

ELECTION OF 2019 LATC OFFICERS 

Members of the Landscape Architects Technical Committee will nominate and elect a Chair and 

Vice Chair for 2019 at today’s meeting. 

LATC Meeting December 6-7, 2018 Sacramento, CA 



       

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

  

   

 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

   

  

 

   

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

   
   

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

   

   

   

   

   

    

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

    

     

  

 

   

   

Agenda Item L 

REVIEW TENTATIVE SCHEDULE AND DISCUSS FUTURE LATC MEETING DATES 

At today’s meeting, the Landscape Architects Technical Committee (LATC) will discuss its 2019 

meeting schedule. Relevant 2018 and 2019 dates for the Committee’s consideration are as 

follows: 

December 2018 

6-7 

13-14 

25 

LATC Meeting & Strategic Planning Session 

California Architects Board (Board) Meeting & 

Strategic Planning Session 

Christmas Day 

Sacramento 

Sacramento 

Office Closed 

January 2019 

1 

21 

New Year’s Day 
Martin Luther King, Jr. Day 

Office Closed 

Office Closed 

February 2019 

TBD 

18 

Board Meeting 

President’s Day 
TBD 

Office Closed 

March 

April 2019 

1 Cesar Chavez Day (observed) Office Closed 

May 2019 

27 Memorial Day Office Closed 

June 

TBD Board Meeting TBD 

July 2019 

4 Independence Day Office Closed 

September 2019 

TBD Board Meeting TBD 

2 Labor Day Office Closed 

26-28 Council of Landscape Architectural Registration Boards St. Louis, MS 

Annual Meeting 

LATC Meeting December 6-7, 2018 Sacramento, CA 



       

   

   

   

        

    

   

    

   

   
 

November 2019 

11 Veterans Day Office Closed 

15-18 American Society of Landscape Architects Annual Meeting San Diego, CA 

28-29 Thanksgiving Holiday Office Closed 

December 2019 

TBD Board Meeting TBD 

25 Christmas Day Office Closed 

LATC Meeting December 6-7, 2018 Sacramento, CA 



       

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item M 

RECESS 

Time: __________ 

LATC Meeting December 6-7, 2018 Sacramento, CA 



       

 

 

 

  
 

    

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item N 

CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL - ESTABLISHMENT OF A QUORUM 

Roll is called by the Landscape Architects Technical Committee (LATC) Vice Chair or, in his/her 

absence, by an LATC member designated by the Chair. 

LATC MEMBER ROSTER 

Patricia Trauth, Chair 

Marq Truscott, Vice Chair 

Andrew Bowden 

Susan M. Landry 

David Allan Taylor, Jr. 

LATC Meeting December 6-7, 2018 Sacramento, CA 



       

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

     

 

 

 

  

   

 

Agenda Item O 

STRATEGIC PLANNING SESSION 

At this meeting, the Committee is scheduled to update its Strategic Plan, which will be facilitated 

by the Department of Consumer Affairs’ Strategic Organization, Leadership, and Individual 

Development staff. Attached is an agenda for the session and the 2017-2018 Strategic Plan. 

Attachments: 

1. Strategic Planning Session Agenda 

2. 2017-2018 Strategic Plan 

LATC Meeting December 6-7, 2018 Sacramento, CA 



 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

   

   

   

  

   

  

  

   

  

  

 

 
 

        
 

  

Landscape Architects Technical 
Committee 

Strategic Planning Session Agenda 

December 7, 2018 8:30 am to 2:30 pm 

 Introductions 

 Environmental Scan and Objective Building Overview 

 Goal Area Discussion: Regulation and Enforcement 

 Break 

 Goal Area Discussion: Professional Qualifications 

 Goal Area Discussion: Public and Professional Outreach 

 Lunch 

 Goal Area Discussion: Organizational Effectiveness 

 Mission, Vision, Values Review 

 Wrap up and Conclusion 



APPROVED: JUNE 15, 2017 

LANDSCAPE 
ARCHITECTS 

TECHNICAL 
COMMITTEE 

STRATEGIC PLAN 

2017-2018 



 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
MESSAGE FROM THE COMMITTEE CHAIR ............................................................... 1 

ABOUT THE CALIFORNIA LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS 
TECHNICAL COMMITTEE ............................................................................................... 2 

MISSION .............................................................................................................................. 3 

VISION ................................................................................................................................. 3 

VALUES ............................................................................................................................... 3 

STRATEGIC GOAL AREAS .............................................................................................. 4 

GOAL 1: REGULATION AND ENFORCEMENT ............................................................ 5 

GOAL 2: PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS ............................................................. 6 

GOAL 3: PUBLIC AND PROFESSIONAL OUTREACH ............................................... 7 

GOAL 4: ORGANIZATIONAL EFFECTIVENESS .......................................................... 8 

STRATEGIC PLANNING PROCESS ............................................................................... 9 

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS TECHNICAL 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS 

Patricia Trauth Committee Chair 

Marq Truscott Committee Vice Chair 

Andrew Bowden 

David A. Taylor Jr. 

Edmund G. Brown Jr., Governor 

Alexis Podesta, Secretary, Business, Consumer Services, and Housing Agency 

Dean R. Graflo, Director, Department of Consumer Affairs 

Doug McCauley, Executive Offcer, California Architects Board 



MESSAGE FROM THE COMMITTEE CHAIR 
———————————————————————————————————————————————— 

State licensure exists to protect consumers. 
For the design professions, that protection is 
critically important due to the nature of design 
projects and their impact on Californians. Our 
licensure requirements are comprehensive and 
help ensure that practitioners are prepared to 
practice in a manner that safeguards the public. 

A number of recent reports and decisions shape 
what licensing boards do to validate competence. 

Reports from the White House and Little Hoover Commission ask key 
questions about whether standards for entering professions and trades 
are defensible. In addition, a recent U.S. Supreme Court decision 
questions the checks and balances of regulatory enforcement actions. 

The Landscape Architects Technical Committee (LATC) has a strong 
history of embracing diverse pathways into the profession. Both 
University of California extension certifcates and associate degrees 
can count toward the credits required to test and become licensed. 
LATC is currently assessing whether there may be other pathways 
that strike the critical balance between protecting consumers without 
creating undue barriers. 

Our enforcement efforts have always put consumers frst. Nevertheless, 
LATC will continue to develop additional means to protect Californians. 
The risk to the public from unqualifed practitioners is tremendous and it 
is crucial that LATC work closely with local agencies to prevent risks to 
the public. 

LATC’s work on these critical issues is enhanced by public participation. 
Through transparency and collaboration we seek to inform and 
strengthen our decisions so we can effectively fulfll our mandate to 
protect the public. 

Patricia Trauth 
Committee Chair 

2017–2018 Strategic Plan        1 



 

 

ABOUT THE CALIFORNIA LANDSCAPE 
ARCHITECTS TECHNICAL COMMITTEE 
———————————————————————————————————————————————— 

The Landscape Architects Technical Committee (LATC) was created 
via Assembly Bill 1546, which became effective January 1, 1998. The 
Committee was statutorily established under the California Architects 
Board (Board). The Committee’s purpose is to act in an advisory capacity 
to the Board on examination and other matters pertaining to the 
regulation of the practice of landscape architecture in California. 

The activities of LATC beneft consumers in two important ways. First, 
regulation protects the public at large. Second, regulation protects the 
consumer of services rendered by landscape architects. It is imperative 
to ensure those who hire landscape architects are protected from 
incompetent or dishonest landscape architects. 

LATC is one of the boards, bureaus, commissions, and committees 
within the Department of Consumer Affairs (DCA) and is part of the 
Business, Consumer Services, and Housing Agency. DCA is responsible 
for consumer protection through the regulation of licensees. While DCA 
provides administrative oversight and support services, LATC further sets 
its own policies, procedures, and regulations. 

LATC is composed of fve members who are licensed to practice 
landscape architecture in this state. 

Landscape Architects Technical Committee 2  



MISSION 

LATC regulates the practice of 
landscape architecture through 

the enforcement of the Landscape 
Architects Practice Act to protect 
consumers, and the public health, 

safety, and welfare while 
safeguarding the environment. 

VISION 

LATC will champion for 
consumer protection and a 
safer built environment for 
the people of California. 

VALUES 

Consumer Protection 
Innovation 

Communication 
Integrity 

Leadership 



 

  

  

  

  

 

STRATEGIC GOAL AREAS 
———————————————————————————————————————————————— 

1. REGULATION AND ENFORCEMENT 

Protect consumers through effective regulation and enforcement 
of laws, codes, and standards affecting the practice of landscape 
architecture. 

2. PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS 

Ensure that landscape architects are qualifed to practice by setting 
and maintaining equitable requirements for education, experience, 
and examinations. 

3. PUBLIC AND PROFESSIONAL OUTREACH 

Increase public and professional awareness of LATC’s mission, 
activities, and services. 

4. ORGANIZATIONAL EFFECTIVENESS 

Provide accessible and responsive quality services to consumers 
and licensees. 

Landscape Architects Technical Committee 4  



GOAL 1: REGULATION AND ENFORCEMENT 

Protect consumers through effective regulation and enforcement of laws, 
codes, and standards affecting the practice of landscape architecture. 

1.1 Collect and review data respective to unlicensed activity and 
licensee violations to identify if trends exist (in such areas as how 
unlicensed activity was identifed, who reported the allegation, 
and the matters which lead to an investigation) in order to shape 
consumer education and enhance enforcement efforts. 

1.2 Revisit development of the annual enforcement report using 
the Board as a model to assess the effectiveness of consumer 
protection efforts. 

1.3 Amend regulations to incorporate the updated Disciplinary 
Guidelines to maintain consistent decisions in disciplinary cases. 

1.4 Research the possibility of enhancing the statutory written contract 
requirement to include a consumer notifcation to enhance 
consumer education. 

1.5 Follow the Board’s determination regarding the necessity for 
a licensure fngerprint requirement and the alternatives for 
implementation as a means of protecting consumers. 

1.6 Contract with collection agencies to pursue and recover unpaid 
citations from unlicensed individuals. 

1.7 Amend current citation regulations to allow delegation authority 
and to clarify the timeline so that LATC is consistent with the 
Board’s best practices. 

2017–2018 Strategic Plan        5 



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

  

GOAL 2: PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS 
———————————————————————————————————————————————— 

Ensure that landscape architects are qualifed to practice by setting 
and maintaining equitable requirements for education, experience, 
and examinations. 

2.1 Explore entry to initial licensure for applicants who have experience 
only to expand pathways to licensure. 

2.2 Continue to explore and make a determination with regard to 
licensure for individuals who have related degrees to expand 
pathways to licensure. 

2.3 Consider advocating for the Council of Landscape Architectural 
Registration Boards (CLARB) to institute an internship/experience-
based program to allow applicants’ participation in the licensure 
process early and provide a more comprehensive experience 
component. 

2.4 Promulgate regulations for reciprocal licensure to expand 
qualifcation pathways in California. 

2.5 Research and modify the current regulations, where necessary, 
to clarify LATC’s role in University of California extension 
certifcation to stay current with Landscape Architectural 
Accreditation Board standards. 

Landscape Architects Technical Committee 6  



GOAL 3: PUBLIC AND PROFESSIONAL 
OUTREACH 

Increase public and professional awareness of LATC’s mission, 
activities, and services. 

3.1 Incorporate a quick link on the website that will enable consumers 
to search enforcement actions and more easily identify licensee 
violations. 

3.2 Consult with DCAs Public Affairs Offce to optimize the LATC 
website on search engines for individuals searching for a landscape 
architect to enhance LATC’s ability to reach more consumers 
interested in using a landscape architect. 

3.3 Revamp the website (using the Board’s website as a possible 
template) to be more user-friendly for consumers. 

3.4 Explore and adopt DCAs best practices for using social media 
with a goal of developing a social media strategy to increase 
awareness to the public. 

3.5 Continue to maintain a positive relationship with the American 
Society of Landscape Architects (ASLA), CLARB, and educational 
institutions to enhance lines of communication and inform best 
practices for the protection of Californians. 

3.6 Expand communication to licensees utilizing an “opt in” e-mail 
component on the website to increase stakeholder awareness 
of LATC. 

2017–2018 Strategic Plan        7 



 

 

 

  

GOAL 4: ORGANIZATIONAL EFFECTIVENESS 
———————————————————————————————————————————————— 

Provide accessible and responsive quality services to consumers 
and licensees. 

4.1 Prepare for the Sunset Review process to demonstrate LATC’s 
effectiveness. 

4.2 Determine current business process needs for conversion to 
BreEZe to facilitate a smoother transition to the program. 

Landscape Architects Technical Committee 8  



STRATEGIC PLANNING PROCESS 

To understand the environment in which LATC operates and identify 
factors that could impact its success, DCAs SOLID Unit conducted 
an environmental scan of the internal and external environments by 
collecting information through the following methods: 

•	 Interviews conducted with three Committee members completed 
during November 2016. 

•	 Interviews conducted with three staff members completed during 
November and December 2016. 

•	 Interviews conducted with LATC leadership that included the California 
Architects Board (Board) Executive Offcer (EO) and Assistant Executive 
Offcer (AEO) as well as the LATC Program Manager during December 
2016. 

•	 Online survey sent to LATC stakeholders, which remained open 
November 3–14, 2016, to identify the strengths and weaknesses of 
LATC from an external perspective. Seventy-eight stakeholders took 
the survey. 

The most signifcant themes and trends identifed from the environmental 
scan were discussed by Committee members and the Board’s EO and 
AEO during a public strategic planning session facilitated by SOLID on 
January 18, 2017. This information guided LATC in the development of its 
strategic objectives outlined in this 2017–2018 Strategic Plan. 

2017–2018 Strategic Plan        9 



 

 

2420 DEL PASO ROAD, SUITE 105 
SACRAMENTO, CA 95834 

WWW.LATC.CA.GOV 

Prepared by 

SOLID PLANNING SOLUTIONS 
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS 

1747 N. Market Blvd., Suite 270 
Sacramento, CA 95834 

This Strategic Plan is based on stakeholder information and discussions facilitated 
by SOLID for the Landscape Architects Technical Committee during early 2017. 

Subsequent amendments may have been made after adoption of this plan. 



       

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item P 

ADJOURNMENT 

Time: __________ 

LATC Meeting December 6-7, 2018 Sacramento, CA 


	December 6-7 2018 Notice of Meeting
	Agenda A - Call to Order - Roll Call
	Agenda B - Chair's Remarks-Member Comments
	Agenda C - Public Comment
	Agenda D - July 20, 2018 LATC Meeting Minutes
	Agenda D.1 - Attachment - July 20 2018 LATC Meeting Minutes (DRAFT)

	Agenda E - Program Manager's Report
	Agenda E.1 - Attachment - October 2018 Monthly Report
	Agenda E.2 - Attachment - CAB Notice of Meeting
	Agenda E.3 - Attachment - Enforcement Program Report

	Agenda F - MWELO
	Agenda F.1 - Attachment - CCR Title 23 Extract (MWELO)

	Agenda G - 2018 CLARB Annual Meeting
	Agenda G.1 - Attachment - 2018 CLARB Annual Meeting Agenda
	Agenda G.2 - Attachment - LATC Letter of Delegate Credentials and Elections Ballot (September 6, 2018)
	Agenda G.3 - Attachment - LATC Chair Letter Regarding Remote Particiation in CLARB Annual Meetings (September 13, 2018)
	Agenda G.4 - Attachment - CLARB Annual Meeting Slides
	Agenda G.5 - Attachment - Understanding the Successful Student Report

	Agenda H - LATC Member Administrative Procedure Manual
	Agenda H.1 - Attachment - Board Member Administrative Manual (Board Approved 9-12-18)
	Agenda H.2 - Attachment - LATC Member Administrative Manual (Board Approved 9-12-18)
	Agenda H.3 - Attachment - LATC Member Administrative Procedure Manual (2001)

	Agenda I - Fingerprint Requirement
	Agenda J - CCR 2620.5 Extension Certificate Program
	Agenda J.1 - Attachment - Proposed Language to Amend CCR 2620.5 - Disapproved by OAL (July 2013)
	Agenda J.2 - Attachment - CCR 2620.5 OAL Decision of Disapproval (July 17, 2013)
	Agenda J.3 - Attachment - Historical Information - LATC Activity 2013-2017
	Agenda J.4 - Attachment - Proposed Language to Add CCR 2620.2 2620.3 and 2620.4 (February 10, 2015 and July 20, 2018)
	Agenda J.5 - Attachment - Proposed Language to Amend CCR 2620.5 (Draft)
	Agenda J.6 - Attachment - LAAB Accreditation Standards - March 2016
	Agenda J.7 - Attachment - LATC Letter to LAAB (October 23, 2018)
	Agenda J.8 - Attachment - Extension Certificate Program Site Review Procedures Approved by the LATC May 2013


	Agenda K - Election of 2019 LATC Officers
	Agenda L - Tentative Schecule
	Agenda M - Recess
	Agenda N - Call to Order - Roll Call
	Agenda O - Strategic Planning Session
	Agenda O.1 - Attachment - Strategic Planning Session Agenda
	Agenda O.2 - Attachment - 2017-2018 Strategic Plan

	Agenda P - Adjournment



Accessibility Report



		Filename: 

		20181206_07_meeting_packet.pdf






		Report created by: 

		


		Organization: 

		





[Enter personal and organization information through the Preferences > Identity dialog.]


Summary


The checker found no problems in this document.



		Needs manual check: 2


		Passed manually: 0


		Failed manually: 0


		Skipped: 0


		Passed: 30


		Failed: 0





Detailed Report



		Document




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set


		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF


		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF


		Logical Reading Order		Needs manual check		Document structure provides a logical reading order


		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified


		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar


		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents


		Color contrast		Needs manual check		Document has appropriate color contrast


		Page Content




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged


		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged


		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order


		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided


		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged


		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker


		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts


		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses


		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive


		Forms




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged


		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description


		Alternate Text




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text


		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read


		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content


		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation


		Other elements alternate text		Passed		Other elements that require alternate text


		Tables




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot


		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR


		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers


		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column


		Summary		Passed		Tables must have a summary


		Lists




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L


		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI


		Headings




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Appropriate nesting		Passed		Appropriate nesting







Back to Top
	Text1: 
	Text2: 
	Text3: 
	Check Box4: Off
	Check Box5: Off
	Check Box6: Off
	Check Box7: Off
	Text125: 
	Text8: 
	Text9: 
	Check Box10: Off
	Check Box11: Off
	Check Box12: Off
	Text4: 
	Text5: 
	Check Box8: Off
	Check Box1: Off
	Check Box2: Off
	Check Box3: Off
	Check Box9: Off
	Check Box13: Off
	Check Box14: Off
	Check Box15: Off
	Check Box16: Off
	Check Box17: Off
	Check Box18: Off
	Check Box19: Off
	Check Box20: Off
	Check Box21: Off
	Check Box22: Off
	Check Box23: Off
	Check Box24: Off
	Check Box25: Off
	Check Box27: Off
	Check Box28: Off
	Check Box29: Off
	Check Box30: Off
	Check Box31: Off
	Check Box32: Off
	Check Box33: Off
	Check Box34: Off
	Check Box35: Off
	Check Box36: Off
	Check Box37: Off
	Check Box38: Off
	Check Box39: Off
	Check Box40: Off
	Check Box41: Off
	Check Box43: Off
	Check Box44: Off
	Check Box45: Off
	Check Box46: Off
	Check Box47: Off
	Check Box48: Off
	Check Box49: Off
	Check Box50: Off
	Check Box51: Off
	Check Box52: Off
	Check Box53: Off
	Check Box54: Off
	Text61: 
	Check Box26: Off
	Check Box42: Off
	Check Box55: Off
	Check Box61: Off
	Check Box62: Off
	Check Box63: Off
	Check Box64: Off
	Check Box65: Off
	Check Box66: Off
	Check Box67: Off
	Check Box68: Off
	Check Box69: Off
	Check Box70: Off
	Check Box71: Off
	Check Box72: Off
	Text83: 
	Check Box84: Off
	Check Box85: Off
	Check Box86: Off
	Check Box87: Off
	Check Box88: Off
	Check Box89: Off
	Check Box90: Off
	Check Box91: Off
	Check Box92: Off
	Check Box93: Off
	Check Box94: Off
	Check Box95: Off
	Check Box96: Off
	Check Box97: Off
	Check Box98: Off
	Check Box99: Off
	Check Box100: Off
	Check Box101: Off
	Check Box102: Off
	Check Box103: Off
	Check Box104: Off
	Check Box105: Off
	Check Box106: Off
	Check Box107: Off
	Check Box108: Off
	Check Box109: Off
	Check Box110: Off
	Check Box111: Off
	Check Box112: Off
	Check Box113: Off
	Check Box114: Off
	Check Box115: Off
	Check Box116: Off
	Check Box117: Off
	Check Box118: Off
	Check Box119: Off
	Check Box120: Off
	Check Box121: Off
	Check Box122: Off
	Check Box123: Off
	Text126: 
	Check Box127: Off
	Check Box128: Off
	Check Box129: Off
	Check Box130: Off
	Check Box131: Off
	Check Box132: Off
	Check Box133: Off
	Check Box134: Off
	Check Box135: Off
	Check Box136: Off
	Check Box137: Off
	Check Box138: Off
	Check Box139: Off
	Check Box142: Off
	Check Box143: Off
	Check Box144: Off
	Check Box147: Off
	Check Box148: Off
	Check Box149: Off
	Check Box150: Off
	Check Box151: Off
	Check Box152: Off
	Check Box153: Off
	Check Box154: Off
	Check Box155: Off
	Check Box156: Off
	Check Box157: Off
	Check Box158: Off
	Check Box159: Off
	Check Box160: Off
	Text161: 
	Check Box162: Off
	Check Box163: Off
	Check Box164: Off
	Check Box165: Off
	Check Box166: Off
	Check Box167: Off
	Check Box168: Off
	Check Box169: Off
	Check Box170: Off
	Check Box171: Off
	Check Box172: Off
	Check Box173: Off
	Check Box174: Off
	Check Box175: Off
	Check Box176: Off
	Check Box177: Off
	Check Box178: Off
	Check Box179: Off
	Check Box180: Off
	Check Box181: Off
	Check Box182: Off
	Check Box183: Off
	Check Box184: Off
	Check Box185: Off
	Check Box186: Off
	Check Box187: Off
	Check Box188: Off
	Check Box190: Off
	Check Box191: Off
	Check Box192: Off
	Text193: 
	Check Box194: Off
	Check Box195: Off
	Check Box196: Off
	Check Box197: Off
	Check Box199: Off
	Check Box200: Off
	Check Box201: Off
	Check Box202: Off
	Check Box205: Off
	Check Box206: Off
	Check Box207: Off
	Check Box208: Off
	Check Box209: Off
	Check Box210: Off
	Check Box211: Off
	Check Box212: Off
	Check Box214: Off
	Check Box215: Off
	Check Box216: Off
	Check Box218: Off
	Check Box219: Off
	Check Box220: Off
	Check Box221: Off
	Check Box222: Off
	Check Box223: Off
	Check Box224: Off
	Check Box225: Off
	Check Box226: Off
	Check Box227: Off
	Check Box228: Off
	Text229: 


